
PLANNING COMMITTEE

AGENDA

Planning Officers will be available in the Guildhall from 1.00pm to 
respond to questions on the detail of applications from Members. 

Date: Thursday, 19th March, 2020

Time: 1.30 pm

Venue: Guildhall



2

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Information for Members of the Public

Access to the Guildhall is via the front entrance in the High Street.  The nearest car park is 
Copenhagen Street (pay and display). If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility, 
access to the Guildhall can be gained either through the door on the right side of the forecourt 
as you face the Guildhall, or through the sliding doors at the rear of the Guildhall.  There is 
dedicated disabled parking space at the rear (access via Copenhagen Street). Most meetings 
are held on the ground floor, which can be reached by using a lift.  If you are a wheelchair user 
or have restricted mobility and you wish to attend a meeting, please telephone or email the 
officer mentioned below in advance and we will make any necessary arrangements to assist 
your visit.

Part I of the Agenda includes items for discussion in public.  You have the right to inspect 
copies of Minutes and reports on this part of the Agenda as well as background documents 
used in the preparation of these reports. Details of the background papers appear at the foot of 
each report. An explanation to the Planning Committee decisions are given at the end of the of 
Part 1 of the Agenda. Part II of the Agenda (if applicable) deals with items of 'Exempt 
Information' for which it is anticipated that the public may be excluded from the meeting and 
neither reports nor background papers are open to public inspection.

Please note that this is a public meeting and members of the public and press are permitted to 
report on the proceedings. "Reporting" includes filming, photographing, making an audio 
recording and providing commentary on proceedings. Any communicative method can be used 
to report on the proceedings, including the internet, to publish, post or share the proceedings. 
Accordingly, the attendance of members of the public at this meeting may be recorded and 
broadcast. By choosing to attend this public meeting you are deemed to have given your 
consent to being filmed or recorded and for any footage to be broadcast or published.  

Please note the Council audio records and live streams many of its meetings. These recordings 
are published on the relevant meeting pages of the Council’s website. A notice to this effect will 
be posted in the meeting room. If a member of the public chooses to speak at a meeting of the 
City Council he/she will be deemed to have given their consent to being recorded and audio 
being published live to the Council’s website. The Chairman of the meeting, can at their 
discretion, terminate or suspend recording, if in their opinion, continuing to do so would 
prejudice the proceedings of the meeting or if they consider that continued recording might 
infringe the rights of any individual, or breach any statutory provision.

At the start of the meeting under the item 'Public Participation' up to fifteen minutes in total is 
allowed for members of the public to present a petition, ask a question or comment on any 
matter on the Agenda.  Participants need to indicate that they wish to speak by 4.30 
p.m. on the last working day before the meeting by writing, telephoning or E-Mailing 
the officer mentioned below.

If you have any queries about this Agenda, require any details of background papers, or wish to 
discuss the arrangements for the taking of photographs, film, video or sound recording please 
contact Margaret Johnson, Democratic Services Administrator, Democratic Services, 
Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY  Telephone: 01905 722085 (direct line).  E-Mail 
Address: committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk

This agenda can be made available in large print, braille, on PC disk, tape or in a number of 
ethnic minority languages.  Please contact the above named officer for further information.

Agendas and minutes relating to all City Council Committees and Council Meetings are also 
available electronically, click on the option “Committee Minutes and Documents”, Website 
Address: Worcester.gov.uk



3

Planning Committee
Thursday, 19 March 2020

Members of the Committee:-
Chairman: Councillor Chris Mitchell (C)

Vice-Chairman: Councillor Patricia Agar (LCo)

Councillor Alan Amos (C)
Councillor Bill Amos (C)
Councillor Jenny Barnes (LCo)
Councillor Roger Berry (LCo)
Councillor Marjory Bisset (G)

Councillor Chris Cawthorne (L)
Councillor Nida Hassan (C)
Councillor Jo Hodges (L)
Councillor Mike Johnson (C)

C = Conservative G = Green L = Labour LCo = Labour and Co-operative
LD = Liberal Democrat

AGENDA

Part 1
(ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PUBLIC)

1. Appointment of Substitutes To receive details of any Member 
nominated to attend the meeting in place of 
a Member of the Committee.

2. Declarations of Interest To receive any declarations of interest.

3. Minutes of Previous Planning 
Committee 
Page(s) 1 - 14

of the meeting held on 20th February 2020 
to be approved and signed.

4. Minutes of Previous Conservation 
Advisory Panel 
Page(s) 15 - 24

That the minutes of the Conservation 
Advisory Panel meeting held on 5th 
February 2020 be received.



4

5. Site Visits Such inspections of current application sites 
as may have been recommended by 
Officers and as may be approved by the 
Committee.

Members of the Committee should inform 
the Development Services Manager of any 
requests for site visits by 5.00 p.m. on the 
Tuesday immediately prior to the meeting 
(17th March 2020) and reasons for the 
request.

Members of the public should contact the 
Democratic Services Administrator either 
by email: 
committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk 
or telephone: 01905 722085 on the day 
before Planning Committee so the 
Administrator can advise of the start of the 
meeting.

Site visits will be conducted in accordance 
with the procedure attached which forms 
part of the Council’s Good Practice Protocol 
for Members and Officers dealing with 
Planning Matters.

6. Public Participation Up to a total of fifteen minutes can be 
allowed, each speaker being allocated a 
maximum of five minutes, for members of 
the public to present a petition, ask a 
question or comment on any matter on the 
Agenda or within the remit of the 
Committee in accordance with Committee 
Procedure Rule 10.

7. Public Representation Members of the public will be allowed to 
address the Committee in respect of 
applications to be considered by the 
Committee in accordance with Committee 
Procedure Rule 11. Members of the public 
will address the Committee during the 
Committee’s consideration of the respective 
item. 

mailto:committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk


5

8. Riverside Conservation Area 
Appraisal 
Page(s) 25 - 188
Ward(s): All Wards

1. To  adopt  the  Riverside  
Conservation  Area  Appraisal  as  a 
material consideration in 
development management 
decisions; and

2. To amend the current conservation 
area boundary as proposed in 2.12, 
2.13 and 2.14 of this report.

Contact Officer: Rebecca Barnett, 
Conservation Officer
Tel: 01905 722529

9. Park Avenue Conservation Area 
Designation and Article 4 
Direction 
Page(s) 189 - 298
Ward(s): Claines

1. To designate the Park Avenue 
Conservation Area and to adopt 
the Park Avenue Conservation 
Area Appraisal as a material 
consideration in development 
management decisions; and

2. To make and serve notice of an 
Article 4 (1) Direction for the Park 
Avenue Conservation Area.

Contact Officer: Rebecca Barnett, 
Conservation Officer
Tel: 01905 722529

10. Application 19/00851/FUL - JVM 
Castings Site, Droitwich Road 
Page(s) 299 - 334
Ward(s): Claines

The Deputy Director – Economic 
Development and Planning recommends 
that the Planning Committee is minded to 
grant planning permission, subject to the 
applicant and all persons having an interest 
in the land entering into an agreement 
under Section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 in accordance with the 
agreed Heads of Terms, and subject to the 
Deputy Director - Governance being 
satisfied with the nature of such an 
Agreement delegate to the Deputy Director 
- Economic Development and Planning 
approval to grant the necessary planning 
permission, subject to the conditions set 
out in section 9 of this report.

Contact Officer: Sally Watts, 
Senior Planning 
Officer
Tel: 01905 722172



6

11. Application 19/01019/FUL - 
Worcester North Park and Ride, 
John Comyn Drive 
Page(s) 335 - 362
Ward(s): Claines

The Deputy Director - Economic 
Development and Planning recommends 
that the Planning Committee grant planning 
permission, subject to the conditions set 
out in section 9 of this report.

Contact Officer: Sally Watts,
Senior Planning 
Officer
Tel: 01905 722172

12. Application 19/00821/FUL - 
Nunnery Wood High School, 
Spetchley Road 
Page(s) 363 - 386
Ward(s): Nunnery

The Deputy Director - Economic 
Development and Planning recommends 
that the Planning Committee grant planning 
permission, subject to the conditions set 
out in section 9 of this report.

Contact Officer: Sally Watts, 
Senior Planning 
Officer
Tel: 01905 722172

13. Application 19/00957/FUL - 
Steel Barn, Middle Battenhall 
Farm, Upper Battenhall 
Page(s) 387 - 404
Ward(s): St. Peter's Parish

The Deputy Director - Economic 
Development and Planning recommends 
that the Planning Committee grant planning 
permission, subject to the conditions set 
out in section 9 of this report.

Contact Officer: Sally Watts, 
Senior Planning 
Officer
Tel: 01905 722172

14. Quarterly Review of Planning 
Appeal Decisions 
Page(s) 405 - 418
Ward(s): All Wards

That the Committee note the report.

Contact Officer: Alan Coleman, 
Planning 
Development and 
Enforcement Team 
Leader
Tel: 01905 722523



7

15. Any Other Business Which in the opinion of the Chairman is of 
sufficient urgency as to warrant 
consideration.

PLANNING COMMITTEE DECISIONS

Having heard all submissions and debated the issues, the Planning Committee will then vote on
the application. This may be for any one of the following:

1. To approve or refuse the application in accordance with the Officer’s recommendation;
2. To defer the application for further information or negotiations to address any issues raised
during the consideration of the application. In such cases, the application will then be referred
back to the Planning Committee at a later date for a decision;
3. To delegate the final decision to Officers if the Planning Committee is satisfied that agreed
amendments would satisfy any concerns raised by the Planning Committee. If this is the case
you will not be re-consulted on the amendments or notified of changes;
4. Minded to Approve/Refuse – in cases where the Planning Committee is minded to make a
decision that is contrary to the Officer’s recommendation the application will be deferred:

Minded to Refuse – if the Planning Committee is minded to refuse an application it will be
necessary for the Planning Committee to provide full details of the grounds for their decision
to enable Officers to consider those grounds and to provide a professional opinion on the
likelihood of being able to successfully defend an appeal against the refusal of the application
on the cited grounds. . In such cases, the application will be referred back to the Planning
Committee at a later date for a decision;

Minded to Approve– if the Planning Committee is minded to approve an application it will be
necessary for the Planning Committee to give full reasons and suggest appropriate conditions
and, if necessary, draft Heads of Terms for a Section 106 Agreement. In such cases the
application will either be referred back to the Planning Committee at a later date for a
decision or delegated to Officers to issue the decision.

PLANNING COMMITTEE SITE VISITS

The following is an extract from the Good Practice Protocol relating to Planning Matters.

The procedure for site visits will be as follows:-

 Members of the Planning Committee together with relevant officers travel to the 
site by mini-bus.

 On arrival at the site, the designated planning officer explains the main planning 
issues to the Committee.

 Inspections will be undertaken in a formal and professional manner.  The 
Committee should stay together as a group.

 There will be no inter-action between Members and applicants or objectors at the 
site visit beyond the common courtesies to be expected when visiting someone 
else’s property.

 Members may ask questions of the officers and draw attention to issues relevant to 
the site visit.

 Members will not debate the merits of the proposal on the site visit or on the way 
to or from the site visit.

 Members who have declared a prejudicial interest or who, for any other reasons, 
do not intend to participate in the planning decision, will not participate in the site 
visit.

 The Chairman will close the site visit and all Members will leave the site at the 
same time.

 The Chairman may alter or terminate any visit at his/her discretion.



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE

20th February 2020

Present: Councillor Chris Mitchell in the Chair

Councillors Agar (Vice-Chairman), A. Amos, 
B. Amos, Berry, Bisset, Cawthorne, Hodges, 
Johnson and Squires (in place of Councillor 
Barnes)

Also in Attendance:
Councillor Griffiths

Apologies: Councillor Barnes

137 Declarations of Interest 

The following declaration of other disclosable interest was made:

Application19/00694//RM – Land at Sherriff Street Industrial Estate, Sherriff 
Street
(Minute No. 147)

Councillor Agar – as a close friend of Ron Smith whose business is affected by the 
proposal.  Councillor Agar left the room during the consideration of this item, but 
prior to that addressed the Committee as Ward Member.

138 Minutes of Previous Planning Committee 

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 23rd January 2020 be 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

139 Minutes of Previous Conservation Advisory Panel 

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the Conservation Advisory Panel held on 
15th January 2020 be received.

140 Site Visits 

There were no site visits.

141 Public Participation 

None.

142 Public Representation 

Those representations made are recorded at the minute to which they relate.

143 Conservation Area Appraisal - Field Terrace 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



20th February 2020 2

The Conservation Officer presented a report on the Field Terrace Conservation 
Area Appraisal.

The Committee were being asked to consider that the Field Terrace Conservation 
Area Appraisal, attached as Appendix 1 to the report, is adopted as a formal 
Council document to be used as a material consideration in the planning process.

The character appraisal was subject to a six week consultation from 14th October 
until 22nd November 2019.  The owners or occupiers of all properties within the 
Conservation Area, and other key stakeholders, were consulted by letter an d 
invited to respond on the draft appraisal, and the consultation details, full draft 
appraisal document and survey form were made available on the Council’s 
website.

A manned public exhibition was held at the Anchor Inn Boathouse, Diglis Road on 
Wednesday 13th November 2019.  The exhibition was also on display at the 
Guildhall from Thursday 14th November until Friday 22nd November 2019.

All issues raised during the public consultation were considered.  With regards to 
the management plan for the conservation area, a number of management 
proposals have now been put forward in the final appraisal document to address 
comments as outlined in paragraph 3.5 of the report.  

The adoption of the conservation area appraisal is considered to be a positive 
move towards the management of the Field Terrace Conservation Area.

RESOLVED: That the Committee adopt the Field Terrace Conservation 
Area Appraisal, at Appendix 1, as a material consideration in development 
management decisions.

144 Heritage at Risk Annual Update 

The Conservation Officer presented a report on Heritage at Risk in Worcester, 
update and review.

An updated Heritage at Risk Register (HAR) was approved for publication by 
Planning Committee in July 2019.  Since publication a HAR review has been 
carried out by officers in order to monitor progress and enable a structured and 
proactive approach to identifying actions for each asset as identified in the 
Register.

The 2019 Register identified eight buildings as having approved planning 
applications in place and should be on target for removal by the next review.  
Other buildings with approvals will remain on the Register until the successful 
completion of the schemes.

An updated Heritage at Risk Register has been provided and was attached as 
Appendix 1 to the report.  It is proposed to continue to monitor all entries on the 
Heritage at Frisk Register quarterly, update actions, and update the register on a 
yearly basis.

Members were pleased to see that 18-20 Silver Street had now been removed 
from the ‘at risk’ register, together with other buildings as identified in the report.

Page 2



20th February 2020 3

Concerns were raised by Members of those buildings which had been added to the 
‘at risk’ register and felt that the Council should be taking tougher action on 
landlords/developers, who allow these buildings to fall into disrepair and should be 
served notices.

The Conservation Officer informed the Committee that adding the building onto 
the list was the first step to a solution and negotiating and working with building 
owners was preferred in the first instance.

RESOLVED: That the Committee note the contents of the updated 2020 
Heritage at Risk Register and approve it for publication.

145 Application 20/00007/HP - 20 Camp Hill Avenue 

Introduction

The Committee considered an application for a garage extension and canopy to 
front and detached garage to rear at 20 Camp Hill Avenue.

Reason Why Being Considered by Planning Committee

The application had been referred to Planning Committee at the request of 
Councillor Griffiths on grounds as highlighted at paragraph 1.2 of the report.

Site Visit

The application had not been the subject of a site visit.

Report/Background/Late Papers

The report set out the background to the proposal, the site and surrounding area, 
the proposal itself, relevant policies, planning history and representations and 
consultations where applicable.

The Committee’s attention was drawn to the late paper which related to additional 
neighbour comments on the proposal.

Officer Presentation

The information was presented as set out by the Deputy Director – Economic 
Development and Planning.

The Development Management Services Team Leader drew the Committee’s 
attention to paragraph 7.14 of the report which identified that the land ownership 
is not considered a material planning consideration and would therefore be a 
private legal matter which would need to be rectified with the owners of the 
shared drive.

Public Representations

There had been no one registered to speak on the application.  However a local 
Ward Member, Councillor Griffiths addressed the Committee objecting to the 
proposal, as outlined in paragraph 1.2 of the report.

Page 3



20th February 2020 4

Key Points of Debate

 The local Ward Member, in addressing the Committee, stated that 
resident’s concerns related to the proposals at the rear of the property and 
not at the front.

 The resident’s concerns were that the proposed garage would require 
access to a private right of way, although not a planning matter, would 
increase vehicular access which would increase noise and disturbance.  
There were concerns for the proposed garage and its intended use as a 
business.

 In response to a question the local Ward Member stated that the rear 
access drive was not generally used for vehicles and was left to promote 
local wildlife and a degree of nature conservation, it was also used by 
children where properties backed onto it.

 Members questioned the amount of development proposed at the front and 
rear of the property and was there a limit as to how much should be used.   
The Development Management Services Team Leader stated that the land 
did have the capacity without reducing amenity space.

 In raising concerns over the use of the proposed garage the Members were 
referred to condition 5 within the report which identified that the 
development shall not be used as an independent self-contained dwelling.  
If used for alternative reasons would require an application for a change of 
use.

 Some Members felt that there was no reason to refuse the application as 
access was a private matter and the permission would be protected by 
conditions.

 The County Council Highway representative stated that the authority had 
originally requested a deferral but amended plans submitted had shown an 
over provision of car parking spaces and a condition (number 3) had been 
requested for a visibility display.  The access to the proposed garage was 
outside of the application and its use was a private matter.

 A proposal to refuse the application was made on the grounds of 
overlooking, noise and disturbance from the use of the proposed garage 
and use and impact of the use of the vehicle track, contrary to policy SWDP 
21.

 A suggestion was made to strengthen condition 5 so that the proposed 
garage could not be used for business purposes.

 The Chairman stated that the right of access was not an issue for the 
Committee and by granting planning permission for this proposal did not 
give the applicant permission to use the access. Conditions were in place 
and a suggestion for one of them to be strengthened had been made.

Page 4



20th February 2020 5

A proposal to refuse the application had been made and this was seconded and on 
being put to the vote the motion was tied.  In accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution the Chairman used his casting vote and the application was refused 
on the grounds cited.

Contrary to Office recommendation it was:-

RESOLVED: That the Committee refuse planning permission on grounds of 
harm to the amenities of neighbouring residents by reason of noise and 
disturbance from the use of the proposed double garage and movement 
of vehicle along the access track; impact on the natural appearance of the 
track from vehicle movements, and; loss of privacy through actual and 
perception of overlooking from the proposed garage contrary to policy 
SWDP 21 and the aims and interests of the NPPF regarding amenity.

146 Application 19/00835/FUL - Former Site of Royal Porcelain Recreation 
Ground, Droitwich Road 

Introduction

The Committee considered an application for the erection of a new hockey centre 
to include two international standard water based professional hockey pitches, a 
single storey pavilion with changing block and club house, floor lighting, upgrade 
of existing access, re-provision of existing football pitches with associated 
landscaping and car parking, at the former site of the Royal Porcelain Recreation 
Ground, Droitwich Road.

Reason Why Being Considered by Planning Committee

The application has been referred to the Planning Committee in accordance with 
the Adopted Scheme of Delegation.

Site Visit

The application was not the subject of a site visit.

Report/Background/Late Papers

The report set out the background to the proposal, the site and surrounding area, 
the proposal itself, relevant policies, planning history and representations and 
consultations where applicable.

The proposed draft Heads of Terms were attached as Appendix 1 to the report.

The Committee’s attention was drawn to the late papers which related to the 
amendment of conditions 3 and 6.

Officer Presentation

The information was presented as set out by the Deputy Director – Economic 
Development and Planning.

Page 5



20th February 2020 6

Public Representations

The following people had registered to speak on the application:

John Stagg (Objector) and Richard Savory (Project Manager on behalf of the 
Applicant) and Andy Waters (Vice Chairman of Worcester Hockey Club).

Key Points of Debate

 The objector, speaking also on behalf of a Dr Nixon, in addressing the 
Committee referred to the loss of Green Belt and inappropriate 
development of the open space.  The openness of the area was important 
and needed to be retained and could not be compromised any further.

 The objector referred to the floodlighting poles and the illumination which 
would destroy the character of the area.  He referred to a previous 
application for floodlighting on sites nearby which had been refused.  He 
indicated that the site at Perdiswell would be more appropriate for this 
proposal.

 The objector responded to questions from Members in relation to the Green 
Belt and floodlighting.  In referring to related paragraphs within the report, 
the objector referred to NPPF paragraph 145 and the last line as outlined in 
the report at paragraph 7.7.  With regard to floodlighting he stated that this 
would have an effect on the openness of the area which was important and 
needed to be retained and could not be compromised any further.  He 
stated that the matter needed to be referred to the Secretary of State.  The 
objector was referred to paragraph 7.16 of the report by Members which 
considered that the area to be illuminated was a lot smaller than the 
previous appeal dismissals.

 The Project Manager, on behalf of the applicant informed the Committee 
that he had worked many months with planning officers and local residents 
who were supportive of the proposal, subject to amendments, which had 
been made.

 In referring to paragraphs 131 and 145 of the NPPF he stated that there 
were certain levels of development not appropriate in certain cases.  The 
specialist centre for hockey is a fundamental consideration.  In referring to 
the floodlighting these would be an upward glow and would not be used 
after 21.30pm.

 The Vice Chairman of the Hockey Club, in referring to the membership of 
the club, informed the Committee that they were an active friendly 
community who desperately needed the pitches as proposed and had spent 
7 years looked for a suitable site.  He asked that the Committee approve 
the request.

 Both speakers responded to questions from Members of the Committee 
particularly around the lighting as referred to by the objector and the 
promotion of community use.  The Committee were informed that the lights 
proposed were state of the art and provided an explanation as to how they 
worked.

Page 6



20th February 2020 7

 With regard to community use the club have an accreditation as provided 
by Sport England and to receive this evidence has to be provided to show 
that the community has been involved and to this end will be entering into 
a Community Use Agreement. This will still enable 3rd party hiring.  The 
Committee’s attention was drawn to the Sport England comments in 
paragraph 6.1 of the report.

 In response to a question on how users of the proposed facility got to the 
site, Members were informed that an agreement will be entered into with 
the County Council Highway Authority with regard to contributions to 
provide enhancements and traffic regulation orders.  Members were also 
informed that an agreement was hoped to be reached with the Old 
Elizabethans Cricket Club to use their parking facilities.  An active travel 
plan would also be put in place. It was stated that residents on Droitwich 
Road would not be disadvantaged by the proposal.

 Members asked further questions on cycling and car parking provision and 
whether the proposed development was as environmentally friendly as it 
could be.  The Project Manager responded accordingly.  The County Council 
Highways representative also informed Members that an events 
management plan would be required to address any events where 
additional parking was required, as part of the Section 106 agreement and 
referred Members to the County Council Highway consultee response in the 
report.

 Members were pleased to see the application before them.  This was a 
significant development and there were will be those residents who do have 
concerns, particularly over Green Belt issues. Members noted that there 
had been a lack of objection from statutory consultees and transport and 
parking issues resolved.  With regard to the floodlighting Members agreed 
that technology has moved on and were reassured by the condition related 
to the hours of use until 21.30pm.

The Development Services Management Team Leader in referring to the 
recommendation in the report proposed an amendment to include referral to the 
Secretary of State.

On being proposed and seconded and put to the vote the proposal was 
unanimously agreed, as amended.

RESOLVED: That the Committee is minded to grant planning permission, 
subject to the referral to the National Planning Case Unit in accordance 
with The Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (Direction) 2009;  
the applicant and all persons having an interest in the land entering into 
an agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 in accordance with the agreed Heads of Terms, and  subject to the 
Deputy Director - Governance being satisfied with the nature of such an 
Agreement delegate to the Deputy Director - Economic Development and 
Planning approval to grant the necessary planning permission, subject to 
the recommended conditions as amended by the late paper (conditions 3 
and 6).

Page 7



20th February 2020 8

147 Application 19/00694/RM - Land at Sherriff Street Industrial Estate, 
Sherriff Street 

Introduction

The Committee considered an application for the approval of all matters reserved 
by condition 5 of planning permission 19/000693/REM, land at Sherriff Street 
Industrial Estate, Sherriff Street.

Reason Why Being Considered by Planning Committee

The application had been referred to the Planning Committee in accordance with 
the Adopted Scheme of Delegation.

Site Visit

The application was not the subject of a site visit.

Report/Background/Late Papers

The report set out the background to the proposal, the site and surrounding area, 
the proposal itself, relevant policies, planning history and representations and 
consultations where applicable.

The Committee’s attention was drawn to the late papers which related to:

 additional information related to the level of car parking proposed to serve 
the development in comparison with the approved hybrid application that 
has been taken into account by the County Council Highway Authority in its 
assessment of the application;

 statement in support of the application from the applicant and responses to 
objections raised by the Conservation Advisory Panel; Historic England and 
the Council’s Archaeology Officer; and

 a table of amendments to the Deed of Variation.

Officer Presentation

The information was presented as set out by the Deputy Director – Economic 
Development and Planning.

The proposals would be delivered in 4 phases which were outlined in paragraph 
3.5 of the report.  The main changes to the quantum of the development from the 
originally approved scheme were outlined in paragraph 3.6 of the report.

As part of the powerpoint presentation the Members were shown the previously 
considered/approved and the proposed scheme.  The general scale fits in with the 
original at outline stage although a slight increase in height.  Members were also 
shown the proposed scheme from different vantage points taking into account the 
ancient monument.

Page 8



20th February 2020 9

Public Representations

There had been no one registered to speak on the application.  However a local 
Ward Members, Councillor Agar addressed the Committee objecting to the 
application.

Key Points of Debate

 The Chairman informed the Committee that there was extant permission for 
this site and that consideration should be given for the changes only.

 Members queried the reduction in car parking spaces as outlined in the late 
paper.  The Development Management Services Team Leader referred 
Members to the comments set out in paragraph 7 of the report which 
identified the County Council Highway assessment made based on current 
standards.  In particular paragraph 7.11 of the report.

 Members were concerned that the area could become gull nesting sites and 
asked if a condition around gull proofing the site could be made.  This was 
agreed.

 It was asked if refuse/recycling facilities had not been considered previously 
could this also be added as a condition.  This was also agreed.

On being proposed and seconded and put to the vote the proposal was 
unanimously agreed, subject to the additional conditions related to gull proofing 
and refuse/recycling.

RESOLVED: That the Committee is minded to grant approval of all matters 
reserved by condition 5 of planning permission 19/000693/REM, subject 
to the applicant and all persons having an interest in the land entering 
into a Deed of Variation to the existing agreement made under Section 
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 in accordance with the 
draft Heads of Terms, and subject to the Deputy Director - Governance 
being satisfied with the nature of such an Agreement delegate to the 
Deputy Director of Economic Development and Planning approval to grant 
the necessary planning permission, subject to the conditions set out in 
section 10 of the report, and to the additional conditions regarding the 
provision of gull deterrent/prevention measures and refuse/recycling 
facilities.

148 Application 19/00648/HP - 9 Wordsworth Avenue 

Introduction

The Committee considered a retrospective application for the installation of a 
combined shed/summer house at 9 Wordsworth Avenue.

Reason Why Being Considered by Planning Committee

The application was deferred by the Planning Committee at its meeting on 21st 
January 2020 for clarification regarding reference to the submission of an 
anonymous objection to the application.

Page 9



20th February 2020 10

Paragraph 1.4 of the report explained that the objectors wished to remain 
anonymous and for their objection not be published on the application website.  
For this reason the Local Planning Authority is not in a position to consider the 
objections.

Site Visit

The application was not the subject of a site visit.

Report/Background/Late Papers

The report set out the background to the proposal, the site and surrounding area, 
the proposal itself, relevant policies, planning history and representations and 
consultations where applicable.

Officer Presentation

The information was presented as set out by the Deputy Director – Economic 
Development and Planning.

Public Representations

There had been no one registered to speak on the application.

Key Points of Debate

 Members questioned the process of submitting comments online and were 
the public aware that comments would be published on the website.

 The Development Management Services Team Leader stated that the 
Council was governed by General Data Protection Regulations and were 
required to make it clear on the website when inviting comments on 
applications and what the terms of engagement are.

 Members were satisfied that the anonymous objector had been given the 
opportunity to share their objections and also commented that neither of 
the adjoining residents had objected.

On being proposed and seconded and put to the vote the proposal was 
unanimously agreed.

RESOLVED: That the Committee grant planning permission, subject to the 
conditions set out in paragraph 9 of the report.

149 Application 19/00821/FUL - Nunnery Wood High School, Spetchley Road 

This item was withdrawn from the agenda.

150 Application 19/00997/FUL - 145 Bromyard Road 

Introduction

Page 10



20th February 2020 11

The Committee considered an application under Regulation 3 of The Town and 
Country Planning General Regulations 1992 for the construction of a concrete 
ramp and steps to the front entrance door at 145 Bromyard Road.

Reason Why Being Considered by Planning Committee

The application had been referred to Planning Committee in accordance with the 
adopted Scheme of Delegation as the site is owned by the City Council.

Site Visit

The application had not been the subject of a site visit.

Report/Background/Late Papers

The report set out the background to the proposal, the site and surrounding area, 
the proposal itself, relevant policies, planning history and representations and 
consultations where applicable.

Officer Presentation

The information was presented as set out by the Deputy Director – Economic 
Development and Planning.

Public Representations

There had been no one registered to speak on the application.

Key Points of Debate

 Members welcomed and fully supported the proposal.

On being proposed and seconded and put to the vote the proposal was 
unanimously agreed.

RESOLVED: That the Committee grant planning permission, subject to the 
conditions set out in paragraph 9 of the report.

151 Application 19/00854/ADV - 'Motorline Hyundai', Everoak Industrial 
Estate, Bromyard Road 

Introduction

The Committee considered an application for the proposed display of 4 signs; 2 
fascia signs; 1 freestanding welcome sign and 1 wall mounted service sign at 
Motorline Hyundai, Everoak Indsutrial Estate, Bromyard Road.

Reason Why Being Considered by Planning Committee

The application had been referred to the Planning Committee at the request of 
Councillor Alan Amos in view of the potential loss of amenity to a number of 
residents.

Page 11



20th February 2020 12

Site Visit

The application had not been the subject of a site visit.

Report/Background/Late Papers

The report set out the background to the proposal, the site and surrounding area, 
the proposal itself, relevant policies, planning history and representations and 
consultations where applicable.

The Committee’s attention was drawn to the late paper which related to the 
amendment of the wording for condition 3 to provide greater clarity.

Officer Presentation

The information was presented as set out by the Deputy Director – Economic 
Development and Planning.

The Committee’s attention was drawn to the powerpoint presentation which 
identified those living in Bromyard Road.  It was considered that any impact of the 
proposed signage is mitigated due to the distance between the neighbouring 
properties.

Public Representations

There had been no one registered to speak on the application.

Key Points of Debate

 In light of the amendment to conditon3, that the lighting for the illuminated 
advertisements be switched off no later than 9.00pm, it was asked if the 
objector, referred to in paragraph 6.1 of the report, could be informed.  The 
Chairman stated that it would not be normal practice to do so but asked the 
Development Services Management Team Leader if he would write to them 
in this instance.

 It was asked if a timer could be part of the condition, so the illuminated 
signs would automatically switch off.  The Chairman stated that the 
applicants could be asked but we cannot enforce them to do so.

On being proposed and seconded and put to the vote the proposal was agreed, 
subject to the amendment of condition 3.

Councillor Alan Amos asked for his vote against the proposal to be recorded in the 
minutes.

RESOLVED: That the Committee grant planning permission, subject to the 
conditions set out in paragraph 9 of the report, and to the amendment of 
condition 3 as set out in the later paper.

152 Any Other Business 

Page 12



20th February 2020 13

Retrospective Applications

Concerns were raised by Councillor Alan Amos with regard to retrospective 
applications which he considered to be unfair and not adhering to the rules of 
applying for planning permission.  Councillor Amos felt that enforcement around 
this needed to be more robust.

Representations and Consultations for Applications

Reference was made to the current planning IT system that produced the 
neighbour consultee comments for Members to view on each of the applications.  
Councillor Berry stated that the current process was cumbersome and it was 
agreed by the Senior Planning Officer that she would look at ways of improving 
this process for Members.  The ‘Track my App’ was referred to which Members 
could use instead.  It was also suggested that the wording on the website for 
those wising to comment on applications could be made clearer, particularly with 
leaving personal details.

Committee Report Templates

Members were asked for their comments on the current report template which 
had now been in use for 12 months.  Generally the report was seen as more 
digestible although a lot of comments on the NPPF and planning policy were in 
every report.  The Development Management Services Team Leader did suggest a 
master copy of planning policy matters and just a bullet point in the report.  
Members felt that wording in italics was useful as they were seen as important.

Duration of the meeting: 1.30pm to 4.55pm

Chairman at the meeting on
19th March 2020

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



CONSERVATION ADVISORY PANEL
(Incorporating the Civic Society Development Panel)

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________
Chairman Charles Potterton, BA DipLA CMLI

Secretary: Worcester City Council, The Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 5th February 2020 

Present: Mr Charles Potterton in the Chair
Dr H Barrett, Mr C Guy, The Dean, Mr G Harvey, Mr M 
Hughes, Mr S Laws, Mr R Lockett, Ms A Marles, Mr M 
McCurdy, Mr D Saunders and Mrs C Silvester

Councillor B Amos

Officers: Dr P Collins and Mr J Dinn

Apologies: Councillor Gregson, Mr D Davis, Mr G Harvey and Mr S Laws

93. INTRODUCTIONS

The Chair welcomed Ms A Marles as a new member of the 
Conservation advisory Panel and welcomed Mr M Hughes as a 
returning member.

94. MINUTES

The Minutes of the meeting held on 15th January 2020 were 
approved as a correct record with a minor amendment to item 84.

Matters Arising:

Item 89: 19/01004/HP & 19/01005/LB – 10 Fort Royal Lane -  Dr Collins 
clarified that the large Pine Tree that appeared to be missing from 
the application had already been given consent to be removed. 
The tree did not have a Tree Protection Order despite being in a 
Conservation Area. The reason for its removal was apparently 
because the tree was dropping branches on to the property. 

Item 91: 19/00945/HP & 19/00946/LB – 26 St Georges Square - Dr 
Collins reported that the applications have been approved so 
would not be brought back to the Panel for further comment.

95. CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

1. Appeal Decisions and Notifications of Appeal.

None.

Page 15 Agenda Item 4



CONSERVATION ADVISORY PANEL
(Incorporating the Civic Society Development Panel)

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________
Chairman Charles Potterton, BA DipLA CMLI

Secretary: Worcester City Council, The Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY

2. Chairman’s Correspondence and Information for Discussion

The Chair advised that he had received an informal pre-
application enquiry requesting the Panel’s comments. The 
application relates to previously consented scheme P15D0150 – 
Site at Lowesmoor Trading Estate, St Martin’s Gate. The revised 
scheme will be circulated to Panel Members via email and any 
comments to be submitted to Dr Collins.

The Chair advised that his term of office would officially end in 
March. The positions of Chair and Vice Chair would be discussed 
formally at the next meeting and if any Panel Members were 
interested in either position to contact Ms Meachen or the Chair 
for more information.

Vice Chair Mr Saunders raised the position of Heritage Champion 
and non-attendance in general. 

96. OUTCOME OF APPLICATIONS

Dr Collins reported on the status of applications considered at the 
December and January meetings.

Dr Collins advised that a revised scheme for 19/01001/FUL – 
Phoenix House, 42 Broad Street had been received and would be 
brought back to the Panel for further comment.

97. REPORT ONLY ITEMS

i. 19/00999/FUL – 15 York Place - Change of Use of Ground 
Floor from hairdressing salon (A1) to Class C3.

ii. 20/00043/HP – 39 York Place - Proposed single storey rear 
extension.

iii. 19/00867/FUL – South Quay - Re-siting of mooring – a re-
submission of P14D0488 (approved 21 May 2015, now out of 
time).

iv. 20/00042/ADV – 31-32 High Street - Replacement of existing 
signage (same proportions and materials).

Page 16



CONSERVATION ADVISORY PANEL
(Incorporating the Civic Society Development Panel)

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________
Chairman Charles Potterton, BA DipLA CMLI

Secretary: Worcester City Council, The Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY

MAIN AGENDA ITEMS

98. 19/01012/CU & 19/01013/LB – 1 St Johns

Conversion of vacant rear storage and utility areas to provide 2 one-
bedroom apartments.

The Panel have no objection to the application.

99. 19/01014/FUL – 67-71, High Street

Proposed black framed metal security shutters.

The Panel agree the application is not acceptable in its current format, 
as the proposal does not comply with Council Policy.

100. 19/00973/HP – Kashmir House, 12 Green Hill Bath Road

Proposed two storey extension.

The Panel discussed the application and agreed there was no objection 
to the principal of an extension on the site. However, the Panel felt that 
due to the visibility of the extension, the design needed further work and 
that the current proposal did not complement the existing building.

The Panel agree the application is not acceptable in its current and felt a 
more appropriately designed scheme was needed.

101. 19/01019/FUL – Worcester North Park & Ride, John Comyn Drive

Proposed 74 Bedroom Care Home with associated landscape treatment 
and car parking.

Dr Collins advised that the application had been brought to the Panel 
for comment because of the scale and prominence of the application 
and not for any conservation based reasons per se. Mr Dinn informed the 
Panel that the site had been excavated prior to the creation of the Park 
and Ride and therefore had no archaeological implications for this 
application.

The Panel discussed the application and agreed there was no objection 
to the principal of the application. Panel Members did consider that the 
scheme had been well designed but information on proposed materials 

Page 17



CONSERVATION ADVISORY PANEL
(Incorporating the Civic Society Development Panel)

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________
Chairman Charles Potterton, BA DipLA CMLI

Secretary: Worcester City Council, The Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY

appeared to be lacking. The Panel also felt it would be useful to see how 
the scheme related to the rest of the site as it was felt this was not clear 
on the existing plans. Furthermore, Panel Members required more detail 
on boundary treatment and existing vegetation. 

The Panel have no objection to the application in principal, however 
require further information on materials, site boundaries and site layout.

103. Feedback on 19/00694/RM – Sherriff Street

The Chair had previously requested a working party be formed to look in 
detail at the scheme and assess what elements of the scheme had 
changed and what elements required comment from the Panel.

Mr McCurdy and Dr Barrett formed the working party and reported their 
findings back to the Panel. In summary, the feedback was: there is a 
significant difference in height of the buildings from the original 
application; it has been particularly difficult to understand the figures 
within the application meaning the working party were unable to 
establish whether the total square footage of the development has 
changed; an increase in the number of dwellings; a feeling that the 
amendments constituted a substantial change to the original 
application which should require a revised / new application rather than 
a variation in conditions alone.

The Chair agreed to compile the findings of the working party and write 
a formal submission of comments on behalf of the Panel for 
consideration by the Planning Committee.

POST MEETING NOTE – The Chairman collated a response based on the 
working party findings and were submitted to Mr Alan Coleman on13th 
February 2020. These are attached as an addendum to these minutes.

104. Any Other Business

23 Bozward Street - Single storey side and rear extension and dormer 
window extension to increase the size of the existing HMO to create 6 
bedrooms.

Mr McCurdy asked for clarification regarding the above application. The 
original application was refused by Planning Committee and the 
Planning Inspector, however the applicant subsequently applied for 
permission through a Certificate of Lawfulness. Mr McCurdy asked 

Page 18



CONSERVATION ADVISORY PANEL
(Incorporating the Civic Society Development Panel)

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________
Chairman Charles Potterton, BA DipLA CMLI

Secretary: Worcester City Council, The Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY

Officers for clarification of how this course of action was permitted as the 
application had already been refused.

POST MEETING NOTE – This question was raised by Councillor A Amos at 
the January Planning Committee. The meeting minutes are appended.

_________________________
Chairman at the meeting 
4th March 2020

Page 19



CONSERVATION ADVISORY PANEL
(Incorporating the Civic Society Development Panel)

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________
Chairman Charles Potterton, BA DipLA CMLI

Secretary: Worcester City Council, The Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY

APPENDIX 1. CAP SUB-COMMITTEE RESPONSE AS SENT TO MR ALAN 
COLEMAN ON 13.02.2020

19/00694/RM - Land at Sherriff Street Industrial Estate and associated 
highway. Sherriff Street Worcester WR4 9AB

CONCLUSION - CAP wishes to note its overall conclusion that the current 
scheme is not acceptable in its current format for the reasons set out 
below. 

DISCUSSION - CAP set up a separate working party in order to fully 
understand the current scheme and how it differs from the consented 
scheme. The working party set out to understand which elements of the 
scheme had changed, which were a meaningful change and which CAP 
should offer its comments and feedback on. 

Having studied the submission at considerable length, It is the panel’s 
opinion that – 

1. The changes to the scheme are considerable in terms of layout, 
content and scale and that the scheme should properly have been 
submitted as a new application.

2. Notwithstanding the above, a Reserved Matters (RM) application 
must include the full level of detail one would expect at the 
discharge of condition stage as it is not possible to add conditions 
to a RM application. In that case, for example, the landscape plans 
should be fully detailed plans to include actual plant names, 
numbers etc. 

The ‘landscape scheme’ as submitted, supposedly on 12.09.2019, is 
based on the original layout, is actually just a coloured up site plan 
and is dated 2011. For this reason alone the application should be 
considered unacceptable.

3. It is extremely difficult to cross reference the submitted drawings with 
the comparison schedule and this is most unhelpful.

4. There are errors and inconsistencies across the application to 
include discrepancies in the exact increase in number of dwellings 
and car parking spaces.

Page 20

https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Planning/Display/19/00694/RM


CONSERVATION ADVISORY PANEL
(Incorporating the Civic Society Development Panel)

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________
Chairman Charles Potterton, BA DipLA CMLI

Secretary: Worcester City Council, The Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY

5. CAP comments on the original application reflected a dislike for the 
scale of the proposed development and the current modifications 
suggest the development has now actually grown in scale. 

Panel members feel disappointed that their original comments have 
not been taken into consideration.

6. CAP considers this to be a very important scheme that warrants its 
full understanding and proper consideration. The panel therefore 
formally request that the Case Officer and / or the Project Architect 
present the scheme to the panel. Following that presentation the 
panel would be in a position to submit its more detailed comments.

7. Whilst the panel supports the principle of redevelopment of this 
important site, given the above reasons, the panel concludes that 
the scheme is not acceptable in its current format.

8. The working party’s detailed comments are set out below.

WORKING PARTY COMMENTS ON APPLICATION 19/00694/RM

A. The working party were tasked with establishing if planning 
application 19/00694/RM included any areas where CAP may have 
concerns and trying to establish the differences between P12G0199 
and 19/00694/RM

B. Application 19/00694/RM had been submitted to Planning 
Committee on 19th December 2019 but withdrawn immediately 
prior to the meeting. The result was that the briefing notes attached 
to the application were attached on line with the planning 
committee agenda item 12.

C. The above notes specifically identified several items requiring 
resolution.

D. Section 6.1 required clarification of the height of buildings to the 
south end of the site, the highways authority was still seeking clarity 
on certain issues and Historic England were seeking further details of 
landscaping.  There is no indication the above issues have been 
resolved.

E. One of the key issues addressed was amendments to the phrasing 
of the construction as specified in the various documents.

Page 21



CONSERVATION ADVISORY PANEL
(Incorporating the Civic Society Development Panel)

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________
Chairman Charles Potterton, BA DipLA CMLI

Secretary: Worcester City Council, The Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY

Phase P12G0199 Alterations 
agreed in S106 
agreement

19/00693/REM
(as set out in 
covering letter)

19/00694/REM

1 Buildings  C* 
(car park597 
spaces) and D 
(135 residential 
units, 694sqm 
retail)
Locke building*
Ron Smith Unit 1

Building A Building A Building A (212 
residential units, 
233 sqm retail)

2 Building B (88 
residential units, 
trade counter,
Building E (143 
residential units, 
hotel, 
business/leisure 
uses
Footbridge

Buildings B, C 
and E

Buildings C D 
and E.
Locke Building

Buildings C (675 
car park 
spaces) and D 
180 units and 
314 sqm retail).
Locke Building

3 Building A (71 
residential units)

Locke building
Building D
Ron Smith 
building

Building B. Building B (76 
units and 3075 
sqm retail – B1 
use deleted) 
and
Building E (hotel 
and leisure only)

4 Ron Smith unit 2 Ron Smith Unit 
2
Footbridge

Ron Smith units 
1 and 2.
footbridge

Ron Smith units 1 
and 2.
footbridge

* Full planning permission granted

Comparison table for P12G0199 drawing 1476 4000-4900 Floor Area Take 
off revised 30.11.12 and 19/00694RM drawing 1874 Floor Area Take off Aug 
19Reve.

Take-off drawings give an indication of height and capacity of the 
buildings. The table below gives our understanding of the relevant heights 
of the buildings as extracted from the documents mentioned above.

BUILDING P12G0199
 

19/00693REM 19/00694RM
 

A 5 (plus GF & LGF)  8 (plus car park)
B 5 ( plus Gf)  5 (plus car park)

Page 22



CONSERVATION ADVISORY PANEL
(Incorporating the Civic Society Development Panel)

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________
Chairman Charles Potterton, BA DipLA CMLI

Secretary: Worcester City Council, The Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY

C 
multi/story 
car park

4 (plus GF)  6

D 5 ( plus GF & LGF)  7 (plus GF)
E 5 (plus GF & LGF)  5 (plus GF & LGF)
Locke  (B1) 1 (plus GF)  1(plus GF)
Ron Smith 1 (plus GF)  1 

F. The above “Area take-off” documents also give indications of 
capacity: we were unable to compare like for like but there 
appears to be significant differences in residential and commercial 
accommodation along with car parking numbers.

G. There is some confusion as to the actual number of additional 
dwellings to be provided as set out in the brief to Planning 
Committee – the variation in numbers quoted in the overview of the 
earlier and proposed phases of development is 31 dwellings (437 in 
the existing permission numbers versus 468 proposed), the brief 
broadly states an additional 40 dwellings and the covering letter 
attached to 19/00693/REM (approved by Planning Committee 19th 
December 2019) refers to an additional 72 dwellings (396 dwellings 
in the extant permission and 468 in the proposed application).

H. We were concerned that the briefing notes attached to 
19/00694/RM for the December planning panel did not give any 
indication of alterations to the height and mass of buildings or 
amended numbers of dwellings and car parking spaces.

I. We were expecting some modified drawings/figures to be 
submitted to clarify confusing documentation.

J. We were unable to find any evidence to indicate that concerns 
expressed about highways issues, height of buildings and 
landscape had been addressed.

Conclusions - 

K. Significant differences in Height of building A, C and D have been 
identified.

L. Our original comments on P12G0199 made clear our objections to 
the scale and impact of the development and the increased 
height can only reinforce those concerns.

Page 23



CONSERVATION ADVISORY PANEL
(Incorporating the Civic Society Development Panel)

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________
Chairman Charles Potterton, BA DipLA CMLI

Secretary: Worcester City Council, The Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY

M. We were unable to establish a clear indication if the total square 
footage of the development has changed due to figures produced 
as part of the application are confusing and do not appear to add 
up. There is some evidence that figures of commercial and 
residential accommodation along with car parking numbers have 
been changed upward. 

N. It should be noted that the covering letter attached to 
19/00693/REM refers to an additional 72 dwellings and an 
additional 25,197 sqm of additional development (a sizable 
additional retail component in phase three).

O. This appears to be a substantial rather than minor amendment to 
the original application P12G0199 as granted permission and a 
much larger scheme, and therefore requiring a revised / new 
application rather than a variation in conditions alone.

APPENDIX 2. JANUARY PLANNING COMMITTEE MINUTE (extract)

23 Bozward Street

Concerns had been raised by Councillor Alan Amos on the recent granting 
of a ‘Lawful Development Certificate’ for 23 Bozward Street which had 
twice previously had applications rejected by the Planning Committee and 
the Government Planning Inspector for an extension to an existing House in 
Multiple Occupation. It was questioned which route the applicant had 
taken to obtain the permission.

The Development Management Services Team Leader explained that the 
appeal was dismissed by the Planning Inspector who had made reference 
to the ‘fallback position’ in his letter to the applicant. The applicant had 
exercised his permitted development rights and had applied for a ‘Lawful 
Development Certificate’.

Councillor Amos asked Officers if they had advised the applicant that this 
was a route they could go through to obtain permission. The Development 
Management Services Team Leader in response stated that no advice was 
given to the applicant to go down this route and proceeded to explain the 
process by which the certificate had been issued.

In response Councillor Amos stated that the Committee needed to be 
informed about these decisions when they happen.

Page 24



Report to:  Planning Committee, 18th March 2020

Report of:  Deputy Director - Economic Development and Planning

Subject:     RIVERSIDE CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

1.     Recommendation

  1.1 To  adopt  the  Riverside  Conservation  Area  Appraisal  as  a  material 
onsideration in development management decisions.

  1.2 To amend the current conservation area boundary as proposed in 2.12,
2.13 and 2.14 of this report.

2.      Background

2.1 Conservation areas are designated under the provisions of Section 69 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  A conservation 
area is defined as “an area of special architectural or historic interest the 
character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance”.

2.2 All the appraisals are written in conjunction with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). There is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development and the protection and enhancement of heritage assets, such as 
conservation areas, is an environmental objective. The NPPF expects local 
authorities to have evidence to demonstrate the special character of the area
for use as part of considering the merits of applications. The appraisals provide 
the sort of evidence expected by the NPPF.

2.3    The  Conservation  Area  appraisal  has  been  produced  in  accordance  with
Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and Management (Historic England,
2016). This sets out the importance of defining and assessing an area’s 
character and the need to record it in some detail. The objectives are: to 
provide a sound basis for rational and consistent judgements when considering 
planning applications within the conservation area, and to inform management 
proposals for the area.

2.4 The South Worcestershire Development Plan, 2006-2030, includes policies 
which are intended to ensure that the character of a conservation area is 
preserved or enhanced by any development actions. Conservation area 
character appraisals are considered to be integral with the spatial planning 
approach of the council.

Page 25 Agenda Item 8



2.5 It is the statutory duty of the Council to review its existing conservation areas 
from time to time and designate further areas as necessary.

2.6 Worcester City Council is updating its existing conservation area 
documentation, including new appraisals. The process ensures the Council 
complies with current good practice and has up-to-date, factually accurate 
appraisal documents to refer to in planning decisions.

2.7 Conservation Area Appraisals record and analyse the various features which 
give the conservation areas their special architectural and historic significance. 
Significant buildings and spaces are examined along with listed buildings, key 
unlisted buildings, significant trees and important views.

2.8 There is a presumption that all of these features, as well as other elements of 
character, should be preserved or enhanced as required by legislation when 
development is proposed.

2.9 The appraisals build upon local and national policy and provide a firm basis on 
which applications for development within the areas can be assessed.

2.10 The documents are intended to be used by the local authority planning team, 
architects, developers and landowners to ensure the special character of the 
conservation areas are preserved and enhanced through development activity.

2.11 The designation of the Riverside Conservation Area recognises the importance 
of the River Severn to Worcester; it is the reason for the city’s existence, has 
historic importance as a means of transportation and today is an important 
recreational and amenity facility.

2.12 Following consideration of the conservation area boundary, some boundary 
amendments have been recommended in order to ensure that the conservation 
area retains its ‘special interest’. The proposed boundary amendments are: the 
exclusion of Nos. 15-23 Tower Road; the exclusion of some modern industrial 
units on Weir Road; the exclusion of the estate of houses on Dace Road. All of 
these buildings have been constructed since the original designation and bear 
little or no relationship to the character of the Riverside Conservation Area. 
Where other uncharacteristic modern buildings have not been proposed for 
exclusion this is because either they or their land borders the Riverside or they 
could offer future potential enhancement opportunities for the conservation 
area. The boundary has been redrawn to exclude these areas.

2.13 Other proposed boundary amendments are the inclusion of the locally listed 
Northwick House on Old Northwick Lane. This early 19th century building was 
formerly set in much larger grounds which extended to the River Severn to the 
west and was the home of John Knapp, owner of the riverside brickworks at 
this time. It is therefore considered that this building holds the level of special 
historic interest required for inclusion in the Riverside Conservation Area.

2.14 Consultation comments on the adjacent area at Park Avenue proposed for 
conservation area designation suggested the lesser historical and character 
value of character area 2. As a result of this a boundary amendment is also 
proposed to Riverside Conservation Area to include Park View Terrace and the

Page 26



adjacent properties which previously formed character area 3 of the proposed
Park Avenue Conservation Area.

3.      Preferred Option

3.1 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 places a duty 
upon every local planning authority, from time to time, to review and to 
determine whether any parts, or further parts, of their area are of special 
architectural and/or historic interest, the character of which it is desirable to 
preserve or enhance, and to designate them as conservation areas.

3.2    The designation of conservation areas imposes certain duties on authorities.
These duties are two-fold. Firstly to formulate and publish, from time to time, 
proposals for the preservation and enhancement of conservation areas in their
district and submit them for public consultation. Secondly, in exercising their
planning powers, to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of the conservation area.

3.3 The preferred option follows the statutory requirement in the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Area) Act 1990 for local authorities to designate 
areas of special architectural and historic interest as conservation areas, and to 
formulate and publish proposals for the preservation and enhancement of those 
areas. The appraisal has been produced in accordance with guidance and best 
practice as published in Historic England Advice Note 1: Conservation Area 
designation, appraisal and management.

3.4 Effective consultation is vital to successful conservation area management, 
allowing all stakeholders to contribute to the appraisal and the management 
proposals. This appraisal was subject to a six week public consultation and 
exhibition during July and August 2018. All residents, businesses and land 
owners within the conservation area were consulted by letter and asked to 
submit any comments via an online survey. Paper copies of the surveys were 
also made available at the Guildhall and the consultation advertised in the local 
press. The consultation details, full draft appraisal document and feedback form 
were also made available on the Council’s website.

3.5    A public exhibition was held at The Guildhall on Tuesday 31st  July and 1st

August 2018. The exhibition remained on display at the Guildhall until Tuesday
10th August. The public exhibition was well attended with 26 people including 5
Ward Members.

3.6 Seventeen online surveys were completed raising a number of issues. Broadly 
speaking, all respondents thought that the Riverside is suitable for recognition 
as a conservation area. The majority of respondents thought that the appraisal 
adequately identifies the character of the conservation area and agreed with 
the proposed boundary amendments.

3.7 Landscape features, historic and traditional features, and historic layout were 
considered to be the most positive aspects of the conservation area. Negative 
aspects were  identified as unsympathetic development, poor quality street 
furniture and public realm, and heavy traffic in and around Worcester Bridge. 
Suggested  management  proposals  include  rubbish  issues,  protection  of

Page 27



important vistas, bird protection and methods for traffic reduction. One 
respondent suggested that the locally listed Screen House on the west bank be 
turned into The Worcester Plinth for artwork, heritage and events and another 
respondent suggested the relocating of the Ketch viewpoint to be north of the 
bridge next to the Ketch. Some additional historic details were also provided 
which have been incorporated into the text of the document. Data analysis of 
the online survey results and comments can be found at Appendix 1.

3.8 Historic England supplied a detailed response which observed that the Appraisal 
follows a format that is fully in line with national guidance and there is a clear 
articulation of the conservation areas special interest and a succinct and 
insightful analysis as to how this currently contributes to the areas character 
and appearance. The eight Character Areas defined in the Appraisal are well 
thought out and appear fully justified. Both positive aspects of the conservation 
area and a range of negative changes to its condition are carefully itemized and 
associated management issues are clearly identified. A number of conservation 
area boundary changes are also suggested which are well evidenced after 
thoughtful analysis and these are also supported by Historic England.

3.9 Highways England and Natural England had no specific comment to make on 
the draft appraisal.

3.10 A member of CAP commented that the trees on New Road are very prominent 
and clearly under threat, suggesting that the preservation and maintenance of 
these trees should be included in the management proposals for the area. In 
addition, the respondent made reference to the importance of the chestnut 
trees on the riverside near the Cathedral and to general riverbank vegetation, 
stating that the vegetation is an important part of the character of these parts 
of the Riverside conservation Area. The document has been updated to reflect 
these comments and areas of important trees and vegetation identified on the 
relevant character area maps.

3.11 As a result of the amendments to Park Avenue Conservation Area (proposed) a 
second consultation was undertaken to allow residents to comment on the 
proposed amendment to the boundary of the conservation area at Park View 
Terrace.

3.12 A letter was sent to all residents within the extension informing them of the 
changes to the proposals. They and other key stakeholders were invited to 
respond on the proposed designation and the draft appraisal as amended. The 
consultation details, full draft appraisal document and survey form were made 
available on the Council’s website and the consultation was advertised in the 
press.

3.13  Manned public exhibitions were held at the Son’s of Rest building in Gheluvelt
Park on Monday 6th  January 2020 and the Guildhall on Tuesday 7th  January
2020. The exhibition was also on display at the Guildhall from Wednesday 8th

January until Wednesday 15th  January. The exhibition included information on
Park  Avenue  Conservation  Area  Appraisal, the  Article  4  Direction  and the 
proposed amendments to Riverside Conservation Area Appraisal. 20 attended 
the public consultation though the majority were visiting with regard to Park 
Avenue.

Page 28



3.14 3 further online surveys were completed, all of which agreed with the proposed 
boundary amendment. Similarly all issues raised during the second consultation 
were considered and all comments are responded to (Appendix 1).

3.15 Taking account of all comments received, the draft appraisal and management 
proposals have now been updated (Appendix 2) also to coordinate where 
appropriate with the management proposals within the Riverside Park 
Management Plan. The adoption of the conservation area appraisal and 
management proposals is considered to be a positive move towards the 
management of the Riverside Conservation Area.

4.      Alternative Options Considered

4.1 Doing nothing is not a serious option as it would mean Worcester City Council 
failing to meet statutory requirements.

5.      Implications

5.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications The costs of producing appraisals are 
included within Development Management budgets. Improving the clarity of 
documents and producing them on a regular cycle will assist development 
management officers in processing applications.

5.2 Legal and Governance Implications Up-to-date appraisals are necessary to 
ensure that Worcester City Council meets its statutory requirements under 
Section 71(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990.

5.3 Risk Implications Up-to-date appraisals will clarify policy and other 
requirements, reducing risk both to owners and applicants and to the heritage.

5.4 Corporate/Policy Implications Appraisals will support the implementation of the 
historic environment policies in the South Worcestershire Development Plan 
(SWDP6 and SWDP24).

5.5 Equality Implications The revised format and streamlined content should have 
positive implications for equality.

5.6    Human Resources Implications None are identified

5.7    Health and Safety Implications None are identified

5.8 Social, Environmental and Economic Implications Appraisals ensure that the 
character and appearance of conservation areas is conserved and enhanced. 
This maintains and improves their amenity value, biodiversity, and contributes 
to the wellbeing of residents.

Ward(s):                       All
Contact Officer:            Rebecca Barnett Tel: 01905 722529
                                      Email: rebecca.barnett@worcester.gov.uk
Background Papers:     1 - responses to consultation comments and online
                                      survey results

 2 -  the riverside conservation area appraisal

Page 29

mailto:rebecca.barnett@worcester.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



No Comments No comment

the river is an essential part of Worcester's 

history. It provides a pleasant environment 

for citizens and visitors. Together with the 

cathedral it provides a must see for the city.

The apraisal seeks to make clear the recreational and 

tourism importance of the riverside

We all know that the area floods and is 

home to a huge amount of wildlife and 

should be conserved for the future

The appraisal seeks to make clear the importance of the 

ecology and landscaping of the area

With continuing development of buildings in 

and around the city the Riverside provides 

the 'lungs' for rest, recreation and just being 

in silence.

The appraisal seeks to make clear the recreational value of 

the riverside

The River with all it's buildings, Racecourse, 

wildlife, boats etc is the 'jewel in the crown' 

of this whole area.

The appraisal seeks to showcase the significance of these 

features

YES BUT WHAT ARE THE DEFINED 

BOUNDARIES

The plans have been updated to more clearly define the 

area

It is acceptable but leaves too much room 

for cowboy builders. The EA does not have 

enough local knowledge to protect our 

riverside and riverside meadows

The purpose of the appraisal is to identify the significance 

of the riverside conservation area and identify 

opportunities for its enhancement. It is not able to provide 

legislation for flooding or ecology. 

We visited the exhibition at the Guildhall, 

found it interesting and very helpful staff on 

duty Thankyou

Pitchcroft is an oasis of calm within the city 

giving an ideal location and easy opportunity 

for people to walk run or cycle aiding health 

issues and the overall well being of residents 

and people of Worcester in a natural 

environment. In addition the existing car 

park on Pitchcroft particularly is a good 

space and should be preserved to maintain 

an unobstructed barrier between houses 

and racecourse

The appraisal recognises the recreational importance of 

Pitchcroft and suggests enhancements to retain and further 

landscape the car park

Riverside pathways should be cleared and 

maintained so that more people could enjoy 

the area.

Access has been made an enhancement measure within all 

character areas. This is also an aim of the Riverside 

Management Plan

Draft Riverside Conservation Area Consultation 2018

Q1 What is your interest in the area?

Q3 Do you think that the appraisal adequately identifies the character of the conservation area?

Q2 Do you think that the Riverside is suitable for recognition as a conservation area?

Page 31 Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1



MORE DETAIL ON WILDLIFE REQUIRED

The purpose of the appraisal is to identify the significance 

of the riverside conservation area and identify 

opportunities for its enhancement. It is not able to provide 

legislation for ecology. 

Canal and River features These are highlighted as important features of the area

we have a wonderful city the plan goes 

someway to protecting it but leaves areas 

where money makers see their opportunity 

to the neglect of city residence. We have lost 

much history, ie the Lych gate in Lych street 

is a prime example. Who ever though the 

technical college would blend with the 

cathedral

The areas identified were lost/created in the 1960s before 

any of the city's conservation areas were created. The 

appraisal seeks to protect the significance of the area and 

its character.

All of the above except street furniture

The survey software has been updated to allow more than 

one answer. The additional features you suggest are 

acknowledged by the appraisal

All of the above - we do get more visitors to 

the riverside - both sides. It needs to be 

regularly checked for rubbish not just the 

area by the fountains!

The appraisal recognises the recreational and economic 

importance of both sides of the river. The Riverside 

Management Team seek to keep clear the central areas 

Riverside Park, Pitchcroft and Gheluvelt Park as recognised 

by the Green Flag Award. Your concern of the wider area is 

noted and will be a future consideration

All of the above - it only seems to accept one 

answer.

The survey software has been updated to allow more than 

one answer. The additional features you suggest are 

acknowledged by the appraisal

You ask us to comment on aspects (plural) 

but then only allow us to tick one box. The 

positive aspects include some buildings, 

some open landscape and some historic 

features.

The survey software has been updated to allow more than 

one answer. The additional features you suggest are 

acknowledged by the appraisal

Historic and traditional fatures, green 

spaces, Historic layout. I wasn't allowed to 

pick more than one choice, but more than 

one choice applies.

The survey software has been updated to allow more than 

one answer. The additional features you suggest are 

acknowledged by the appraisal

It should be ALL of the above!

The survey software has been updated to allow more than 

one answer. The additional features you suggest are 

acknowledged by the appraisal

I want to select more than one option - 

surely that should be possible? Trees, 

Landscape features, Street furniture

The survey software has been updated to allow more than 

one answer. The additional features you suggest are 

acknowledged by the appraisal

No Comment No comment

Q4 What do you feel are the positive aspects of the conservation area?

Q5 What do you feel are the negative aspects of the conservation area?

Page 32



the top of Slingpool Walk - which has a sign 

on it for the riverside footpath is in a very 

bad state. Lots of people use it to walk, run 

and bicycle, besides lots of children from 

local school.

Signage has been made a recurring theme throughout the 

area management proposals. This sign is included within the 

proposals

Again - all of the above to a greater or lesser 

extent. I think the conservation area can be 

used to create inaction which can be as 

damaging as many of the above.

Conservation area designation is a method of managing 

change. It does not seek to prevent change occuring.

Again you ask for negative aspects (plural) 

but only allow us to tick one box which limits 

usefulness of this 'consultation'. Ther 

negative aspects include cheap looking 

street furniture, unsympathetic 

development (new Diglis apartments could 

be anywhere in UK and are no less damning 

of the area than the factories and 

warehouses). Worcester Bridge is a smog 

filled noisy viewpoint. You need a second 

road bridge where it was in 18th Century 

and turn Worcester bridge into pedestrian 

only (think Charles V Bridge in Prague). 

Verypoor quality of public realm between 

Worcester Bridge and Racecourse. Dirty, 

nooisy and pretty devoid of anything.

The survey software has been updated to allow more than 

one answer. The additional features you suggest are 

acknowledged by the appraisal

Loss of the small hire boats to view the city 

from the river. The significance of these is recognised within the appraisal

Heavy traffic (odd that you mentioned it in 

two areas as a major characterisation, then 

it's not an option here). Plus unsympathetic 

development, loss of landscape features and 

land use - again your form does not allow 

me to select more than one option.

The survey software has been updated to allow more than 

one answer. The additional features you suggest are 

acknowledged by the appraisal

No comment No comment

Unsympathetic changes to buildings. 

Modern and change is acceptable to create a 

diverse architectural range

The conservation area appraisal seeks to articulate the 

character and significance of the area in order that modern 

and new development can be supported without harming 

the character and significance of the area

Heavy road traffic and unsympathetic 

signage and street furniture These are included within the management proposals

Q6 Do you feel that any of the following works harm the character and appearance of the conservation 

area?

Page 33



Plus unsympathetic building and loss of 

action buildings are in trouble and falling 

down.

The conservation area appraisal seeks to articulate the 

character and significance of the area in order that modern 

and new development can be supported without harming 

the character and significance of the area

All of the above. So why can we tick all the 

above but not chose more than one thing in 

Questions 4 & 5? Feel my choices are being 

guided here.

The survey software has been updated to allow more than 

one answer. The additional features you suggest are 

acknowledged by the appraisal

badly maintained units and workshops. The location of these will be determined and investigated

all of the above These are included within the management proposals

As NOT CLEARLY DEFINED

The plans are updated to better clarify the boundries of the 

conservation area

The fact that the island workshops are 

redundant and deteriorating is a fairly 

serious risk. The store building on the north 

of the island has already decayed beyond 

repair. Although the unlocking the Severn 

Project will result in some prospective reuse, 

there is still a fundamntal issue for the 

future here because of the flood and access 

problems. This area is acknowledged 

our modern ideas never gell with ancient 

buildings and life from time past but they are 

necessary

Conservation is the management of change therefore 

modern ideas are compatible with this. All ideas raised 

through the consultation are included in the management 

proposals where appropriate/relevant

really feel that the rubbish issue needs to be 

addressed

This is not felt to be a concern. The area is well maintained 

by the Riverside Park Management Group and has received 

a Green Flag award for it 

Q7 Do you agree with the proposed boundary amendments to the conservation area?

Q8 Do you think that the management proposals sufficiently address the issues in the conservation 

area?

Page 34



The proposals record the situation but don't 

really set out goals and objectives of 

improvement. As the new owners of 

Northwick Marina we are setting about to 

undertake many of the improvements 

mentioned. But the same comments have 

appeared in the last two reviews of the 

Conservation Area but there has been no 

insistence on improvementof the various 

owner. Recording somewhere (rightly) as 

discordant but having no ability to call on 

residents to do anything about it seems 

slightly 'half a task'. Owners of areas 

highlighted in the document as in need of 

improvement should be contacted and 

asked to do something about it. If we are to 

all steadily improve the Riverside 

Conservation area then there needs to be 

some pushing of those who aren't doing 

their bit yet live within it.

The previous appraisals were drafts of this appraisal, a 

appraisal has not previously been adopted for Riverside. 

However on adoption these management proposals will be 

included within a list of management proposals and acted 

on when possible

I think Worcester should follow the lead of 

other cities and put regulations in place to 

protect important vistas - think St. Paul's in 

London or the Castle in Edinburgh. This 

would give more protection than we 

currently have to unsympathetic 

development.

The council are looking at these elsewhere and considering 

how this might be applied to Worcester

WHAT ARE THESE? No comment

the proposed footpridge across the river is 

welcome but to assist traffic in the city all 

boxes at road junctions should be solid, if 

you enter and cannot exit a fine of £90 and 6 

penalty points. Also help with an obscure 

road bridge north of the city with 4 lanes These are highways issues but are noted and forwarded on

as above No comment

Would have liked to see bird protection in 

place for the cables crossing the river by the 

pump house. As have seen swans colliding 

with them.

This will be investigated and considered in future plans for 

the area

Q9 Please advise any further management proposals that you would like to see included in the 

document.

Page 35



Pleased remember to get visitors to 

Worcester they need to be able to park close 

to the conservation areas especially the 

disabled and out of town visitors.

Noted. This is being considered within wider masterplans 

for the city

Methods to reduce traffic and associated air 

and noise pollution. The north quay is 

constantly full of traffic, noisy, and not an 

area to spend time in. Newport Street car 

park is unneccessary and atracts more traffic 

that doesn't need to be there - should be 

changed into a park or similar. Huge car 

parks at the Hive and Crowngate nearby. 

This is raised as a concern in the management proposals 

and is a consideration of wider masterplans of the city

Details on possible developments to 

grandstand, Kepax park, new footbridge, fish 

tunnel etc..

The appraisal seeks to highlight where there would be 

potential for enhancements. Details are decided through 

the individual projects

Needs an overall plan of the Riverside CA 

showing the boundaries and distinction from 

the Canal Conservation Area. Includes the Oil 

Basin in the Diglis Island Character Are 

although it is clearly on the mainland which 

is confusing. The Oil Basin and quayside here 

do have a different character, history and 

appearance to the island, being constructed 

specially for trans-shipment of heavy oil in 

steel barges after the 1890s. Perhaps some 

clarification is needed. The Oil Basin is also 

erroneously referred to as a dry dock on P81 

Blacksmith's forge is described as a 'three 

walled building' on P79, it is four walled. I 

think we can say for certain that no timber in 

the current lock gates survives from 1844 - 

P83.

The plans have been updated to more clearly show the 

boundaries of the area and amendments have been made 

to the text regarding this comment. Although the oil basin is 

on the mainland its use was felt to be more closely 

associated with the river. Whilst there is some variations of 

history and character in this area there was concern over 

breaking the character areas up very small. All areas are 

connected by an industrial character which differs from 

other parts of the conservation area 

do not destroy our city any more

The conservation area designation seeks to conserve and 

enhance the area

Q10 Any other comments?

Page 36



I have a proposal for the most prominent 

derelict riverside building - the Screenhouse 

on the west bank less than 100 yards from 

the bridge. It has been derelict for as long as 

I can remember. I propose that it is 

purchased (with/without public funding) and 

turned into the Worcester Plinth, a site for 

artwork, for celebrating Worcester 

achivement, heritage and events. A full 

proposals has been submitted to the 

Heritage and Arts Officers of the City and 

County Councils. I am very happy to lead the 

project.

Thankyou for your suggestions. This will be considered in 

future proposals for the building

You talk about the Ketch Viewpoint being 

enhanced and the interpretative boards 

needing repair but of course all of this will be 

swept away with the new bridge 

construction. The new Viewing Point should 

be constructed North of the bridges next to 

the Ketch, so it is more readily accessible (no 

one wants to look over a dual carriageway 

and inhale the smog). There needs to be 

more abvious sign-posting at the end of the 

riverside walk to point up to this view point. 

Some of the trees will need to be cut back to 

permit the new viewpoint to operate. You 

might also reflect on the fact that in the 19th 

century the area behind the ketch down to 

the river were 'pleasure gadrens' and 

consideration should be made to restoring 

such gardens and maybe even incorporate a 

glass lift to get you from the Riverside to the 

Ketch which would assist disabled persons. A 

few display boards on a dusty mound does 

not a destination venue make.

The management proposal regarding the Ketch viewpoint 

has been updated to reflect this consideration and your 

thoughts will be considered in any future proposals for the 

area

Page 90: The golf course owners in area 7 

removed the offending conifer screen 

several years ago, but it is still mentioned as 

a blight on the landscape.

Noted. This has been removed from the management 

proposals

Page 37



What facilities are available for people who 

do not have access to computers. Not seen 

any publicity on this

The councils consultation procedure has been raised for 

review

It's good that the riverside is a conservation 

area. However, what does it really mean in 

terms of improving the area? I live here in 

the city centre and the 'conservation' area is 

essentially two riverside footpaths with a 

small bit of green space, next to enormous, 

traffic filled roads, constant noise and air 

pollution, and endless surface car parks. Not 

really a conservation area. make it an 

attractive area to visit, make cars park in the 

big multistoreys. It's also a shame nobody 

checked this survey actually worked before 

publishing it.

The conservation area appraisal process seeks to record 

and manage enhancements of the area. The enhancement 

proposals you provide are included within the appraisal and 

will be addressed where an appropriate opportunity 

presents itself. The survey has been updated to avoid this 

problem in future

No comments No comment

No comments No comment

No comments No comment

No comments No comment

No comments No comment

No comments No comment

I am a property owner in Tench Close 

overlooking the confluence of the river 

Teme and Severn. I would like the City 

Council to provide a continuously running 

footpath, of tarmac construction, running 

from The Ketch to The Diglis

Improved accessibility in this area has been included in the 

management proposals

Q6 Do you think that the management proposals sufficiently address the issues throughout the Riverside 

Conservation Area?

Q7 Are there any further projects, enhancement measures or management proposals that you would like 

to see implemented in the Riverside Conservation Area?

Q8 Any other comments?

Draft Riverside Conservation Area Appraisal Consultation 2020

Q1 What is your interest in the area?

Q2 Do you support the proposed ameded boundary of the Riverside Conservation to include Park View 

Terrace as identified?

Q3 Do you think that the appraisal adequately identifies the character of Park View Terrace?

Q4 What do you feel are the positive aspects of Park View Terrace?

Q5 What do you feel are the negative aspects of Park View Terrace?

Page 38



I completely disagree wth the proposal to 

construct Kepax Bridge. It is not necessary, is 

very costly and will blight the landscape

Further design comments are made in the appraisal to 

mitigate your design concerns. The cost and necessity are 

the subject of the individual project assessment. Your 

comment is however noted.

Page 39



56.25% 9

25.00% 4

6.25% 1

12.50% 2

0.00% 0

Q1 What is your interest in the area?
Answered: 16 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 16

Resident

Property Owner

Business

Visitor

Other

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Resident

Property Owner

Business

Visitor

Other

1 / 12

Riverside Conservation Area Draft AppraisalPage 40



100.00% 16

0.00% 0

Q2 Do you think that Riverside is suitable for recognition as a
conservation area?

Answered: 16 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 16

# ANY ADDITIONAL COMMENTS DATE

1 the river is an essential part of worcester's history. it provides a pleasant environment for citizens
and visitors. together with the cathedral it provides a must see for the city

8/21/2018 4:20 PM

2 We all know that the area floods and is home to a huge amount of wildlife and should consvered for
the future

8/7/2018 12:18 PM

3 With continuing development of buildings in and around the city the Riverside provides the "lungs"
for rest, recreation and just being in the silence.

8/1/2018 11:29 PM

4 The River with all it’s buildings, Racecourse,wildlife, boats etc is the “jewel in the crown “ of this
whole area.

7/21/2018 7:53 AM

5 YES BUT WHAT ARE THE DEFINED BOUNDARIES 7/20/2018 3:33 PM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

2 / 12

Riverside Conservation Area Draft AppraisalPage 41



87.50% 14

12.50% 2

Q3 Do you think that the appraisal adequately identifies the character of
the conservation area?

Answered: 16 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 16

# ANY ADDITIONAL COMMENTS DATE

1 it is acceptable but leaves too much room for cowboy builders. the EA does not have enough local
knowledge to protect our riverside and riverside meadows

8/21/2018 4:20 PM

2 We visited the exhibition at the Guildhall, found it interesting and very helpful staff on duty 8/7/2018 12:18 PM

3 Pitchcroft is an oasis of calm within the city giving an ideal location and easy opportunity for
people to walk run or cycle aiding health issues and the overall well being of residents and people
of Worcester in a natural environment. In addition the existing car park on pitchcroft particularly is
a good space and should be preserved to maintain a unobstructed barrier between houses and
racecourse

7/21/2018 6:18 PM

4 Riverside pathways should be cleared and maintained so that more people could enjoy the area. 7/21/2018 7:53 AM

5 MORE DETAIL ON WILDLIFE REQUIRED 7/20/2018 3:33 PM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

3 / 12

Riverside Conservation Area Draft AppraisalPage 42



0.00% 0

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

43.75% 7

0.00% 0

56.25% 9

Q4 What do you feel are the positive aspects of the conservation area?
Answered: 16 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 16

# OTHER (PLEASE SPECIFY) DATE

1 Canal & River features 8/23/2018 11:26 AM

2 we have a wonderful city the plan goes someway to protecting it but leaves areas where money
makers see their opportunity to the neglect of city residence. we have lost much history, ie the
Lych gate in Lych street is a prime example. who ever thought the technical college would blend
with the cathedral

8/21/2018 4:20 PM

3 All of the above except street furniture. 8/12/2018 11:08 AM

Historic
layout/plan...

Building
quality/design

Street
furniture...

Historic or
traditional...

Boundary
treatments...

Landscape
features (op...

Trees

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Historic layout/plan form

Building quality/design

Street furniture (signs, lamp posts, bins)

Historic or traditional features (windows, doors, detailing)

Boundary treatments (wall, fences, gates, hedgerows)

Landscape features (open space, green space, views, field boundaries)

Trees

Other (please specify)

4 / 12

Riverside Conservation Area Draft AppraisalPage 43



4 All of the above - we do get more visitors to the riverside - both sides. It needs to be regularly
checked for rubbish not just the area by the fountains!

8/7/2018 12:18 PM

5 All of the above - it only seems to accept one answer. 8/2/2018 2:00 PM

6 You ask us to comment on aspects (plural) but then only allow us to tick one box. The positive
aspects include some buildings,some open landscape and some historic features.

8/1/2018 3:26 PM

7 Historic and traditional features, green spaces, Historic layout. I wan't allowed to pick more than
one choice, but more than one choice applies.

7/22/2018 9:05 PM

8 It should be ALL of the above ! 7/21/2018 7:53 AM

9 I want to select more than one option - surely that should be possible? Trees, Landscape features,
Street furniture

7/20/2018 3:54 PM

5 / 12

Riverside Conservation Area Draft AppraisalPage 44



31.25% 5

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

6.25% 1

0.00% 0

6.25% 1

12.50% 2

6.25% 1

37.50% 6

Q5 What do you feel are the negative aspects of the conservation area?
Answered: 16 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 16

# OTHER (PLEASE SPECIFY) DATE

1 No comment 8/23/2018 11:26 AM

2 the top of Slingpool Walk - which has a sign on it for the riverside footpath is in a very bad state.
Lots of people use it to walk,run and bicycle, besides lots of children from local school.

8/7/2018 12:18 PM

Unsympathetic
development

Loss of
landscape...

Loss of
building...

Lack of
maintenance

Satellite
dishes

Street
furniture...

Quality of the
public realm...

Land use

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Unsympathetic development

Loss of landscape features

Loss of building features

Lack of maintenance

Satellite dishes

Street furniture (signs, lamp posts, bins)

Quality of the public realm (footpaths, public space)

Land use

Other (please specify)

6 / 12

Riverside Conservation Area Draft AppraisalPage 45



3 Again - all of the above to a greater or lesser extent. I think the conservation area can be used to
create inaction which can be as damaging as many of the above.

8/2/2018 2:00 PM

4 Again you ask for negative aspects (plural) but only allow us to tick one box which limits
usefulness of this "consultation". Ther negative aspects include cheap looking street furniture,
unsympathetic development (new Diglis apartments could be anywhere in UK and are no less
damning of the area than the factories and warehouses). Worcester Bridge is a smog filled noisy
viewpoint. You need a second road bridge where it was in 18th century and turn Worcester bridge
into pedestian only (think Charles V Bridge in Prague). Verypoor quality of public realm between
Wocester Bridge and Racecourse. Dirty, noisy and pretty devoid of anything.

8/1/2018 3:26 PM

5 Loss of the small hire boats to view the city from the river. 7/25/2018 2:16 PM

6 Heavy traffic (odd that you mentioned it in two areas as a major characterisation, then it's not an
option here). Plus unsympathetic development, loss of landscape features and land use - again
your form does not allow me to select more than one option.

7/20/2018 3:54 PM

7 / 12

Riverside Conservation Area Draft AppraisalPage 46



25.00% 4

31.25% 5

43.75% 7

50.00% 8

43.75% 7

Q6 Do you feel that any of the following works harm the character and
appearance of the conservation area?

Answered: 16 Skipped: 0

Total Respondents: 16  

# OTHER (PLEASE SPECIFY) DATE

1 no comment 8/23/2018 11:26 AM

2 Unsympathetic changes to buildings. Modern and change is acceptable to create a diverse
architectural range

8/13/2018 8:32 AM

3 Heavy road traffic and unsympathetic signage and street furniture 8/9/2018 12:10 PM

4 Plus unsympathetic building and loss of action buildings are in trouble and falling down. 8/2/2018 2:00 PM

5 All of the above. So why can we tick all the above but not chose more than one thing in Questions
4 & 5? Feel my choices are being guided here.

8/1/2018 3:26 PM

6 badly maintained units and workshops. 7/21/2018 6:18 PM

7 all of the above 7/20/2018 3:33 PM

Replacement of
windows, doo...

Loss of
architectura...

Loss of
boundary wal...

Introduction
of satellite...

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Replacement of windows, doors and roofs with modern materials

Loss of architectural details from buildings

Loss of boundary walls, railings, gates etc.

Introduction of satellite dishes, aerials, etc

Other (please specify)

8 / 12

Riverside Conservation Area Draft AppraisalPage 47



87.50% 14

12.50% 2

Q7 Do you agree with the proposed boundary amendments to the
conservation area?

Answered: 16 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 16

# ANY ADDITIONAL COMMENTS DATE

1 As NOT CLEARLY DEFINED 7/20/2018 3:33 PM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

9 / 12

Riverside Conservation Area Draft AppraisalPage 48



56.25% 9

43.75% 7

Q8 Do you think that the management proposals sufficiently address the
issues in the conservation area?

Answered: 16 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 16

# ANY ADDITIONAL COMMENTS DATE

1 The fact that the island workshops are redundant and deteriorating is a fairly serious risk. The
store building on the north of the island has already decayed beyond repair. Although the
Unlocking the Severn Project will result in some prospective reuse, there is still a fundamental
issue for the future here because of the flood and access problems.

8/23/2018 11:26 AM

2 our modern ideas never gell with ancient buildings and life from time past but they are necessary 8/21/2018 4:20 PM

3 really feel that the rubbish issue needs to be addressed 8/7/2018 12:18 PM

4 The proposals record the situation but don't really set out goals and objectives of improvement. As
the new owners of Northwick Marina we are setting about to undertake many of the improvements
mentioned. But the same comments have appeared in the last two reviews of the Conservation
Area but there has been no insistence on improvement of the previous owner. Recording
somewhere (rightly) as discordant but having no ability to call on residents to do anything about it
seems slightly 'half a task'. Owners of areas highlighted in the document as in need of
improvement should be contacted and asked to do something about it. If we are to all steadily
improve the Riverside Conservation area then there needs to be some pushing of those who aren't
doing their bit yet live within it.

8/2/2018 2:00 PM

5 I thnk Worcester should follow the lead of other cities and put regulations in place to protect
important vistas - think St. Paul's in London or the Castle in Edinburgh. This would give more
protection than we currently have to unsympathetic development.

8/1/2018 3:26 PM

6 WHAT ARE THESE? 7/20/2018 3:33 PM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

10 / 12

Riverside Conservation Area Draft AppraisalPage 49



Q9 Please advise any further management proposals that you would like
to see included in the document.

Answered: 6 Skipped: 10

# RESPONSES DATE

1 the proposed footbridge across the river is welcome but to assist traffic in the city all boxes at road
junctions should be solid, if you enter and cannot exit a fine of £90 and 6 penalty points. also help
with an obscure road bridge north of the city with 4 lanes

8/21/2018 4:20 PM

2 as above 8/7/2018 12:18 PM

3 Would have liked to see bird protection in place for the cables crossing the river by the pump
house. As have seen swans colliding with them.

7/25/2018 2:16 PM

4 Pleased remember to get visitors to Worcester they need to be able to park close to the
conservation areas especially the disabled and out of town visitors.

7/21/2018 6:18 PM

5 Methods to reduce traffic and associated air and noise pollution. The north quay is constantly full
of traffic, noisy, and not an area to spend time in. Newport Street car park is unnecessary and
attracts more traffic that doesn't need to be there - should be changed into a park or similar. Huge
car parks at the Hive and Crowngate nearby.

7/20/2018 3:54 PM

6 Details on possible developments to grandstand, Kepax park, new footbridge, fish tunnel etc.. 7/20/2018 3:33 PM

11 / 12

Riverside Conservation Area Draft AppraisalPage 50



Q10 Any other comments?
Answered: 7 Skipped: 9

# RESPONSES DATE

1 • Needs an overall plan of the Riverside CA showing the boundaries and distinction from the Canal
Conservation Area • Includes the Oil Basin in the Diglis Island Character Area although it clearly is
on the mainland which is confusing. The Oil Basin and quayside here do have a different
character, history and appearance to the island, being constructed specifically for trans-shipment
of heavy oil in steel barges after the 1890s. Perhaps some clarification is needed. • The Oil Basin
is also erroneously referred to as a dry dock on P81. • Blacksmith’s forge is described as a ‘three
walled building’ on P79, it is four walled. • I think we can say for certain that no timber in the
current lock gates survives from 1844 – P83.

8/23/2018 11:26 AM

2 do not destroy our city any more 8/21/2018 4:20 PM

3 I have a proposal for the most prominent derelict riverside building - the Screenhouse on the west
bank less than 100 yards from the bridge. It has been derelict for 40(?) years, the whole city
riverside looks at it and its been an eyesore for as long as I can remember. I propose that it is
purchased (with/without public funding) and turned into The Worcester Plinth, a site for artwork, for
celebrating Worcester achievement, heritage and events. A full proposal has been submitted to
the Heritage and Arts Officers of the City and County Councils. I am very happy to lead the
project.

8/2/2018 2:00 PM

4 Youi talk about the Ketch Viewpoint being enhanced and the interpretative boards needing repair
but of course all of this will be swept away with the new bridge construction. The new Viewing
Point should be contstructed North of the bridges next to the Ketch, so it is more readily accessible
(no one wants to look over a dual carriageway and inhale the smog). There needs to be more
obvious sign-posting at the end of the riverside walk to point up to this view point. Some of the
trees will need to be cut back to permit the new viewpoint to operate. You might also reflect on the
fact that in the 19th century the area behind the ketch down to the river were "pleasure gardens"
and consideration could be made to restoring such gardens and maybe even incorporate a glass
lift to get you from the Riverside to the Ketch which would assist disabled persons. A few display
boards on a dusty mound does not a destination venue make.

8/1/2018 3:26 PM

5 Page 90: The golf course owners in area 7 removed the offending conifer screen several years
ago, but it is still mentioned as a blight on the landscape.

7/22/2018 9:05 PM

6 What facilities are available for people who do not have access to computers. Not seen any
publicity on this

7/21/2018 7:53 AM

7 It's good that the riverside is a conservation area. However, what does it really mean in terms of
improving the area? I live here in the city centre and the 'conservation' area is essentially two
riverside footpaths with a small bit of green space, next to enormous, traffic filled roads, constant
noise and air pollution, and endless surface car parks. Not really a conservation area. Make it an
attractive area to visit, make cars park in the big multistoreys. It's also a shame nobody checked
this survey actually worked before publishing it.

7/20/2018 3:54 PM

12 / 12

Riverside Conservation Area Draft AppraisalPage 51



Riverside Conservation Area Draft Appraisal

1 / 5

Q1 What is your interest in the area? Property Owner

Q2 Do you support the proposed amended boundary of
the Riverside Conservation Area to include Park View
Terrace as identified?

Yes

Q3 Do you think that the appraisal adequately identifies
the character of Park View Terrace?

Yes

Q4 What do you feel are the positive aspects of Park
View Terrace?

Historic layout/plan form

Q5 What do you feel are the negative aspects of Park
View Terrace

Quality of the public realm (footpaths, public space)

Q6 Do you think that the management proposals
sufficiently address the issues throughout the Riverside
Conservation Area?

Yes

Q7 Are there any further projects, enhancement measures or management proposals that you would like to see
implemented in the Riverside Conservation Area?

I am a property owner in Tench Close over looking the confluence of the river Teme and Severn. I would like the City Council to provide 
a continuously running footpath, of tarmac construction, running from The Ketch to The Diglis.

Q8 Any other comments? Respondent skipped this question

#1#1
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Friday, January 03, 2020 11:26:14 AMFriday, January 03, 2020 11:26:14 AM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Friday, January 03, 2020 11:39:47 AMFriday, January 03, 2020 11:39:47 AM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:13:3300:13:33
IP Address:IP Address:   23.215.60.2123.215.60.21

Page 1: Introduction

Page 52



Riverside Conservation Area Draft Appraisal

2 / 5

Q1 What is your interest in the area? Property Owner

Q2 Do you support the proposed amended boundary of
the Riverside Conservation Area to include Park View
Terrace as identified?

Yes

Q3 Do you think that the appraisal adequately identifies
the character of Park View Terrace?

Yes

Q4 What do you feel are the positive aspects of Park
View Terrace?

Historic layout/plan form,

Building quality/design,

Street furniture (signs, lamp posts, bins),

Quality of the public realm (footpaths, public space),

Historic or traditional features (windows, doors,
detailing)
,

Boundary treatments (wall, fences, gates, hedgerows),

Landscape features (open space, green space, views,
field boundaries).
,

Trees

Q5 What do you feel are the negative aspects of Park
View Terrace

Unsympathetic development,

Loss of landscape features,

Loss of building features,

Lack of maintenance,

Street furniture (signs, lamp posts, bins),

Quality of the public realm (footpaths, public space),

Land use

#2#2
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Saturday, January 04, 2020 2:10:15 PMSaturday, January 04, 2020 2:10:15 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Saturday, January 04, 2020 2:13:15 PMSaturday, January 04, 2020 2:13:15 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:02:5900:02:59
IP Address:IP Address:   92.122.153.3692.122.153.36

Page 1: Introduction

Page 53



Riverside Conservation Area Draft Appraisal

3 / 5

Q6 Do you think that the management proposals
sufficiently address the issues throughout the Riverside
Conservation Area?

Yes

Q7 Are there any further projects, enhancement
measures or management proposals that you would like
to see implemented in the Riverside Conservation Area?

Respondent skipped this question

Q8 Any other comments?

I completely disagree with the proposal to construct Kepax Bridge. It is not necessary, is very costly and will blight the landscape.

Page 54



Riverside Conservation Area Draft Appraisal

4 / 5

Q1 What is your interest in the area? Property Owner

Q2 Do you support the proposed amended boundary of
the Riverside Conservation Area to include Park View
Terrace as identified?

Yes

Q3 Do you think that the appraisal adequately identifies
the character of Park View Terrace?

Yes

Q4 What do you feel are the positive aspects of Park
View Terrace?

Historic layout/plan form,

Building quality/design,

Quality of the public realm (footpaths, public space),

Historic or traditional features (windows, doors,
detailing)
,

Boundary treatments (wall, fences, gates, hedgerows),

Landscape features (open space, green space, views,
field boundaries).
,

Trees

Q5 What do you feel are the negative aspects of Park
View Terrace

Unsympathetic development,

Loss of landscape features,

Loss of building features

Q6 Do you think that the management proposals
sufficiently address the issues throughout the Riverside
Conservation Area?

Yes

#3#3
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Saturday, January 04, 2020 2:05:31 PMSaturday, January 04, 2020 2:05:31 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Saturday, January 04, 2020 2:33:09 PMSaturday, January 04, 2020 2:33:09 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:27:3800:27:38
IP Address:IP Address:   23.1.237.2323.1.237.23

Page 1: Introduction

Page 55



Riverside Conservation Area Draft Appraisal

5 / 5

Q7 Are there any further projects, enhancement measures or management proposals that you would like to see
implemented in the Riverside Conservation Area?

Potential for residents parking scheme. Splashpad visitors overwhelming local roads.

Q8 Any other comments?

Gheluvelt Park is beautifully maintained. Am concerned the new bridge will ruin the area. Sabrina Bridge already provides sufficient 
access over the river.

Page 56



1 
 

Riverside Conservation Area 

      

 

         

 

  

Page 57 Agenda Item 8
Appendix 2



2 
 

Contents 

 

Introduction  

Historic Development 
 

Townscape and Built Environment 

Topography and Landscape 

 

Views 
 

Character Areas (inc. Management Plans) 
 

1. Northwick 

2. Barbourne and Kepax 

3. Pitchcroft and Hylton Road 

4. Quayside and Cripplegate 

5. Chapter Meadows 

6. Diglis Island 

7. Cherry Orchard and the Ketch 

8. Teme Meadows and Powick Mills 

 

Appendix 1 – Links to Further Information 

 

 

 

  

Page 58



3 
 

Introduction 

 
The River Severn is an extremely important feature in Worcester.  It is 

the reason for the city’s existence, has historic importance as a means 

of transportation and today is a significant recreational and amenity 

facility. The Riverside Conservation Area was first designated on 8th 

September 1992 and boundary amendments were previously made on 

13th June 2000. 

 

 

View of the cathedral from Diglis 

 

A conservation area is defined in the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990 as an area of special architectural or historic interest, the 

character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance. This 

appraisal is in line with sections 69 and 71 of the 1990 Act, which places a duty 

on the local authority to designate and manage their conservation areas. 

Designation helps to ensure that an area identified for its special interest and 

significance is protected and managed appropriately. 

Page 59



4 
 

Conservation is the management of change to a significant place or asset, in a 

way that will best sustain its heritage values, while recognising opportunities to 

reveal or reinforce those values for present and future generations. The 

conservation area appraisal is a means of identifying and assessing what the 

special architectural or historic interest of an area is, how this contributes to the 

areas character and appearance, and is an opportunity to identify where this can 

be enhanced. 

 

The appraisal is prepared in line with Historic England Advice Note 1: 

Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and Management (Second Edition) and 

Historic England Advice Note 3: The Setting of Heritage Assets, to provide a firm 

basis on which applications within Riverside Conservation Area and its setting 

can be assessed. 

 

This appraisal records and analyses the various features which create Riverside 

Conservation Area’s special character, and contribute to its architectural and 

historic interest.  Townscape Plans of the individual character areas indicate the 

location of listed buildings, locally listed buildings and key unlisted buildings 

which are significant to the history and/or character of the conservation area 

(see criteria in Conservation Area Appraisal, Designation and Management, 

Historic England Advice Note 1 (Second Edition) table 1). The map also shows 

significant natural, recreational and amenity spaces, boundary treatments and 

objects, and important views from the conservation area. There is a presumption 

that all of the identified features should be ’preserved or enhanced‘, as required 

by the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

 

The plans provide an illustration of trees and landscaping across the 

conservation area. These ilustrate the character of landscaping across the 

conservation area and where this makes a special contribution. All trees, and 

hedgerows of historical or archaeological interest, within the conservation area 

are however subject to usual conservation area planning controls.  

 

The document is a material consideration for planning applications within and in 

the setting of the conservation area, and should be read in conjunction with the 

management proposals for the conservation and enhancement of the area, 

Page 60



5 
 

provided within the character area sections of this appraisal. The appraisal is 

intended to be used by planning officers, developers and landowners to ensure 

that the special character is not eroded, but preserved or enhanced through 

development activity. While the descriptions go into some detail, a reader should 

not assume that the omission of any building, feature or space from this 

appraisal means that it is not of interest. 

 

 

Aerial view over Riverside Conservation Area 

 

The Planning Policy Context 

 

National planning policy, as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF), draws attention to the desirability of preserving and enhancing heritage 

assets in a manner appropriate to their significance, which, subject to 

appropriate assessment and justification, can also include adaptation and 

change. In line with paragraphs 185 and 200 of the NPPF, the Appraisal provides 

a positive strategy for the conservation and enjoyment of the conservation area.  

 

In accordance with NPPF paragraph 186, Worcester City Council designated 

Riverside Conservation Area for its special architectural and historic interest, the 

Page 61



6 
 

significance of which is described within this document. In line with paragraph 

200 of the NPPF, new development within the conservation area which enhances 

or better reveals this significance, and proposals that preserve those elements 

which make a positive contribution to, or better reveal the significance of, the 

conservation area will be treated favourably. 

 

Applications within the conservation area will be considered against Policies 

SWDP 6: Historic Environment, SWDP 24: Management of the Historic 

Environment and SWDP 21: Design, of the South Worcestershire Development 

Plan (or future replacement policies) with regard to this appraisal.  

 

Due to the nature of Riverside Conservation as an area largely made up of open 

spaces further local policies will also need strong consideration:  

 

SWDP 5: Green Infrastructure, SWDP 21: Design, SWDP 22: Biodiversity and 

Geodiversity, SWDP 25: Landscape Character, SWDP 28: Flood Risk 

Management, SWDP 34: Tourist Development, SWDP 40: Waterfronts, SWDP41: 

Marinas and Moorings, SWDP 42: Residential Moorings and SWDP 38: Green 

Space. 

 

Further guidance on the design and protection of historic buildings and places 

can be found in the Council’s Supplementary Planning Documents, and in 

national guidance from Historic England and other conservation bodies. These 

provide useful information on appropriate ways to develop within conservation 

areas, maintain historic buildings, and make environmental and sustainability 

enhancements. Links to these are provided at the end of this document. 

 

Management Proposals 

 

Management proposals are provided within the character area sections to work 

alongside the character appraisals to identify issues and assist with the 

management of change in Worcester’s conservation areas, helping to ensure 

that they retain the special qualities that led to their designation. These 

documents fulfil the Council’s duty under section 71 of the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to formulate and publish proposals 

Page 62



7 
 

in order to preserve and enhance the character and appearance of a 

conservation area. These proposals are particularly relevant where there is 

pressure for development and where cumulative minor changes may be affecting 

the character or appearance of the conservation area. 

 

Owners, landowners and developers must give attention to the requirements for 

planning permission for certain works in conservation areas and for listed 

building consent for works to listed buildings and their curtilage. Planning 

applications affecting conservation areas will be determined with regard to the 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the South Worcestershire 

Development Plan (SWDP), the approved conservation area management 

proposals, and having regard to advice from the Council’s Conservation Advisory 

Panel. The NPPF is also supported by the Government’s Planning Practice 

Guidance: Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment. 

 

Any new development should reinforce the character of the conservation area as 

identified in the conservation area appraisal and be sympathetic to the historical 

evolution and character of the Riverside Conservation Area. Development 

opportunities which preserve the character and enhance, or better reveal the 

significance of the conservation area will be looked upon favourably by the 

Council. Those proposals that threaten the identified character of the area will be 

resisted. Consideration should be given to the significance of the historic 

buildings and their setting, the historic layout and street pattern, significant 

spaces, massing, volume and scale of the existing and proposed buildings and 

the employment of suitable building materials and architectural features. 

 

Some works can be carried out under ‘permitted development rights’, which 

means that home owners do not need to apply for planning permission. In some 

cases this can harm the character or appearance of the conservation area. 

Owners are encouraged to take heed of the special historic character and 

appearance of the conservation area when carrying out these works. 

 

In order to focus enhancements in the conservation area individual management 

proposals have been formulated to address identified issues. Availability of public 

funding places some limits on the programming of enhancement projects these 

Page 63



8 
 

items will be added to a list of recommended improvements which is reviewed 

regularly. Proposals by external parties to carry out these enhancements will be 

supported by the Council subject to the proposals being in accordance with 

policy. Successful management of the area is a collective responsibility of the 

Council, owners, developers and stakeholders and can only be done through 

responsible action which addresses these issues, and needs to be considered in 

the context of the area as a whole. 

 

The conservation area is highly susceptible to flooding which is a major risk to 

listed and other buildings within the area. The majority of the area comprises of 

open spaces which are important for managing flood waters and providing 

recreational and ecological benefits. Where built development does exist within 

the flood risk area however mitigation is necessary to minimise the harm to the 

historic character and significance of the area through flood damage to buildings.  

 

 

View of the cathedral from Worcester Bridge, with the river in flood 

  

Page 64



9 
 

Location and Setting 

 

The River Severn flows in a southward direction to the west of Worcester 

Cathedral and the city centre and it separates the main body of Worcester from 

the western suburb of St John’s.  The two parts of the city are linked by a single 

road bridge, part of the A44. Few cities in Britain have such an important 

recreational and wildlife resource so central to the main conurbation. The 

boundary of the Riverside Conservation Area has been drawn to include the 

River Severn and its (including land on the north side of the River Teme), 

together with selected areas of built development that have a direct bearing on 

the riverside environment. The north and south edges of the conservation area 

are formed by the City boundaries. 

 

A large part of the Riverside Conservation Area is an open landscape of 

floodplain. Whilst conservation area designation is fundamentally designed to 

protect the built environment or man-made landscapes, much of the land within 

the designated area holds a high level of significance in relation to the River and 

have historic value through industrial, agricultural and recreational uses. These 

spaces form a strong link between the river and the periphery of the built 

environment of Worcester with many offering key vantage points for views of 

the riverside and beyond. Development of these areas could impact on the 

landscape value of the riverside and its setting, and on key views and vistas, 

many of which hold significance, not just locally but nationally and 

internationally. 

 

  

Page 65



10 
 

Boundary Review 

 

On review it was found that the boundary generally followed a justifiable line and 

that adjacent areas of historic interest were already within either the Historic 

City Conservation Area, the Canal Conservation Area, St Georges Square 

Conservation Area, Royal Infirmary Conservation Area or the Britannia Square 

Conservation Area.  However, due to changes over the years the review has 

identified that some parts of the conservation area no longer hold the level of 

special architectural or historic interest required for designation. In addition 

some areas were felt to warrant inclusion within the boundary as they have been 

identified as holding this special interest. Boundary amendments are described 

further under the relevant character areas. 

 

Character Area Boundary Change 

1. Northwick Extension to include Northwick House 

on Old Northwick Lane 

2. Barbourne and Kepax Extension to include Park View Terrace 

and adjacent properties 

Exclusion of 15-23 Tower Road 

3. Pitchcroft and Hylton Road None 

4. Quayside and Cripplegate None 

5. Chapter Meadows None 

6. Diglis Island None 

7. Cherry Orchard and the Ketch Exclusion of the industrial units on Weir 

Lane and the modern housing estate 

beyond Ketch Coppice 

8. Teme Meadows and Powick Mills None 

 

 

 

  

Page 66



11 
 

Historic Development 

The River Severn is Britain’s longest river, rising on the slopes of 

Plynlimon in Wales and passing through Shrewsbury, on through 

Worcester and Gloucester, and on to Bristol. The river was a principal 

trade route from medieval times, known as the ‘King’s high stream of 

Severn’, a free route with no tolls. Worcester was one of the main inland 

ports, and by the end of the 18th century trade was also connected 

through to the industrial Midlands via the canal network. 

 

 

18th century quayside 

 

The River Severn was of great commercial importance from Roman times up to 

the mid-19th century and Worcester was a transhipment point during the Middle 

Ages for manufactured goods brought up river for distribution in the Midlands. 

Before the building of locks and weirs along the Severn in the second half of the 

19th century, the tidal range reached Worcester. Although the river could be 

forded at low water, the tides caused problems for those trying to navigate craft 

and plans were made to make the river navigable at all seasons. These plans 

were defeated in Parliament in 1835 by the citizens of Gloucester who were 

afraid that Worcester would become the more important port. However, in 1842 

the Severn Commission was formed to improve navigation of the upper Severn. 

Navigation problems were alleviated by the construction of the locks and weirs 

Page 67



12 
 

at Diglis causing the upper tidal limit to move south to Gloucester, the river was 

dredged and a minimum depth maintained thereafter.  

 

With the industrial revolution, the river became one of the busiest in Europe and 

street names of North and South Quay are reminders of the city’s importance as 

an inland port. The Worcester and Birmingham Canal was built to provide a 

direct link between the heavy industries of the Black Country and the sea ports 

of the Severn estuary. Completed in 1815, the canal extends for 30 miles and 

forms a link between the River Severn and Birmingham’s Gas Street Basin. The 

Worcester basins of Lowesmoor and Diglis quickly became important focal points 

for the city’s industry, and with the cargoes of coal and iron arriving from 

Shropshire, businesses in the city flourished. The railways came to Worcester in 

the 1850’s and the Worcester to Hereford line was constructed to include 11/2 

miles of viaduct and embankment between Shrub Hill and Henwick.   

 

 

Medieval Bridge over the Severn 

 

Worcester’s importance as a city is closely connected to its river-crossing and 

throughout the centuries river crossings have been afforded by ferry, ford or 

bridge. A ford existed in Roman times when it was known as Vertis from the 

Latin “vertere” to turn; this referred to a place on a river which had a sharp turn, 

being a conspicuous bend on the River Severn.  When the river was tidal there 

Page 68



13 
 

was a natural ford site at Worcester, the Newport ford, immediately adjacent to 

the site of the medieval bridge.  

 

A bridge existed from at least medieval times in Worcester, running from 

Tybridge Street to Newport Street, and the city developed about this principal 

east-west thoroughfare. In 1781 a ‘new’ bridge was erected slightly downstream 

as a replacement to the original medieval structure. Built to the designs of the 

architect John Gwynn of Shrewsbury, the bridge was widened several times and 

the current elevations date from the 1931 remodelling. 

 

The Severn had a number of historic ferry crossings which were maintained by 

landowners, ecclesiastical and municipal authorities. In the 19th century the 

Severn Commissioners granted annual licenses to operate a ferry; each 

ferryman had to conform to regulations and ply his boat between sunrise and 

sunset. Most of the ferries were in operation until the Second World War. 

Worcester ferries included the Kepax Ferry at Barbourne, the Dog and Duck 

Ferry at the north end of Pitchcroft, the Grandstand Ferry and the Cathedral 

Ferry. 

 

The low lying alluvial plains that lie to either side of the Severn are particularly 

susceptible to flooding mostly during the winter months. This has ensured that 

the majority of the land surrounding the river has remained in pastoral or 

agricultural use while the growth of the city itself over the last two centuries has 

mostly been on higher ground well back from the river. Flooding has been 

recorded here since the 17th century. The worst floods affect the built up areas 

on the periphery of the river with the floods in November 1770 and December 

1947 being particularly notorious.  More recently, the floods of 2007 (an unusual 

mid-summer flood),2014 and 2020 saw most of the surrounding land 

submerged.   

 

The acceptance by the Scots of Charles I's heir, Prince Charles, as Charles II, 

initiated the Third Civil War (1650-51). Charles marched steadily southwards, 

harried all the way by Oliver Cromwell, but England failed to rise in his support. 

By the time the Royalist army of 12,000 men reached Worcester it was facing 

nearly 30,000 Parliamentarian troops. Cromwell prepared carefully before he 

Page 69



14 
 

attacked on 3 September 1651 and after several hours of fighting Royalist 

resistance collapsed. The City of Worcester has subsumed the greater part of the 

battlefield, but open ground still exists to the south where the fighting along the 

banks of the Rivers Teme and Severn developed and spread north towards the 

city walls. Fighting also occurred in the west by St. John's and Wick Fields and in 

the east by Perry Wood, Red Hill. 

 

The river itself is no longer used for commerce but is a significant venue for 

recreational activities with walking and cycling popular along with leisure cruises, 

rowing and fishing. The Severn, together with the Worcester and Birmingham 

Canal has become a popular holiday route with boats completing circular routes 

known as the Avon and Severn ’rings‘.  The Avon ring links the Worcester and 

Birmingham Canal with the River Severn, River Avon and the Stratford Canal, 

and the Severn ring links the Worcester and Birmingham Canal with the 

Staffordshire and Worcestershire Canal, the River Severn and Birmingham Canal 

Navigations.  There is also the much shorter Droitwich Ring which can be 

completed in a long weekend. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 70

http://www.canaljunction.com/canal/severn_avon.htm
http://www.canaljunction.com/canal/stratford.htm
http://www.canaljunction.com/canal/staffs_worcs.htm
http://www.canaljunction.com/canal/severn_avon.htm


15 
 

Townscape & Built Environment  

The Riverside Conservation Area is composed of a series of open spaces 

within the Severn’s flood plain, fringed with built development. The 

character and appearance of the spaces beside the river varies as one 

moves along it and there is a significant difference between the 

enclosed urban form of the environs of Worcester Bridge and the open 

character of outlying countryside to the north and south.  

 

The area provides recreational routes alongside the river 

 

Today the character of the riverside is purely recreational, and riverside 

footpaths are popular with residents and visitors alike. There is a public right of 

way along each riverbank; footpaths move from the east to west bank and 

informal rural tracks give way to more formal paved surfaces in built up areas.  

 

The Severn Way footpath follows a north-south route through Worcester on the 

west bank, crossing to the east bank at Sabrina Bridge. The riverside walk 

provides a route of high amenity value, taking in a variety of uses, mainly 

Page 71



16 
 

recreational or agricultural, and walking and cycling along the river bank is 

popular. In addition to the riverside footpaths, networks of footpaths cross the 

open fields that border the River, adding to the recreational value of the 

conservation area. 

 

As the urban grain tightens closer to the city the open spaces are characterised 

by fringes or clusters of built development diverse in style and development 

pattern, reflecting the historic  development of the city of Worcester. The 

juxtaposition of different materials, forms and uses is part of what gives the 

Riverside townscape its character.  

 

Building use within the conservation area is primarily residential with commercial 

and office uses on both sides of the river close to Worcester Bridge.  The 

predominant architectural style and character is from the 18th and 19th centuries 

and those buildings which relate directly to the river are principally linked to the 

growth of the city as a commercial centre, such as large houses for merchants, 

warehouses, and improvements in the communication network.  

 

 

Denser urban grain around Worcester Bridge 

 

 

Page 72



17 
 

The 18th century buildings within the conservation area are typical of the 

Georgian architectural idiom found throughout the city. Most 19th century 

buildings take the form of traditional red brick terraces with some late 19th/early 

20th century domestic buildings built in a cottage vernacular revival style. There 

are some good examples of mid-20th century buildings along with examples of 

well-designed 21st century buildings. Bridges feature strongly in the conservation 

area, generally concentrated over the Severn close to the city centre, although 

two bridges cross the River Teme, the A4440 crosses the river via Carrington 

Bridge and there is a footbridge just south of Diglis Island.  

 

 

Diglis Bridge 

 

Red brick is the prevalent building material for both residential and commercial 

buildings with slate being the predominant roofing material, although tile roofs 

also feature. Many other building materials can be found in the conservation 

area including stone and cast iron, used both structurally and decoratively, along 

with concrete, glass and timber which are used in a number of modern buildings 

adding to the diversity of the building stock and the interest of the conservation 

area. Decorative cast-iron is found at the fountain in Cripplegate Park, and the 

lamp standards on Worcester Bridge and the cast iron street signs, are all from 

the Worcester foundry of Hardy and Padmore.  

Page 73



18 
 

 

  

Hardy and Padmore fountain at Cripplegate Park and light on Worcester Bridge 

 

Many of the buildings and structures along the river’s length are listed and there 

are several locally listed buildings.  There are also a number of key unlisted 

buildings which have been judged as making a positive contribution to the 

character and appearance of the conservation area and which hold townscape 

merit. These buildings are considered to be good, relatively unaltered examples 

of their type where original materials, details and the basic historic plan form 

have survived.  

 

The Cathedral is Worcester City’s ‘signature’ building and is a key landmark 

which dominates the city skyline both from within and outside Worcester. Sitting 

within the Historic City Conservation Area but directly adjacent to the Riverside 

Conservation Area boundary the Cathedral is both dominant and prominent in 

the riverside landscape, forming a major component of significant views and 

complementing the Riverside setting. 

 

 

Page 74



19 
 

The public realm is generally in good condition, riverside paths are well paved or 

maintained gravel in the urban areas. More informal grass tracks exist in the 

rural character areas although this contributes positively to the character of 

these areas. Street furniture is generally good and unobtrusive and there are 

good examples of decorative cast-iron gates and railings, particularly the 

Pitchcroft gates and Cripplegate Park gates. There is an appealing contrast 

between the metal street furniture in the more urban areas and the wooden 

gate, benches and fingerpost signs which define the rural areas. 

 

The impact of traffic on the conservation area is only really noticeable in the 

central, urban sections of the conservation area. Elsewhere the green open 

spaces which line the riverbank buffer the impact of traffic systems and allow 

the Riverside Conservation Area to retain an air of rural quality within the heart 

of the busy city.  

 

 

  

Page 75



20 
 

Topography & Landscape 

The Riverside Conservation Area is distinctive, combining the historic 

built and natural environment to form a conservation area dominated by 

large open spaces which help define the city of Worcester. A significant 

green space in the heart of the city, the Riverside provides a very 

important local amenity as a unique place of tranquillity, a valuable 

recreational resource, and a highly significant wildlife habitat and 

landscape asset. 

 

View across the open space of Chapter Meadows 

 

The landscape of the riverside is historically associated with the river; the low-

lying level area of flood plain is enclosed on both sides by higher land upon 

which the historic core of Worcester has developed on the east bank along an 

oblong sand and gravel river terrace.  On the west bank, the suburb of St John’s 

sits on high ground formed by a sand and gravel river terrace mirroring that on 

Page 76



21 
 

the east bank. There is a weir and locks at Diglis but otherwise the river’s flow is 

uninterrupted.  

 

The River Severn and its flood plain form a wide north-south corridor through 

Worcester, the five mile stretch of river following a level course with a generally 

regular width. As the river meanders through the city, the flood plain is 

alternately on the east and west banks, cut into a gravel terrace overlying the 

mudstone. Characteristically where one bank gives way to the flat flood plain, 

the other bank rises steeply, normally topped with built development. 

 

 

View from the riverside footpath at Diglis 

 

The areas of floodplain form a key part of the character of the conservation area, 

many retaining historic field boundaries which help form and frame historic 

views. The meadows on the floodplains can be experienced from the riverside 

footpaths and the surrounding landscape provides a green and natural character 

within the heart of the city. The flooding problems have ensured that much of 

the river’s length has remained open, on the east bank north of the road bridge 

and on the west bank to the south. 

 

Page 77



22 
 

 

Pitchcroft looking towards the towers and spires of the city centre 

 

The Riverside forms an important green wedge through Worcester and generally 

speaking, nowhere along the riverbank is without some form of greenery as it 

moves through the city. An important landscape feature, the Riverside is also a 

significant linear wildlife corridor; the green space which forms the banks and 

floodplain of the river notable for the diversity of plant and animal life that it 

brings close to the city. The richness of flora and fauna is recognised by 

designations of Northwick Marshand the River Teme as Sites of Special Scientific 

Interest (SSSI), Northwick Lido as a Local Nature Reserve and Chapter 

Meadows. In addition, much of the Riverside is identified as local green network, 

including the river itself.  These significant areas of green space make an 

important contribution to the conservation area. 

 

As the river corridor penetrates into the heart of the urban area, the open space 

begins to reduce in width and is more noticeably bordered by development; the 

character of the open spaces are defined by the scale and proximity of 

surrounding buildings along with current land uses. Here, although the water 

and adjoining green spaces have a rural flavour, the sight and sound of 

suburban Worcester are never far away, the urban and industrial areas of the 

quayside and Diglis contrasting with the large open spaces of floodplain.  

Page 78



23 
 

Landscaping contributes greatly to the character and qualities of the area. 

Mature landscaping bordering the open spaces creates glimpses of built 

development, whilst maintaining a unique sense of tranquillity close to the city 

centre. In many places this landscaping extends into the built development area 

which makes for a soft transition between the open spaces and urban 

environment.  

 

Parks play a big part in the Riverside and combined they provide a valuable 

recreational asset with Gheluvelt, Cripplegate and Riverside Parks awarded 

Green Flag status. The wild or less planned recreational areas such as Kepax 

Country Park and the west side of Gheluvelt Park form areas of open space to 

the north of the city. More centrally Pitchcroft and the landscaped greenery of 

Cripplegate Park create open public green space in the midst of the busy urban 

areas, their designed landscapes contrasting with the more informal areas.  

 

 

Gheluvelt Park 

 

South of the city the river plain widens and the river becomes broader and more 

slow-moving. The River Teme, a tributary of the Severn, flows west to east to 

join the Severn at The Ketch and forms part of the city’s southern boundary and 

the boundary of the conservation area.  The Teme’s character is different to that 

Page 79



24 
 

of the main river, being narrower and more meandering, and surrounded by a 

large area of flat open landscape. The arable fields and meadows of this area 

contrast with the flat mown-grass surface of the sports fields south of New Road 

and the well-managed site of Pitchcroft, and provide a strong connection 

between the city and the perimeter of the surrounding countryside.  

 

Flood plain, to the north and south, has preserved old hedgerows and trees, 

which provide a haven for wildlife and enhance the setting of the river. Riverside 

trees are also visually important in providing a green backdrop of high scenic 

value, framing views of historic buildings and landscapes, occasionally screening 

or softening the impact of modern developments. A few large standard trees 

stand in the middle of fields in the extreme north and south of the conservation 

area but most trees are found lining the river banks or in hedgerows. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 80



25 
 

Views 

The Riverside is a place of diversity, contrasts and surprise with 

unfolding views of great variety and historic interest; the low lying 

setting and absence of tall modern buildings allow for long views both 

into and out of the Riverside. The Riverside enjoys a variety of views of 

the city; from glimpses between hedgerows, panoramas over 

agricultural land and narrow vistas, many views incorporate the 

distinctive towers and spires which punctuate the city skyline.  

 

 

St Andrew’s Spire (the Glovers Needle) and the tower of All Saints Church 

punctuate the skyline 

 

The level alluvial plain enables far reaching views in all directions, being 

particularly striking along the north-south corridor of the Severn through the city 

of Worcester. The buildings of Worcester are located above the flood plain and 

therefore one generally looks up to the buildings, increasing their perceived 

scale and giving landmark buildings a commanding presence. Worcester 

Cathedral is naturally a key landmark and can be seen from numerous locations 

within the conservation area with some of the finest views of the west front from 

Chapter Meadows.  

Page 81



26 
 

Equally attractive views are available from the river itself, or from the adjacent 

riverside footpaths which provide a popular walking and cycling route close to 

the city centre. Although the river flows in a generally north-south direction 

through the city, views up and down the river are afforded by the gentle bends 

that create ever-changing, but never very long, views up and down-stream.  

 

Bridges provide the best standpoint for views up and down the river affording 

panoramic views of the built up historic core of Worcester, and some of the most 

well-known images of Worcester. Here from an elevated position one can see 

further and often enjoy longer views than those gained on the riverside footpath.  

 

Close views of riverside greenery or buildings contrast with panoramas over the 

flood plains. Elsewhere narrow gaps between buildings and landscaping allow for 

glimpses of landmark buildings.  

 

Only in the northern and southern areas do views have a truly rural atmosphere; 

these more remote spaces of the conservation area offer long and panoramic 

views which often extend beyond the boundaries of the conservation area and 

include key landscape features and buildings. 

 

 

The chimney of Powick Mills and Powick Bridge  

 

Page 82



27 
 

The chimney of Powick Mills is a local landmark in the south with views possible 

along much of the A4440. Because of its visibility it is also a proxy marker for 

Powick Bridge, the site of the first battle of the Civil War in 1642. Similar 

heritage assets constituting key views include St Andrews Spire (the Glover’s 

Needle) and the tower of All Saints Church.  

 

The A4440 also provides good long distance views of the city centre in which the 

lower built development and raised topography allows for distinctive views of the 

cathedral and city skyline. The floodplain to the north also provides distinctive 

long distance views of the city as do raised points in neighbouring authorities. 

 

Naturally, given the picturesque qualities of the city’s skyline many people have  

painted and drawn views of the city, several drawn from within the Riverside 

Conservation Area. Many of these views are still recognisable today and have 

become part of the national and international image of Worcester.  

 

 

View from Diglis 1815 

 

View from North-east 1829 

Page 83



28 
 

View Management 

 

The small number of tall buildings in Worcester has preserved a large number of 

quality views, one of the most precious and fragile components of the city’s 

historic townscape. These are important to the attractiveness of Worcester as a 

tourist destination and several have significant historical or cultural associations. 

Preservation of the inherent character and qualities of these views is important 

to both the historical significance of the city but also the attractiveness of the 

riverside as a recreational resource. 

 

In order to work towards a consistent and systematic approach to the 

implementation of policy SWDPR 25: Design, this appraisal identifies prominent 

views from Riverside Conservation Area, which are often recognisable and that 

effectively capture the image and character of Worcester.  

 

A full assessment, within and of the city, would be necessary to identify all views 

significant to the historic significance, character and quality of the city. This 

document however intends to provide a starting point for identifying and 

preserving the views that contribute to the historical value, character and 

recreational amenity of the Riverside Conservation Area. 

 

Conservation should not however be simply about safeguarding these views 

from harm but should also be about enhancement. The conservation 

management plan identifies where there is potential for enhancements to be 

delivered, by tree management, promoting high quality development or reducing 

street clutter for example. Developments will be supported where they deliver 

opportunities to deliver enhancements including the creation of new or improved 

views of Worcester subject to accordance with other relevant planning policies.  

Page 84



29 
 

Character Areas 

The conservation area is divided into eight character areas based on land use 

and the changing balance between open space and built development.  The 

character areas relate, in succession, to the River Severn as it follows its five 

mile southward course through the City of Worcester from Northwick to the 

southern edge of the city.   

 

The character areas are:  

 

1. Northwick  

2. Barbourne and Kepax  

3. Pitchcroft  

4. Quayside  

5. Chapter Meadows  

6. Diglis Island  

7. Cherry Orchard and the Ketch  

8. Teme Meadows and Powick Mills  

 

Each character area is identified by key landscape and townscape characteristics 

which contribute to this waterway conservation area, and each division of the 

conservation area has distinct social functions defined by its current and past 

uses and activities. The character of each area is described in more detail in the 

following sections of this document. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 85



30 
 

Character Area 1 Northwick 

Northwick is largely defined by agricultural and equestrian land use 

with marshy farmland and horse paddocks. Built development is limited 

in this area and there is a strong rural feel with views across open 

landscape and informal footpaths  

 

  

   

   

 

Page 86



31 
 

 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 87



32 
 

Summary of Significance of Character Area 1 – Northwick 

 

 Archaeological significance as the site of the Bishop’s medieval palace with 

Northwick Marsh Local Nature Reserve forming the last of the associated 

fishponds  

 The route of Old Northwick Lane following the ancient route down to the 

river crossing Hallow Ford, with associations to 1265 battle at Evesham 

 Area of rural character and countryside recreations including fishing, 

walking and equestrian uses 

 Mature landscaping and tree lined banks separating the area from and 

limiting views to built development 

 Modest development and dominant landscaping 

 Open views 

 Recreational value of Northwick Heritage Trail 

 Hallow Church and Park in long distance views 

 Archaeological and historical significance of the brickworks and their 

relationship to Old Northwick Farmhouse 

  

Page 88



33 
 

Historic Development and Archaeology 

 

The river meadows in this area have been exploited for their raw materials since 

medieval times and the fields alongside the river were once bustling with the 

industrial activity of brick making; clay and sand were dug out by hand and the 

brick making took place in the nearby fields, The fields on both sides of the river 

have depressions from old brickyards.  

 

   

   Doharty’s Map 1751                               

 

 

Page 89



34 
 

Evidence exists of an earthen causeway between Old Northwick Lane and where 

the brick kilns stood. The causeway is believed to have been constructed to 

allow the fired bricks to be carted away from the fields and up the lane. 

Doharty’s map of 1751 depicts a ‘brickworks’ sited in the field south of ‘The Slip’ 

close to what is now Northwick Marina. In the 19th century the site was owned 

by Joseph Knapp of Northwick House; the remains of his brickworks can still be 

seen as lumps and bumps in the surrounding fields.  

 

At the far north east of the conservation area is the last obvious remnant of 

Northwick’s medieval fishing pools. Doharty’s map shows an expanse of water in 

this area known as the ‘Great Pool’ and alongside the road a small spur of water 

is depicted, believed to be the last remnant of the moat that surrounded the 

Bishop’s medieval palace. Fishponds are shown on mapping of the area up until 

the 19th century but by the 20th century most had been filled in leaving a large 

area of marshland. 

 

   

People using the river at Northwick for recreation 

 

The riverside fields at Northwick have been known locally for centuries as ‘The 

Slip’. Until 1844 the River Severn was fordable at various points and one such 

crossing point here was known as Hallow Ford. It was here that Prince Edward 

(later King Edward I) crossed the river in 1265 on his way to do battle with the 

rebel army of Simon de Montfort at Evesham. Old Northwick Lane follows the 

line of the ancient route down to this crossing.  

 

 

Page 90



35 
 

Landscape & Townscape Character 

 

The overall character of this area is rural, characterised by open countryside and 

tree-lined banks. This stretch of the river is slow moving due to its meandering 

route and gentle curves making it one of the most pleasant and natural lengths. 

Footpaths and riverside walks are informal, often grassy tracks and there is an 

emphasis on equestrian use.   

  

Northwick Marsh on the east bank is a Local Nature Reserve; this area is 

important environmentally forming part of the local green network and being 

designated as a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). Considered to be one 

of the largest surviving examples of open, species-rich marsh in the county with 

several rare plants, the area is a popular attraction for river-users and residents 

alike.  

 

  

A point of access to the river provides a glimpse view of the opposite bank  

The flat pastureland adjacent to the river is known locally as Northwick Lido. 

Main access to the lido area is from Old Northwick Lane and an un-surfaced car 

park has been formed to meet demand. This area of the riverside is liable to 

flooding and the lane and the car park are also susceptible.  

 

Rural character is signified by wooden stiles and benches of simple timber 

constructions. Finger-post signs are also wooden and are co-ordinated with a 

symbol of cathedral and bridge. The Northwick Heritage Trail begins here and a 

number of interpretation boards are found throughout the area.  

Page 91



36 
 

 

The area has a more rural feel than others which is  

signified by the timber street furniture 

 

The woods and meadows below the village of Hallow on the west bank are 

outside the city boundary and therefore not included in the conservation area, 

but, taken together, the open spaces, and the field and river landscape 

boundaries on both sides of the Severn are the start of a wide green corridor 

that extends almost as far as Worcester Bridge.   

 

  

Pastureland and marshland make up the majority of the area 

 

A slightly more urban feel is experienced to the south of the character area and 

rear gardens appear on the east bank, several of which have private moorings. 

The small boatyard adjacent to the man-made river inlet is the first non-rural 

and discordant note.  Beyond the boatyard the steep riverbank has been divided 

Page 92



37 
 

into gardens bounded by a vertically boarded fence and tall trees; the domestic 

character of gardens and fences mark a change in character from the earlier 

natural wildness of the riverbank. 

 

Landmarks & Views 

 

The distinctly rural character in this area is encapsulated by views from the river 

and riverside footpaths of open fields, hedgerows and trees. The riverside 

footpath is well used here and affords views across the fields with occasional 

views of the river itself where ground level is elevated. Trees enclose the river 

on both banks and views of the river can often only be glimpsed due to density 

of foliage, particularly in summer months.   

 

From the main entrance to Northwick Lido the openness of this marshy area 

gives good views across the landscape and equestrian grazing land. To the north 

of the area the marsh land forms the foreground to a view over agricultural land 

with distant views of Old Northwick Farm.  

 

Both Hallow Church and Park (the Eclipse care home) on the west bank are 

prominent landmarks in views; the chimney stacks of the latter being 

particularly prominent on the skyline.   

  

 

The spire of Hallow Church and the chimneys of the Eclipse care home  

can be seen above the trees 

Page 93



38 
 

Key Buildings 

 

There is little built development within this character area, the most notable in 

historic terms being the locally listed late 19th /early 20th century Old Northwick 

Farmhouse and its outbuildings. Built with red brick under clay tile roofs the 

farmstead with unconverted buildings sits in a regular courtyard L-plan 

arrangement with additional detached buildings including a 2-bay pigsty. 

 

 

Old Northwick Farmhouse 

 

Six large detached dwellings, mostly obscured by trees, have an elevated and 

commanding position above the fields on the east bank.  One of these, Cobtun 

House, has received awards and been widely published for its design 

incorporating ‘sustainability’ features. This eco-house is described by Alan 

Brooks as ‘a remarkable, ecologically designed house of 2000-1’. Built by John T. 

Christophers, Cobtun House has a curving, earth-red, cob wall, with brick/stone 

base and corrugated aluminium capping which circles the garden before serving 

as the north wall of the single-storey house. Of mostly timber-framed 

construction, the house is clad in horizontal oak boarding, with projecting eaves 

and floor to ceiling glazing. The use of traditional and modern building materials 

and design allows Cobtun House to sit comfortably in its setting. 

 

Page 94



39 
 

 

Cobtun House 

 

On the north side of Northwick Close is Saint’s Hill, built by county architect 

A.V.Rowe for himself in 1925. The building is of white painted brick with a half-

timbered porch, weather-boarded gable, and oriel and bay windows. Houses of a 

similar style, most likely also by Rowe, lined the close from c.1930s. 

 

Boundary Amendments 

 

There is one proposed boundary amendment in this character area which is the 

inclusion of the locally listed Northwick House on Old Northwick Lane. This early 

19th century building was formerly set in much larger grounds which extended to 

the River Severn to the west and was the home of John Knapp, owner of the 

riverside brickworks at this time. It is therefore considered that this building 

holds the level of special historic interest required for inclusion in the Riverside 

Conservation Area.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 95



40 
 

Management Issues and Proposals 

 

The following management issues have been identified in Riverside character 

area 1 - Northwick: 

 Location Issue Action Responsibility 

1. 

 

All Electricity lines 

and pylons 

have a 

negative 

impact on the 

rural 

atmosphere 

and impact on 

positive views 

 

Consider 

relocation in 

any future 

works 

National Grid 

Developers 

Planning 

Officers 

2. 

 
 

Northwick 

Marina  

Currently of a 

negative 

appearance 

and in need of 

enhancement 

Planning 

proposals in 

place to 

enhance this 

area. Monitor 

progress 

Owners 

Planning 

Officers 

Conservation 

Officers 

3. 

 

Various The loss of 

trees and/or 

hedges would 

harm the 

amenity of 

adjacent 

recreational 

routes and 

spaces 

The Council will 

resist the loss 

of trees or 

hedges 

particularly 

where they 

contribute to 

the amenity of 

public 

recreational 

routes or 

spaces 

 

Owners 

Planning 

Officers 

Conservation 

Officers 

4. 

 

Various Use of the 

area is 

restricted and 

difficult to 

navigate due 

to indistinctive 

footways  

 

 

Recreational 

routes to be 

improved to 

increase 

accessibility 

and widen 

recreational 

use. 

Treatments 

should reflect 

the informal 

character of the 

area 

 

Owners 

Planning 

Officers 

Conservation 

Officers 

 

 

  

Page 96



41 
 

Character Area 2 Barbourne and Kepax 

As the Severn Way follows the west bank of the river a public footpath 

runs alongside the north edge of the former tip eastward from Riverview 

Close to the western slip of the former Kepax Ferry. The east and the 

west banks here are notably different in character, the east providing 

glimpses of built development against the more open and rural 

character of the west bank. 

 

  

   

  

Page 97



42 
 

 

 

  Summary of Significance 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 98



43 
 

Summary of Significance of Character Area 2 – Barbourne and Kepax 

 

 The Barbourne/Kepax Ferry crossing and its relationship to the late 19th 

and early 20th century development of Barbourne 

 The relationship of dwellings to the River Severn 

 Historical significance of Park View Terrace dwellings as examples of the 

large houses which previously formed the riverside edge 

 Archaeological and historical significance of the city corporation 

waterworks and pump house 

 Archaeological interest of the Pope Iron Works 

 The communal recreational significance for river based and other 

recreational activities of Kepax Country Park (former Hallow Tip) and 

Gheluvelt Park 

 The tranquillity of the area created by mature landscaping screening the 

area from built development  

  

Page 99



44 
 

Historical Development and Archaeology 

 

Historically both sides of the river were linked by way of ferry. It is thought that 

there was a ferry here, known as Barbourne Ferry, from at least the early 19th 

century. The ferry became popular in the late 19th century, when Barbourne 

Park, a private estate which stretched from Barbourne Brook beyond Park 

Avenue, was sold and built up. One of the earliest parts of this estate to be 

developed was Park View Terrace. A number of the dwellings here were built by 

the 1880s and early 1890s overlooking the river.  

 

 

Avenbury, Park View Terrace 

 

The ferry became known as Kepax Ferry although it was sometimes known as 

Bailey’s boat after the boatman Mr. Bailey. The embarkation point on the east 

bank was in the vicinity of today’s Kepax Ferry Cottage. The ferry remained 

operational until the 1940s. 

 

 

  Kepax Ferry c.1900                                        18th century former water tower 

Page 100



45 
 

The city corporation waterworks was relocated from the city centre in the 1770s 

following its demolition to build the new bridge. A tall water tower was built as 

part of the works and a water-wheel driven pump was used to pump water from 

the River Severn to a storage tank at the top of the tower. The tower became 

redundant when a new waterworks was built next to it in the 1850s and was 

unfortunately demolished in the 1950s. The replacement waterworks were 

demolished in the 1990s and landscaped to form an extension to Gheluvelt Park. 

The pump house is the only surviving building.  

 

An early iron works site was located just south of the waterworks on the 

Barbourne Brook. Known as the Pope Iron works it is thought to have been 

founded by Bromwich Pope. In the early 19th century the works covered a 

substantial riverside site but by the late 19th century they had been demolished 

and replaced by the terrace housing of Waterworks Road.  

 

 

Claines Tithe Map of 1843 showing Pope Iron works 

Page 101



46 
 

Landscape & Townscape Character 

 

Moving south into this character area, the conservation area opens up to the 

west bank and to the large open space of the reclaimed Hallow Tip. This area is 

raised as a plateau above the flood plain and has been capped and seeded to 

create Kepax Country Park. The park gives a rural quality here, similar to that of 

character area 1, however there now begins a shift in focus from agricultural to 

recreational land use with river-based activities becoming more apparent.   

 

 

Kepax Country Park 

 

On the east bank, a wooded area and a number of modest dwellings screen the 

river from view, opposite larger plots and more grandiose properties on the 

other side of Park View Terrace. The gardens here are gated, with long 

driveways, high boundary walls, well-manicured hedges and trees, such that the 

properties are largely screened from view. This combined with the informal, un-

surfaced road makes for a tranquil connection between Northwick Lido and 

Gheluvelt Park, and a soft transition between the riverside and urban area.  The 

woodland subsequently gives way to the retaining wall which once contained the 

former waterworks’ filter beds and settlement tank.  

 

The western extension of Gheluvelt Park stretches beyond the wall, providing 

important green space and continuing the open feel of the west bank. 

Substantial landscaping on the park boundaries screens much of the surrounding 

Page 102



47 
 

development, creating an oasis of open space in close proximity to the city 

centre. Only the pump house of the waterworks survives out of a number of 

Victorian and 20th century buildings, and the area of former filter beds has been 

grassed over. To the north of the pump house the foundations of the original 

water tower remain visible above Barbourne Brook. 

 

 

Gheluvelt Park 

 

The nature of the landscape is primarily low lying. Both banks are well wooded 

along this stretch, although the trees on the east bank give way to the 

residential moorings on Park View Terrace and Waterworks Road. 

 

Landmarks & Views 

 

River views are limited due to the low-lying landscape although from the western 

end of Gheluvelt Park the riverside footpath provides good extended views up 

and down river. Views across the park take in the Pump House which is the built 

focus of the area, and beyond to the eastern end of the park and the more built 

up area of Barbourne.  

 

Page 103



48 
 

  

Views up and down the river from Gheluvelt Park 

   

From the west bank views are open across Hallow tip towards Northwick and 

there are distant views of the tower of St. Stephen’s Church. From the river 

bank pleasant views across to the east bank pick out the rear of the house on 

Park View Terrace.  

 

Key Buildings 

 

Built development on the west bank is very sparse and less prominent than on 

the east bank where it is directly associated with the riverside. Buildings on the 

east bank are distinctly Victorian and Edwardian in character with Kepax Ferry 

Cottage and the adjacent Kepax Cottage attractive buildings built in an Arts and 

Crafts style with a distinctive use of clay tile roofs and applied timber-framing. 

 

 

Kepax Ferry Cottage and Kepax Cottage 

Page 104



49 
 

 

The large residential properties off Park View Terrace are described by Pevsner 

as “an area of large 19th century houses…showing Norman Shaw’s half-timbered 

Old English Style”, some of the houses in the area are the work of local architect 

J.H. Williams. Avenbury to the north of the Terrace is notable for its distinctive 

turret whilst Nimrod House to the south is a locally listed building. 

 

The surviving pump house of the former Waterworks in Waterworks Road is a 

locally listed building successfully converted into a community environmental 

centre. Now the Pump House Environment Centre, it is a large building in 3 

parts; the west part, by Thomas Hawksley, 1857-8, is of red brick with blue 

brick banding and stone dressings. The matching east range of 1868 copies the 

eccentric details and sits alongside a taller, plainer centre of 1901-2 by Thomas 

Caink, The two and a half-storeyed building is described by Pevsner as being of 

an “odd chunky Franco-Jacobean style”. The surviving base of the original 

circular water tower is also locally listed.   

 

 Pump House Environmental Centre 

 

An attractive row of Victorian houses completes the boundary to this character 

area. Built on the site of the former Pope Iron Works, the terrace faces the river 

at the end of Waterworks Road and has a strong association with the river, with 

good elevations and substantial moorings.  

 

Page 105



50 
 

 

Victorian dwellings on the site of the Pope Iron Works 

 

 

Kepax Bridge is proposed to link the recreational sites of Gheluvelt Park and 

Kepax Country Park which will improve connectivity between the areas of North 

Worcester east and west of the Severn. However there are significant constraints 

with a need for clearance for large boats, and achieving accessible approaches, 

especially at its east end. Great attention will need to be given to the design of 

the bridge and its approaches to ensure that they do not harm the attractiveness 

of the conservation area, the riverside and the two parks. 

 

  

Page 106



51 
 

Boundary Amendments 

 

A small area of modern housing on Tower Road (Nos.15-23) has been excluded 

from the conservation area. This area formed part of the waterworks site at the 

time of original designation but has now been developed with late 20th century 

housing which is not considered to hold the level of special interest required for 

inclusion. The houses hold an identifiable character with the other modern 

houses on Tower Road which are not in the conservation area. The modern 

houses to the west of this development are recommended to remain as they 

have land boundaries with the river and so their plots provide an important 

contribution to the character and appearance of the conservation area.  

 

The conservation area is also extended to include plots to the east of Park View 

Terrace. The large plots and their substantial boundaries and foliage create the 

tranquillity of this part of the Riverside walk between Northwick Lido and 

Gheluvelt Park. The dwellings directly overlooked the riverside prior to 20th 

century infill development, forming the riverside edge of the 19th century 

suburban expansion of the city. The buildings therefore also have special historic 

interest as rare examples of the large, high status houses which overlooked the 

east bank of the river and contributed to the expansion of the Kepax ferry 

service.  

 

  

Page 107



52 
 

Management Issues and Proposals 

 

The following management issues have been identified in Riverside character 

area 2 – Barbourne and Kepax: 

 Location Issue Action Responsibility 

1. 

 

All Electricity lines 

and pylons 

have a 

negative 

impact on the 

rural 

atmosphere 

and impact on 

positive views 

 

Consider 

relocation in 

any future 

works 

 

 

 

 

 

National Grid 

Developers 

Planning 

Officers 

2. 

 
 

Various  Wooden finger 

post signs in 

need of repair 

or replacement  

Replace or 

carry out 

maintenance to 

existing signage 

Conservation 

Officer 

 

3. 

 

Old 

waterworks 

tower 

 

 

 

 

 

This important 

historic feature 

currently has 

no 

interpretation 

of its 

significance  

 

The site would 

benefit from 

new 

interpretation 

material  

Conservation 

Officer 

4. 

 

Former 

waterworks 

site 

Exposed 

concrete wall 

of former 

waterworks 

site is 

unsympathetic 

to the setting 

of the river 

Consider 

improvements 

to the 

appearance of 

this area in any 

future works  

 

 

 

Planning 

Officers 

Conservation 

Officers 

 

 

 

 

5. 

 

Park View 

Terrace 

Risk of the 

removal of 

boundary 

features and 

mature 

landscaping 

which make an 

important 

contribution to 

the setting of 

the river and 

walks 

 

Seek to 

preserve 

garden 

boundaries and 

landscaping 

Owners 

Planning 

Officers 

Conservation 

Officers 

Page 108



53 
 

6. Kepax Bridge Through 

improving 

connectivity 

the proposed 

Kepax Bridge 

could harm the 

attractiveness 

of Gheluvelt 

Park and 

Kepax Country 

Park as a 

recreational 

resource 

The design of 

Kepax Bridge 

should seek to 

maintain the 

character and 

significance of 

the 

conservation 

area in order to 

maintain the 

attractiveness 

of Gheluvelt 

Park and Kepax 

Country Park 

Planning 

Officers 

Worcester City 

Council 

Worcestershire 

County Council 

Conservation 

Officers 

7. Various Risk of 

removal of 

landscaping 

which makes 

an important 

contribution to 

the amenity of 

adjacent 

recreational 

routes and 

spaces 

The Council will 

resist the loss 

of trees or 

hedges 

particularly 

where they 

contribute to 

the amenity of 

public 

recreational 

routes or 

spaces 

 

Owners 

Planning 

Officers 

Conservation 

Officers 

8. Kepax 

Country Park 

Access is 

currently 

limited for 

cyclists and 

those of 

reduced 

mobility on the 

west bank of 

the river to 

Kepax Country 

Park 

 

Recreational 

routes to be 

improved and 

signage and 

street furniture 

to be included 

to increase 

accessibility 

and widen 

recreational 

use.  

City Council 

Riverside Park 

Management 

Group 

Conservation 

Officers 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 109



54 
 

Character Area 3 Pitchcroft and Hylton Road 

Situated on the east bank of the River Severn, Pitchcroft is the site of 

the present day racecourse, contained between a broad bend in the river 

and the river terrace. Within this character area is the built development 

along Hylton Road and the northern end of Henwick Road.  

 

  

   

   

  

 

Page 110



55 
 

 

 

 
                           
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 111



56 
 

Summary of Significance of Character Area 3 – Pitchcroft and Hylton 

Road 

 

 Historical and archaeological significance as the site of a Roman river-

crossing, ironworking and a medieval waterfront 

 Pitchcroft as Priests Croft is significant as a medieval meadow with some 

features remaining 

 The area is home to one of the oldest race courses in the country 

 Historical and archaeological significance as the site of the second siege of 

Worcester and as the assembly point of the Royal Cavalry in 1651 

 An area of recreational importance historically holding events including 

bare knuckle fighting, fares, circuses, parades, Worcester Rowing Club, 

swimming races and betting on dogs at the Dog and Duck pub 

  

Page 112



57 
 

Historical Development and Archaeology 

 

It is thought that there was a Roman river-crossing at the southern end of 

Pitchcroft and some evidence for ironworking has been recorded. It seems likely 

that the dumps of iron slag present on Pitchcroft were known of locally at least 

as early as 1646 when a Richard Saunders was granted a lease of land at Little 

Pitchcrofte 'in consideration of leavelling the workes raised upon the same’.  

 

On the west bank, archaeological recording has revealed part of a possible 

medieval waterfront along Hylton Road and on the Worcester Arena site. There 

are former river channels here of prehistoric and Roman date.    

 

 

Racing on Pitchcroft 1823 

 

Pitchcroft, formerly Priests Croft, was the medieval common meadow of the city 

and some earthwork remains of former boundaries and some ridge-and-furrow 

survives.  

 

On the 14th June, 1646, during the second siege of Worcester, the 

Parliamentary besiegers completed a bridge of boats, with a plank floor allowing 

passage of eight men abreast, to cross the river to the north of the city at the 

upper end of Pitchcroft (opposite Henwick). The bridge was defended by a half-

moon emplacement on Pitchcroft which would give two points of attack from the 

west across the river. It was on Pitchcroft that the Royalist cavalry was 

assembled in 1651. 

 

Page 113



58 
 

Racing at Pitchcroft began in the early 18th century, recorded from 1718.  It is 

home to National Hunt horse racing and is considered to be one of the oldest 

racecourses in the country. Racing was operated by the city corporation until 

2000 when it was taken over by Arena Leisure Services.  

 

As well as horse racing, Pitchcroft has historically hosted a number of other 

sporting and recreational events over the centuries including bare knuckle 

fighting in the 19th century. Fairs, circuses and parades also have a long history 

on Pitchcroft and this tradition continues today. 

 

 

Dog and Duck Ferry 1935 

 

The site of the Dog and Duck Ferry was located at the north end of Pitchcroft. 

The name originated from the pub on the west bank and the local sport of 

betting on dogs which were then let loose on the river to catch ducks. Although 

the pub is no longer there the cottages and ferry site remain. 

 

River sports have also featured on the River Severn throughout history. A boat 

club was established in Worcester in 1841 which saw the start of competitive 

rowing in the city, and Worcester Rowing club was formed in 1876. Swimming 

barges were often moored to the river banks near Pitchcroft for locals to swim 

Page 114



59 
 

off and in the 1930s a ‘mile’ swimming race from Kepax down to the Racecourse 

grandstand was held.

 

Worcester rowing club boathouse 1915 

 

 Landscape & Townscape Character  

 

Approaching the northern tip of the character area the focus shifts to Pitchcroft, 

an important landscape feature of over 40 hectares of open space close to the 

city centre. The racecourse comprises the greater extent of the land on the east 

bank. Land use here is distinctly recreational and outside of organised races is 

also used for a variety of public events throughout the year. The white painted 

race rails are a distinctive feature of the racecourse, as too is the impressive 

tree-lined avenue to the east of the course, significant to both the character of 

the area and to the local ecology.  

 

Pitchcroft is liable to flooding, which can dramatically alter the character of this 

open green space on a seasonal basis. Development on the east side of the river 

is set at a distance from the Severn, beginning as the land starts to gently rise 

up from the floodplain. Pitchcroft Allotments and the gardens and sports facilities 

to the south east add to the extensive open space of Pitchcroft Racecourse and 

Page 115



60 
 

provide a good transition to the built-up residential areas of Britannia Square 

and Barbourne.  

 

  

Pitchcroft and the adjacent tree-lined avenue 

 

From the north mature trees line the eastern riverbank, framing views from 

Pitchcroft until the trees are replaced by a number of low-lying buildings, 

including the boathouse and service facilities associated with the racecourse. The 

tree border begins again on the south-eastern edge of the racecourse, visually 

enclosing the space. 

 

The south-eastern edge of the racecourse takes on a more urban feel and a car 

park separates the racecourse from the terraces and the Swan Theatre. The 

urban edges of the racecourse are bound by wrought iron railings, culminating 

with gates onto Croft Road. 

 

To the south of the racecourse Butts Parade indicates the start of a more 

urbanised route along the river, starting with Sabrina Bridge and continuing 

through the city centre as far as Severn Street. The railway viaduct is an 

imposing feature in views through the area, forming a backdrop to Butts Parade 

and the opposite car park. Street trees are an important feature here, helping to 

create a human scale and separating the pedestrian realm from the adjacent 

highway. There are good examples of historic street surfaces in this character 

area, such as the granite setts along Severn Terrace. Traditional street furniture 

also features, particularly along the ‘parades’, identifying this area as becoming 

increasingly urban. 

Page 116



61 
 

 

Sabrina Bridge was erected in 1992 as a pedestrian and cycle bridge and is the 

crossing-point for the Severn Way from the east to the west bank. Named after 

the Roman name for the Severn, the footbridge crosses the river from Butts 

Parade to Henwick Parade, just north of the railway viaduct. The bridge is now 

heavily used by students following the expansion of the university from its 

original St John’s campus into the City and Riverside campuses. The latter 

includes the University Arena which is now a prominent building along the 

Riverside. 

 

 

Sabrina Bridge 

Running parallel to the river on the west bank the houses on Henwick Road are 

elevated on an escarpment above the flood plain with rear gardens running 

down to the riverside footpath, some with private moorings. From the front 

elevation many of the houses are reasonably modest in scale, however when 

viewed from the riverside path the rear elevations of these properties are 

prominent, commanding views of the river, Pitchcroft and the city beyond.  

 

Page 117



62 
 

 

Pitchcroft from the river edge on the west bank 

Dropping down to the riverside from Henwick Road two small cottages sit below 

the escarpment looking out to the river. This area is quiet and peaceful despite 

the busy road above and the open aspect of the river is framed by the trees 

which border the riverbank opposite with Pitchcroft beyond. 

 

  Henwick Parade  

 

Moving south from the Henwick Road, the Hylton Road is separated from the 

river by the narrow corridor of the well-landscaped green of the river bank and 

Henwick Parade. The built up feel continues with a group of two-storey red brick 

Page 118



63 
 

terraced groups, Jubilee Villas (1897) and Arthog Villas (1924), which overlook 

Henwick Parade, the river and racecourse grandstand beyond.  

 

A number of large 20th century light-industrial units set in large urban blocks 

continue the building line. Foliage on the western riverbank is important in 

helping to soften the appearance of many of these in views from the racecourse 

and Butts Parade opposite. Due to their scale however they remain somewhat 

visible and within this disjointed urban form there is limited aesthetic value. 

Although described by Pevsner as ‘mostly scrappy c20’ the Hylton Road does 

have some good 20th century buildings which are now firmly established in the 

street scene and there are a number of valuable components that could be used 

to structure future change and offer enhancement opportunities for better 

riverside frontages. This area is now increasingly occupied by the university 

which has progressively redeveloped seeral sites.  

Landmarks & Views 

 

It is from this character area that many views are captured as the river 

approaches the heart of Worcester and gives us the first glimpses of many of the 

landmark buildings of the city. The location of the historic dog and duck ferry 

remains accessible and provides views downstream towards the city centre. 

From the river bank itself, views down-river incorporating Sabrina Bridge are 

possible and the level of the footbridge itself enables dynamic views 

encompassing the railway viaduct, Worcester Bridge and the Cathedral.  

 

 

Views from Sabrina Bridge 

 

Page 119



64 
 

Good views of Pitchcroft are to be had from a number of vantage points and the 

footpath between the river and racecourse provides numerous dynamic views 

and presents various glimpse views of the city skyline.  

 

 

Glimpse views between the trees towards the city skyline 

From the east side of Pitchcroft, particularly from the Swan Theatre and car 

park, views encompassing the entirety of the racecourse are possible. At this 

eastern boundary the land begins to rise gently up from the floodplain and views 

from Pitchcroft eastwards look upward to built development. 

  

The racecourse grandstand and boathouses of Worcester Rowing Club and 

Worcester Canoe Club are focal buildings from both river and road and provide 

the city focus for these renowned water sports. 

 

Key Buildings & Structures 

 

The built environment in this character area allows for a variety of architectural 

styles from a range of periods which creates some pleasing contrasts and adds 

interest to the area. The buildings vary from historic residential buildings to 

modern commercial and industrial properties, but all make a contribution to the 

area either through their appearance or the “gaps” in between.  

 

Page 120



65 
 

  

The boathouse (left) and racecourse grandstand (right) 

 

Buildings on both sides of the river provide a range of leisure and commercial 

space; Recreational buildings help to define the built character of the area and 

include the racecourse Grandstand built in 1976, a dominant feature in the area 

of Henwick Parade.  

 

The gates to Pitchcroft from Croft Road are an impressive structure, built in 

1899, comprising of main gates, flanked by side gates and panels, in wrought 

iron with gilding, said to be by Bromsgrove Guild.  The main gateposts are 

topped with stone capitals by William Forsyth of a swan holding the Lygon Arms, 

and a bear and ragged staff, both badges of Earl Beauchamp. The other four 

pillars are each topped with a castle with four small turrets at its base referring 

to the arms of the City of Worcester. 

 

 Pitchcroft gates 

 

A significant number of listed buildings and locally listed buildings front the 

Henwick Road on the west bank, and Severn Terrace on the east bank is a 19th 

Page 121



66 
 

century grade II listed terrace; the three-storey red-brick houses are raised 

above street level to accord with the rise in the land. Front gardens are set 

behind brick retaining walls and rear service ranges access onto the remnants of 

a back lane.  

 

Opposite are Nos. 1-27 Severn Terrace, a terrace of modest dwellings of varied 

design and detailing. Croft Villas are elaborately detailed two-storey Victorian 

dwellings, set back from the street frontage behind very small gardens. Tall red 

brick gate posts and boundary walls are surmounted by Malvern rubble stone 

cresting.  

 

   

Croft Villas(left)  and 1-27 Severn Terrace (right) 

Along Henwick Road the mainly Georgian buildings have good retention of 

historic features including sash windows and Georgian doorways, and contain a 

number of both listed and locally listed buildings. Some larger mid-19th century 

houses include The Cedars with its Italianate and picturesque architecture, and 

Henwick Grange, which displays Tudor Gothic style with diapered brickwork and 

tall chimneys.  

 

 Henwick Road 

Page 122



67 
 

  H 
20th century architecture features in this character area. Buildings of note 

include the Berrows Newspapers premises by Austin-Smith, Salmon, Lord 1964-

5. This two storey building of pre-cast concrete panel is typical of its 1960s 

period with angular staircases at the corners and staggered monopitched roofs. 

The former colour printing works by Henry Gorst 1960-1 also has a mono-

pitched roof and a series of hyperbolic paraboloid shells with a timber-clad office 

range. Other modern buildings are a striking group of four steel-clad gabled 

houses by John Edwards of Droitwich 1997, these two storey buildings with 

balconies over-looking the riverside.   

 

 Berrows Newspapers premises  

Page 123



68 
 

Management Issues and Proposals 

 

The following management issues have been identified in Riverside character 

area 3 – Pitchcroft and Hylton Road: 

1. 
 
 

University Buildings on 

Hylton Road 

dominate over 

the riverside 

character 

Consideration 

to be given to 

producing a 

masterplan of 

landscaping and 

development 

enhancement 

opportunities in 

this area 

Conservation 

Officer 

Planning 

Officers 

Owners 

University 

Estates dept. 

2. 

 
 

Hylton Road Heavy traffic and 

noise pollution 

Future master 

planning and 

highways 

proposals need 

to address this 

Planning 

Officers 

Highways 

Authority 

Developers 

3. 

 
 

Pitchcroft                                                                                               Car parks are a 

negative feature 

in this character 

area 

Consider  

landscaping 

enhancement 

opportunities  

Conservation 

Officer 

Planning 

Officers 

Owners 

Riverside 

Park 

Management 

Group 

4. 

 

Pitchcroft Highly significant 

open space of the 

social and 

sporting heritage 

of Worcester 

Historical 

features 

including gates 

and railings 

should be 

preserved and 

opportunities 

should be taken 

to celebrate 

and provide 

interpretation 

of Pitchcroft’s 

heritage value 

 

Conservation 

Officer 

Planning 

Officers 

Owners 

Riverside 

Park 

Management 

Group 

5. 

 

Pitchcroft and 

rivers edge  

Trees make an 

important 

contribution to 

views, 

recreational 

amenity and 

biodiversity 

 

Seek to retain 

and maintain 

trees within the 

conservation 

area 

Conservation 

Officer 

Planning 

Officers 

City Council 

Page 124



69 
 

6. 

 

Butts Parade 

Pitchcroft 

Paint is peeling 

off railings  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Treat and 

repaint railings 

City Council 

Riverside 

Park 

Management 

Group 

7. 

 

Various The skyline 

makes a 

significant 

contribution to 

the character and 

recreational 

amenity of this 

area 

 

Identified views 

must be 

protected 

Planning 

Officers 

Developers 

8. 

 
 

Butts Parade The northern end 

of Butts Parade is 

relatively 

underutilised 

compared to 

other areas of the 

riverside 

 

Consider 

opportunities to 

enhance  

Conservation 

Officer 

Planning 

Officers 

Owners 

Riverside 

Park 

Management 

Group 

9. Various Signage is 

currently 

disjointed with 

minimal 

interpretation  

Signage should 

be repaired or 

replaced 

sensitively to 

the character of 

the 

conservation 

area 

Riverside 

Park 

Management 

Group 

10. Sabrina Foot 

Bridge 

Use and flooding 

has put the 

bridge in need of 

repair 

Repair or 

improve the 

bridge to 

respond 

sensitively to 

the character 

and significance 

of the 

conservation 

area 

Conservation 

Officer 

Planning 

Officers 

Riverside 

Park 

Management 

Group 

  

Page 125



70 
 

Character Area 4 Quayside and Cripplegate 

Dominated by the Railway Viaduct, Worcester Bridge, and many 

industrial and commercial buildings, this “central” character area has 

the greatest density of built development which adds a depth to the 

conservation area. 

 

  

  

        

 

Page 126



71 
 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 127



72 
 

Summary of Significance of Character Area 4 – Quayside and Cripplegate 

 

 Historical significance as the nucleus of the city’s river trade 

encompassing its two main Quays 

 Archaeological significance as the site of the medieval river bridge, parts 

of the medieval defences, and Roman and later reclamation of the 

floodplain 

 Historical and archaeological significance as a principal gateway into the 

city culminating in the formal urban planning of Bridge Street and 

Worcester Bridge 

 Archaeological significance as the site of the original waterworks 

 Historical and communal significance as an area of recreation and tourism 

since the later part of the 19th century 

 The area is the subject of many historical paintings 

 The area forms an important part of the setting of Worcester Cathedral, St 

Andrews Spire, All Saints Tower and Worcester Bridge 

 

  

Page 128



73 
 

Historical Development and Archaeology 

 

The point of river crossing has shaped the pattern of development in Worcester; 

the city grew up around the medieval bridge spanning between Tybridge Street 

and Newport Street. In 1781 the old bridge was replaced by Worcester Bridge 

slightly further downstream, connecting Bridge Street to New Road. Land 

adjacent to the bridge proved to be an excellent location for a nucleus of 

commercial activities, and remnants of these industries continue to be visible on 

the east bank from North Quay to South Quay. 

 

 

Worcester quayside, 19th century 

 

The original stone bridge of the 14th century ran between Tybridge Street and 

Newport Street. Tybridge Street was a main route into the city from the west as 

it led directly onto the bridge. Built of red sandstone the ‘old’ bridge had six 

arches and a central toll gate.  The present bridge was built between 1769 and 

1781 and was designed by John Gwynn who also designed Magdalen Bridge, 

Oxford and Atcham Bridge, near Shrewsbury.  It was considerably widened and 

encased in new stonework in 1931 with new lanterns by Hardy and Padmore. 

 

Page 129



74 
 

 

 

Old Worcester Bridge c.1760. 

 

Worcester was a main port of call for trade on the River Severn until the arrival 

of the railway in 1850 heralded a decline in river-borne industrial transportation. 

However, in the later part of the 19th century and early 20th century pleasure 

steamers were a popular pastime, and these moored along the quaysides.  

 

 

North Parade 1899 

The first railway bridge over the Severn at Worcester was erected in 1860 to 

carry the Worcester and Hereford Railway, upstream from Worcester Bridge. The 

arched spans were superseded by a girder bridge in 1904, which used the 

original abutments and the central support. Designed by the Great Western 

Railway’s chief engineer, J. C. Ingles, the bridge is a significant engineering 

structure. 

Page 130



75 
 

 

Railway Bridge of 1860 

As a result of the electrification of Worcester’s tram system a new power station 

was built on the Hylton Road and opened in 1903. The Power Station was a 

dominant feature in the riverside landscape for the first part of the 20th century 

finally closing its doors in 1943. The power station was eventually demolished in 

the 1970s although the small screen house for cooling water intake survives on 

the west bank of the river. 

 

 

Hylton Road Power Station 

 

Landscape & Townscape Character 

 

The railway viaduct announces the start of this character area and again the east 

and west banks are very different. The River Severn is liable to flood on both 

Page 131



76 
 

banks due to the level low-lying land and the character of the area can alter 

dramatically through the winter months. Grass verges form banks on both sides 

just south of the viaduct where there are formal planting beds. Street furniture 

is modern but traditional in style with the exception of the cast-iron lamp 

standards by Hardy and Padmore on Worcester Bridge.  

 

The North and South Quays form the east bank of the river either side of 

Worcester Bridge. Along this bank there is a tight urban grain as the riverside 

development begins to merge with that of the Historic City; the increasingly 

urban character of the area is reflected by the reduced density of trees along 

this section of river bank.  

The Quayside plays a commercial, cultural and residential role and is identified 

by a number of quayside buildings; the former 19th century warehouses on North 

Quay and South Quay encompass a mixture of commercial and residential use. 

Bridge Street emerges between the former warehouses aligning with Worcester 

Bridge. Although somewhat marred by the busy traffic along the street and 

crossing Worcester Bridge, these late 18th century tall red brick terraces provide 

a coherent set-piece streetscape between the North Quay and South Quay.  

 

 Bridge Street 

 

Although much of the North Quay area has fallen victim to clearance, the Severn 

View Hotel and former warehouse buildings acknowledge the historic street 

pattern. Gascoyne House and Bond House form a significant streetscape feature 

overlooking the River Severn, and together with Merchant House, Quay Street, 

Page 132



77 
 

Worcester Bridge, and Bridge Street these buildings form part of the visual 

framework for Worcester Cathedral from the River. 

 North Parade and North Quay 

On South Quay the warehouses have been converted to residential and leisure 

use but retain their distinctive painted facades. South Quay has been landscaped 

to form a pleasant pedestrian area, bordered by cast-iron railings and bollards, 

and cast-iron benches decorated with the Worcester insignia. The fountains in 

this area have created a significant area of public space as well as a destination 

and viewpoint. South Quay also provides the location for a swan sanctuary which 

is an attraction for passers-by.   

 

    

Hardy and Padmore light on Worcester bridge (left) and painted signage on 

warehouses at South Quay (right) 

Page 133



78 
 

 

The character of the west bank is entirely different, being dominated by the busy 

multiple lanes of traffic along New Road and Hylton Road, although this is 

somewhat balanced by the river walk along Henwick Parade which has a 

pleasant riverside character. The avenue of mature trees which line New Road 

enhance what is otherwise a very busy three-lane road.  

 

Cripplegate Park on the west bank forms public open space in an area heavily 

dominated by the noise and movement of a busy traffic system. With its mix of 

formal and informal landscape features, the park is described as a valuable 

“green lung” within this predominantly urban area.  

 

 

Cripplegate Park 

 

The park has a diverse range of spaces and facilities, areas of lawn, specimen 

trees and formal planted beds interspersed by meandering paths and small 

timber pavilions. Public art is on display in the form of the Cripplegate Pear and 

a fountain of 1858 from the foundry of Hardy and Padmore forms a focal point at 

the centre of the park. The main gates to the park have a strong townscape 

value and are clearly seen when entering St. John’s from the city centre across 

the bridge.  

 

 

 

Page 134



79 
 

Landmarks & Views 

 

The prominence of the railway viaduct has a significant visual impact on the 

character of the riverside; views of the city centre, the skyline in particular, can 

be seen by train with visitors and commuters observing a panorama over the 

immediate character area and much of the city itself.  

 

The view down-stream includes the landmark Worcester Cathedral with St 

Andrews Spire offset to the left. Worcester Bridge appears nicely aligned with 

the Cathedral and from here numerous views are afforded up river to the north 

and down river to the south, where views are dominated by the Cathedral. 

 

View from Worcester Bridge towards the cathedral 

 

The open space of Le Vesinet promenade along the east bank enables both 

glimpse and direct views of Worcester Bridge and the Cathedral. The car park 

between North Parade and Newport Street allows for clear views through to the 

well-detailed rear elevations of the buildings on the north side of Bridge Street 

and the distinctive John Gwynn House.   

 

Along the footpaths of the west bank it is possible to gain glimpse and 

panoramic views of St Andrews Spire, All Saints’ tower, Worcester Cathedral and 

Worcester Bridge. Such views are also possible from Hylton Road and adjacent 

buildings as well as from Cripplegate Park which, combined with the landscaped 

foreground enhance views in this area. 

 

Page 135



80 
 

 

View from the west bank 

Key Buildings & Structures 

 

The buildings on North Parade, South Parade and Bridge Street form the 

dominant built environment for this area. The Severn View Hotel holds a 

prominent riverside position alongside the Old Rectifying House. A grade II listed 

building the Severn View was an ale-house before 1801 and during the 19th 

century was known as the Hope and Anchor.  

 

   

Severn View Hotel (Left) and Worcester Bridge (Right) 

 

The quayside buildings were built as functional buildings, designed to provide 

extensive floor space for storage. The elevations are pierced by numerous 

window openings and the remnants of openings for haulage joists which give a 

distinctive industrial character to this area.  John Gwynn House includes a grade 

II listed former hop warehouse, now converted to flats. The building is an 

Page 136



81 
 

architecturally elaborate warehouse associated with Worcester’s significant 

regional industry. Standing four storeys high the red brick building is articulated 

with pilasters and cornices to each storey.  

 

The Bridge Street terraces were designed by John Gwynn along with the bridge; 

these 3-storey red brick terraces are distinctly Georgian in appearance with well-

proportioned facades, articulated by sash windows and timber door cases of 

Doric pilasters and pediment. Worcester Bridge itself is grade II listed; the soffits 

of the arches surviving from the original bridge of 1781 are detailed in the 

manner of Classical rusticated stonework.  

 

  

Screen House                                      Cripplegate Park Gates 

 

On the west bank the Screen House was built in the 1930s and relates to former 

Hylton Road power station brought here by the Worcester Corporation in 1902. 

Designed by Architect A.B. Rowe, this modest scale, single storey building 

stands out on the riverside and is a locally listed building. Of stucco over brick 

with a flat roof the building is currently unoccupied and in a poor condition.  

 

The Cripplegate Park gates are also locally listed. The gates were designed and 

made by the Bromsgrove Guild, recognised nationally as one of the greatest 

names in Arts and Crafts work, and as such hold strong artistic value. The 

design incorporates the Worcester Coat of arms giving the gates a strong local 

distinctiveness.   

 

  

Page 137



82 
 

Management Issues and Proposals 

 

The following management issues have been identified in Riverside character 

area 4 – Quayside and Cripplegate: 

 Location Issue Action Responsibility 

1. 

 

Various Modern retail 

units offer 

neutral to 

negative 

contribution to 

the character 

area but are 

sited in 

prominent 

areas in 

relation to the 

riverside 

 

Consider 

future 

enhancement 

opportunities 

in these areas 

Planning 

Officers 

Developers 

Owners 

2. 

 
 

Various  Heavy city 

traffic 

dominates this 

area and 

impacts on the 

riverside and 

green areas 

Consider 

opportunities 

for traffic 

reduction 

and/or 

management 

in this area 

Highways 

Authority 

Planning 

Officers 

3. 

 

Screen 

House 

Locally listed 

building is 

currently in a 

poor state of 

repair and in 

need of a 

sustainable 

future use 

 

Encourage 

repair and use 

Conservation 

Officer 

Owner 

4. 

 
 

Various Views of city 

buildings and 

the Worcester 

skyline are a 

key feature of 

this area 

Identified 

views must be 

protected  

Planning 

Officers 

Developers 

 

 

 

 

5. 

 
 

New Road   Trees on New 

Road are an 

important 

green feature in 

this area of 

heavy traffic  

These trees 

must continue 

to be 

managed and 

maintained 

Owners 

Highways 

Authority 

City Council 

Page 138



83 
 

6. 

 
 

North 

Parade 

Traffic 

management  

signs obscure 

key views 

Consider 

relocation in 

future 

highway 

schemes 

 

Highways 

Authority 

Conservation 

Officer 

7. 

 

Various Heavy traffic 

and a limited 

number of 

pedestrian 

crossings 

restrict 

pedestrian 

connectivity 

between 

Cripplegate 

Park, the 

Cricket Ground 

and eastern 

bank 

Consider 

opportunities 

to improve 

pedestrian 

connectivity in 

the area 

Highways 

Authority 

Planning 

Officers 

8. 

 
 

Various Paint is peeling 

off railings  

Treat and 

repaint 

railings 

 

City Council 

Riverside Park 

Management 

Group 

9. 

 

Newport 

Street 

The urban 

framework 

dissolves here 

due to previous 

clearance 

New 

development 

here would be 

an opportunity 

to restore the 

historic street 

pattern and 

enhance the 

setting of the 

Severn View 

Hotel, Old 

Rectifying 

House and 

quayside 

buildings 

Planning 

Officers 

Developers 

Owners 

10. 

 
 
 

Croft Road 

and 

Grandstand 

Road car 

parks 

Long railings 

restrict 

pedestrian 

access to the 

riverside 

New 

development 

here would be 

an opportunity 

to improve 

pedestrian 

connectivity 

and views to 

the riverside 

 

Planning 

Officers 

Developers 

Owners 

Page 139



84 
 

11. 
 
 

Garage, 

Hylton 

Road 

The site 

detracts from 

the setting of 

Cripplegate 

Park and the 

Riverside 

Consider 

opportunities 

to enhance 

Conservation 

Officer 

Planning 

Officers 

Owners 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 140



85 
 

Character Area 5 Chapter Meadows 

Chapter Meadows is an important area of open space close to the city 

centre. The area as a whole forms a green buffer that separates the city 

from the suburb of St. John’s to the west. The majority of the character 

area is on the west bank which has a distinctly rural atmosphere whilst 

the east bank is more urban being located adjacent to the Historic City.  

 

       

  

  

Summary of Significance 

Page 141



86 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Summary of Significance Character Area 5 – Chapter Meadows 

 

 

 

 

Page 142



87 
 

Summary of Significance of Character Area 5 – Chapter Meadows 

 

 Historical, Archaeological and ecological importance as meadows since at 

least AD904 

 An area closely associated with and an important part of the setting of 

Worcester Cathedral 

 Slingpool Walk and the historic ford has historical and archaeological 

significance as being the suggested line of a Roman Road to Kenchester 

 The location of the internationally known Worcestershire Cricket Ground 

famous for its riverside setting 

 Some of the best views of the city’s skyline can be had from this character 

area 

 Historical significance as the junction of the Worcester and Birmingham 

Canal with had major impacts on the city’s industry and the functioning of 

the River Severn 

  

Page 143



88 
 

Historical Developmental and Archaeology 

 

Chapter Meadows are a remnant survival of historic flood meadows that would 

have been carefully managed to produce hay crop and also provide grazing. The 

earliest mention of the importance of the meadows came from a reference in a 

document dated AD904, which recorded meadowland as lying beside the River 

Severn opposite the burh. Throughout history these meadows have been 

harvested, providing Romans, Norman Monks and subsequently Worcester 

Cathedral with hay. Once cut, the land would be grazed by cattle for the rest of 

the summer and autumn. This traditional management, which continues today, 

has allowed bird, flower, insect and mammal inhabitants to thrive. 

 

 

Worcester Cathedral by Benjamin Williams Leader 

 

Chapter Meadows were owned by the Priory of Worcester from at least the 13th 

century and were given to the Dean and Chapter of Worcester Cathedral by 

Henry VIII in 1542 during the Reformation.  The lands were, up until the early 

19th century, part of the Manor of Hardwick. The meadows passed from 

Worcester Priory into the ownership of the Dean and Chapter of Worcester 

Cathedral after the dissolution. The fields of Chapter Meadows have been 

managed by the Duckworth Worcestershire Trust since 1998.   

 

Page 144



89 
 

It seems likely that the line of Slingpool Walk may represent an ancient drovers 

track between the meadowland and the Roman town of Worcester, possibly even 

connecting with a prehistoric settlement to the west in the modern St John's 

area. Slingpool Walk is also suggested as being on the line of a Roman road to 

Kenchester, following on along Swanpool Walk and on to Bransford Road. 

 

 

Chapter Meadows and Diglis from the Cathedral tower 

 

It is usually accepted that a historic fording point of the River Severn lay just to 

the north of Slingpool Walk, below the Cathedral before the establishment of the 

bridge across the Severn. The road from the ford followed the line of Slingpool 

Walk, one of a number of old lateral footpaths (e.g. Weir Walk and Old 

Northwick Lane) that link the river to the surrounding areas.  

 

The Cathedral Ferry, also known as Priory Ferry, worked from Watergate to 

Payne’s Meadow.  It was established for the convenience of the monks and the 

Priory milk-maids to reach the Priory Manor of Hardwick in St John’s. 

Worcestershire County Cricket Club moved their ground from Boughton to what 

was then a farmland site made available by the Dean and Chapter beside New 

Road in 1896.  The original pavilion designed by Worcester architect A. H. Parker 

Page 145



90 
 

has since been replaced and supplemented by 20th century terraced seating and 

function rooms around the pitch. 

 

 

Cricket Pavilion design by A.H. Parker, 1896 

 

The Diglis Hotel was formerly Diglis House, home to Edward Leader Williams, the 

chief engineer to the Severn Navigation Commission. His son, Benjamin Williams 

Leader, the famous landscape artist known for his paintings of Worcester, was 

born in the house in 1831. Thought to have been built on the site of an earlier 

house which was destroyed in the Civil War, the house was run as a brewery by 

an Andrew Carpenter who acquired the house in 1902 and subsequently ran it as 

a public house serving his own brew. 

 

 

The Diglis Hotel  

 

 

 

Page 146



91 
 

Landscape & Townscape Character 

 

Moving southwards on the east bank, South Quay links through to the riverside 

walks along Kleve Walk under the Old Palace and Cathedral. Part of the Severn 

Way, the formal riverside footpath is well maintained and follows the boundary 

of part of the historic City Wall. 

 

 

The Old Palace from the west bank 

 

The Diglis Hotel is a focal building along Kleve Walk and from the river. Just 

south of the hotel a row of Victorian terraced houses have a direct bearing on 

the riverside environment and add character to the east bank. 

 

A canal footbridge marks the junction of the Worcester and Birmingham Canal 

and the River Severn. Former industrial and commercial sites to the east, which 

are just outside the Riverside Conservation Area, have been developed for 

residential and other uses creating a pleasant riverside location which enhances 

the setting of the conservation area. 

Page 147



92 
 

Recreational uses continue along the west bank of the river with the County 

Cricket Ground, allotments, and school sports grounds. The Cricket Ground is 

known internationally for its riverside setting and the adjacent playing fields are 

used by the King’s School and Christopher Whitehead School.  

 

   

Diglis Parade 

 

Chapter Meadows is dominated by the west front of the Cathedral. Extending 

southwards as flat pastureland the area is subject to periodic flooding.  The 

retention of the meadows is highly significant in this city centre setting and the 

openness, interspersed with field boundaries and tree-lined riverbanks, truly 

encapsulates the character of this historic area. In addition, the meadows form 

an integral part of the wildlife corridor that runs through the heart of Worcester 

and provide an ecological haven.  

 

   

Chapter Meadows 

 

 

Page 148



93 
 

Bromwich Parade is the formal riverside footpath which follows the west bank of 

the river providing a stunning riverside walk. With a surface of compacted gravel 

it provides a good walking and cycling surface and the high proportion of trees 

and shrubs along the immediate river bank enhance the walk. Slingpool Walk 

links Bromwich Road to Bromwich Parade and south of Slingpool Walk the 

footpaths become more informal; the distinction between the east and west 

banks is clear in this character area with notable contrasts in, footpaths, street 

furniture and signage. 

 

   

Formal and informal styles of signage distinguish urban and rural character 

areas 

 

Landmarks & Views 

The contrast between the open space of Chapter Meadows and the densely built 

environment of the Historic City is further encapsulated by views. The Cathedral 

features as the dominant landmark in this area and Chapter Meadows provides 

one of the finest views of the Cathedral which has remained unaltered for 

centuries and which has been captured in paintings and photography. Though 

the number of trees in the area has dramatically increased, the view of the 

Cathedral from this location is historic having been farmed since the medieval 

period. 

Page 149



94 
 

 

Early 20th Century view of Worcester Cathedral from Chapter Meadows. 

Present view of Worcester Cathedral from Chapter Meadows.  

 

 

Present view of Worcester Cathedral from Chapter Meadows 

 

The cricket club and grounds benefit from views of the Cathedral and a range of 

city skyline views are possible at numerous points along Bromwich Parade, many 

framed by the trees along the river bank. From the steps leading down to the 

river some of the best views along the river are to be had, encompassing the 

tower of All Saints church, St Andrews Spire and Worcester Cathedral. Further 

south along Bromwich Parade, gaps in the foliage allow for views across to the 

east bank of the Diglis Hotel and the eye-catching prow of the boathouse of 

Kings School, which although it sits in the boundary of the Historic City, is a 

notable landmark in this riverside setting. 

 

 

Page 150



95 
 

Along Bromwich Road, additional glimpse views of the Cathedral are possible 

between houses, the most notable of which is that from No.55; such views 

provide a sense of direction and convey proximity to the city centre.  

 

  

Kings School Boathouse   

 

Key Buildings & Structures 

 

The Diglis Hotel is a grade II listed house of the early-mid 18th century and Nos. 

1-24 Diglis Avenue is a late 19th century red brick terrace with a front-facing 

aspect over the Severn. Some of the consistent character and appearance of the 

terrace has been eroded by minor alterations and additions, however there 

remain a number of features of interest including the blue brick wall and iron 

railings which mark their boundary.  

 

    

Diglis Hotel (Left) and 1-24 Diglis Avenue (Right) 

Page 151



96 
 

On the west bank the buildings include those of the cricket ground and a boat 

house, built in 1920 for The Blind College sits on the riverbank. The housing on 

Bromwich Road is included within the conservation area and is a mix of inter-war 

semis and more recent additions, located on an elevated position above the 

flood plain.  Whilst of moderate historic or architectural interest, these dwellings 

command exceptional views of the river and Cathedral beyond. 

 

 

The boat house 

 

55-57 Bromwich Road is a grade II listed building built in 1810. Formerly the 

Bishop of Worcester's guest house and later a school, it was divided into two 

houses c1886-1926; no.55 has since been converted to flats. The house is of 

stucco over brick with a hipped slate roof, rear and right stuccoed stacks with 

cornices and pots, moulded into an arcaded ground storey with pilasters above. 

 

 

55 Bromwich Road 

Page 152



97 
 

Management Issues and Proposals 

 

The following management issues have been identified in Riverside character 

area 5 – Chapter Meadows: 

 Location Issue Action Responsibility 

1. 

 
 

All A Risk of 

harming highly 

significant 

historic views 

in this area 

Identified views 

must be 

protected 

Planning 

Officers 

Developers 

2. 

 
 

Kleve Walk Poor 

management 

of the 

Chestnut trees 

on Kleve Walk 

would be 

harmful to the 

amenity of the 

area 

 

These trees 

should be well-

maintained and 

protected  

City Council 

3. 

 
 

Swan 

Sanctuary 

Swan 

Sanctuary is 

an important 

feature of the 

riverside 

Future 

protection of 

the sanctuary is 

necessary to 

safeguard this 

key riverside 

feature  

Canal and River 

Trust 

City Council 

Swan Group 

 

 

 

 

4. 

 
 

Cricket Club A significant 

area of 

sporting 

heritage with 

limited 

interpretation 

Consider 

opportunities to 

celebrate and 

present 

Worcester’s 

sporting 

heritage 

 

Conservation 

Officer 

Owners 

5. 

 
 
 

South of 

Kleve Walk 

Benches are 

limited which 

restricts 

access to 

those with 

reduced 

mobility  

A street 

furniture 

strategy should 

be prepared for 

character areas 

5 and 6 to 

make the route 

more accessible 

for more people 

 

Conservation 

Officer 

Planning 

Officers 

Developers 

Riverside Park 

Management 

Group 

Page 153



98 
 

6. 

 
 

Slingpool 

Walk  

The view here 

is marred by 

wire fencing 

 

Consider 

alternative 

options  

Planning 

Officers 

Conservation 

Officer 

Owners 

7. 

 
 

Various The loss or 

poor 

management 

of trees would 

harm views 

and the 

coherence of 

the wider 

landscape 

 

Seek to retain 

and maintain 

trees within the 

conservation 

area 

Planning 

Officers 

Owners 

8. Various Signage and 

interpretation 

could be better 

co-ordinated 

and utilised 

Consider 

options to 

improve 

signage and 

interpretation 

City Council 

Conservation 

Officer 

Riverside Park 

Management 

Group 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 154



99 
 

Character Area 6 Diglis Island 

Diglis Island is a key feature of the river, the industrial character 

inherent in the survival of locks, workshops, and canal cottages. 

 

  

  

   

  

 

 

 

Page 155



100 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Summary of Significance Character Area 6 – Diglis Island 

Page 156



101 
 

Summary of Significance of Character Area 6 – Diglis Island 

 

 Historical and communal significance as an area of recreation since at 

least the 18th century 

 Archaeological significance as an area of Roman activity suggested by 

findings of coins and pottery during the digging of the locks 

 The area is the subject of several historic images 

 Strong associations with the manor of the Bishop of Worcester 

 Historical significance as an area of river trade and engineering including 

the locks, weir, oil basin and Diglis Island 

 Historical and communal significance for various features and pursuits 

relating to fish including the fish pass, weirs and the areas role as a 

location for fishing  

  

Page 157



102 
 

Historical Development and Archaeology 

 

The name Diglis first appears in records as the place name “Dudleg” in 1232. 

The area was formerly meadow known as Digleys or Dudleys and was attached 

to the manor of the Bishop of Worcester. 

 

The low-lying floodplain area is likely to have been compressed marshland 

pasture in the early medieval period from which it became known as Diglis 

Meadows.  

 

Images from the 18th and early 19th century suggest that the meadows were a 

popular place for recreation prior to the construction of the canal and the 

resulting urbanisation. 

 

  

Diglis Weir (1930s)                             Diglis Weir (2017) 

 

The locks and weir at Diglis were completed in 1844 under the direction of the 

Worcester engineer, Edward Leader Williams.   They were constructed along with 

similar devices further upstream which resulted in a substantial raising of the 

river level making the river navigable regardless of season. The construction of 

the locks and weir enabled ships of four feet draught to reach Worcester.  

 

The Diglis Dock Oil Basin was a transhipping dock constructed in the 1890s to 

encourage steel barges of oil to come up to Worcester. 

 

The workshops and cottages on Diglis Island were built as part of the 

engineering works and included a chapel or 'Bethel' for the navvies engaged on 

Page 158



103 
 

the site, as well as being used as accommodation and workshops. The buildings 

also included a blacksmiths forge which still survives.  

  

Landscape & Townscape Character 

 

Management of the riverside in this area has created a tranquil countryside walk 

that is well used by the public. The riverside walk carries the east bank footpath 

over the dock via Oil Basin Bridge. The dock area has been developed with 

several apartment buildings which, whilst outside the boundary of the 

conservation area, make a positive contribution to the industrial character and 

setting of the area through design, materials and orientation. 

 

    

Oil Basin Bridge (Left) and docks (Right) 

 

Progression down the footpath leads past the weir and Diglis Island with its 

attractive buildings and features which add interest to the landscape. With 

industrial uses now extinct the area’s primary social functions are more 

concentrated on leisure pursuits with fishing near the weir and country walks 

along the riverside.  

 

Page 159



104 
 

 

Diglis Island 

 

The character area continues just south of Diglis Island to the Diglis Footbridge. 

The bridge connects this southern part of the city to St. John’s on the west bank 

and is well used by walkers and cyclists. 

 

The land on the west bank of the river is part of Severn Trent Water Company’s 

Sewage Works and an extensive solar farm which occupy several acres in this 

area. The Sewage Works is included in the conservation area due to its riverside 

association and the open nature of the site. Other than occasionally giving rise 

to an unpleasant smell in the vicinity, the presence of the works has little 

immediate impact on the environment of the area and is quite well concealed 

from the riverside path by trees and woodland.  

 

  

Footpath on the west bank, trees screen the sewage works 

Page 160



105 
 

Landmarks & Views 

 

The footpath continues to provide glimpse and dynamic views of key skyline 

features. Notably, where views of Worcester’s historic buildings, including the 

Cathedral, were once possible from the river bank the increased density of 

foliage now often limits these views. The addition of trees along the west river 

bank has also dramatically altered the view around Diglis Weir and can be 

considered to be an enhancement of the area.   

 

    

Views towards the City Centre from the east bank (Left) and Bridge (Right) 

 

Diglis Island is a key riverside feature which not only stands alone as a landmark 

but also holds strong historic links to the east bank, the canal and the weir. As 

well as the interest of the buildings, a focal point on the island is the Dock Crane 

which is thought to originate from Cardiff docks. Originally operated by a steam 

engine, it is now powered by electricity.  

 

  Diglis Island Dock Crane 

Page 161



106 
 

The Diglis footbridge provides a multitude of views due to its elevated position 

and is an important crossing point between the east and west banks of the river 

to the south of the city. The bridge offers dynamic views of the city skyline to 

the north, with trees and the lock cottages and lock in the foreground. Views 

looking south are more rural in nature, overlooking agricultural land with distant 

views of the Malvern Hills. The footbridge forms an obvious boundary to this 

character area.  

 

 

View from Diglis footbridge to east 

 

 

View to city centre 

Page 162



107 
 

Key Buildings & Structures 

 

The river locks themselves are locally listed structures and the Lock Cottages on 

Diglis Island are former canal workers' cottages and are grade II listed. Now 

three houses, they are built in a Domestic Tudor Style and date to 1844. The 

cottages are two-storey, of painted brick with a gabled Welsh slate roof and 

polygonal clustered stacks to the ridge. Windows are two-over-two pane sashes 

and the gabled three-window centre has a canted full-height bay and carved 

bargeboards.  

 

  

Lock Cottages (Left) and workshops (Right) on Diglis Island 

 

Other buildings on Diglis Island are former workshops, stables, accommodation 

and a chapel, all built in the 1840s with later additions and alterations. The 

buildings are all listed Grade II as a single entry and sit as a continuous range of 

two long, narrow single storey buildings with a covered entrance range between; 

the north range is shorter, narrower and lower. Built of red brick in English bond 

with blue brick sills, slate roofs and blue clay ridge tiles, the buildings have a 

strong canal-like character. Traditional features and detailing are found in the 

brick stack with corbelled cap and pot, cast-iron window frames with ornate, 

lattice pattern glazing bars and a small side-hung opening section in the centre; 

two windows in northern section retain some red and blue glass to lower panes. 

 

 

 

 

Page 163



108 
 

Management Issues and Proposals 

 

The following management issues have been identified in Riverside character 

area 6 – Diglis Island: 

 Location Issue Action Responsibility 

1. 

 
 

Setting of 

Diglis Island 

 

Modern 

industrial 

areas impact 

on the historic 

setting of this 

area 

Any future 

development of 

these areas 

should enhance 

the setting of 

Diglis Island  

Planning 

Officers 

Developers 

Owners 

2. 

 
 

Oil Basin This significant 

dock area is 

currently 

underused 

Consider 

alternative uses 

for the area 

and seek to 

enhance the 

area as a 

recreational 

facility and 

connection 

between 

riverside and 

the canal 

Conservation 

Officer 

Planning 

Officers 

City Council 

Riverside Park 

Management 

Group 

 

3. 

 
 

Diglis Island 

workshops 

The workshops 

currently have 

limited 

accessibility 

This important 

historic 

industrial area 

would benefit 

from increased 

public access 

and 

interpretation  

In hand 

Conservation 

Officer 

Canal and River 

Trust 

Planning 

Officers 

4. 

 
 

Sewage 

Works 

Metal fencing 

boundaries to 

sewage works 

create an 

unsightly 

appearance 

Future change 

should have 

regard to the 

riverside 

character  

Planning 

Officers 

Owners 

 

 

 

 

5. 

 

River and 

Weir 

To not 

complete the 

National 

Lottery 

Heritage Fund 

and European 

Commission 

project would 

miss the 

Complete the 

project 

City Council 

Canal and River 

Trust 

Page 164



109 
 

opportunity to 

enhance the 

ecological 

value of the 

river and to 

install a fish 

viewing gallery 

6. 

 

Arts, signage 

and 

interpretation 

Artwork and 

interpretation 

is currently 

limited in the 

area 

 

Encourage arts 

and cultural 

projects in the 

area 

Conservation 

Officer 

Planning 

Officers 

Community 

Riverside Park 

Management 

Group 

7. 

 

Street 

furniture, 

benches and 

access 

There are few 

opportunities 

to rest in this 

area which 

restricts 

access to 

those of 

reduced 

mobility 

A street 

furniture 

strategy should 

be prepared for 

character areas 

5 and 6 to 

make the route 

more accessible 

for more people 

 

Conservation 

Officer 

Planning 

Officers 

Developers 

Riverside Park 

Management 

Group 

8. 

 
 

Views Inappropriate 

development 

could harm 

important 

historic views 

Ensure 

identified views 

are preserved 

Planning 

Officers 

Developers 

9. Various The loss or 

poor 

management 

of trees would 

harm views 

and the 

recreational 

amenity of the 

area 

 

Seek to retain 

and maintain 

trees within the 

conservation 

area 

Planning 

Officers 

Owners 

 

 

 

  

Page 165

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwjZnpqrjpTlAhU-AGMBHSjbDvEQjRx6BAgBEAQ&url=https://www.worcesternews.co.uk/news/15799067.tours-and-art-installation-to-revitalise-diglis-island/&psig=AOvVaw1qt_FTdhVHnlOK1kSsqwdk&ust=1570880040247627


110 
 

Character Area 7 Cherry Orchard & The Ketch 

This character area takes in the east bank of the River Severn as it 

continues its path to the southern border of the City and beyond into the 

south Worcestershire countryside. 

 

  

   

   

 

 

Page 166



111 
 

Summary of Significance of Character Area 7 – Cherry Orchard and the 

Ketch 

 Historical and archaeological significance as the site of Cromwell’s boat 

bridges across the Severn and Teme during the Battle of Worcester 

 Historical and archaeological significance as the location of a fuel oil depot 

and petrol storage facility from WWII 

 Recreational value providing panoramic views of the city 

  

Page 167



112 
 

Historical Development and Archaeology 

 

There is archaeological evidence of a possible small rural settlement in this area, 

spanning the Iron Age and into the Roman Period and it is along this part of the 

river bank area that the remains of Civil War crossings could potentially survive. 

The crossing of the Severn beneath Bunns Hill at Timberdine was used by 

travellers back in the long distant past and a bronze spearhead and other 

ancient relics have been found.  

 

This part of the riverside is also the site of Cromwell’s boat bridges across the 

Severn and Teme during the Battle of Worcester. Interpretation regarding this is 

provided on the east bank next to the confluence. At the Ketch viewing point 

descriptive panels show the scene of the Battle of Worcester as it was on the 

afternoon of the 3rd September 1651. 

 

 

St. Peter’s Tithe Map 1843 

 

The Ketch Inn is shown on the tithe map of 1843 although it is thought to date 

to at least the 17th century; rumour has it that Samuel Butler wrote part of his 

17th century satirical poem ’Hudibras’ looking down the river from a window in 

the inn. Although altered and extended over the years the building survives 

Page 168



113 
 

today and is still in use as a public house. The site of the Ketch Ferry is located 

below the Ketch public house. 

 

For some time after the building of the locks and weirs at Diglis the stream 

below Diglis was affected by the tide. When the tide was out, the river at this 

point was often a shallow stream and at the outfall of Duck Brook, the Withybed 

Ford allowed a crossing by way of the gravel shallows, where the water barely 

came up to the knees. The building of the lock and weir downstream near 

Tewkesbury in 1858 raised the river levels so that the tide no longer affected the 

river levels between Diglis and Tewkesbury, and the ancient fords were lost.  

 

 

Confluence of the River Severn and River Teme, print of 1825 

 

A fuel oil depot and petrol storage facility was built during the early years of 

WWII which comprised of six large tanks partially covered with grass to 

camouflage them from potential air attack. The depot was used to fill jerry tanks 

and vehicles. The depot was connected to an existing oil pipeline which runs  

from Liverpool to Avonmouth following the Severn and skirting round the east 

side of Worcester. The area was developed for housing in the early 21st century 

and the historical context of this site subsequently lost, although the depot pipe 

to the river to connect with barges still exists, as does the loading pier or jetty. 

 

 

 

Page 169



114 
 

Landscape & Townscape Character 

 

This character area starts just beyond the Diglis footbridge and north of the 

confluence of the River Teme and the River Severn. The character of the 

landscape becomes agricultural once again with the exception of the golf range 

on the west bank. The golf range is enclosed by a ring of tall cypress trees which 

are quite conspicuous and appear out of character in this semi-rural riverside 

location. Beyond the golf range the riverside footpath becomes much less 

enclosed after a stile and there is open space on either side of the river.    

 

  

Cherry Orchard Nature Reserve 

 

On the east bank is an elevated plateau of rough land. Formerly a municipal tip 

and site for river dredgings, the area is now occupied by the managed rich 

grassland and scrub of Cherry Orchard Nature Reserve. Designated as a local 

nature reserve in 2003, Cherry Orchard forms part of the green corridor which 

extends into the City via the River Severn. This large area of undeveloped land is 

home to a variety of wildlife species and is an important green space for people 

in the Cherry Orchard area offering great potential for recreational and ecological 

uses.  

 

South of Cherry Orchard, Duck Brook joins the Severn from the east.  The 

woodland around Duck Brook is an important area and in notable contrast to the 

west bank which is open pastureland. 

 

 

Page 170



115 
 

Proceeding southwards on the east bank the footpath bank is distinctly wild in 

character. The wooded area of Ketch Coppice wildlife site stands within a bund 

(designed to contain oil in the event of a spillage) at the rear of large houses on 

Wheatfield Avenue. The path in this area is narrow and uneven, and quite 

remote as it passes the former fuel depot, with its concrete jetty and pipe. 

Redevelopment of the depot land in 2007 as a residential area has resulted in a 

compact estate of houses although some valve gear and old concrete bund walls 

have been retained.  

 

Caravan park from the Worcester Link Road 

The bank continues in its wooded character southwards until towards the 

southern end of the character area where the wooded area gives way to the 

Ketch Caravan Park, a static caravan site on two parallel raised stepped plateaus 

situated just above the floodplain. The site has a jetty and moorings. Just 

beyond the caravan park the Worcester link road, Temeside Way, crosses a 

modern road bridge elevated across the river and the meadows.  

Beyond the busy bridge, south of the road and forming the southernmost tip of 

the conservation area and the city boundary, is The Ketch viewpoint. Here a 

Page 171



116 
 

series of descriptive panels show the scene of the Battle of Worcester as it was 

on the afternoon of 3rd September 1651. 

 

Landmarks & Views 

 

Although views of the city are now limited, long distance views of landmark 

buildings can still be gained from some vantage points. Diglis Bridge provides 

panoramic views of Worcester City Skyline with glimpses of key towers and 

spires.  

 

   

Diglis Bridge (Left) and view towards the chimney of Powick Mill 

 

The viewpoint offers further panoramic views across the meadows of the Teme 

and towards Powick Mill chimney which are framed in turn by the Woodbury and 

Abberley Hills, the Clee Hills and the Malvern Hills. From just outside the 

conservation area good views are afforded into this southerly area from 

Temeside Way (A4440) which presents numerous glimpse views across the 

conservation area skyline with clear views of Worcester Cathedral.  

  

With little significant built development this area character is defined mainly 

through views of key landscape features, both within and beyond the scope of 

the conservation area. Of particular note is a view across the river where the 

Severn converges with the Teme.  

 

The densely wooded east bank means that views are restricted beyond the 

scope of trees and vegetation. However, across to the west the riverside 

Page 172



117 
 

footpath affords open views. Occasional glimpse views of the tall chimney of 

Powick Mills, beyond the arable fields, take in the area of battlefield framed by a 

dramatic backdrop of the Malvern Hills to the south west. 

 

The open nature of the Ketch Caravan Site means that it is visible from a great 

distance and is particularly prominent in long views across the floodplain from 

the west and from the elevated southern link road of Temeside Way.  

 

Key Buildings & Structures 

 

Similar to Northwick, this character area has little in the way of significant 

buildings, the built environment being more limited to modern housing situated 

on the east back and turning their backs to the river.  

 

Of note is the Ketch Inn which is situated on Bath Road and is historically 

associated with the River Severn, and the surviving structures of the fuel depot 

which are still visible on the river bank; the jetty being locally listed. 

 

 

The jetty 

 

  

Page 173



118 
 

Boundary Amendments 

There are two proposed boundary amendments in this character area which are: 

 to exclude the industrial units on Weir Lane. The trading estate-style of 

the buildings do nothing to enhance the conservation area and the 

buildings hold no historic association with the riverside. There is a loss of 

cohesion around this area and links towards the riverside are more 

tenuous 

 to exclude the modern housing estate beyond Ketch Coppice. All of these 

buildings have been constructed since the conservation area was originally 

designated and bear no relationship to the character of the Riverside 

Conservation Area.  

 

The Swimming Pool off Heron Close and golf driving range are recommended to 

remain within the conservation area as they have recreational uses compatible 

with the open green space in which they are located.   

Page 174



119 
 

Management Issues and Proposals 

 

The following management issues have been identified in character area 7 – 

Cherry Orchard and the Ketch: 

 Location Issue Action Responsibility 

1. 

 

Various Inappropriate 

development 

could harm 

important 

historic views 

Ensure 

identified views 

are preserved  

Planning 

Officers 

Developers 

 

 

 

 

 

2. 
 

Ketch 

viewpoint 

Road works 

have made the 

Ketch 

viewpoint 

unattractive 

and difficult to 

access 

Recommend 

the location and 

interpretation 

be reviewed as 

part of the 

ongoing 

Southern Link 

Road project 

 

Conservation 

Officer 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.  Various The loss or 

poor 

management 

of trees would 

harm views 

and the 

recreational 

amenity of the 

area 

 

Seek to retain 

and maintain 

trees within the 

conservation 

area 

Planning 

Officers 

Owners 

4. The Jetty and 

potential 

other 

locations 

There is little 

interpretation 

in the area 

which limits 

the areas 

recreational 

value 

 

Seek to add 

interpretation 

to the Jetty and 

other historical 

or wildlife 

attractions 

Conservation 

Officer 

Owners 

 

  

Page 175



120 
 

Character Area 8 Teme Meadows and Powick Mills 

This Character area is largely agricultural land bordering the rivers 

Teme and Severn. The area includes the site of the Registered 

Battlefield and the Teme forms the southern boundary of the 

conservation area.  

 

  

  

        

  

 

Page 176



121 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Summary of Significance Character Area 8 – Teme Meadows and Powick Mills 

 

Page 177



122 
 

Summary of Significance of Character Area 8 – Teme Meadows and 

Powick Mills 

 Powick Old Bridge is significant as a centre of industrial activity for at least 

900 years 

 Powick Mills is significant as the city’s first electricity works and a historic 

hive of industrial activity 

 Historical and archaeological significance as the site of the first and last 

battles of the Civil War 

 The area includes the Registered Battlefield, one of the sites of the Battle 

of Worcester and the route of Charles II’s escape following his defeat 

 Manor Farm has historical and archaeological significance as the site of 

the former hamlet of Lower Wick including St Cuthbert’s Chapel and a 

crescent of medieval fish ponds 

 The area provides several of the panoramic long distance views 

encompassing Worcester Cathedral and Powick Mills 

  

Page 178



123 
 

Historical Development and Archaeology 

 

Powick Old Bridge has been a centre of industrial activity for at least 900 years. 

The Domesday Book records two mills here in 1086. By the late 13th century the 

mills were in the ownership of the Prior of Malvern who is thought to have had 

the Laughern Brook diverted to flow into the River Teme to supply the mill 

stream. From the 16th century water power was harnessed here to operate 

ironworks and by the mid-18th century, nearby Powick Forge was producing bar 

iron for the nail makers of south Worcestershire. As the ironwork industries 

declined in the area following the growth of steam power, the local iron trade 

became centred in the Black Country.  

 

 

English Civil War memorial 

 

The area around Powick Old Bridge was the scene of the first and last battles of 

the English Civil War in 1642 and 1651 respectively, and the site of main cavalry 

action to the south of the city in 1651. The fighting was centred within an area 

roughly bounded in the south by the River Teme between Powick Bridge and the 

confluence of the Teme and Severn.    

 

 

 

Page 179



124 
 

Landscape & Townscape Character 

 

Rural character returns to this most southerly part of the conservation area with 

arable farmland dominating the landscape and forming the setting of both the 

Severn and the Teme. This area contains the largest expanse of open landscape 

but also reintroduces the historic built environment to the conservation area. 

Significant buildings and sites are located in the Powick Mills and Manor Farm 

areas; the openness of the Teme meadows creating a dramatic setting for these 

small settlements.  

 

 

Signage is rural in character 

 

This character area is rich in historic interest and of high historical significance 

on a national level. On the west bank, opposite the outfall of Duck Brook, is one 

of the sites of the Battle of Worcester; here the riverside walk takes in part of 

the 615 mile Monarch’s Way Route which follows the escape of Charles II 

following his defeat at the Battle of Worcester. Today it is a level area of arable 

fields and the site is included on Historic England’s Register of Historic 

Page 180



125 
 

Battlefields whose purpose is to offer protection and to promote a better 

understanding of its significance. 

 

The River Teme joins the River Severn at its west bank. Its winding course can 

be followed upstream, curling through water meadows and marking the 

southerly boundary of the conservation area and of the City. The riverscape of 

the Teme is predominantly rural, agricultural land, mostly associated with Manor 

Farm, and divided into fields by occasional hedges some with trees. This flat, low 

and fertile land is often subject to flooding. 

 

A public footpath follows the northern bank of the Teme and land beside the 

banks is generally enclosed by trees and scrub. The whole of the River Teme is 

designated as a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), the notified channel is 

of special interest as a representative, near-natural and biologically-rich river 

type associated with sandstones and mudstones.  

 

 

Powick ‘New’ Bridge from Powick Old Bridge 

 

Page 181



126 
 

Two bridges provide crossings of the River Teme, one medieval and the other 

19th century. The 16th century Powick Old Bridge is no longer used for traffic but 

it was once part of the main route connecting Worcester with Malvern. Today the 

principal route into the city of Worcester is by the 19th century, Powick ‘New’ 

Bridge which connects the outer city ring road (A4440) to Malvern Road (A449). 

As it crosses the Teme the road is initially bordered by flat open fields to either 

side, but it is soon enclosed by residential development. Both bridges make a 

significant contribution to the character of Riverside Conservation Area. 

 

To the west of the new bridge is the site of Powick Mills, formerly the City's 

Electricity Works. Powick Mills are accessed from the north along Old Road, a 

narrow lane bordered by rural hedges, verges and fencing on the east and by 

the boundary walls and high clipped hedges of the adjacent domestic buildings 

on the west. Today this area has the feel of a small rural hamlet although 

historically it was a hive of industrial activity. It is secluded and quiet, though 

the distant noise of traffic is ever present. 

 

At the north of the Old Bridge, the Laughern Brook tributary joins the Teme, the 

mill building sits on the north-eastern side of the Brook but straddles the water 

in part; at this point the water widens into a wide shallow pool. Beyond the Mills 

is a secluded area bordered all around by rivers.  

 

In contrast to the seclusion of Powick Mills, Malvern Road is dominated by the 

dense traffic flow entering the city of Worcester from the west. Dense tree 

planting on the southern side of the road prohibits clear views through to 

Orchard House and Manor House. This tree cover breaks down and is replaced 

by a large roadside car park on the forecourt of the 20th century public house at 

Manor Farm.  

 

The Manor Farm area is highly significant with remnants of the former hamlet of 

Lower Wick. Bennett’s Farm, which was the original manor house survives and to 

the rear of the Manor Farm pub a barn incorporates the remains of the mid-12th 

century St. Cuthbert’s Chapel; the pub itself also incorporates part of an historic 

barn. Beyond the farm buildings a crescent of medieval fish ponds indicate a 

former loop in the River Teme. 

Page 182



127 
 

Landmarks & Views 

 

The tall chimney of Powick Mills is a landmark structure which can be viewed 

from the riverside walks and from the most southerly part of the conservation 

area. The scale of the Powick Mills complex makes it a distinctive landmark in 

the conservation area and in wider views, signalling the start of Worcester to 

those approaching from the south-west. 

 

Powick New Bridge is a prominent feature in views across the flat fields whilst 

the 16th century stone bridge is a distinctive feature when viewed from the main 

road and from the river bank.  

 

 Powick Mills and Powick Old Bridge 

 

The wide open spaces which are characteristic of this area mean that views are 

far reaching and predominantly rural in character. Views in this area are 

enhanced by the open countryside which stretches west from the River Severn 

and forms the north bank of the Teme. Of particular note is the view across the 

river where the Severn converges with the Teme.   

 

 The cathedral is dominant in views to the city 

Page 183



128 
 

Key Buildings & Structures 

 

The buildings in this character area are mostly located in two groups, Powick 

Mills and Manor Farm. Powick Mills is a grade ll* listed building, particularly 

decorative in red and yellow polychrome brickwork with round-arched windows 

and elaborate mouldings. The tapering red brick chimney towers above the mill 

building which was converted to residential dwellings in 1999.  

 

 

Powick Mill and chimney 

 

Powick Old Bridge is a medieval bridge, grade I listed and a Scheduled 

Monument. The bridge is built of sandstone with later brick repairs and has three 

segmental skewed arches across the River Teme and a further two across the 

mill stream. The bridge is thought to have been rebuilt in the 17th century 

following Civil War damage. The current Powick Bridge is a grade II listed road 

bridge built in 1836-7 of Arley sandstone with a cast iron arch.  

 

Page 184



129 
 

Bennett’s Farm is the former manor house and is grade II listed. It has 16th and 

17th century origins but is mostly c.1800. The notable St. Cuthbert’s Chapel, also 

grade II listed, is a medieval chapel with origins dating to c.1195. Built mostly of 

red sandstone it has a timber-framed upper storey with brick infills and late 19th 

century brick additions, including an 1860-80 grain store. 

 

 

St Cuthbert’s Chapel 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 185



130 
 

Management Issues and Proposals 

 

The following management issues have been identified in Riverside character 

area 8 – Teme Meadows and Powick Mills: 

 Location Issue Action Responsibility 

1. 

 

River Teme Road noise 

intrudes upon 

riverside walks 

Difficult to 

manage but 

road surfacing 

should be 

designed to 

reduce noise 

levels on busy 

roads 

 

Highways 

Authority 

2. 

 
 

Battlefield The Registered 

Battlefield is a 

significant 

feature in the 

area with little 

interpretation  

This highly 

significant 

historic site 

must be 

preserved and 

opportunities 

should be 

sought to 

provide further 

interpretation 

 

Conservation 

Officer 

Planning 

Officers 

Owners 

 

3. 

 
 

Various The character 

of this area is 

largely defined 

by important 

historic views 

Identified views 

must be 

protected 

Planning 

Officers 

Developers 

4. 

 
 

Mill walls and 

machinery 

Currently 

suffering from 

lack of 

maintenance 

Identify 

responsibility 

 For 

maintenance 

and agree a 

maintenance 

plan  

Conservation 

Officer 

Owners 

 

 

 

 

5. 

 
 

St Cuthbert’s 

Chapel and 

barn 

Linking barn of 

St Cuthbert’s 

chapel is in 

poor condition. 

The barn and 

chapel would 

also benefit 

from a wider 

use 

 

Undertake 

repairs and 

identify a use 

for the barn 

and St 

Cuthbert’s 

Chapel 

Conservation 

Officer 

Owner 

7. Various The loss or 

poor 

management 

Seek to retain 

and maintain 

trees within the 

Planning 

Officers 

Owners 

Page 186



131 
 

of trees would 

harm views 

and the 

recreational 

amenity of the 

area 

 

conservation 

area 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 187



132 
 

Appendix 1 - Links to Further Information   
  
Council Guidance  

For Supplementary Planning Guidance, maps and policy including: 

- Design Guidance 

- Conservation Area Maps and Appraisals 

- Historic Environment Record, and 

- Information on preparing Listed Building Consent and Planning 

Applications in Conservation Areas 

 

Historic England Guidance 

Providing advice for maintaining historic buildings and improving energy 

efficiency 

 

Historic Information Sources 

Worcester - A Pictorial History, T. Bridges & C.Mundy, Philimore, 1996 

Tracing the History of Houses, Trevor Yorke, Countryside Books, 2011 

The Buildings of England: Worcestershire, Brooks and Pevsner, Yale UP, 2007 

Urban Renewal and Suburban Growth: The Shaping of Georgian Worcester, 

David Whitehead, Worcestershire Historical Society, 

Ancestry 

Worcestershire Historic Environment Record 

 

You can also contact the Council at: 

Tel: 01905 722549 

Email address: planning@worcester.gov.uk 

Address: 

Heritage and Conservation 

Worcester City Council 

The Guildhall 

High Street 

Worcester 

WR1 2EY 

 

 

Page 188

https://www.worcester.gov.uk/heritage-design
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/your-home/saving-energy/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/your-home/saving-energy/


Report to:  Planning Committee – 19th March 2020

Report of:  Deputy Director - Economic Development and Planning

Subject:    PARK AVENUE CONSERVATION AREA DESIGNATION AND ARTICLE 4
DIRECTION

1.      Recommendation

1.1 To designate the Park Avenue Conservation Area and to adopt the Park 
Avenue Conservation Area Appraisal as a material consideration in 
development management decisions.

1.2     To make and serve notice of an Article 4 (1) Direction for the Park Avenue
Conservation Area.

2.      Background

2.1 Conservation areas are designated under the provisions of Section 69 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  A conservation area is defined 
as “an area of special architectural or historic interest the character or appearance of 
which it is desirable to preserve or enhance”.

2.2 All the appraisals are written in conjunction with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). There is a presumption in favour of sustainable development 
and the protection and enhancement of heritage assets, such as conservation areas,
is an environmental objective. The NPPF expects local authorities to have evidence to 
demonstrate the special character of the area for use as part of considering the 
merits of applications. The appraisals provide the sort of evidence expected by the 
NPPF.

2.3 The Conservation Area appraisal has been produced in accordance with Conservation 
Area Designation, Appraisal and Management (Historic England, 2019). This sets out 
the importance of defining and assessing an area’s character and the need to record 
it in some detail. The objectives are: to provide a sound basis for rational and 
consistent   judgements   when   considering   planning  applications   within  the 
conservation area, and to inform management proposals for the area.

2.4 The South Worcestershire Development Plan, 2006-2030, includes policies which are 
intended to ensure that the character of a conservation area is preserved or 
enhanced by any development actions. Conservation area character appraisals are 
considered to be integral with the spatial planning approach of the council.

Page 189 Agenda Item 9



2.5 It is the statutory duty of the Council to review its existing conservation areas from 
time to time and designate further areas as necessary.

2.6 Conservation Area Appraisals record and analyse the various features which give the 
conservation areas their special architectural and historic significance. Significant 
buildings and spaces are examined along with listed buildings, key unlisted buildings, 
significant trees and important views.

2.7 There is a presumption that all of these features, as well as other elements of 
character, should be preserved or enhanced as required by legislation when 
development is proposed.

2.8 The appraisals build upon local and national policy and provide a firm basis on which 
applications for development within the areas can be assessed.

2.9 The documents are intended to be used by the local authority planning team, 
architects, developers and landowners to ensure the special character of the 
conservation areas are preserved and enhanced through development activity.

2.10 Article 4 Directions allow local authorities to restrict the ‘permitted development’ 
rights in certain areas that would otherwise apply by virtue of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 as amended (the ‘GPDO’). An 
Article 4 Direction does not prevent the development to which it applies, but instead 
requires that planning permission is first obtained from the local planning authority 
for that development.

2.11 It is recommended that notice of the making of an Article 4 (1) Direction is served 
for the Park Avenue area following the designation of the Park Avenue Conservation 
Area, in order to remove specific classes of permitted development for development 
that has the potential to erode certain details or characteristics that are important to 
the special interest of the area.

2.12 In procedural terms the recommendation is for a non-immediate direction whereby 
the permitted development rights as specified in the First Schedule of the Direction 
(Appendix 1) are withdrawn upon confirmation of the Direction by the local 
planning authority following local consultation.

2.13 The Committee are therefore asked to consider that the Park Avenue Conservation 
Area be designated and that the Park Avenue Conservation Area Appraisal 
(Appendix 2) is adopted as a formal Council document to be used as a material 
consideration in the planning process.

2.14 The Committee are asked to consider that an Article 4 Direction is made for the Park 
Avenue Conservation Area to remove those classes of development as stated in the 
Schedule and notice of the Direction is served.

3.      Preferred Option

3.1 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 places a duty upon 
every local planning authority, from time to time, to review and to determine 
whether any parts, or further parts, of their area are of special architectural and/or 
historic interest, the character of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance, and to 
designate them as conservation areas.

Page 190



3.2 The designation of conservation areas imposes certain duties on authorities. These 
duties are two-fold. Firstly to formulate and publish, from time to time, proposals for 
the preservation and enhancement of conservation areas in their district and submit 
them for public consultation. Secondly, in exercising their planning powers, to pay 
special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of the conservation area.

3.3 Following  the  proposed  designation  of  the  Park  Avenue  Conservation  Area,  a 
character appraisal was produced and a proposed boundary drawn. An Article 4
Direction was also drafted and all proposals and relevant documents documents 
were  subject  to  a  six  week  public  consultation  from  1st   November  until  14th 

December 2018.

3.4 The owners or occupiers of all properties within the proposed conservation area and 
those just outside the proposed boundary, along with other key stakeholders, were 
consulted by letter and invited to respond on the proposed designation, the draft 
appraisal  and  proposed  Article  4  Direction.  The  consultation  details,  full  draft 
appraisal document and survey form were made available on the Council’s website 
and the consultation was advertised in the press.

3.5 A manned public exhibition was held at the Son’s of Rest building in Gheluvelt Park 
on Tuesday 13th November 2018. The exhibition was also on display at the Guildhall 
from Thursday 15th   November until Thursday 22nd   November. Forty five people 
attended the manned public exhibition in total including two Ward Members. The 
majority  of  the  attendees  of  the  public  exhibition  supported  the  proposed 
designation and the proposed Article 4 Directions, with some exceptions.

3.6 11 written responses were received in total including 10 surveys completed online. 4 
thought that the area as proposed was suitable for designation as a conservation 
area. Natural England responded by letter and had no comment to make on the 
appraisal. All issues raised during the public consultation were considered and all 
comments are responded to (Appendix 3). Respondents raised the concern that 
character  area  2  was  not  of  sufficient  heritage  value  for  conservation  area 
designation and therefore the boundary now proposed removes this area. As a result 
of this Park View Terrace is proposed as an addition to Riverside Conservation Area 
and the extent of Park Avenue Conservation Area is proposed to be reduced to the 
east end of Park Avenue.

3.7 A letter was sent to all residents within the original boundary informing them of the 
changes to the proposals. They and other key stakeholders were invited to respond 
on the proposed designation, the draft appraisal as amended and the proposed 
Article 4 Direction. The consultation details, full draft appraisal document and survey 
form were made available on the Council’s website and the consultation was 
advertised in the press. Manned public exhibitions were held at the Son’s of Rest 
building in Gheluvelt Park on Monday 6th January 2020 and the Guildhall on Tuesday
7th   January  2020.  The  exhibition  was  also  on  display  at  the  Guildhall  from
Wednesday 8th January until Wednesday 15th January. The exhibition included 
information on Park Avenue Conservation Area Appraisal, the Article 4 Direction and
the proposed amendments to Riverside Conservation Area Appraisal. 20 attended
the public consultation the majority of which supported the proposed designation 
and  the  proposed  Article  4  Direction, with  some  though  a  reduced  number  of

Page 191



exceptions.

3.8 23 written responses were received on the second consultation including 22 surveys 
completed online. 16 were in favour of designating the area as a conservation area 
with the proposed Article 4 Direction. Similarly all issues raised during the second 
consultation were considered and all comments are responded to (Appendix 4).

3.9 The  designation  of  the  Park  Avenue  Conservation  Area,  the  adoption  of  the 
conservation area appraisal and the making and serving of notice of the Article 4
Direction are considered to be positive moves towards the management of the Park
Avenue Conservation Area. To support the introduction of the Article 4 Direction a 
Design  Guide  has  been  produced  (Appendix  5)  for  owners,  residents  and 
applicants.

3.10 Following the making of the Article 4 Direction a “notice” of the order will be 
published and served on all residents of the Park Avenue Conservation Area and a 
site notice displayed in at least two places in the conservation area. On the date the 
notice is first published or displayed, the Local Planning Authority will send a copy of 
the Article 4 Direction and the notice of the direction to the Secretary of State.

3.11 From  the  serving  of  the  notice  there  is  a  minimum  period  of  21  days  for 
representations to be made to the Local Planning Authority. The Local Planning 
Authority must take into account any representations it receives during the 
representation  period  when  deciding  whether  or  not  to  confirm  the  Article  4
Direction. The Article 4 direction cannot be confirmed until 28 days following the 
latest date the notice was served or published.

4.      Alternative Options Considered

4.1 Doing nothing is not a serious option as it would mean Worcester City Council failing 
to meet its statutory duties.

5.      Implications

5.1    Financial and Budgetary Implications
The costs of producing appraisals are included within Development Management 
budgets. Improving the clarity of documents and producing them on a regular cycle
will assist development management officers in processing applications.

5.2 Legal and Governance Implications Up-to-date appraisals are necessary to ensure 
that Worcester City Council meets its statutory duties under Section 71(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

5.3 Risk Implications Up-to-date appraisals will clarify policy and other requirements, 
reducing risk both to owners and applicants and to the heritage.

5.4 The decision of the Local Planning Authority to make an Article 4 Direction can be 
subject to judicial review proceedings. If the proceedings are successful the Article 4
Direction could be quashed.

Page 192



5.5 A claim for compensation can be made to the Local Planning Authority if planning 
permission is refused or granted subject to conditions other than those conditions 
imposed by the GPDO.

5.6 Any unauthorised development following the making of the Article 4 Direction will 
need to be enforced to reduce the risk to owners, applicants and to the heritage.

5.7 Corporate/Policy Implications Appraisals will support the implementation of the 
historic environment policies in the South Worcestershire Development Plan (SWDP6 
and SWDP24).

5.8 Equality Implications The revised format and streamlined content should have 
positive implications for equality.

5.9    Human Resources Implications
None are identified

5.10  Health and Safety Implications 
None are identified

5.11 Social, Environmental and Economic Implications Appraisals ensure that the 
character and appearance of conservation areas is conserved and enhanced. This 
maintains and improves their amenity value, biodiversity, and contributes to the 
wellbeing of residents.

Ward(s):                       Claines
Contact Officer:            Rebecca Barnett Tel: 01905 722529

Email: rebecca.barnett@worcester.gov.uk

Background Papers:      1 – the article 4 direction

2 - the park avenue conservation area 
appraisal

3 – responses to consultation comments and results 
of online survey 2018

4 – responses to consultation comments and results 
of online survey 2019

5 - the park avenue conservation area design guide

Page 193

mailto:barnett@worcester.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION 

WORCESTER CITY COUNCIL 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING 
(GENERAL PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT) ORDER 2015 (AS AMENDED) 

 
PARK AVENUE CONSERVATION AREA 

 
Direction Under Article 4 (1) of the General Permitted Development Order 2015 

(as amended) Restricting Permitted Development 

WHEREAS Worcester City Council (“the council”) being the appropriate Local 

Planning Authority in respect of the area of land specified in the Direction. The 

Council is satisfied that it is expedient that the development in the Schedule 2 to the 

Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as 

amended) (“ The Order”), should not be carried out unless permission is granted on 

an application to the Council. 

NOW THEREFORE the Council in pursuance of the power conferred on them by 

Article 4 (1) of the Order hereby direct that the permission granted by Article 3 of the 

said Order shall not apply to development on the land of the description set out in the 

Second Schedule.   

 

*Public highways, private streets or other publically accessible spaces referred to in 

the order are Park Avenue, Bourne Street, Ivy Street and Sabrina Avenue only. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 195 Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



FIRST SCHEDULE 

The following development comprised within Class A of Part 1 of Schedule 2 to the 

said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(a) The enlargement, improvement or other alteration to the principal elevation of 

a dwelling house or a side elevation of a dwelling house which fronts a public 

highway or private street or other publically accessible space. 

The following development comprised within Class C of Part 1 of Schedule 2 to the 

said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(b) Any other alteration to the roof on the principal elevation of a dwelling house 

or side elevation of a dwelling house which fronts a public highway or private 

street or other publically accessible space 

The following development comprised within Class D of Part 1 of Schedule 2 to the 

said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(c) The erection or construction of a porch outside any external door on the 

principal elevation of a dwelling house or side elevation of a dwelling house 

which fronts a public highway or private street or other publically accessible 

space 

The following development comprised within Class F of Part 1 of Schedule 2 to the 

said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(d) The provision in the curtilage at the front or side of a dwelling house of a hard 

surface for any purpose incidental to the enjoyment of the dwelling house as 

such, or the replacement in whole or part of such a surface, where any part of 

the hard surface would front a public highway or private street or other 

publically accessible space 

The following development comprised within Class G of Part 1 of Schedule 2 to the 

said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(e) The installation, alteration, replacement or demolition of a chimney, flue or soil 

and vent pipe on a dwelling house which would be visible from a public 

highway or private street or other accessible space 

The following development comprised within Class A of Part 2 of Schedule 2 to the 

said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(f) The erection, construction, maintenance, improvement or alteration of a gate, 

fence, wall or other means of enclosure at the front or side of a dwelling 

house or flat where any part of the means of enclosure would front a public 

highway or private street or other accessible space 

Page 196



The following development comprised within Class B of Part 2 of Schedule 2 to the 

said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(g) The formation, laying out and construction of a means of access to a highway 

which is not a trunk road or a classified road, where that access is required in 

connection with development permitted by any class in this Schedule (other 

than by Class A of this Part). 

The following development comprised within Class C of Part 2 of Schedule 2 to the 

said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(h) The painting of the exterior of the principal elevation of a dwelling house or flat 

or a side elevation of a dwelling house or flat which fronts a public high 

highway or private street or other publically accessible space, except where a 

dwelling or flat was painted as at the date of this Order. 

The following development comprised within Class B of Part 31 of Schedule 2 to the 

said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(i) Any building operation consisting of the demolition of a gate, fence, wall or 

other means of enclosure at the front or side of a dwelling house or flat where 

any part of the means of enclosure would front a public high highway or 

private street or other publically accessible space 

The following development comprised within Class A of Part 40 of Schedule 2 to the 

said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(j) The installation, alteration, replacement of solar photovoltaics or solar thermal 

equipment on the roof of the principal elevation of a dwelling house or flat 

which fronts a public high highway or private street or other publically 

accessible space 

The following development comprised within Class B of Part 40 of Schedule 2 to the 

said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(k) The installation, alteration, replacement of stand alone solar at the front or 

side of a dwelling house or flat where any part of the stand alone solar would 

be visible from a public high highway or private street or other publically 

accessible space 

The following development comprised within Class F of Part 40 of Schedule 2 to the 

said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(l) The installation, alteration, replacement of a flue forming part of a combined 

heat and power system, on the principal elevation of a dwelling house or flat 

or a side elevation of a dwelling house or flat which fronts a public highway or 

private street or other publically accessible space 

 

Page 197



SECOND SCHEDULE 

 

 

 

Page 198



Park Avenue Conservation Area 
 
  

 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 199 Agenda Item 9
Appendix 2



 

  2   

 

Contents 

 
Introduction                                                               3 
 
Summary of Special Historic Interest 
 
Proposed Article 4 Direction 
 
Historic Development                                                  9 
 
Townscape Plan                                                         14 
 
Streetscape Character                                                15 
 
Topography and Key Views                                         23 
 
Built Environment and Architecture                              25 
 
Management Proposals                                               33 
 
Appendix 1 – Historic Mapping  
 
Appendix 2 - Proposed Article 4 Direction                     32 

 
Appendix 3 – Links to Further Information                    36 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 
 
9 
 
10 
 
11 
 
16 
 

17 
 
20 
 
21 
 
25 
 

30 

Page 200



 

  3   

 

Introduction 
 
Park Avenue Conservation Area includes properties 3-67 (north 

side), 4-54 (south side), adjacent parts of streets (Park Avenue, 

Bourne Street and Ivy Street), and the rear access lanes (Park 

Lane and Victoria Lane). The designation recognises the high 

quality late 19th and early 20th century architecture and the 

surviving historic development form.   

 

 
Park Avenue Street View 

 

A conservation area is defined in the Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as an area of special architectural or 

historic interest, the character or appearance of which it is desirable to 

preserve or enhance. This appraisal is in line with sections 69 and 71 of 

the 1990 Act, which places a duty on the local authority to designate and 

manage their conservation areas. Designation helps to ensure that an 

area identified for its special interest and significance is protected and 

managed appropriately. 

 

Page 201



 

  4   

 

Conservation is the management of change to a significant place or asset, 

in a way that will best sustain its heritage values, while recognising 

opportunities to reveal or reinforce those values for present and future 

generations. The conservation area appraisal is a means of identifying and 

assessing what the special architectural or historic interest of an area is, 

how this contributes to the areas character and appearance, and is an 

opportunity to identify where this can be enhanced. 

 

The appraisal is prepared in line with Historic England Advice Note 1: 

Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and Management (Second 

Edition) and Historic England Advice Note 3: The Setting of Heritage 

Assets, to provide a firm basis on which applications within Field Terrace 

Conservation Area and its setting can be assessed. 

 

This appraisal records and analyses the various features which create Park 

Avenue Conservation Area’s special character, and contribute to its 

architectural and historic interest.  The Townscape Plan indicates the 

location of listed buildings, locally listed buildings and key unlisted 

buildings which are significant to the history and/or character of the 

conservation area (see criteria in Conservation Area Appraisal, 

Designation and Management, Historic England Advice Note 1 (Second 

Edition) table 1). The map also shows significant trees, spaces, boundary 

treatments and objects, and important views both into and out of the 

conservation area.  There is a presumption that all of these features 

should be “preserved or enhanced”, as required by the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  

 

The document is a material consideration for planning applications within 

and in the setting of the conservation area, and should be read in 

conjunction with the management proposals for the conservation and 

enhancement of the area. The appraisal is intended to be used by 

planning officers, developers and landowners to ensure that the special 

character is not eroded, but preserved or enhanced through development 

activity. While the descriptions go into some detail, a reader should not 

Page 202



 

  5   

 

assume that the omission of any building, feature or space from this 

appraisal means that it is not of interest. 

 

The Planning Policy Context 

 

National planning policy, as set out in the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF), draws attention to the desirability of preserving and 

enhancing heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance, 

which, subject to appropriate assessment and justification, can also 

include adaptation and change. In line with paragraphs 185 and 200 of 

the NPPF, the Appraisal provides a positive strategy for the conservation 

and enjoyment of the conservation area.  

 

In accordance with NPPF paragraph 186, Worcester City Council 

designated Field Terrace Conservation Area for its special architectural 

and historic interest, the significance of which is described within this 

document. In line with paragraph 200 of the NPPF, new development 

within the conservation area which enhances or better reveals this 

significance, and proposals that preserve those elements which make a 

positive contribution to, or better reveal the significance of, the 

conservation area will be treated favourably. 

 

Applications within the conservation area will be considered against 

Policies SWDP 6: Historic Environment, SWDP 24: Management of the 

Historic Environment and SWDP 21: Design, of the South Worcestershire 

Development Plan (or future replacement policies) with regard to this 

appraisal.  

 

Further guidance on the design and protection of historic buildings and 

places can be found in the Council’s Supplementary Planning Documents, 

and in national guidance from Historic England and other conservation 

bodies. These provide useful information on appropriate ways to develop 

within conservation areas, maintain historic buildings, and make 

environmental and sustainability enhancements. Links to these are 

provided at the end of this document. 

Page 203



 

  6   

 

Location and Setting 

 
Located in Barbourne to the north of the historic city centre of Worcester, 

the eastern end of Park Avenue is a speculative late 19th/early 20th 

century suburb.  

 

The conservation area is centred on the tree-lined avenue of Park Avenue 

but extends to the rear of the properties to include Park Lane, Victoria 

Lane, Bourne Street and Ivy Street. The area is bound by residential 

streets of a similar character, between properties on Ombersley Road, 

Victoria Street and Lavender Road. 

 

The area is entirely urban but mature street trees and front gardens 

somewhat deurbanise the area. Combined, these features, the planned 

urban grain and built elements create its memorable character. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Location plan 

Page 204



 

  7   

 

Boundary 

The conservation area boundary includes properties 3-67 (north side), 4-

54 (south side), adjacent parts of streets (Park Avenue, Bourne Street 

and Ivy Street), and the rear access lanes (Park Lane and Victoria Lane).  

This area is a particularly complete and well executed example of late 

19th/early 20th century planned developments, which make the area of 

special historic value. 

 

The character and appearance of the conservation area is very much 

dependent upon its planned road layout, street trees and the high quality 

of built detail. The conservation area is unusual in that it has no listed 

buildings, however many of the buildings are significant either individually 

or more obviously as groups of buildings which hold a high townscape 

value based on historical plan form and architectural design and features. 

 

The designation of this area is consistent with the designation of areas of 

earlier town houses and villas in the city, most notably the former 

Georgian expansion areas, such as Britannia Square and St Georges 

Square, to those developed in the Victorian and Edwardian Period such as 

Shrubbery Avenue. The growth of development was due to the 

introduction of railways which put Worcester on the national map, and the 

coming of trams and cars which for the first time made travel from 

Barbourne into the city quick, simple and cheap. 

 

The proposal to designate Park Avenue as a conservation area was the 

subject of public consultation, during which all residents and other 

stakeholders were given the opportunity to consider the proposed 

designation and boundary and to provide comment. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 205



 

  8   

 

 

Conservation Area Boundary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 206



 

  9   

 

Summary of Significance 

 

 Part of the northern suburban extension of Worcester in the late 

19th and early 20th centuries 

 

 Good examples of Victorian and Edwardian architectural styles and 

detailing including surviving historic windows and doors, decorative 

door and window surrounds 

 

 Street pattern reflects former agricultural land use and field 

boundaries 

 

 Distinctive building line set back from pavement with good size 

front gardens 

 
 Coherent groups of terraces of similar architectural design 

 
 Consistent scale, width, height and massing of dwellings  

 

 Traditional back lanes on each side of Park Avenue 

 

 Surviving boundary treatments to street frontages 

 

 Large number of mature trees which extend along Park Avenue 

making the road distinctive as an avenue (trees were there before 

the buildings so always intended to be an avenue) 

 

 

 

 

Page 207



 

  10   

 

Article 4 Direction 

 

Park Avenue Conservation Area is the subject of an Article 4(1) Direction 

(Appendix 2) which removes some permitted development rights. Certain 

works, such as domestic alterations and extensions, can normally be 

carried out without planning permission under the provisions of the Town 

and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 

2015; such works are classed as ‘permitted development’. Whilst 

permitted development rights in conservation areas are slightly different, 

designation as a conservation area does not, by itself, protect the special 

interest of the area from the impact of certain minor changes and 

alterations. Individually these changes may be small but cumulatively and 

over time they could harm the special architectural and historic interest of 

an area, including its local character and distinctiveness.  

 

Where the special interest could be harmed or lost as a result of such 

small scale alterations which do not normally require planning permission, 

the Council can serve an Article 4 Direction. An Article 4 Direction 

removes specific classes of permitted development for works that have 

the potential to erode certain details or characteristics that are important 

to the special interest of an area of acknowledged importance, such as a 

conservation area. The making of the Article 4 (1) Direction would provide 

additional protection by ensuring that certain specified proposals for minor 

change are assessed under the planning process, in order to protect the 

special character of the area. 

 

Whilst examples of unsympathetic works in the Park Avenue area are 

comparatively rare, where they do occur they can be considered 

detrimental to the overall quality of the street scene and collectively could 

harm the special character of the area.  

 

The Article 4 (1) Direction brings in additional planning controls to 

manage the design and preservation of property frontages in the 

conservation area; including porches, window and door alterations or 

Page 208



 

  11   

 

replacement, flues, roof alterations, and the demolition, alteration or 

erection of boundary treatments or hard surfacing to the front of 

properties. A design guide has been produced alongside this appraisal in 

order to advise owners on acceptable change and alteration. The aim of 

the Article 4 Direction is not to prevent change but to manage change in 

order to protect the identified special character. 

 

 

Page 209



 

  12   

 

Historic Development 

 

Park Avenue is an area formed out of Worcester’s northern 

suburban expansion of the late 19th and early 20th century. Part of 

a large area of arable land, this part of Barbourne was farmed 

until the mid-19th century. The layout of Park Avenue and adjacent 

roads was shaped by the fields and field boundaries at the time; 

the plan form and nature of the spaces reflecting the speculative 

historic development of the area over a period of some 50 years. 

 

The area of Barbourne, situated on the gravel terraces of the east bank of 

the River Severn, would have been an attractive site for the settlement of 

early farmers and up until the late 19th century the northern part of the 

Barbourne area remained predominantly rural with a large number of 

arable fields.  

 

In the 17th and 18th centuries the wealthy and fashionable society of 

Worcester began to move northwards out of the city building large houses 

along Barbourne Road. As more businesses developed with the 

northwards expansion, the middle classes, shop keepers and merchants 

could now begin to afford the benefits of this rural location close to the 

city; this extended development further northwards which had previously 

been the preserve of the professional and wealthy classes.  

 

The Barbourne area remained fashionable into the 19th century and was to 

prove increasingly attractive to developers in the last quarter of the 

century. The vicinity suited those who chose to live conveniently close to 

the city whilst enjoying the open space and healthier air of the country. 

The popularity of the area was helped by the linking of a tramway from 

Barbourne to The Cross in the city centre from the late 19th century. 

 

The Claines Tithe map of 1843 shows the area of Park Avenue as open 

fields bordered to the east by the Ombersley Road and the River Severn 

to the west. Buildings were sparse although small pockets of development 

Page 210



 

  13   

 

were beginning to appear to the north and south of Barbourne Brook and 

to the east of Droitwich Road. A watercourse was created in 1770 to take 

water from the River Severn to feed the city waterworks. This has 

disappeared by the 1886 map and the waterworks have been rebuilt 

(1856). 

 

 

Claines Tithe Map 1843 

 

By the 1st edition OS Map of 1886 Park Avenue is shown laid out as a tree-

lined street linking the Ombersley Road in the east to Park View Terrace in 

the west. At this time the early road layout of Park Avenue, Park View 

Terrace and Redcliffe Street, along with Victoria Street to the north and 

the back lanes, can be seen. The ‘avenue’ cut through the fields and 

smaller fields of more regular, planned enclosure were created to 

accommodate the road layout.  

 

Page 211



 

  14   

 

 

1st Edition OS Map 1886 

 

 

Engineers Plans for Barbourne Park 1881 

 

Building on Park Avenue itself began from the eastern end with the 

earliest houses built c.1883 by Henry Rowe and Son. Early building plans 

from 1885 show a pair of semi-detached houses planned to the east of Ivy 

Street for a Mr. Jevons and a further row of terraces, also for Mr. Jevons 

to the west of Ivy Street by 1889. Many of the earlier building plans 

identify Park Avenue as New Road, Avenue Park Road and Park Avenue 

Page 212



 

  15   

 

Road although by the late 1880s the name Park Avenue was firmly 

established. 

 

 

Drawings of 14-16 Park Avenue 

 

By 1901 the majority of the buildings within the conservation area had 

been built. Plots were similar in size and the basic plan form and layout 

established. Distinctions came from architectural features and detailing 

which would have been down to a number of differing architects and 

developers.  

 

Although the building was speculative all the building plans show an 

established building line set back from the pavement line and service 

lanes to the rear of the properties, characteristic of planned urban 

development. Well-known local architects of the time contributed to the 

development of Park Avenue including Frederick Hughes, Henry Rowe and 

Son and J. H. Williams and H. Percy Smith later in the 1920s. 

Page 213



 

  16   

 

 

Plans for 65-67 Park Avenue 

Building continued into the 20th century with development moving west. 

Plans for the houses built on the corner of Park Avenue and Sabrina 

Avenue date to 1923. Still displaying some Edwardian Period architectural 

styles and features these houses completed the development of the 

eastern end of Park Avenue.  

 

 

Map of Park Avenue 1901 

Page 214



 

  17   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 215



 

  18   

 

Streetscape Character 
 
Park Avenue links the Ombersley Road in the east with Park View 

Terrace and the River Severn in the west. Park Avenue itself is a 

quiet residential street comprising of a variety of dwellings, in a 

principally terraced arrangement, set in a linear fashion along 

both sides of a tree-lined Avenue.  

 

The historic development of the area has determined the layout of the 

buildings, roads and inter-related spaces; the road layouts were clearly 

planned although subsequent building was more speculative.  

 

The linear plots established during the early phase of development of Park 

Avenue are much today as when they were built, with back roads a key 

characteristic of this area. This layout is characteristic of planned 

developments of this era in Worcester, designed to provide service access 

away from the public facing and status defining frontage of the main 

dwelling. 

 

    

Terraced Housing, Front Gardens and a Tree-Lined Avenue 

Page 216



 

  19   

 

Several of the properties have developed parking and garages off the back 

lanes Park Lane and Victoria Lane which has preserved many of the front 

gardens, a feature lost from several other residential areas across 

Worcester.  

 

The area is characterised by late 19th and very early 20th century semi-

detached and terraced housing. The buildings are set back from the 

pavement and follow an established building line with only very marginal 

divergences indicating the groups in which the terraces were built. The 

terraces tend to be of four to six houses identified through similar 

architectural features and detailing which gives them a unity and 

coherence; with subtle changes in detail allowing for each terrace to be 

distinguished. These details within a common palette of materials, scale 

and massing give the area a harmonious but varied character.  

  

 

 

Similar Styles with Individual Detailing Create Coherence and Interest 

 

Page 217



 

  20   

 

Brick boundary walls and hedges are distinctive characteristics in Park 

Avenue and add a sense of enclosure and a softened foreground to the 

buildings. Gate posts of brick with stone or terracotta copings and metal 

gates also feature. Most of the gardens have traditional pathways leading 

to houses, where these are paved with blue bricks or tiled this is an 

important survival. Many of the gardens are also well landscaped which 

adds to the lush green character of the avenue and provides an important 

ecological environment in close proximity to Riverside Park. Some front 

boundary walls have been demolished to allow access for parked cars 

which has reduced the sense of enclosure in these areas.  

 

 

One of a Variety of Historic Garden Walls and Boundary Treatments 

 

Park Avenue is paved in tarmac with standard concrete kerbs and street 

lighting and street furniture is modern but sensitive to the character of the 

street. 

 

  

 
 
 

Page 218



 

  21   

 

Topography and Key Views  
 
The topography of the Park Avenue area is virtually flat. Although 

suburban in character a ‘leafy’ feel is created through the avenue 

of trees. 

 
Park Avenue is a tree-lined street which has a positive effect on the public 

realm and adds to the special character of the area. The street trees are 

an important feature of Park Avenue where an avenue of trees pre-dated 

the built development of the area. There are a few mature trees in private 

gardens but generally they are not in public view. 

 

Views along Park Avenue are enclosed due to the nature of the built 

environment and the maturity of the trees but good views of the entire 

avenue can be had from both the east and west ends of the road. These 

views illustrate the avenue style, planned arrangement designed by the 

original architects, and the density, repetition and detail of the dwellings. 

 

 

 
 

View Along the Street from the East 
 

Page 219



 

  22   

 

Built Environment and Architecture 
 

None of the buildings in Park Avenue are listed buildings. 

Therefore, conservation area status is of particular importance in 

helping to ensure the preservation of what is an area of 

considerable architectural charm, character, and local history. The 

majority of buildings are considered good examples of their type 

where the basic historic form has survived, together with original 

materials and decorative details. Within this context the majority 

of buildings are judged as making a positive contribution to the 

character and appearance of the area.  

 

The architecture of Park Avenue is predominantly late Victorian and 

Edwardian, the diversity of decorative features employed is typical of 

these periods making the street a model example of the architectural 

styles of that era.  

 

    

Victorian Terraces in a Variety of Styles 

 

Within Park Avenue there is a range of house styles, unified by their 

materials, predominantly red/orange brick under pitched roofs of plain 

clay tile or slate. There is a wealth of decorative and architecturally 

attractive features to the buildings, characteristic of the period, with some 

Page 220



 

  23   

 

lavish displays of detailing alongside more simple but interesting styles. 

Notable features include dentilled eaves, crested ridge tiles, ornate 

chimney stacks with terracotta detailing, moulded window and door 

surrounds, and house name stones.  

 

    

Small Changes in Door and Window Surrounds and Architectural Details 

 

Although superficially similar, closer inspection shows great variety in the 

detailing and subtle contrasts between terraces, a function of the new age 

of mass production and improvements in the transport system when there 

became a greater choice of easily obtained, relatively cheap components 

for mixing and matching in any number of combinations. Individual and 

group detailing add interest and provide contrasts often through subtle 

details and decoration. 

 

There is a high retention of historic windows and doors on Park Avenue; 

traditional panelled doors and vertically sliding, large-pane sash windows 

dominate. Many windows benefit from ornamentation such as brick built 

bay windows some with balustraded balconettes and pedimented heads. 

Door surrounds are elaborately detailed and leaded fanlights with original 

stained glass are a notable survival.   

Page 221



 

  24   

 

 

Elaborately Detailed Door and Window Surrounds and Balconettes 

 

A gradual shift in architectural style and detailing is demonstrated nicely 

moving east to west along Park Avenue, particularly to the north side of 

the street where Edwardian Period architecture dominates. Projecting 

gables with decorative ‘mock’ timber set against wet-dash render, barge 

boards and recessed or tiled porches are all distinctive features. A number 

of the buildings are indicative of the early 20th century change in 

architectural style moving from the Edwardian Period into the Interwar 

Period with some houses showing features and styles of the Arts and 

Crafts Movement.   

 

     

Edwardian and 

Interwar 

Dwellings 

 

Page 222



 

  25   

 

Architectural Features 
 

    

  

    

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 223



 

  26   

 

MANAGEMENT PROPOSALS 
 
 

The management proposals work alongside the character appraisals to 

identify issues and assist with the management of change in Worcester’s 

conservation areas, helping to ensure that they retain the special qualities 

that led to their designation. These documents fulfil the Council’s duty 

under section 71 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990 to formulate and publish proposals in order to preserve 

and enhance the character and appearance of a conservation area. These 

proposals are particularly relevant where there is pressure for 

development and where cumulative minor changes may be affecting the 

character or appearance of the conservation area. 

 

Owners, landowners and developers must give attention to the 

requirements for planning permission for certain works in conservation 

areas and for listed building consent for works to listed buildings and their 

curtilage. Planning applications affecting conservation areas will be 

determined with regard to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 

the South Worcestershire Development Plan (SWDP), the approved 

conservation area management proposals, and having regard to advice 

from the Council’s Conservation Advisory Panel. The NPPF is also 

supported by the Government’s Planning Practice Guidance: Conserving 

and Enhancing the Historic Environment. 

 

Any new development should reinforce the character of the conservation 

area as identified in the conservation area appraisal and be sympathetic to 

the historical evolution and character of Park Avenue Conservation Area. 

Development opportunities which preserve the character and enhance, or 

better reveal the significance of the conservation area will be looked upon 

favourably by the Council. Those proposals that threaten the identified 

character of the area will be resisted. Consideration should be given to the 

significance of the historic buildings and their setting, the historic layout 

and street pattern, significant spaces, massing, volume and scale of the 

Page 224



 

  27   

 

existing and proposed buildings and the employment of suitable building 

materials and architectural features.  

 

In many of the buildings along Park Avenue original features are still 

present and little has been done to alter them. Some of the houses have 

been subject to alterations that are further away from the original 

development plans, such as replacing windows, doors and roof materials. 

The loss of these features is seen as having a negative impact on the 

character of the area. 

 

Through the first half of the 20th century, the need for off-road car 

parking was not apparent, but now the pressure for car spaces has 

increased with the majority of the population being car owners. As a result 

of the desire for off-road parking a number of properties have lost front 

boundary walls and paving has replaced gardens. The effect of such 

alterations is that the linear character of the street has widened out 

laterally and the historic enclosure of plot boundaries has been lost. Off 

road parking and the introduction of dropped pavements also puts 

pressure on the removal of street trees which are key to the character and 

historical significance of the street. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 225



 

  28   

 

The particular issues affecting the Park Avenue area at present can be 

summarised as follows: 

 

 Cumulative and piecemeal change impacting on character  

 Lack of planning controls through permitted development rights 

leading to the loss of historic/traditional features 

 Loss of front boundary walls and inappropriate materials and 

designs for replacement boundaries affecting the area’s character 

 Tree management issues 

 Paving over of some of the front gardens which reduces the green 

cover, harms the ecology of the area and increases the risk of 

flooding.  

 

 Loss of historic cast iron street signs and replacement with newer 

signs  

 

As part of the management proposals for Park Avenue Conservation Area 

the area is subject to an Article 4(1) Direction which removes some 

permitted development rights. The serving of the Article 4 Direction 

means that better management of change in the area can be pursued 

through the additional planning measures, the aim being to protect and 

promote the special character of the area. Further management proposals 

will be developed throughout the consultation process. 

 

In order to assist homeowners to manage change to their homes a Park 

Avenue Design Guide has been produced alongside this character 

appraisal and management plans. The aim of the guide is to advise how 

change can be managed in order to maintain and sustain the character 

and appearance of the area, in particular the historic and architectural 

features which give it its special character. 

 

 

 

Page 226



 

  29   

 

 

Management Proposals 

 
 Location Issue Action Responsibility 

1. 

 

Various Loss of 

boundary 

walls 

 

Boundary walls 

should be 

retained and 

repaired with 

careful 

consideration of 

method and 

materials  

 

Owners 

Conservation 

Officers 

Planning Officers 

2. 

 

Various The loss of 

trees  

(through 

removal, or 

death and 

non-

replacement) 

has a 

significant 

impact on 

the street 

scene.  

 

Maintain and 

retain street 

trees and 

reintroduce 

street trees 

where they have 

been lost 

Conservation 

Officers 

Highways 

Department 

3. 

 

Various The loss of 

significant 

architectural 

design 

features 

including 

architectural 

detailing or 

the front 

building line 

would be 

significantly 

harmful to 

the character 

of the area 

 

The council will 

seek to retain 

these attributes 

in accordance 

with the Design 

Guide and 

Article 4 

Direction  

Owners 

Conservation 

Officers 

Planning Officers 

 

4. Various Increasing 

parking 

requirements 

risk the loss 

of historic 

boundary 

treatments, 

and planting  

 

The council will 

seek to preserve 

present garden 

boundaries in 

accordance with 

the Design 

Guide and  

Article 4 

Direction. 

Parking to the 

rear of dwellings 

will be 

supported. 

 

Developers 

Owners 

Planning Officers 

Conservation 

Officers 

Page 227



 

  30   

 

5. Various Alterations 

to improve 

energy 

efficiency 

can be 

damaging to 

the 

appearance 

of 

traditionally 

constructed 

buildings and 

their settings 

 

Advice will be 

provided of 

appropriate 

ways to adapt 

historic buildings 

Owners 

Conservation 

Officers 

6. Various Satellite 

dishes, 

alarm boxes 

and other 

items can 

clutter the 

façade of 

buildings 

which 

detracts 

from the 

appearance 

of the 

conservation 

area  

These items 

should be 

avoided on the 

front of buildings 

or in highly 

visible locations.  

Owners 

Conservation 

Officers 

7. Various Tree roots 

are lifting 

the 

pavement 

and making 

it difficult to 

pass 

 

Ensure that 

necessary tree 

maintenance 

measures are 

carried out 

Conservation 

Officers 

Highways 

Authority 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 228



 

  31   

 

Appendix 1 – Historic Mapping 
 
 

 

1st Edition OS Map 1886 

 

2nd Edition OS Map 1901 

 

 

 

Page 229



 

  32   

 

 

 

 

3rd Edition OS Map 1928 

 

4th Edition OS Map 1940 

 
 

 

 

Page 230



 

  33   

 

Appendix 2 – Proposed Article 4 Direction 

 
ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION 

WORCESTER CITY COUNCIL 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING 
(GENERAL PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT) ORDER 2015 (AS AMENDED) 

 
PARK AVENUE CONSERVATION AREA 

 
Direction Under Article 4 (1) of the General Permitted Development 

Order 2015 (as amended) Restricting Permitted Development 

WHEREAS Worcester City Council (“the council”) being the appropriate Local 

Planning Authority in respect of the area of land specified in the Direction. The 

Council is satisfied that it is expedient that the development in the Schedule 2 

to the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 

2015 (as amended) (“ The Order”), should not be carried out unless 

permission is granted on an application to the Council. 

NOW THEREFORE the Council in pursuance of the power conferred on them 

by Article 4 (1) of the Order hereby direct that the permission granted by 

Article 3 of the said Order shall not apply to development on the land of the 

description set out in the Second Schedule.   

*Public highways, private streets or other publically accessible spaces 

referred to in the order are Park Avenue, Bourne Street, Ivy Street and 

Sabrina Avenue only. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 231



 

  34   

 

 

FIRST SCHEDULE 

The following development comprised within Class A of Part 1 of Schedule 2 

to the said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(a) The enlargement, improvement or other alteration to the principal 

elevation of a dwelling house or a side elevation of a dwelling house 

which fronts a public highway or private street or other publically 

accessible space.* 

 

The following development comprised within Class C of Part 1 of Schedule 2 

to the said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(b) Any other alteration to the roof on the principal elevation of a dwelling 

house or side elevation of a dwelling house which fronts a public 

highway or private street or other publically accessible space.* 

 

The following development comprised within Class D of Part 1 of Schedule 2 

to the said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(c) The erection or construction of a porch outside any external door on 

the principal elevation of a dwelling house or side elevation of a 

dwelling house which fronts a public highway or private street or other 

publically accessible space.* 

 

The following development comprised within Class F of Part 1 of Schedule 2 

to the said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(d) The provision in the curtilage at the front or side of a dwelling house of 

a hard surface for any purpose incidental to the enjoyment of the 

dwelling house as such, or the replacement in whole or part of such a 

surface, where any part of the hard surface would front a public 

highway or private street or other publically accessible space.* 

 

The following development comprised within Class G of Part 1 of Schedule 2 

to the said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(e) The installation, alteration, replacement or demolition of a chimney, flue 

or soil and vent pipe on a dwelling house which would be visible from a 

public highway or private street or other accessible space.* 

 

The following development comprised within Class A of Part 2 of Schedule 2 

to the said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

Page 232



 

  35   

 

(f) The erection, construction, maintenance, improvement or alteration of 

a gate, fence, wall or other means of enclosure at the front or side of a 

dwelling house or flat where any part of the means of enclosure would 

front a public highway or private street or other accessible space.* 

 

The following development comprised within Class B of Part 2 of Schedule 2 

to the said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(g) The formation, laying out and construction of a means of access to a 

highway which is not a trunk road or a classified road, where that 

access is required in connection with development permitted by any 

class in this Schedule (other than by Class A of this Part).* 

 

The following development comprised within Class C of Part 2 of Schedule 2 

to the said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(h) The painting of the exterior of the principal elevation of a dwelling 

house or flat or a side elevation of a dwelling house or flat which fronts 

a public high highway or private street or other publically accessible 

space, except where a dwelling or flat was painted as at the date of this 

Order.* 

 

The following development comprised within Class B of Part 31 of Schedule 2 

to the said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(i) Any building operation consisting of the demolition of a gate, fence, 

wall or other means of enclosure at the front or side of a dwelling 

house or flat where any part of the means of enclosure would front a 

public high highway or private street or other publically accessible 

space.* 

 

The following development comprised within Class A of Part 40 of Schedule 2 

to the said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(j) The installation, alteration, replacement of solar photovoltaics or solar 

thermal equipment on the roof of the principal elevation of a dwelling 

house or flat which fronts a public high highway or private street or 

other publically accessible space.* 

 

The following development comprised within Class B of Part 40 of Schedule 2 

to the said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

(k) The installation, alteration, replacement of stand alone solar at the front 

or side of a dwelling house or flat where any part of the stand alone 

Page 233



 

  36   

 

solar would be visible from a public high highway or private street or 

other publically accessible space.* 

 

The following development comprised within Class F of Part 40 of Schedule 2 

to the said Order and not being development of any other Class: 

 

(l) The installation, alteration, replacement of a flue forming part of a 

combined heat and power system, on the principal elevation of a 

dwelling house or flat or a side elevation of a dwelling house or flat 

which fronts a public highway or private street or other publically 

accessible space. 

 
 

 
SECOND SCHEDULE 

 

 

 

Page 234



 

  37   

 

Appendix 3 – Links to Further Information   
  
Council Guidance  

For Supplementary Planning Guidance, maps and policy including: 

- Design Guidance 

- Conservation Area Maps and Appraisals 

- Historic Environment Record, and 

- Information on preparing Listed Building Consent and Planning 

Applications in Conservation Areas 

 

Historic England Guidance 

Providing advice for maintaining historic buildings and improving energy 

efficiency 

 

Historic Information Sources 

Worcestershire Historic Environment Record 

 

You can also contact the Council at: 

Tel: 01905 722549 

Email address: planning@worcester.gov.uk 

Address: 

Heritage and Conservation 

Worcester City Council 

The Guildhall 

High Street 

Worcester 

WR1 2EY 

Page 235

https://www.worcester.gov.uk/heritage-design
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/your-home/saving-energy/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/your-home/saving-energy/


This page is intentionally left blank



No comments

This needs to happen! We need flowers in the  front 

gardens NOT cars. The Article 4 direction aims to help this

Park Avenue has some interesting architecture and 

properties but it is a living, lived in road and is no way 

at a level similar to Bath's Royal Crescent.

Conservation areas vary in their level of significance. Park Avenue is 

significant as an area of speculative late 19th/early 20th housing 

unlike any designated elsewhere in the city and is consequently 

proposed for conservation area designation. The proposed 

designation is reflective of this level of significance, which is of less 

significance than Bath's Royal Crescent and therefore the street is not 

proposed for UNESCO World Heritage Site status

Not to the extent shown in the proposed scheme The conservation area boundary has been reduced
By No comment

As a resident of Park Avenue I do not think it is 

appropriate for the council to impose these 

restrictions on what are well maintained family 

homes.

The Article 4 direction will not prevent maintenance from being 

carried out. Well designed proposals in-keeping with the character 

and significance of the area can continue to be carried out. No fee will 

be required for applications resulting from the implementation of the 

Article 4 Direction
do you mean park ave?!  I am a resident & property 

owner No comment
it does not take into consideration progressive 

everyday needs  and requirements or meet future 

government social needs and directives - and it would 

be useful to proof read the documents before 

publishing as this refers to Shrubbery Avenue not Park 

Avenue

The design guide has been updated to consider further environmental 

requirements

Character Area 2 is ill defined - because it is not of 

sufficient merit to be in the conservation area The conservation area boundary has been reduced
The current situation which has allowed for self 

preservation of the area in terms of retaining historic 

character. The main changes have been to improve 

insulation and reduce running costs of the houses in 

keeping with current legal requirements and 

government initiatives.

Changes to improve energy efficiency without harming the character 

or significance of the area will be able to continue. Many measures 

can  implemented for example inside the home which the design guide 

has sought to emphasise.

Most of the homes on Park Avenue are more than 

100 years old and have been maintained 

sympathetically without interference. 

Many have been well maintained in their original form leading to the 

proposed conservation area designation. A small number have 

however introduced harmful measures which further properties are at 

risk from
it does not take into consideration progressive 

everyday needs  and requirements or meet future 

government social needs and directives

A section has been added to the design guide to better respond to 

environmental upgrading

The boundary appears to be arbitrarily made up 

rather than relate to the age or style of the 

properties. Some houses, such as Kepax Gardens, are 

included but are only a few years old whereas 

properties in Redcliffe Street which are the same age 

and style as those included have been ignored. It 

appears to just be an administrative "draw a line 

around an area" rather than any real thought as to 

what is being "conserved". The conservation area boundary has been reduced

Character area 2 is not of sufficient merit.  Character 

Area 3 should be added to the Riverside Conservation 

Area. The conservation area boundary has been reduced

Comments Received 2018

Q1 What is your interest in the area?

Q2 Do you think that Park Avenue is suitable for recognition as a conservation area?

Q3 Do you think that the appraisal adequately identifies the character of the proposed conservation area?

Q4 Do you support the proposed boundary of the Park Avenue Conservation Area?

Page 237 Agenda Item 9
Appendix 3



I am strongly against this - it will add unnecessary 

paperwork where there is already control via planning 

orders for large scale changes to the properties.

Without the conservation area designation or article 4 direction 

planning controls provide no protection for existing architectural 

details or features putting the area at risk of harm

I do not support this proposal. The conservation area boundary has been reduced

it does not take into consideration progressive 

everyday needs  and requirements or meet future 

government social needs and directives

A section has been added to the design guide to better respond to 

environmental upgrading

As previously said there are anomalies in the 

properties in the areas with modern houses mixed in 

so again the scheme appears to be made up to suit 

bureaucratic convenience rather than any real historic 

value. The conservation area boundary has been reduced

Character Area 2 has virtually no architectural or 

townscape heritage value. The conservation area boundary has been reduced

it does not take into consideration progressive 

everyday needs  and requirements or meet future 

government social needs and directives

A section has been added to the design guide to better respond to 

environmental upgrading

It is an Avenue - this needs trees, albeit they are a 

pain in the spring and summer with the sap. The trees are highlighted as positive aspects of the area

The most positive aspect is that the people who own 

the houses love them and responsibly maintain them 

out of that love not because they are treated like 

children.

Th ability to carry out maintenance will not be affected by the 

proposed conservation area designation and article 4 direction. Only 

material alterations would require planning permission and these will 

be accepted providing that they cause no harm to the character or 

significance of the area

All these features are important to the character of 

the area These aspects are referenced in the conservation area appraisal

none - please secure the needs of our children in a 

future world by allowing modern progress

The conservation area designation and article 4 direction does not 

seek to stop all changes but to ensure that any changes are sensitive 

to the character and significance of the area

I don't feel there are any negative aspects to this 

proposed conservation area. I feel it is just an artificial 

attempt to make something out of nothing. It may suit 

the Council to be able to say they have created 

another conservation area but in reality is changes 

nothing and causes unneeded interference in the 

residents lives. I do not support it as it is interference 

for interference's sake. As said previously I have lived 

in the road for over 20 years and it has only been 

improving in quality and character.

The conservation area is proposed due to a small number of harmful 

alterations to the character of the area through the loss of front 

gardens and out of character door and window alterations which risk 

gradually eroding the area. 

It is often more expensive to get things maintained to 

a "protected level" as this may require enforced 

specialised workers - pushing the price up. 

Specialised workers are only required where necessary due to the 

requirement to understand historic methods of construction. This 

would be required to effectively maintain any historic property and is 

not caused by conservation designation.

None, I love it for the living, evolving family street that 

it is. No comment

Q6 What do you feel are the positive aspects of the conservation area?

Q7 What do you feel are the negative aspects of the conservation area?

Q5 Do you support the identification of the three character areas?

Page 238



I am particularly concerned about the loss of street 

trees.  Ongoing maintenance and replacement where 

necessary is a must. I know the lime trees are not 

everyone's favourite but they have a positive impact 

on temperature, air quality and general wellbeing.

Maintainance and protection of the street trees is included within the 

management proposals.

none - please secure the needs of our children in a 

future world by allowing modern progress

The conservation area designation and article 4 direction does not 

seek to stop all changes but to ensure that any changes are sensitive 

to the character and significance of the area

I have lived in Park Avenue for over 20 years and 

there has been little or no harm to the character of 

the street. If anything it has been slowly improving 

without the need for any interference by the Council.

The conservation area is proposed due to a small number of harmful 

alterations to the character of the area through the loss of front 

gardens and out of character door and window alterations. 

Depends on what is being proposed as new work. The Article 4 Direction is proposed to manage the design of new work

But this is not happening - most people purchase 

housing in these areas for the character and so retain 

these features.

In many cases this is true however a small number of harmful 

alterations to the character of the area through the loss of front 

gardens and out of character door and window alterations have 

initiated the consideration for conservation area designation

No. These are family homes not a museum. We need 

to ensure that we can all play our part in saving 

energy. Most energy efficiency measures are unaffected by the designations

While not affecting the external appearance, the 

removal of several internal walls by recent purchasers 

is rather worryingly excessive and does change the 

character internally. Especially annoying when done 

by a building firm which has acquired the property 

cheaply and "modernised it" before selling on at vast 

profit.

Conservation area designation and Article 4 Directions are unable to 

manage internal alterations. The level of significance required for 

listing is higher than conservation area designation but may be 

considered in some cases

loss of front gardens The Article 4 Direction seeks to address this

none - please secure the needs of our children in a 

future world by allowing modern progress

The conservation area designation and article 4 direction does not 

seek to stop all changes but to ensure that any changes are sensitive 

to the character and significance of the area

I believe that the introduction of Article 4 would 

actually have a NEGATIVE effect on the conservation 

area. A number of properties have slowly been 

improving their aspects in a sympathetic manner. 

Introducing the need to apply for planning permission 

will inhibit these works and potentially put people off 

doing them.    I have considered putting the railings 

back between my house and next door (both ways). 

The only reason I havenâ€™t done this is I havenâ€™t 

found anything suitable yet at a decent price. If I am 

going to have to apply for permission to undertake 

this then I just wonâ€™t bother as I will be doing it on 

a whim when I find something suitable. The need to 

consult the Council will just take to long and I 

wonâ€™t bother and will move on to something else.  

This is true in some cases however other properties have been making 

these alterations unsympathetically. Free advice is available on 

submission of an application to determine if it is likely to be acceptabe 

therefore works should not be inhibited by the designations

Q8 Do you feel that any of the following works harm the character and appearance of the conservation area?

Q9 Do you consider that additional planning controls on minor forms of permitted development proposed through an 

Article 4 Direction would help to protect the character and appearance of the area?

Page 239



Much of the original detailing has been lost.  it would 

be unduly onerous (and specious) to require any new 

works to replicate the original

The area retains a substantial amount of its original architecturally 

detailing

It would be another barrier in prioritising life tasks 

and impact on maintenance.

The designations will have no impact of the ability for residents to 

carry out maintenance to their properties. Only material alterations 

are affected by the conservation area and article 4 designations

No, I find them overbearing and incredibly 

inappropriate. 

The Article 4 direction is considered appropriate to prevent further 

harmful alterations in the area

just a bureaucratic red tape exercise, fueled by a 

handful of mamby pamby residents

The character and significance of the area has been assessed by the 

council and is considered to meet the level of special interest required 

for conservation area designation

I do not support it as it is interference for 

interference's sake. As said previously I have lived in 

the road for over 20 years and it has only been 

improving in quality and character.

The conservation area is proposed due to a small number of harmful 

alterations to the character of the area through the loss of front 

gardens and out of character door and window alterations. 

Not if Character Area 2 is included

The proposed conservation area has been reduced to exclude 

character area 2

No not at all. Noted

just a bureaucratic red tape exercise, fueled by a 

handful of mamby pamby residents

The character and significance of the area has been assessed by the 

council and is considered to meet the level of special interest required 

for conservation area designation

Article 4 would be a severe infringement of 

peopleâ€™s ability to follow their daily life and is 

utterly unnecessary.    I, for example, have a monkey 

puzzle tree in my garden that over hangs the 

footpath. Periodically I have to trim about 30cm off 

the ends of some of its branches to stop it hitting 

people on the path. Because of its size I would need 

to give the Council six weeks notice that I wanted to 

do this. Is the Planning department so hard up for 

work that they want to process several requests a 

year just so I can trim a branch?    Iâ€™m sure your 

conservation officer would be really keen on the tree 

as it is â€œVictorianâ€•. This however shows the false 

nature of this conservation area as I planted that tree 

and it is in fact less Victorian than the Carrington 

Bridge so, if we were really interested in a period 

look, it should be felled to return the garden to a 

more original state.

Maintenance will continue to be unaffected. Works may still continue 

subject to them preserving the character and significance of the area

Irrelevant in Character Area 2. The conservation area boundary has been reduced

No not at all. Noted

just a bureaucratic red tape exercise, fueled by a 

handful of mamby pamby residents

The character and significance of the area has been assessed by the 

council and is considered to meet the level of special interest required 

for conservation area designation

It includes generalised overall guidance which is not 

relevant to Character Area 2 The conservation area boundary has been reduced

Q12 Do you feel that the Design Guide suitably advises owners on making changes to their property?

Q10 Do you support the proposed designation of Park Avenue as a conservation area?

Q11 Do you support the proposed Article 4 Direction?

Page 240



I find much of the advice to be patronising and ill 

thought out. It covers measures like thick curtains 

instead of double glazing..... I have thick curtains but 

unsurprisingly I like to open them in the day. This 

significantly impacts their heat saving properties.

Curtains are one example of an effective way to reduce draughts. 

Other measures are described in the design guide alongside Historic 

England advice which should be applied to all historic buildings 

regardless of designation because of their methods of construction. 

Secondary glazing is another possible method which also does not 

require planning permission

it is just trying to "big brother" against what people 

should have the right to do if they so require

Maintenance will continue to be unaffected. Works may still continue 

subject to them preserving the character and significance of the area

I cannot answer this Yes or No as I don't believe there 

are any issues in the area. As such the question is 

presupposing an outcome and is invalid.

Part of the management of conservation areas is identifying 

opportunities for enhancement. The area is felt to be of positive 

character hence the proposed conservation area designation

It attempts to attribute qualities to Character Area 2 

which are not accurate. The conservation area boundary has been reduced

I feel it inappropriate and rude that you are stating 

there are â€œmanagement issues â€œ

Part of the management of conservation areas is identifying 

opportunities for enhancement. The area is felt to be of positive 

character hence the proposed conservation area designation

it is just trying to "big brother" against what people 

should have the right to do if they so require

Maintenance will continue to be unaffected. Works may still continue 

subject to them preserving the character and significance of the area

The avenue must be cleaned, sometime we have  

leaves and bits of tree all over gardens and paths. On visiting the area the street was found to be in good order

I don't wish to see any management proposals as I 

don't support this imposition of an arbitrary Disney-

esque view of how an area should look.

Part of the management of conservation areas is identifying 

opportunities for enhancement. This does not seek to create a Disney-

esque place but to ensure the positive qualities of the area are 

maintained

Delete Character Area 2.  Add Character Area 3 to the 

Riverside Conservation Area.  Consider adding east 

end of Lavender Road to the proposed Park Avenue 

Conservation Area.

This approach has been taken and the conservation area boundary 

has been reduced. Lavender Road however was felt to be of differing 

needs and character

That the document proposal be declined. No comment

Particular attention to the Avenue trees Management of the trees is inluded within the management proposals

The removal of any of the street trees (especially with 

regard to dropping a kerb) should not be allowed 

unless endangering the pavement, in which case the 

tree concerned should be replaced. This involves the 

local Council, which doesn't always act promptly (I 

believe it comes under the County council, not the 

City. Management of the trees is inluded within the management proposals

Positioning of new tress Management of the trees is inluded within the management proposals

no other comments No comment

none - it is just trying to "big brother" against what 

people should have the right to do if they so require

Maintenance will continue to be unaffected. Works may still continue 

subject to them preserving the character and significance of the area

Q13 Do you think that the management issues identified in the appraisal sufficiently address issues in the area?

Q14 What further management proposals would you like to see included in the document?

Q15 Any other comments?

Page 241



I believe this conservation scheme is not wanted by 

the silent majority of the residents of Park Avenue. A 

vocal minority who are upset that they cannot park 

outside their properties due to a few of their 

neighbours having had their curbs dropped have used 

their position to kick up a fuss and are trying to 

impose their rose-coloured view on other residents.    

If you stand back from the rancour over the parking 

and look at the road from a neutral parking position it 

actually enhances the road to have off-road parking 

as it takes the cars off the road and, as most house 

still have their partition walls and hedges, when you 

look down the road the best open avenue part is 

where this has been done. Now I appreciate that this 

will not be a popular view with your Conservation 

Officer as their job is to create these areas and will 

obviously bias all the questions and surveys etc. to get 

the answer that they want. However in the real world 

Park Avenue is peopleâ€™s homes, where they live, 

and not some tourist attraction where every little 

piece of brick must be preserved to the exclusion of 

common sense and residentâ€™s quality of life. 

Please turn down this scheme; we are doing fine 

without it.

To allow car parking to the front of all properties would require the 

loss of trees and gardens which significantly impacts on the green 

character of the area. The consultation responses indicate a greater 

number of residents in favour of the proposals than against.

See my letter dated December. This letter is appended in appendix 3

As you will have gathered I do not support this 

proposal at all.  If it goes ahead I will be asking the 

council to reduce my council tax to reflect the 

additional costs I will bear in not being able to enjoy 

energy saving opportunities. I will also expect  the 

council to fully document how it will meet the 

challenge of electric vehicle charging which will be 

essential in the next 10 years. How it will offset the 

loss of carbon saving measures. And how, given all the 

budget restrictions which are resulting loss of 

essential services to the vulnerable and needy, the 

council can find money to finance the body of people 

to manage this vanity project.

Most energy saving measures are unaffected by the designation. As 

historic properties the approach recommended by the areas 

designation is appropriate to effectively maintain them. Energy saving 

measures now requiring planning permiisions will be allowed subject 

to their design maintaining the character and significance of the area. 

Most properties have rear access to provide on-plot parking for 

electric vehicles. Historic England research has demonstrated that 

Article 4 Directions create minimal additional work.  

Congratulations for acknowledging the importance of 

this area The area is proposed for conservation area designation

As non car-owners, we are particularly pleased that 

this should prevent the changing of front gardens into 

car parks, especially since all of the houses have 

garages at the end of their back gardens, accessible by 

adequately wide back lanes. The area is proposed for conservation area designation

thank you for taking interest in conserving our lovely 

street The area is proposed for conservation area designation

a complete waste of time and effort trying to stop life 

in a changing world and failing to embrace the needs 

of future generations

Maintenance will continue to be unaffected. Works may still continue 

subject to them preserving the character and significance of the area

Page 242



90.00% 9

10.00% 1

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

Q1 What is your interest in the area?
Answered: 10 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 10

Resident

Property Owner

Business

Other

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Resident

Property Owner

Business

Other

1 / 16

Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Appraisal and Article 4 DirectionPage 243



40.00% 4

60.00% 6

Q2 Do you think that Park Avenue is suitable for recognition as a
conservation area?

Answered: 10 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 10

# ANY ADDITIONAL COMMENTS DATE

1 This needs to happen! We need flowers in the front gardens NOT cars. 12/14/2018 1:55 PM

2 Park Avenue has some interesting architecture and properties but it is a living, lived in road and is
no way at a level similar to Bath's Royal Crescent.

12/10/2018 3:42 PM

3 Not to the extent shown in the proposed scheme 12/10/2018 2:51 PM

4 By 12/3/2018 7:49 AM

5 As a resident of Park Avenue I do not think it is appropriate for the council to impose these
restrictions on what are well maintained family homes.

11/28/2018 5:21 PM

6 do you mean park ave?! I am a resident & property owner 11/14/2018 7:32 PM

7 it does not take into consideration progressive everyday needs and requirements or meet future
government social needs and directives - and it would be useful to proof read the documents
before publishing as this refers to Shrubbery Avenue not Park Avenue

11/13/2018 7:51 PM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

2 / 16

Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Appraisal and Article 4 DirectionPage 244



60.00% 6

40.00% 4

Q3 Do you think that the appraisal adequately identifies the character of
the proposed conservation area?

Answered: 10 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 10

# ANY ADDITIONAL COMMENTS DATE

1 Character Area 2 is ill defined - because it is not of sufficient merit to be in the conservation area 12/10/2018 2:51 PM

2 The current situation which has allowed for self preservation of the area in terms of retaining
historic character. The main changes have been to improve insulation and reduce running costs of
the houses in keeping with current legal requirements and government initiatives.

12/3/2018 7:49 AM

3 Most of the homes on Park Avenue are more than 100 years old and have been maintained
sympathetically without interference.

11/28/2018 5:21 PM

4 it does not take into consideration progressive everyday needs and requirements or meet future
government social needs and directives

11/13/2018 7:51 PM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

3 / 16

Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Appraisal and Article 4 DirectionPage 245



40.00% 4

60.00% 6

Q4 Do you support the proposed boundary of the Park Avenue
Conservation Area?

Answered: 10 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 10

# ANY ADDITIONAL COMMENTS DATE

1 The boundary appears to be arbitrarily made up rather than relate to the age or style of the
properties. Some houses, such as Kepax Gardens, are included but are only a few years old
whereas properties in Redcliffe Street which are the same age and style as those included have
been ignored. It appears to just be an administrative "draw a line around an area" rather than any
real thought as to what is being "conserved".

12/10/2018 3:42 PM

2 Character area 2 is not of sufficient merit. Character Area 3 should be added to the Riverside
Conservation Area.

12/10/2018 2:51 PM

3 I am strongly against this - it will add unnecessary paperwork where there is already control via
planning orders for large scale changes to the properties.

12/3/2018 7:49 AM

4 I do not support this proposal. 11/28/2018 5:21 PM

5 it does not take into consideration progressive everyday needs and requirements or meet future
government social needs and directives

11/13/2018 7:51 PM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

4 / 16

Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Appraisal and Article 4 DirectionPage 246



40.00% 4

60.00% 6

Q5 Do you support the identification of the three character areas?
Answered: 10 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 10

# ANY ADDITIONAL COMMENTS DATE

1 As previously said there are anomalies in the properties in the areas with modern houses mixed in
so again the scheme appears to be made up to suit bureaucratic convenience rather than any real
historic value.

12/10/2018 3:42 PM

2 Character Area 2 has virtually no architectural or townscape heritage value. 12/10/2018 2:51 PM

3 it does not take into consideration progressive everyday needs and requirements or meet future
government social needs and directives

11/13/2018 7:51 PM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

5 / 16

Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Appraisal and Article 4 DirectionPage 247



30.00% 3

60.00% 6

40.00% 4

40.00% 4

40.00% 4

70.00% 7

40.00% 4

Q6 What do you feel are the positive aspects of the conservation area?
Answered: 10 Skipped: 0

Total Respondents: 10  

# OTHER (PLEASE SPECIFY) DATE

1 It is an Avenue - this needs trees, albeit they are a pain in the spring and summer with the sap. 12/3/2018 7:49 AM

2 The most positive aspect is that the people who own the houses love them and responsibly
maintain them out of that love not because they are treated like children.

11/28/2018 5:21 PM

3 All these features are important to the character of the area 11/28/2018 9:38 AM

4 none - please secure the needs of our children in a future world by allowing modern progress 11/13/2018 7:51 PM

Historic
layout/plan...

Building
quality/design

Historic or
traditional...

Boundary
treatments...

Front gardens

Trees

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Historic layout/plan form

Building quality/design

Historic or traditional features (windows, doors, detailing)

Boundary treatments (wall, fences, gates)

Front gardens

Trees

Other (please specify)

6 / 16

Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Appraisal and Article 4 DirectionPage 248



20.00% 2

20.00% 2

30.00% 3

20.00% 2

30.00% 3

10.00% 1

0.00% 0

50.00% 5

Q7 What do you feel are the negative aspects of the conservation area?
Answered: 10 Skipped: 0

Total Respondents: 10  

# OTHER (PLEASE SPECIFY) DATE

1 I don't feel there are any negative aspects to this proposed conservation area. I feel it is just an
artificial attempt to make something out of nothing. It may suit the Council to be able to say they
have created another conservation area but in reality is changes nothing and causes unneeded
interference in the residents lives. I do not support it as it is interference for interference's sake. As
said previously I have lived in the road for over 20 years and it has only been improving in quality
and character.

12/10/2018 3:42 PM

2 It is often more expensive to get things maintained to a "protected level" as this may require
enforced specialised workers - pushing the price up.

12/3/2018 7:49 AM

Loss of
historic or...

Loss of
boundary...

Loss of front
gardens

Lack of
maintenance

Tree
maintenance

Satellite
dishes

Street
furniture...

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Loss of historic or traditional features

Loss of boundary treatments

Loss of front gardens

Lack of maintenance

Tree maintenance

Satellite dishes

Street furniture (signs, lamp posts, bins)

Other (please specify)

7 / 16

Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Appraisal and Article 4 DirectionPage 249



3 None, I love it for the living, evolving family street that it is. 11/28/2018 5:21 PM

4 I am particularly concerned about the loss of street trees. Ongoing maintenance and replacement
where necessary is a must. I know the lime trees are not everyone's favourite but they have a
positive impact on temperature, air quality and general wellbeing.

11/28/2018 9:38 AM

5 none - please secure the needs of our children in a future world by allowing modern progress 11/13/2018 7:51 PM

8 / 16

Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Appraisal and Article 4 DirectionPage 250



40.00% 4

50.00% 5

40.00% 4

20.00% 2

70.00% 7

Q8 Do you feel that any of the following works harm the character and
appearance of the conservation area?

Answered: 10 Skipped: 0

Total Respondents: 10  

# OTHER (PLEASE SPECIFY) DATE

1 I have lived in Park Avenue for over 20 years and there has been little or no harm to the character
of the street. If anything it has been slowly improving without the need for any interference by the
Council.

12/10/2018 3:42 PM

2 Depends on what is being proposed as new work. 12/10/2018 2:51 PM

3 But this is not happening - most people purchase housing in these areas for the character and so
retain these features.

12/3/2018 7:49 AM

4 No. These are family homes not a museum. We need to ensure that we can all play our part in
saving energy.

11/28/2018 5:21 PM

5 While not affecting the external appearance, the removal of several internal walls by recent
purchasers is rather worryingly excessive and does change the character internally. Especially
annoying when done by a building firm which has acquired the property cheaply and "modernised
it" before selling on at vast profit.

11/26/2018 4:09 PM

6 loss of front gardens 11/14/2018 7:32 PM

7 none - please secure the needs of our children in a future world by allowing modern progress 11/13/2018 7:51 PM

Replacement of
windows, doo...

Loss of
architectura...

Demolition of
boundary walls

Introduction
of satellite...

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Replacement of windows, doors and roofs with modern materials

Loss of architectural details from buildings

Demolition of boundary walls

Introduction of satellite dishes, aerials, etc

Other (please specify)

9 / 16

Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Appraisal and Article 4 DirectionPage 251



40.00% 4

60.00% 6

Q9 Do you consider that additional planning controls on minor forms of
permitted development proposed through an Article 4 Direction would

help to protect the character and appearance of the area?
Answered: 10 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 10

# ANY ADDITIONAL COMMENTS DATE

1 I believe that the introduction of Article 4 would actually have a NEGATIVE effect on the
conservation area. A number of properties have slowly been improving their aspects in a
sympathetic manner. Introducing the need to apply for planning permission will inhibit these works
and potentially put people off doing them. I have considered putting the railings back between my
house and next door (both ways). The only reason I haven’t done this is I haven’t found anything
suitable yet at a decent price. If I am going to have to apply for permission to undertake this then I
just won’t bother as I will be doing it on a whim when I find something suitable. The need to
consult the Council will just take to long and I won’t bother and will move on to something else.

12/10/2018 3:42 PM

2 Much of the original detailing has been lost. it would be unduly onerous (and specious) to require
any new works to replicate the original

12/10/2018 2:51 PM

3 It would be another barrier in prioritising life tasks and impact on maintenance. 12/3/2018 7:49 AM

4 No, I find them overbearing and incredibly inappropriate. 11/28/2018 5:21 PM

5 just a bureaucratic red tape exercise, fueled by a handful of mamby pamby residents 11/13/2018 7:51 PM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

10 / 16

Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Appraisal and Article 4 DirectionPage 252



40.00% 4

60.00% 6

Q10 Do you support the proposed designation of Park Avenue as a
conservation area?

Answered: 10 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 10

# ANY ADDITIONAL COMMENTS DATE

1 I do not support it as it is interference for interference's sake. As said previously I have lived in the
road for over 20 years and it has only been improving in quality and character.

12/10/2018 3:42 PM

2 Not if Character Area 2 is included 12/10/2018 2:51 PM

3 No not at all. 11/28/2018 5:21 PM

4 just a bureaucratic red tape exercise, fueled by a handful of mamby pamby residents 11/13/2018 7:51 PM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

11 / 16

Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Appraisal and Article 4 DirectionPage 253



40.00% 4

60.00% 6

Q11 Do you support the proposed Article 4 Direction?
Answered: 10 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 10

# ANY ADDITIONAL COMMENTS DATE

1 Article 4 would be a severe infringement of people’s ability to follow their daily life and is utterly
unnecessary. I, for example, have a monkey puzzle tree in my garden that over hangs the
footpath. Periodically I have to trim about 30cm off the ends of some of its branches to stop it
hitting people on the path. Because of its size I would need to give the Council six weeks notice
that I wanted to do this. Is the Planning department so hard up for work that they want to process
several requests a year just so I can trim a branch? I’m sure your conservation officer would be
really keen on the tree as it is “Victorian”. This however shows the false nature of this conservation
area as I planted that tree and it is in fact less Victorian than the Carrington Bridge so, if we were
really interested in a period look, it should be felled to return the garden to a more original state.

12/10/2018 3:42 PM

2 Irrelevant in Character Area 2. 12/10/2018 2:51 PM

3 No not at all. 11/28/2018 5:21 PM

4 just a bureaucratic red tape exercise, fueled by a handful of mamby pamby residents 11/13/2018 7:51 PM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

12 / 16

Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Appraisal and Article 4 DirectionPage 254



70.00% 7

30.00% 3

Q12 Do you feel that the Design Guide suitably advises owners on
making changes to their property?

Answered: 10 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 10

# ANY ADDITIONAL COMMENTS DATE

1 It includes generalised overall guidance which is not relevant to Character Area 2 12/10/2018 2:51 PM

2 I find much of the advice to be patronising and ill thought out. It covers measures like thick curtains
instead of double glazing..... I have thick curtains but unsurprisingly I like to open them in the day.
This significantly impacts their heat saving properties.

11/28/2018 5:21 PM

3 it is just trying to "big brother" against what people should have the right to do if they so require 11/13/2018 7:51 PM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

13 / 16

Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Appraisal and Article 4 DirectionPage 255



40.00% 4

60.00% 6

Q13 Do you think that the management issues identified in the appraisal
sufficiently address issues in the area?

Answered: 10 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 10

# ANY ADDITIONAL COMMENTS DATE

1 I cannot answer this Yes or No as I don't believe there are any issues in the area. As such the
question is presupposing an outcome and is invalid.

12/10/2018 3:42 PM

2 It attempts to attribute qualities to Character Area 2 which are not accurate. 12/10/2018 2:51 PM

3 I feel it inappropriate and rude that you are stating there are “management issues “ 11/28/2018 5:21 PM

4 it is just trying to "big brother" against what people should have the right to do if they so require 11/13/2018 7:51 PM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

14 / 16

Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Appraisal and Article 4 DirectionPage 256



Q14 What further management proposals would you like to see included
in the document?

Answered: 10 Skipped: 0

# RESPONSES DATE

1 The avenue must be cleaned, sometime we have leaves and bits of tree all over gardens and
paths.

12/14/2018 1:55 PM

2 I don't wish to see any management proposals as I don't support this imposition of an arbitrary
Disney-esque view of how an area should look.

12/10/2018 3:42 PM

3 Delete Character Area 2. Add Character Area 3 to the Riverside Conservation Area. Consider
adding east end of Lavender Road to the proposed Park Avenue Conservation Area.

12/10/2018 2:51 PM

4 . 12/3/2018 7:49 AM

5 That the document proposal be declined. 11/28/2018 5:21 PM

6 Particular attention to the Avenue trees 11/28/2018 9:38 AM

7 The removal of any of the street trees (especially with regard to dropping a kerb) should not be
allowed unless endangering the pavement, in which case the tree concerned should be replaced.
This involves the local Council, which doesn't always act promptly (I believe it comes under the
County council, not the City.

11/26/2018 4:09 PM

8 Positioning of new tress 11/23/2018 9:12 PM

9 no other comments 11/14/2018 7:32 PM

10 none - it is just trying to "big brother" against what people should have the right to do if they so
require

11/13/2018 7:51 PM

15 / 16

Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Appraisal and Article 4 DirectionPage 257



Q15 Any other comments?
Answered: 9 Skipped: 1

# RESPONSES DATE

1 I believe this conservation scheme is not wanted by the silent majority of the residents of Park
Avenue. A vocal minority who are upset that they cannot park outside their properties due to a few
of their neighbours having had their curbs dropped have used their position to kick up a fuss and
are trying to impose their rose-coloured view on other residents. If you stand back from the
rancour over the parking and look at the road from a neutral parking position it actually enhances
the road to have off-road parking as it takes the cars off the road and, as most house still have
their partition walls and hedges, when you look down the road the best open avenue part is where
this has been done. Now I appreciate that this will not be a popular view with your Conservation
Officer as their job is to create these areas and will obviously bias all the questions and surveys
etc. to get the answer that they want. However in the real world Park Avenue is people’s homes,
where they live, and not some tourist attraction where every little piece of brick must be preserved
to the exclusion of common sense and resident’s quality of life. Please turn down this scheme; we
are doing fine without it.

12/10/2018 3:42 PM

2 See my letter dated December. 12/10/2018 2:51 PM

3 . 12/3/2018 7:49 AM

4 As you will have gathered I do not support this proposal at all. If it goes ahead I will be asking the
council to reduce my council tax to reflect the additional costs I will bear in not being able to enjoy
energy saving opportunities. I will also expect the council to fully document how it will meet the
challenge of electric vehicle charging which will be essential in the next 10 years. How it will offset
the loss of carbon saving measures. And how, given all the budget restrictions which are resulting
loss of essential services to the vulnerable and needy, the council can find money to finance the
body of people to manage this vanity project.

11/28/2018 5:21 PM

5 Congratulations for acknowledging the importance of this area 11/28/2018 9:38 AM

6 As non car-owners, we are particularly pleased that this should prevent the changing of front
gardens into car parks, especially since all of the houses have garages at the end of their back
gardens, accessible by adequately wide back lanes.

11/26/2018 4:09 PM

7 None 11/23/2018 9:12 PM

8 thank you for taking interest in conserving our lovely street 11/14/2018 7:32 PM

9 a complete waste of time and effort trying to stop life in a changing world and failing to embrace
the needs of future generations

11/13/2018 7:51 PM

16 / 16

Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Appraisal and Article 4 DirectionPage 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



Comments Received 2019 Response

No comments

I think it's imperative that Park Avenue is a conservation area Park Avenue is recommended for conservation area designation

Its just an ordinary street, no better or worse than any other. We do not 

expect or want to be a cheap version of the Black Country museum or 

Bath's Royal Crescent.

Park Avenue is felt to have special interest for the reasons set out in the appraisal. The 

Black Country Museum is incomparable to a habitable area as a museum and The Royal 

Crescent is part of a UNESCO World Heritage Site, a significantly higher designation than 

conservation area status. 

The original proposal was not adequately clear that a response for or 

against was needed and it appeared that by not responding we accepted 

and supported the proposal. The Council's existing consultation procedure has been highlighted for review

I think that it is important that Park Avenue is conserved as an example 

of 19th century vernacular architecture and to preserve the local history. Park Avenue is recommended for conservation area designation

no point as will put off any future young home owners because they 

won't have a choice in what they can do to their front garden or house 

fronts

The conservation area designation and article 4 direction do not prevent people from 

implementing their own ideas for development. The designations only ensure that 

development is in-keeping with the character of the area.

Re this process, I have concerns that people from outside the area and 

with no real interest could comment and perhaps influence the decision, 

e.g. what is to stop me asking friends/relatives to participate in this 

consultation and 'amplify' my views. Surely residents and property 

owners, (most of whom I am sure will be both), should have a greater 

say than others, I don't see how this consultation can recognise who is 

who, (other than self declaration)? The Council's existing consultation procedure has been highlighted for review

I'd like to see the bungalows west of Sabrina Avenue included as well, as 

this is an increasingly rare row of "traditional" 20th C bungalows, which 

is potentially endangered by more intensive development.

The special interest of the bungalows will be assessed to determine if they would be 

appropriate as a subsequent conservation area

There are already lots of properties that have been upgraded to modern 

standards to meet current needs so not required, these have not caused 

any deterioration to the outlook of the road and so no need to make the 

area a protected area

In some cases there has been minor harm to the appearance as illustrated in the Design 

Guide. The conservation area designation and article 4 direction do not however prevent 

upgrades to modern standards providing that the changes are inkeeping with the 

character of the conservation area. Appropriate designs are illustrated in the Design 

Guide.

Its not the Royal Crescent.

Historic areas vary with regards to their level of significance. The Royal Crescent is part of 

a UNESCO World Heritage Site, a significantly higher designation than conservation area 

status. 

It's nice but nothing special compared to any other victorian terrace.

Conservation areas vary in their level of significance. Park Avenue is felt to be a well 

preserved area of Victorian/Edwardian housing and representative of an age and 

character of development currently unprotected in Worcester. 

Its just a Victorian/Edwardian street like a large part of Worcester and 

many other towns and cities. Not really UNESCO quality.

Conservation areas vary in their level of significance. Park Avenue is felt to be a well 

preserved area of Victorian/Edwardian housing and representative of an age and 

character of development currently unprotected in Worcester. UNESCO World Heritage 

Site status is the highest level of heritage designation, significantly higher than 

conservation area status, and is not proposed for Park Avenue. 

There are errors in the plan relating to garden walls and dropped curbs.

Alterations have been made since proposing the plan for consultation, emphasising the 

necessity for designation. The appraisal has been updated to the current status.

not really as seems to be picking just a small part of the road to avoid the 

modern changes that have already been allowed elsewhere in the area

The area proposed for designation was reduced as a result of a previous round of 

consultation. The area now proposed has special historic interest worthy of conservation 

area designation

 I don't think enough points have been made about the fact that not only 

do both sides of Park Avenue have access roads, but many of the houses 

already have garages fronting on to them, which could be used for 

parking cars. If the houses do not have garages, there is room to build 

one, as I did when I moved into my house. This really should have been 

taken into consideration when previously allowing residents to drop 

kerbs and destroy front garden. Agreed, this characteristic has been emphasised further in the appraisal

Trees forming part of the whole avenue, including those lying to the 

west of the conservation area should be protected with TPOs.

The avenue trees are in highway authority ownership and therefore TPO's are not applied 

as the trees are only subject to works on highway safety grounds or due to dropped 

kerbs. The article 4 direction reducing off street parking and thus reducing dropped kerbs 

and conservation area designation will support the protection of the trees without TPOs 

being applied.

Only parts of the avenue have been included to conveniently exclude the 

permitted new builds that have been granted by the council recently so 

it is hypercritical to now try and put extra onous on other householders 

who would like to benefit from the very same changes 

The new builds are not of special historic interest and therefore are not included within 

the area proposed area for designation

Not applicable No comment

Q1 What is your interest in the area? 

Q2 Do you think that the revised area of Park Avenue is suitable for recognition as a conservation area?

Q3 Do you think that the proposal adequately identifies the character of the conservation area?

Q4 What do you feel are the positive aspects of the area?

Page 263 Agenda Item 9
Appendix 4



Quiet road with little or no passing traffic. This has been further emphasised in the appraisal

there is nothing really outstanding, it is just a nice residential which is 

within a good school catchment area

Conservation areas are considered for their character and special historic interest. School 

catchment areas are not a consideration for conservation area designation.

Nice quiet road This has been further emphasised in the appraisal

So far only a few houses have knocked down front walls and paved over 

gardens to use for parking, therefore it is not too late to maintain/save 

the area's character.   

Conservation area designation and the proposed article 4 direction are proposed to 

prevent further harm

The avenue has  a rural feel to it, particularly being near the park, and 

also leading down towards the river. The trees and gardens give the 

avenue a lush green character in spring and summer, but this is being 

spoilt by the paving over of some front gardens. 

The trees, gardens and green character are further emphasised in the report. The 

conservation area designation and article 4 direction seeks to prevent further spoiling

The mix of dwelling styles in the road as a whole is relatively 

harmonious. Conservation should not wholly restrict non-traditional 

building styles as long as this harmony is recognised and celebrated. This has been further emphasised in the appraisal

The road is a quiet residential area, to make it a conservation area will 

not improve anything else

The quietness of the road has been emphasised in the appraisal. The conservation area 

designation and article 4 direction seeks to preserve and manage the area rather than 

changing it

dropped kerbs The Article 4 direction seeks to prevent further cases

The Council could do with trimming the avenue tress more often as they 

sprout a lot at the bottom and can make it difficult to pass. Roots are 

forcing up the pavement in many places and dislodging the curbstones. This has been further emphasised in the management plan

I feel that the increasing conversion of front gardens into car parks 

detracts greatly from the area and style of the buildings.

Conservation area designation and the proposed article 4 direction are proposed to 

prevent further harm

the road s always so full and cluttered with cars and bins, it would be 

better if everyone could park off the road, this would make it safer to 

cross as you can then see up and down the road

Parking off-road would require substantial loss of historic garden boundaries and ecology. 

The road is not a main street and therefore crossing the road with care should be safe. 

Parking on the road. Parking off-road would require substantial loss of historic garden boundaries and ecology. 

Paving over of front gardens, especially if for car parking

Conservation area designation and the proposed article 4 direction are proposed to 

prevent further harm

perhaps including some resident parking scheme This will be raised for consideration

See above comment re 'dropped kerbs- and parking in front gardens. 

Also the pavement surrounding some of the trees have been 'lifted' by 

the roots and are difficult to navigate particularly for pushchairs, wheel 

chairs and those using 'walkers'. This has been further emphasised in the management plan

Most of the residents moved here because, like myself, they wanted to 

live in a traditional road. Unfortunately a few residents don't appreciate 

the traditional and historic features and have had no hesitation in 

removing hedges and walls and dropping kerbs so that they can park cars 

in the front of houses. This has really spoilt the look of the avenue.  

Conservation area designation and the proposed article 4 direction are proposed to 

prevent further harm

Turning front gardens into parking space

Conservation area designation and the proposed article 4 direction are proposed to 

prevent further harm

Pavement maintenance could be improved. This has been further emphasised in the management plan

Current parking on the street ruins the effect of a tree lined avenue, it 

would be much better if all houses had off road parking to restore the 

view

Parking off-road would require substantial loss of historic garde boundaries and ecology. 

Off-road parking at all dwellings would require removal of several of the trees in order to 

allow access to drives

Too much parking on the street. Needs offroad parking

Parking off-road would require substantial loss of historic garde boundaries and ecology. 

Off-road parking at all dwellings would require removal of several of the trees in order to 

allow access to drives

Parking is poor in the street and detracts from the effect. It would be 

much better if residents were encouraged to drop the kerb and park on 

the front of the property allowing for a more original vista looking along 

the street of a tree-lined avenue.

Parking off-road would require substantial loss of historic garde boundaries and ecology. 

Off-road parking at all dwellings would require removal of several of the trees in order to 

allow access to drives

Doesn't really address the damage being caused by the trees. Maybe 

they should be replaced by some less aggressive varieties which have 

been place in root containers.

The damage to pavements has been emphasised in the management plan requiring a 

highway management plan to detemine the most appropriate solution

I wholeheartedly agree with the area being under conservation. The area is proposed for conservation area designation

The only managemnt issues are that the Council doesn't clean up the 

leaves properly and the tress are allow to bush too much at the bottom. This has been emphasised in the management proposals

not really, I think that management of the area is a quite poor, there are 

lots of cars that park half on and off the pavement, it would be better if 

people can keep their own trees and bushes in check without having to 

phone up the council everytime they want to cut a branch or twig

Residents will be able to continue to maintain their gardens as they are currently. A 

notice is only required where a tree has a diameter of more than 75mm at 1.5m above 

ground level therefore does not affect small trees or shrubs.

None of the proposals will improve the area, only penalise the majority 

of the now younger generation and thier modern needs 

The conservation area designation and article 4 direction do not prevent people from 

implementing their own ideas for development. The designations only ensure that 

development is in-keeping with the character of the area.

Q5 Is there anything that you think negatively detracts from the area?

Q6 Do you think that the management isues identified in the appraisal sufficiently address issues in the area?

Page 264



none No comment

More street cleaning by the Council.    Encouragement of off-road 

parking to increase the space available on the road.

There is no legal mechanism to encourage off-road parking. Support is given in the 

management plan for parking off-road to the rear of properties where there would be no 

harm to historic fabric. It is not however possible for this to be enforced. Bins and signage 

are proposed in the updated management plan.

Conserving and regular pruning/maintaining of trees. When trees are 

lost they should be replaced by the Council and not left to a local 

Councillor to fund the replacement. Further tree management is supported by the management plan

None, other than the council looks after the trees properly. Further tree management is supported by the management plan

Dog fowling control should be made a high priority, off road parking at 

the front of each house should be made a requirement to clear the road 

of cars, 

An off-road parking requirement would require removal of significant boundaries and 

street trees which are of historic importance. 

None No comment

regular pollarding of trees Further tree management is supported by the management plan

I would like to see a ban on the possible conversion of dwelling houses in 

this area to homes of multiple occupancy. With the continuing increase 

in student numbers in the City I am sure properties the size of many of 

those in Park Avenue would be very attractive to potential landlords. 

The conversion of houses to houses of multiple occupancy is controlled via a separate city 

wide article 4 Direction 

Again regarding the paving over of front gardens - nothing has been 

mentioned about the environmental damage caused. The avenue is close 

to a river, brook and flood plains, and yet more and more residents want 

to concrete over their gardens, which we all know can contribute 

towards flooding.  We are also encouraged to keep hedges and flower 

beds so that we don't disturb  the habitats of birds and insects. Surely 

allowing the concreting over of front gardens goes completely against 

this?

These factors are a negative consequence of front garden development and have been 

expanded upon within the appraisal

Some kind of parking scheme for residents. This will be raised for consideration

Parking scheme for residents. It is impossible to park in the summer 

because of people visiting the splash pad. Parking in Ivy Street should 

also be addressed. It is too narrow to get cars through without driving 

along the pavement due to parked cars. This will be raised for consideration

Residents parking permits. Parking on Ivy Street makes the road too 

narrow to easily drive down. This should be considered to allow for successful management of the area

Compulsory off road parking at the front of the houses 

This would be harmful to the character and historical significance of the area as it would 

require the loss of trees, walls and gardens to provide parking for everyone, all of which 

would be harmful to the character and significance of the area

No management required. Noted

None (at all, not even the original ones). Noted

The avenue needs to be protected from house buyers converting 

properties into house of multi-occupancy. So many lovely old properties 

are being ruined in the city because of the increase of students at the 

university. St Johns has already been spoilt and it won't be long before it 

spreads through to the properties of Barbourne. 

The number of houses of multiple occupancy are controlled by a separate city-wide article 

4 direction

This is just daft. I have a tree in my garden that has spiky branches that 

grow over the footpath. I trim these several times a year to stop them 

being a danger to pedestrians.  Under section 4 I would be expected to 

apply for planning permisssion every time i lopped the end off a branch 

to make it safe. has the Planning department got nothing better to do 

that receive several requests a year for something as banal as this? If so 

then I suggest they are overstaffed.

It is not necessary to notify of 'the cutting down, uprooting, topping or lopping of a tree, 

to the extent that such works are urgently necessary to remove an immediate risk of 

serious harm, or to such other extent as agreed in writing by the authority prior to the 

works being undertaken.'

it makes keeping your own front garden tidy and in check harder to doo

Maintenance is unaffected by conservation area designation or Article 4 Direction 

implementation

It is to prescriptive and does not promote future progressive 

requirements for the modern family The article 4 direction does not prevent all works but guides the form that they take

This was rejected once. Why has it come back? How many times do we 

have to say no? Is this Brexit?

The area was brought back to consultation as the previous consultation responses 

suggested that a smaller area would be appropriate. This area is proposed for 

conservation area designation

This is a sledgehammer to crack a nut. There are no issues in the street 

and I've been here 20 years. 

The removal of front gardens and inappropriate window replacements etc as set out in 

the appraisal and design guide are considered to be sufficient issues to warrant an article 

4 direction being implemented.

Not really, its very vague. The guide has been updated to something conciser

As this is a complex issue it will only be possible to respond should one 

need to make changes.

Proposals will need to be considered on a case by case basis. The design guide is however 

considered good practice by national planning policy to indicate what is likely to be 

acceptable

N/A No comment

Q7 What further management proposals would you like to see included in the document?

Q8 Do you support the proposed Article 4 Direction?

Q9 Do you think that the Design Guide suitably advises owners on making changes to their property?

Page 265



this is not really an issue and should not be in the proposal, everyone 

should have a choice as to what they want the front of the house to look 

like and replacing old dilapidated doors and windows with modern 

composite doors and windows etc, can only be a positive step

The Article 4 Direction will not prevent the replacement of doors and windows where this 

will cause no harm to the area. It does however seek to manage the design of new 

introductions or alterations to ensure that the character of the area is protected in 

perpetuity.

Overly complicated, much more like an Estate Agents brochure rather 

than a list of thing that can or can't be done. Needs to nbe much 

conciser as you lose the will to live half way through. The guide has been updated to something conciser

The legal jargon does not make it very clear  - will residents have to ask 

for permission to drop a kerb and knock down walls at the front of their 

gardens? There is already a house near me where the owner has just 

taken a mallet to the front wall, without getting permission, and  despite 

there being a tree in the way. It looks awful, and it is yet another space 

where a car cannot be parked.

The legislation needs to be included by law. The accompanying text has however been 

updated to provide more clarity on these points

It is only a means to stop people doing things that they should have a 

legal and moral right to do

The Article 4 Direction does not stop people from carrying out works but ensures that the 

work carried out is of a standard that protects the character and heritage significance of 

the area

Not required The guide is best practice for Article 4 Directions as set out by national planning policy

Not needed The guide is best practice for Article 4 Directions as set out by national planning policy

none No comment

This proposal has been rejected by the residents already. Why has it 

been reintroduced? There are no issues with Park Avenue other than a 

vocal resident complaining that their neighbours have dropped the kerb 

and are parking on their front garden. This is to be applauded as it make 

the street look "more tradition" as theer are less cara paked on it (how 

many cars were there in the Victorian/Edwardian period you are trying 

to recreate?    Also isn't it Council policy to encourage the use of electric 

cars to reduce pollution? (How is the Air Quality Strategy going?). In 

order to have an electric car then we will need to be able to charge at 

home which will require us to park off-road in order to not have dozens 

of electric cables trailing all over the pavement. The council needs to 

decide what it wants, a "pretty little road" that look back to the smoggy 

pea-souper "old day" or a vibrant, eco-friendly, low pollution 

environment fit for the future.    I suggest that any Councillor who votes 

for this proposal needs to listen to Greta Thunberg a bit more.

The area proposed for conservation is a reduced area than that previously proposed and 

was brought back to consultation on the basis of comments within the previous 

consultation. Off-road parking throughout the street would require the loss of historic 

boundaries, front gardens and the street trees in order to provide access to drives. Rear 

access provides the opportunity for electrical charging points to the rear of properties

I am writing to you separately expressing my concerns and dissatisfaction 

with the way this process has been carried out by WCC. Particularly the 

lack of clear and precise guidance to residents on supporting or rejecting  

the proposal. The Council's existing consultation procedure has been highlighted for review

I think that this is really not needed in the avenue, I assume that this has 

been put forward by an ageing minority of people living in the road that 

do not want to even consider that updating and modernising is a good 

way forward and are just being short minded when other younger 

people want to live in a modern world

The area has been assessed for its level of special architectural and historic interest and is 

believed to meet the level necessary for designation

Not needed, so don't do it. Noted

My husband and I, as owners (and residents) of a property within the 

designated area, are fully in agreement with the appraisal and proposed 

Article 4 direction.

Park Avenue is recommended for conservation area designation with an Article 4 

Direction

I fully support these proposals and hope the designation as a 

Conservation Area is successful. Park Avenue is recommended for conservation area designation

Most people go to a lot of trouble in keeping their properties looking 

nice. The only real negative issue is the disappearing front gardens.

The conservation area designation and article 4 direction recognises the effort that 

people are making and the architectural quality of the area as a result of this. The 

legislation protects the area from inappropriate alterations by others that harm the 

character of the area and prevents further front gardens from 'disappearing.'

Selected the option for property owner. We are resident in the property. This is fine. Both interests have been considered

The government's future proposals to allow only electric cars will be 

impossible to be met if householders6csnnit park on the front of thier 

properties Rear access provides the opportunity for electric vehicle charging to the rear of properties

The idea of making Park Avenue (or any area) a conservation area is a 

regressive policy that ignores the fact people live there and want to get 

on with their lives without a big brother council interferring where they 

are not needed nor wanted. Leave us alone to get on with our lives.    

We rejected this the first time you tried this, are we going to have to 

keep having these until we vote "the right way"?

The appraisal put forward is reduced from previous consultations as a result of the 

previous consultation which highlighted the lesser significance of the neighbouring 

bungalows. The Conservation Area designation and article 4 drection seeks only to 

manage the design of alterations to ensure that the character and special interest of the 

area is protected in perpetuity.

Q10 Any other comments?

Page 266



I live in Park Avenue. I wish to record my support for the proposed 

designation. The area under consideration for conservation has a unique 

character and provides visual proof of the City's Victorian heritage. The 

architectural features and the fact that most front gardens retain this 

heritage are definately worth protecting. 

The architectural features and heritage of the area recommend it for conservation area 

designation

Page 267



Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Conservation Area Appraisal

1 / 12

50.00% 11

50.00% 11

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

Q1 What is your interest in the area?
Answered: 22 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 22

# OTHER (PLEASE SPECIFY) DATE

 There are no responses.  

Resident

Property Owner

Business

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Resident

Property Owner

Business

Other (please specify)

Page 268



Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Conservation Area Appraisal

2 / 12

68.18% 15

31.82% 7

Q2 Do you think that the revised area of Park Avenue is suitable for
recognition as a conservation area?

Answered: 22 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 22

# ANY ADDITIONAL COMMENTS DATE

1 I think it's imperative that Park Avenue is a conservation area 1/24/2020 5:53 PM

2 Its just an ordinary street, no better or worse than any other. We do not expect or want to be a
cheap version of the Black Country museum or Bath's Royal Crescent.

1/16/2020 2:17 PM

3 The original proposal was not adequately clear that a response for or against was needed and
it appeared that by not responding we accepted and supported the proposal.

1/16/2020 10:29 AM

4 I think that it is important that Park Avenue is conserved as an example of 19th century
vernacular architecture and to preserve the local history.

1/15/2020 12:46 PM

5 no point as will put off any future young home owners because they won't have a choice in what
they can do to their front garden or house fronts

1/11/2020 1:29 PM

6 Re this process, I have concerns that people from outside the area and with no real interest
could comment and perhaps influence the decision, e.g. what is to stop me asking
friends/relatives to participate in this consultation and 'amplify' my views. Surely residents and
property owners, (most of whom I am sure will be both), should have a greater say than others,
I don't see how this consultation can recognise who is who, (other than self declaration)?

1/8/2020 2:46 PM

7 I'd like to see the bungalows west of Sabrina Avenue included as well, as this is an increasingly
rare row of "traditional" 20th C bungalows, which is potentially endangered by more intensive
development.

1/7/2020 9:42 AM

8 There are already lots of properties that have been upgraded to modern standards to meet
current needs so not required, these have not caused any deterioration to the outlook of the
road and so no need to make the area a protected area

12/26/2019 5:45 PM

9 Its not the Royal Crescent. 12/26/2019 4:16 PM

10 It's nice but nothing special compared to any other victorian terrace. 12/24/2019 9:33 AM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Page 269



Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Conservation Area Appraisal

3 / 12

68.18% 15

31.82% 7

Q3 Do you think that the appraisal adequately identifies the character of
the conservation area?

Answered: 22 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 22

# ANY ADDITIONAL COMMENTS DATE

1 Its just a Victorian/Edwardian street like a large part of Worcester and many other towns and
cities. Not really UNESCO quality.

1/16/2020 2:17 PM

2 There are errors in the plan relating to garden walls and dropped curbs. 1/16/2020 10:29 AM

3 not really as seems to be picking just a small part of the road to avoid the modern changes that
have already been allowed elsewhere in the area

1/11/2020 1:29 PM

4 I don't think enough points have been made about the fact that not only do both sides of Park
Avenue have access roads, but many of the houses already have garages fronting on to them,
which could be used for parking cars. If the houses do not have garages, there is room to build
one, as I did when I moved into my house. This really should have been taken into
consideration when previously allowing residents to drop kerbs and destroy front garden.

1/7/2020 4:34 PM

5 Trees forming part of the whole avenue, including those lying to the west of the conservation
area should be protected with TPOs.

1/7/2020 9:42 AM

6 Only parts of the avenue have been included to conveniently exclude the permitted new builds
that have been granted by the council recently so it is hypercritical to now try and put extra
onous on other householders who would like to benefit from the very same changes

12/26/2019 5:45 PM

7 Not applicable 12/26/2019 4:16 PM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Page 270



Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Conservation Area Appraisal

4 / 12

40.91% 9

59.09% 13

68.18% 15

63.64% 14

68.18% 15

81.82% 18

36.36% 8

31.82% 7

Q4 What do you feel are the positive aspects of the area?
Answered: 22 Skipped: 0

Total Respondents: 22  

Historic
layout/plan...

Building
quality/design

Historic or
traditional...

Boundary
treatments...

Front gardens

Trees and
planting

Views

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Historic layout/plan form

Building quality/design

Historic or traditional features (windows, doors, detailing)

Boundary treatments (wall, fences, gates)

Front gardens

Trees and planting

Views

Other (please specify)

Page 271



Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Conservation Area Appraisal

5 / 12

# OTHER (PLEASE SPECIFY) DATE

1 Quiet road with little or no passing traffic. 1/16/2020 2:17 PM

2 there is nothing really outstanding, it is just a nice residential which is within a good school
catchment area

1/11/2020 1:29 PM

3 Nice quiet road 1/11/2020 1:15 PM

4 So far only a few houses have knocked down front walls and paved over gardens to use for
parking, therefore it is not too late to maintain/save the area's character.

1/8/2020 2:46 PM

5 The avenue has a rural feel to it, particularly being near the park, and also leading down
towards the river. The trees and gardens give the avenue a lush green character in spring and
summer, but this is being spoilt by the paving over of some front gardens.

1/7/2020 4:34 PM

6 The mix of dwelling styles in the road as a whole is relatively harmonious. Conservation should
not wholly restrict non-traditional building styles as long as this harmony is recognised and
celebrated.

1/7/2020 9:42 AM

7 The road is a quiet residential area, to make it a conservation area will not improve anything
else

12/26/2019 5:45 PM

Page 272



Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Conservation Area Appraisal

6 / 12

59.09% 13

36.36% 8

81.82% 18

27.27% 6

18.18% 4

63.64% 14

Q5 Is there anything that you think negatively detracts from the area?
Answered: 22 Skipped: 0

Total Respondents: 22  

Lost historic
or tradition...

Lack of
maintenance ...

Bins or parking

Tree
maintenance

Street
furniture...

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Lost historic or traditional features

Lack of maintenance of boundary treatments or streets

Bins or parking

Tree maintenance

Street furniture (signs, lamp posts, bins)

Other (please specify)

Page 273



Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Conservation Area Appraisal

7 / 12

# OTHER (PLEASE SPECIFY) DATE

1 dropped kerbs 1/24/2020 5:53 PM

2 The Council could do with trimming the avenue tress more often as they sprout a lot at the
bottom and can make it difficult to pass. Roots are forcing up the pavement in many places and
dislodging the curbstones.

1/16/2020 2:17 PM

3 I feel that the increasing conversion of front gardens into car parks detracts greatly from the
area and style of the buildings.

1/15/2020 12:46 PM

4 the road s always so full and cluttered with cars and bins, it would be better if everyone could
park off the road, this would make it safer to cross as you can then see up and down the road

1/11/2020 1:29 PM

5 Parking on the road. 1/11/2020 1:15 PM

6 Paving over of front gardens, especially if for car parking 1/10/2020 2:50 PM

7 perhaps including some resident parking scheme 1/10/2020 10:20 AM

8 See above comment re 'dropped kerbs- and parking in front gardens. Also the pavement
surrounding some of the trees have been 'lifted' by the roots and are difficult to navigate
particularly for pushchairs, wheel chairs and those using 'walkers'.

1/8/2020 2:46 PM

9 Most of the residents moved here because, like myself, they wanted to live in a traditional road.
Unfortunately a few residents don't appreciate the traditional and historic features and have had
no hesitation in removing hedges and walls and dropping kerbs so that they can park cars in
the front of houses. This has really spoilt the look of the avenue.

1/7/2020 4:34 PM

10 Turning front gardens into parking space 1/7/2020 3:43 PM

11 Pavement maintenance could be improved. 1/4/2020 1:24 PM

12 Current parking on the street ruins the effect of a tree lined avenue, it would be much better if
all houses had off road parking to restore the view

12/26/2019 5:45 PM

13 Too much parking on the street. Needs offroad parking 12/26/2019 4:16 PM

14 Parking is poor in the street and detracts from the effect. It would be much better if residents
were encouraged to drop the kerb and park on the front of the property allowing for a more
original vista looking along the street of a tree-lined avenue.

12/24/2019 9:33 AM

Page 274



Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Conservation Area Appraisal

8 / 12

68.18% 15

31.82% 7

Q6 Do you think that the management issues identified in the appraisal
sufficiently address issues in the area?

Answered: 22 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 22

# ANY ADDITIONAL COMMENTS DATE

1 Doesn't really address the damage being caused by the trees. Maybe they should be replaced
by some less aggressive varieties which have been place in root containers.

1/16/2020 2:17 PM

2 I wholeheartedly agree with the area being under conservation. 1/15/2020 12:46 PM

3 The only managemnt issues are that the Council doesn't clean up the leaves properly and the
tress are allow to bush too much at the bottom.

1/14/2020 8:36 AM

4 not really, I think that management of the area is a quite poor, there are lots of cars that park
half on and off the pavement, it would be better if people can keep their own trees and bushes
in check without having to phone up the council everytime they want to cut a branch or twig

1/11/2020 1:29 PM

5 None of the proposals will improve the area, only penalise the majority of the now younger
generation and thier modern needs

12/26/2019 5:45 PM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Page 275



Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Conservation Area Appraisal

9 / 12

Q7 What further management proposals would you like to see included in
the document?
Answered: 15 Skipped: 7

# RESPONSES DATE

1 none 1/24/2020 5:53 PM

2 More street cleaning by the Council. Encouragement of off-road parking to increase the space
available on the road.

1/16/2020 2:17 PM

3 Conserving and regular pruning/maintaining of trees. When trees are lost they should be
replaced by the Council and not left to a local Councillor to fund the replacement.

1/16/2020 10:29 AM

4 None, other than the council looks after the trees properly. 1/14/2020 8:36 AM

5 Dog fowling control should be made a high priority, off road parking at the front of each house
should be made a requirement to clear the road of cars,

1/11/2020 1:29 PM

6 None 1/11/2020 1:15 PM

7 regular pollarding of trees 1/10/2020 10:20 AM

8 I would like to see a ban on the possible conversion of dwelling houses in this area to homes of
multiple occupancy. With the continuing increase in student numbers in the City I am sure
properties the size of many of those in Park Avenue would be very attractive to potential
landlords.

1/8/2020 2:46 PM

9 Again regarding the paving over of front gardens - nothing has been mentioned about the
environmental damage caused. The avenue is close to a river, brook and flood plains, and yet
more and more residents want to concrete over their gardens, which we all know can contribute
towards flooding. We are also encouraged to keep hedges and flower beds so that we don't
disturb the habitats of birds and insects. Surely allowing the concreting over of front gardens
goes completely against this?

1/7/2020 4:34 PM

10 Some kind of parking scheme for residents. 1/4/2020 2:37 PM

11 Parking scheme for residents. It is impossible to park in the summer because of people visiting
the splash pad. Parking in Ivy Street should also be addressed. It is too narrow to get cars
through without driving along the pavement due to parked cars.

1/4/2020 2:10 PM

12 Residents parking permits. Parking on Ivy Street makes the road too narrow to easily drive
down.

1/4/2020 1:24 PM

13 Compulsory off road parking at the front of the houses 12/26/2019 5:45 PM

14 No management required. 12/26/2019 4:16 PM

15 None (at all, not even the original ones). 12/24/2019 9:33 AM

Page 276



Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Conservation Area Appraisal

10 / 12

68.18% 15

31.82% 7

Q8 Do you support the proposed Article 4 Direction?
Answered: 22 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 22

# ANY ADDITIONAL COMMENTS DATE

1 This is just daft. I have a tree in my garden that has spiky branches that grow over the footpath.
I trim these several times a year to stop them being a danger to pedestrians. Under section 4 I
would be expected to apply for planning permisssion every time i lopped the end off a branch to
make it safe. has the Planning department got nothing better to do that receive several
requests a year for something as banal as this? If so then I suggest they are overstaffed.

1/16/2020 2:17 PM

2 it makes keeping your own front garden tidy and in check harder to doo 1/11/2020 1:29 PM

3 It is to prescriptive and does not promote future progressive requirements for the modern family 12/26/2019 5:45 PM

4 This was rejected once. Why has it come back? How many times do we have to say no? Is this
Brexit?

12/26/2019 4:16 PM

5 This is a sledgehammer to crack a nut. There are no issues in the street and I've been here 20
years.

12/24/2019 9:33 AM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Page 277



Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Conservation Area Appraisal

11 / 12

63.64% 14

36.36% 8

Q9 Do you feel that the Design Guide suitably advises owners on making
changes to their property?

Answered: 22 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 22

# ANY ADDITIONAL COMMENTS DATE

1 Not really, its very vague. 1/16/2020 2:17 PM

2 As this is a complex issue it will only be possible to respond should one need to make changes. 1/16/2020 10:29 AM

3 N/A 1/14/2020 8:36 AM

4 this is not really an issue and should not be in the proposal, everyone should have a choice as
to what they want the front of the house to look like and replacing old dilapidated doors and
windows with modern composite doors and windows etc, can only be a positive step

1/11/2020 1:29 PM

5 Overly complicated, much more like an Estate Agents brochure rather than a list of thing that
can or can't be done. Needs to nbe much conciser as you lose the will to live half way through.

1/11/2020 1:15 PM

6 The legal jargon does not make it very clear - will residents have to ask for permission to drop a
kerb and knock down walls at the front of their gardens? There is already a house near me
where the owner has just taken a mallet to the front wall, without getting permission, and
despite there being a tree in the way. It looks awful, and it is yet another space where a car
cannot be parked.

1/7/2020 4:34 PM

7 It is only a means to stop people doing things that they should have a legal and moral right to
do

12/26/2019 5:45 PM

8 Not required 12/26/2019 4:16 PM

9 Not needed 12/24/2019 9:33 AM

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Page 278



Park Avenue proposed Conservation Area and Draft Conservation Area Appraisal

12 / 12

Q10 Any other comments?
Answered: 11 Skipped: 11

# RESPONSES DATE

1 none 1/24/2020 5:53 PM

2 This proposal has been rejected by the residents already. Why has it been reintroduced? There
are no issues with Park Avenue other than a vocal resident complaining that their neighbours
have dropped the kerb and are parking on their front garden. This is to be applauded as it make
the street look "more tradition" as theer are less cara paked on it (how many cars were there in
the Victorian/Edwardian period you are trying to recreate? Also isn't it Council policy to
encourage the use of electric cars to reduce pollution? (How is the Air Quality Strategy going?).
In order to have an electric car then we will need to be able to charge at home which will
require us to park off-road in order to not have dozens of electric cables trailing all over the
pavement. The council needs to decide what it wants, a "pretty little road" that look back to the
smoggy pea-souper "old day" or a vibrant, eco-friendly, low pollution environment fit for the
future. I suggest that any Councillor who votes for this proposal needs to listen to Greta
Thunberg a bit more.

1/16/2020 2:17 PM

3 I am writing to you separately expressing my concerns and dissatisfaction with the way this
process has been carried out by WCC. Particularly the lack of clear and precise guidance to
residents on supporting or rejecting the proposal.

1/16/2020 10:29 AM

4 I think that this is really not needed in the avenue, I assume that this has been put forward by
an ageing minority of people living in the road that do not want to even consider that updating
and modernising is a good way forward and are just being short minded when other younger
people want to live in a modern world

1/11/2020 1:29 PM

5 Not needed, so don't do it. 1/11/2020 1:15 PM

6 My husband and I, as owners (and residents) of a property within the designated area, are fully
in agreement with the appraisal and proposed Article 4 direction.

1/10/2020 2:50 PM

7 I fully support these proposals and hope the designation as a Conservation Area is successful. 1/8/2020 2:46 PM

8 Most people go to a lot of trouble in keeping their properties looking nice. The only real negative
issue is the disappearing front gardens.

1/7/2020 4:34 PM

9 Selected the option for property owner. We are resident in the property. 1/4/2020 1:24 PM

10 The government's future proposals to allow only electric cars will be impossible to be met if
householders6csnnit park on the front of thier properties

12/26/2019 5:45 PM

11 The idea of making Park Avenue (or any area) a conservation area is a regressive policy that
ignores the fact people live there and want to get on with their lives without a big brother council
interferring where they are not needed nor wanted. Leave us alone to get on with our lives. We
rejected this the first time you tried this, are we going to have to keep having these until we vote
"the right way"?

12/24/2019 9:33 AM

Page 279



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Park Avenue 

Design Guide 

Advice on alterations and repair following the introduction 

of an Article 4(1) Direction 

Page 281 Agenda Item 9
Appendix 5



2 
 

Contents 
Background ............................................................................................................................................. 3 

Why is Park Avenue special? ............................................................................................................... 4 

Additional planning controls ............................................................................................................... 4 

Windows ................................................................................................................................................. 6 

Doors ....................................................................................................................................................... 7 

Decorations ............................................................................................................................................. 8 

Decorative glass .................................................................................................................................. 8 

Decorative details ............................................................................................................................... 8 

Porches .................................................................................................................................................... 9 

Painting the front of a property ............................................................................................................ 10 

Brick fronted properties .................................................................................................................... 10 

Rendered or pebble-dash properties ................................................................................................ 10 

Additions and alterations to the roof or chimney ................................................................................ 11 

Installation of a flue, chimney or soil and vent pipe ............................................................................. 13 

Walls, Railings, Fences, and Hedges ..................................................................................................... 13 

Front Gardens ....................................................................................................................................... 14 

Control over Trees ................................................................................................................................ 14 

Energy Improvements ........................................................................................................................... 15 

Solar Panels and Micro-generation Equipment ................................................................................ 15 

Double or Secondary Glazing ............................................................................................................ 15 

Summary of Planning Requirements under Conservation Area designation and Article 4(1) Direction

 .............................................................................................................................................................. 17 

Frequently Asked Questions ................................................................................................................. 18 

What about minor alterations? ........................................................................................................ 18 

Will I need to pay a fee for planning permission? ............................................................................ 18 

Making a planning application .......................................................................................................... 18 

 

  

Page 282



3 
 

Background 
The area outlined in Map 1 and designated as Park Avenue Conservation Area is 

the subject of an Article 4(1) Direction therefore planning permission is required 

for additional specified works which would usually not require planning 

permission in an undesignated area. The directions control small-scale change 

that might gradually erode the character of a conservation area, such as 

alterations to windows and doors. 

Map 1 

 

This guide explains why Park Avenue holds special interest and gives advice on 

what works are suitable and what will require planning permission. It encourages 

owners and occupiers to undertake sensitive repairs and to reinstate historic 

features where they have been lost. Even minor changes to the appearance of 

houses can destroy the character and appearance of the area, and potentially 

lower the value of the house. The basic principle underlying all this advice is to: 

 Keep your historic property in good repair 

 Retain and repair historic features rather than replace them 

This guide is intended to help householders, architects, developers, surveyors 

and others concerned with giving advice to or working on properties within the 

area covered by the Article 4(1) Direction. 

 

Page 283



4 
 

Why is Park Avenue special? 
The Park Avenue area is a speculative suburb of high quality late 19th and early 

20th century architecture. There is a surviving historic development form and the 

area retains much of its charm with a variety of house sizes which depict good 

examples of Victorian and Edwardian architectural styles and features. Tree-lined 

streets and mature front gardens provide an important green setting for the built 

form of the area. The Article 4 Direction therefore seeks to prevent harmful work 

from taking place to ensure that Park Avenue retains its historic character and 

appearance and remains an attractive and desirable place to live for this and 

future generations. 

Additional planning controls  
The Article 4 (1) Direction applies to the fronts of properties, and the sides of 

properties which face the street, and includes single family dwelling houses and 

houses converted to flats.  

There is currently no fee for applications made as a result of an Article 4(1) 

Direction, however alterations which are not carried out in accordance with this 

guide may be subject to enforcement action by the Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Like-for-like replacement and repair does not need planning permission. 

What does like-for-like mean? 

If existing features are beyond cost-effective repair you may wish to replace 

them with like-for-like replacements. Like-for-like replacement and repair 

does not need planning permission. 

Like-for-like are those that: 

 Match in materials, colour and surface finish (e.g. bricks and mortar) 

 Have the same dimensions and 

 Have the same pattern and detailed profile 

 Replicate original details such as window catches, handles, pulleys etc, 

(these can sometimes be transferred from the old feature to the new). 

For example, if you are rebuilding sections of boundary wall to match the 

existing, using matching bricks, matching mortar and matching the profile 

of the mortar pointing, this will not need planning permission. 

Replacement windows should match the glazing bar/frame sill dimensions 

and way of openings- for example vertically sliding sash windows or side 

or top-hinged casements can be replaced like-for-like without planning 

permission. 

Page 284



5 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

With the Article 4(1) Direction in place the following additional 

planning controls apply: 

 
 Any works to enlarge, alter or improve your property including 

replacing part or all of any window or door, the alteration in shape or 
size of any window or door openings including any window or door 

recess or reveal. 
 
 

 The alteration to any decorative feature forming part of the fabric of 
the front elevation including their removal including the alteration to 

any door or window surround, fanlights and canopies.  
 

 

 Alterations or development of porches including enclosing the porch or 
altering its appearance.  

 

 

 Painting the front of a property if it will differ from the traditional 
surface treatment, excluding joinery 
 

 
 Additions or alterations to the roof or chimney, including the 

installation of a roof-light or solar panel, or the alteration of existing 
dormers or skylights 
 

 
 Installation of a flue or soil and vent pipe at the front of a property 

 

 

  Erecting, altering or demolishing a gate, wall or fence at the front of a 
property 
 

 

 Making, enlarging, improving or altering a hard surface at the front of 
a property or installing a dropped curb 

 

 

 

Page 285



6 
 

Windows 
 

 

 

 

Historic windows can last indefinitely if they are properly maintained by the 

homeowner with the occasional assistance of a joiner, unlike uPVC windows 

which are unrecyclable and have a limited lifespan of only 20-30 years. Rarely is 

it cheaper to replace rather than repair windows and the removal of original 

features can have a negative impact on the value of your property. Information 

on alternative ways to improve energy efficiency can be found on page 15.  

Any replacement or alteration of 

traditional windows should be with 

windows of an identical appearance. 

Care must be taken with replacements to 

match the proportions and pattern of the 

narrow glazing bars. Plain clear glass must 

be fitted, if possible retaining and re-using 

any original glass. The Council will refuse 

permission to alter the shape of, or brick-

up, original window openings. The correct 

recess depth of 114mm (4½”) from the 

outer face of the brickwork to the front 

face of the wooden sash frame must be 

retained.  

In the case of windows which have 

previously been altered, consideration 

should be given to restoring a window of a 

traditional appearance to the property. 

When replacing modern windows or 

doors with ones more sympathetic to a 

historic building, it will be important that 

the design and detailing of the new 

windows is correct. Historic photographs 

may show what the original windows 

were like, or, if your property is in a 

terrace, neighbouring properties may still 

retain the original windows. The use of 

windows which are of a similar appearance 

but have a different opening mechanism 

are acceptable where the frame and bar 

thicknesses and proportions reflect those 

of traditional sash windows.

Replacing windows on the front elevation (or side elevations where 

these front the street) now needs planning permission. 

 

 

 

Where traditional windows have 

been lost the following designs 

would be considered acceptable: 

 

 

 

Timber sash 

uPVC to 

traditional sash 

design 

Mock sash 

Page 286



7 
 

Doors 
 

The original period design of doors is one of the most important features of a 

property and contributes significantly to the overall character and appearance of 

the conservation area. Where original timber doors survive in a property they 

should be retained and repaired where ever possible. Any replacement or 

alteration of traditional doors should be with doors of an identical appearance. 

The use of traditional materials will be encouraged, however the use of modern 

materials will be considered if the replacement is identical to the original in 

terms of detail and appearance. Where historic door furniture survives this 

should retained. 

 

 

 

    

When replacing modern doors with ones more sympathetic to a historic 

building, it will be important that the design and detailing of the new doors 

is appropriate to the age of the property. If your property is in a terrace, 

neighbouring properties may still retain the original doors for examples.  

                         

Replacing original or traditional doors on the front elevation (or 

side elevations where these front the street) now needs planning 

permission. 

 

 

 

Page 287



8 
 

Decorations 

 

 

 

Decorative glass 
Decorative glass in doors 

and windows has an 

important ornamental role 

in addition to letting light 

into the building; it may be 

stained, etched and held 

together with lead ’cames’ 

or combination of all three. 

It should always be retained 

and repaired and specialist 

advice sought.  

 

Decorative details 
Decorative details often occur around the windows and doors of historic 

properties, and became very flamboyant in the latter half of the 19th century. 

These are features that add interest and character to properties and are often 

what attracts buyers and owners. They may include columns, mouldings and 

rubbed brickwork and terracotta decoration, tile hanging, render panels and 

other ornate brick and terracotta features applied to walls, around windows, and 

to roofs. Decorative details are very important to the character of Park Avenue 

and should be preserved or reinstated where lost or damaged.  

 

  

  

The whole or partial removal or replacement of decorative glass or 

details on front elevations (or side elevations where these front 

the street) now needs planning permission and is likely to be 

resisted. 

 

 

 

Page 288



9 
 

Porches 
 

 

 

 

Porches are often overlooked but are an 

integral feature in the architectural design 

and historic appeal of your property. 

Finely detailed brick, timber and tile 

porches are a feature of some properties 

in the conservation area, particularly to 

the north side of Park Avenue. Some of 

the larger homes on Park View Terrace 

have enclosed porches. A number of 

buildings display ‘open’ porches with tiled 

roofs and brackets.  

 

Proposals for new porches should not 

interfere with existing architectural 

details. Designs should consider the visual 

impact of the porch on the building line 

and how it integrates visually wiith 

neighbouring dwellings.   

 

The infilling of open porches or the loss of 

existing porches will be resisted.

 

 

 

  

Adding a new porch or altering existing porches on front elevations 

(or side elevations where this fronts the street) now needs 

planning permission.  

 

 

 

The council will resist the 

infilling of open porches  

The council will seek to retain 

existing porches where they 

form part of the original 

architectural design 

Page 289



10 
 

Painting the front of a property 

Brick fronted properties 
 

 

 

 

Park Avenue has many attractive 

properties fronted in red brick, 

which gives a depth of character 

to the street particularly when 

combined with traditional details 

such as painted timber windows 

and doors and slate or tile roofs. 

Unpainted brickwork should 

never be painted over, even in a 

matching colour.  

 

Where brickwork has been painted, re-painting should always be carried out in 

a matching colour. 

Rendered or pebble-dash properties 
 

 

 

A small number of properties in Park Avenue and 

Park View Terrace are partially rendered or 

pebble-dashed- this is a key characteristic of 

Edwardian properties. Where render needs re-

painting this should be done with traditional 

permeable paints in matching paint colours which 

conform to a traditional palette.  

 

 

  

The painting over of unpainted brickwork on the front elevation (or 

side elevation where this fronts the street) now needs planning 

permission and will be resisted. 

 

 

 

Re-painting render does not need planning permission providing that 

it is repainted in matching paint colours. Paints should be permeable 

so as not to damage the existing materials 

 

 

 

Page 290



11 
 

Additions and alterations to the roof or chimney 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Unaltered roofs and chimneys play an 

important role in defining the character of 

the Park Avenue area.  Some of the 

houses at the northern side of Park 

Avenue have prominent and decorative 

roofs, some with projecting bay windows, 

gables, chimneys and turrets. The roofs 

are covered in traditional tile or slate. It is 

important to preserve these roof forms, 

materials and details where they survive 

as they contribute significantly to the 

overall character and quality of the area. 

Their loss will be resisted 

Roof materials are particularly important 

on terraced houses. The consistency in 

material is a key feature and where new 

or modern roofing materials have been 

introduced the effect is one of an 

interruption to the roof scape. The 

replacement of traditional slate or clay tile 

roofs with concrete interlocking roof tiles 

has had a negative effect on the character 

and appearance of some terraces. In 

these cases reinstatement of the original 

material would be considered an 

enhancement to the conservation area. 

The following works now need planning permission on a roof slope or 

a side roof slope where it faces the street: 

 Re-roofing in a material which differs from the original or 

existing material 

 The removal without reinstatement of any decorative details 

such as decorative ridge tiles 

 The installation of a rooflight, including a ‘flush’ conservation 

style roof light 

 The installation of a solar panel or other micro-generation 

equipment 

 The alteration, demolition or partial demolition of a chimney 

 

 

The council will seek to retain 

original gables, chimneys and 

roof detailing 

Replacing tiles in modern 

materials harms the character 

of the area 

Page 291



12 
 

Roof lights, solar panels or photovoltaics are sometimes necessary to provide 

additional living space or improve energy efficiency. These should be positioned 

to the rear of the property where possible, where no planning permission will be 

required. However, where the south facing slope of the roof faces the highway it 

may be necessary for them to face the road. Where this occurs they will be 

supported subject to their design. 

The profile of roof lights, solar panels or photovoltaics should be kept to a 

minimum potentially through ‘flush’ conservation style roof lights or similar. The 

position of the them should consider and relate to the position of doors and 

windows on the façade below and should be positioned at a height where they 

do not dominate or interfere with the windows or eaves below. Further 

information on solar panels and micro-generation equipment can be found on 

page 15. 

 

  

Page 292



13 
 

Installation of a flue, chimney or soil and vent pipe 
 

 

 

 

Services such as flues (including for biomass boilers), soil and vent pipes and 

new chimneys should always be located on the side or rear elevation where 

possible, so that the smart, public face of the building remains untouched.  

Where these already exist to the front of properties their removal or 

replacement to somewhere less conspicuous would be considered an 

enhancement. 

Walls, Railings, Fences, and Hedges 
 

 

 

Surviving boundary walls to green front gardens 

are one of the most noticeable aspects of the 

Park Avenue historic character. The traditional 

treatment of the boundary varies according to the 

date and style of the house. In some areas 

elaborate brick, stone and terracotta boundary 

walls and gate piers help give the area    a 

particular charm. Some boundary walls have 

decorative details such as balustrading and 

terracotta detailing.  

Where boundary walls have been lost or replaced 

in non-traditional materials or to a different 

design residents are encouraged to restore them 

to their original form.  

By reinstating front boundary walls where they are lost, residents can restore 

the attractive qualities of the streetscape for both residents and passers-by. 

Weather-struck or bucket-handle pointing is unlikely to be original and is rarely 

appropriate. Cement mortar for pointing is also likely to be a later addition and 

can harm historic brickwork. A lime based mortar is encouraged for pointing. 

Hedges should be retained and replanted where they are a feature of the 

streetscape. The like-for-like maintenance and repair of boundaries does not 

require planning permission.  

Flues, chimney, soil or vent pipes now need planning permission on 

the front elevation (and sides where these front the street) and will 

be resisted. 

 

 

The demolition of boundary walls and railings facing the street now 

needs planning permission and will be resisted. 

 

 

Page 293



14 
 

Front Gardens 
 

 

 

Green front gardens are vital not only in 

preserving the attractive character and 

qualities of the area, but also in providing 

a wildlife corridor, enhancing biodiversity 

and reducing flood risk. Planting more soft 

landscaping- grass, flowers, shrubs and 

trees- in front gardens, and reinstating it 

where lost, helps to ensure that Park 

Avenue remains an attractive place to live.                         

Historic and traditional front garden paths 

are also a feature of Park Avenue and a 

key characteristic of the conservation 

area. Vegetation and tiled paths should be 

retained and repaired where necessary.  

Control over Trees 

Within conservation areas trees are given special protection. Written applications 

for consent must be made to the council giving six weeks notice of intent to top, 

lop, or fell a tree over 75mm (3 inches) in diameter, measured at 1.5 metres 

above ground. This period of six weeks must be given for the council to either 

approve the application or to serve a Tree Preservation Order. For more 

information on tree work applications, please contact the Council’s tree officer 

via planning@worcester.gov.uk. 

  

The creation of a hard surface at the front of a house which faces the 

road, now needs planning permission and will be resisted. 

 

Page 294



15 
 

Energy Improvements 
 

Historic buildings were often built differently and using different materials than 

we do today. Improving their energy efficiency whilst at the same time not 

harming their character or damaging the existing materials therefore requires 

careful consideration. Many new materials (particularly insulations) are 

incompatible with historic buildings whose construction was designed to ‘breathe’ 

where new build construction is designed to work as a barrier to the outside. 

Energy use can often first be reduced by small internal measures such as smart 

metering, insulating hot water cylinders and pipes or the installation of a high-

efficiency condensing boiler with individual thermostatic controls on each 

radiator. Energy efficient lighting and household appliances can also play a 

significant part in reducing household carbon emissions.  

Before making any decisions on how to upgrade your home it is important to 

understand where you are losing energy and how you can most cost-effectively 

utilize it. This requires first most making repairs to exclude draughts and 

ensuring that you have effective controls to manage your energy usage. 

Simple measure such as heavy duty curtains and blinds will reduce the effect of 

draughts, while mending cracks and eliminating gaps in your windows and doors 

and fitting draught proof strips and brushes (available from any DIY store) can 

reduce air loss by as much as 86%. Secondary glazing used with well-fitting 

shutters can cut heat loss by 60%. When fitting secondary glazing you should 

ensure that the meeting rails on the secondary glazing units match the location 

of the glazing bar/meeting rail of the existing windows. None of these works 

need planning permission. 

 

 

 

Solar Panels and Micro-generation Equipment 
Solar panels and micro-generation equipment such as wind turbines need 

planning permission if they are to be installed on the front of a house or the side 

of a house which faces the road, and so less visible locations should be 

considered first. Where they are required to face the road in order to maximize 

solar gain their placement will be considered in accordance with the design 

guidance for roof lights on page 12.  

Double or Secondary Glazing 
Installation of secondary glazing is usually preferable to replacement: this can 

insulate effectively whilst also limiting draughts. Well-designed secondary 

Planning permission will however now be required for double glazing, 

solar panels and microgeneration equipment and external insulations 

or renders on the front of properties or facing the street. 

 

Page 295



16 
 

glazing units can be both discreet and reversible while the installation of double 

glazed units would usually require replacement of the whole window as the 

glazing bars of these sash windows are too thin to support heavier double 

glazing. Where secondary glazing is fitted care needs to be taken to ensure that 

any central division aligns with the meeting rails or central glazing bars of the 

timber sashes. Secondary glazing does not require planning permission. 

New double glazed timber windows may be suitable where these match the 

original window details and do not result in unsuitably thick frames or glazing 

bars. The replacement of historic Victorian or Edwardian windows with 

untraditional modern alternatives is likely to detract from the appearance and 

reduce the value of your home so you should think carefully before replacing 

your original windows. Some traditional glazing patterns are difficult to replicate 

with thicker double glazed units, so repair, rather than replacement, should 

always be first choice. Large paned sash or casement windows may be possible 

to double glaze, either in the existing frame, or in new joinery, in a way that 

replicates the appearance of the original ”like for like”. New double glazed timber 

windows may also be suitable where these match the original window details and 

do not result in unsuitably thick frames or glazing bars. 

 

There is guidance available on the options for improving the energy efficiency of 

your home at: 

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/eehb-how-

to-improve-energy-efficiency  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 296

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/eehb-how-to-improve-energy-efficiency
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/eehb-how-to-improve-energy-efficiency


17 
 

Summary of Planning Requirements under Conservation Area 

designation and Article 4(1) Direction 
    

 PLANNING PERMISSION IS REQUIRED 

? PLANNING PERMISSION MAY BE REQUIRED  

   

   Note: This list is not exhaustive 

Repairs and Maintenance 

? Repairs (If undertaken in a like for like manner) 

? Maintenance 

    

Extensions and Ancillary Buildings 
    ? Single storey rear extensions constructed in materials of similar 

appearance to those used on the existing house (Subject to scale 
restrictions) 

 Front, side and two storey extensions 

 
Detached ancillary buildings or enclosures to the side of the 
dwelling house 

    

Walls   

 Painting or cladding unless repairing or renewing an existing surface 

 
Satellite dishes or microwave antenna on an elevation fronting a 
highway, on a chimney, and on a building over 15 metres high 

 
Installing, altering or replacing a chimney, flue soil or vent pipe on 
a wall or roof on a principal or side elevation fronting a highway 

    

Roofs   

 Raising the ridge/expanding the size of the roof 

 Installing a dormer window or roof light 

? Renewing or replacing a roof covering 
 Installing solar panels or photovoltaics on a principal or side 

elevation facing a highway 

    

Boundaries 

 
Demolition, erection or alteration of walls, fences, gates and railings 

visible from a highway 

    

Gardens 

 Works to trees - in most cases (see page 14) 

 Hard surfacing or dropped kerbs to front gardens  
    ? Garden ornaments/planting and maintenance (Deep digging in 

areas of archaeological importance may require notification) 
 
 Swimming or other pool to the side or front of the dwelling house 

Page 297



18 
 

Frequently Asked Questions 
 

What about minor alterations? 

Minor changes which do not detract from the character or appearance of you 

building such as painting your doors or windows, installing a single light to the 

porch, or fitting a burglar alarm box do not need planning permission. Other 

periodic general maintenance and repairs such as repointing and cleaning do not 

need planning permission, however, when improving houses owners are 

encouraged to use appropriate methods in order to preserve the character of the 

area. The basic underlying principle is to keep your historic property in good 

repair and retain/repair historic features rather than replace them. 

If in doubt contact the conservation and heritage team before starting work by 

email: planning@worcester.gov.uk   

Will I need to pay a fee for planning permission? 
Worcester City Council does not charge a fee for any planning application that is 

required as a result of the Article 4 Direction. All other applications for planning 

permission still require a fee. 

Making a planning application 
The City Council actively encourages the use of the Planning Portal for online 

submission of Planning Applications. The service is free and registration is easy. 

Whilst we strongly recommend that you submit your application online via the 

Planning Portal, we appreciate that in certain circumstances this may not be 

appropriate, in this instance, you will need to download the appropriate 

application form. 

Contact details: 

Development Management 

Worcester City Council 
The Guildhall 

High Street 
Worcester 
WR1 2EY 

 

Page 298

mailto:planning@worcester.gov.uk
http://www.planningportal.co.uk/
http://www.planningportal.co.uk/
http://www.planningportal.co.uk/
http://www.worcester.gov.uk/planning-application-forms?p_p_id=56_INSTANCE_CXjaKTJdUf2k&p_p_lifecycle=0&p_p_state=normal&p_p_mode=view&p_p_col_id=column-1


Application Number 19/00851/FUL

Site Address JVM Castings Site, Droitwich Road, Worcester, WR3 
7JX

Description of 
Development

Demolition of part of an existing industrial building (Class 
B2) and erection of a retail food store (Class A1) with 
provision of associated car parking, access and 
landscaping, together with provision of car parking 
associated with the retained industrial use and new 
access.

Case Officer Sally Watts Applicant Ashfield Land 
(Birmingham) Ltd & 
JVM Castings Ltd 

Ward Member(s) Claines Ward Agent Ms Kate Simpson

Reason for Referral to 
Committee

Major application Expiry 
Date

 23rd March 2020

Key Issues The principle of development and whether the proposal 
would be sustainable form of development having regard 
to the 3 dimensions of sustainable development in terms 
of its economic role, social role and environmental role.  

Web link to application https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Planning/Display/19/00851
/FUL

Recommendation The Deputy Director – Economic Development and 
Planning recommends that the Planning Committee 
is minded to grant planning permission, subject to 
the applicant and all persons having an interest in 
the land entering into an agreement under Section 
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 in 
accordance with the agreed Heads of Terms, and 
subject to the Deputy Director - Governance being 
satisfied with the nature of such an Agreement 
delegate to the Deputy Director - Economic 
Development and Planning approval to grant the 
necessary planning permission, subject to the 
conditions set out in section 9 of this report.

1. Background

1.1 The application was registered on 11th November 2019 and was due for a decision on 
10th February 2020. An extension of time for the determination of the application has 
been agreed until 23rd March 2020 to allow determination by the Planning 
Committee.

Page 299 Agenda Item 10

https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Search/Results
https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Search/Results


1.2 The application has been referred to the Planning Committee as a major application 
in accordance with the adopted Scheme of Delegation as the floor area exceeds 1000 
sq.m.   

2.       The site and surrounding area 

2.1 The site is part of the JVM Castings curtilage, consisting of dilapidated hard 
standings, which are partly used for parking. The application site area is 1.84 ha 
site.  

2.2 Figure 1 shows the application site boundary includes a section of Droitwich Road 
close to the site. This is to take into account the highway works associated with the 
proposed development. The correct notice regarding land ownership has been served 
on Worcestershire County Council. 

2.3 The site is within an extensively built-up area although there are sports fields 
adjacent to the site. It lies outside a Conservation Area and there are no listed 
buildings in the vicinity or non designated heritage assets. 

  
2.4 The site has a wide access onto the Droitwich Road. There is an existing boundary of 

small trees and shrubs, however these are in a poor state of repair and add little to 
quality to the streetscene. 

Figure 1. Site location plan

Page 300



2.5 There is a well established public right of way to the north which provides cycle and 
pedestrian access links to the closest residential area of Claines, and more 
specifically Gilmour Crescent and St Michaels Road and links into Cornmeadow Lane 
and Ombersely Road.

2.6 The whole site is considered to be potentially contaminated due to the nature of the 
activity on the site and there is an additional surface water constraint to the northern 
area of the site which is currently car park. 

Constraints map

2.7 To the north of the site are established playing fields that are designated as Green 
Belt (pale green overlay) and the spotted area is the Green space designation which 
is to the north and the historically associated playing fields relating to the factory to 
the west of the wider site.  

Figure 2. Constraints map

3.      The proposals

3.1 The proposal is for the erection of a 2125sq.m.foodstore with 110 car parking spaces 
that would be facilitated by the demolition of 307sq.m. of existing buildings on the 
site and relocation of JVM  parking and creation of a secondary access.    

3.2 The application details imply Lidl is the intended operator. However, Members are 
advised to determine the application on the basis of a food store, rather than a 
brand name. 

Page 301



Built form of the food store

3.3 The proposed stand alone building has a clean aesthetic with a simple framed 
design. The total height of the building is 6.7 metres with a canopy area around the 
entrance. The building form slopes away to the rear with a height of 5.5 metres at 
the rear elevation. The top 2.7 metres is in a grey cladding, and a white render on 
the lower area with a dark grey band at ground level. 

3.4 The delivery dock is set lower than the main frame of the store and the area 
reserved for delivery HGVs means it is recessed by 22.5 metres. 

3.5 The south elevation is proposed to be largely glazed. This maximises the natural 
solar gain as well providing illumination into the store. It also affords natural 
surveillance from within the store to the southern car parking area. As set out in the 
Energy Statement, the proposal will incorporate an air source heat pump which is 
anticipated to supply 16% of the predicted energy requirement for the development. 

3.6 Please note that the advertisements shown on the proposed plans is indicative only 
and will be subject to a separate application for advertisement consent. 

Access and car parking

3.7 The food store is sited in the northern area of the site with a new access 
approximately 10 metres from the public footpath to the north of the site. Deliveries 
have a designated loading bay to the north of the building with a ramp down into a 
loading dock.

 
3.8 The car parking for the food store is to the front and side of the store building. There 

are 110 spaces provided in this area of the site, together with cycle storage below 
the canopy on the southern elevation of the building.  The proposed site plan 
indicates 6 disabled persons parking spaces with close access to the zebra crossing 
and 8 parent and child spaces immediately in front of the store. There is pedestrian 
access from Droitwich road with zebra markings to the principle entrance, together 
with pedestrian access from the public footpath to the north.

3.9 The existing JVM castings operation is to remain, providing access into the area of 
the site including the weighbridge, with the exit for HGVs that have utilised this area 
to exit to the main JVM entrance and exit. This exit is 29.5 metres from the rear 
boundary of the site. This provides access to 125 staff car parking spaces, together 
with motorbike and bicycle parking close to the access into the factory. 

3.10 There is pedestrian access  to the JVM castings site with security gate immediately 
below the area allocated to the food store site with access to the existing car park. 

3.11 Access to the rear area of the site is enabled by the demolition to ground level of 
part of the building.  

3.12 The application is subject to the Worcester City CIL Charging Schedule which came 
into effect on 4th September 2017. Food Retail (Supermarkets) of 100 square 
metres and above is subject to a CIL charge of £60 per square metre.

3.13 Based on the information provided on the ‘CIL Additional Information Requirements 
Form’ and given that the existing building is in lawful use, the CIL charge for this 
planning application is calculated as follows:

Page 302



£60 per square metre x 1,818 net additional gross internal floorspace x 327 (current 
indexation rate) /286 (baseline indexation rate) = £124,717.34.

3.14 A S106 agreement is to be agreed to secure cycleway markings on a section of 
Droitwich Road. This is to be undertaken by Worcestershire County Council on behalf 
of the developers and the agreement is to agree suitable payment to cover these 
works as they are necessary to ensure safer cycle travel routes to and from the site.

Supporting information

3.15 The application is accompanied by a full set of plans together with a suite of 
supporting documents that include:

Documents

 1930- Design & Access Statement
 Retail Statement
 Retail assessment addendum
 Environmental Noise Report -Rev C
 Travel Plan
 Statement of Community Involvement
 Transport Assessment
 Arboricultural Impact Assessment –Rev 3
 Flood Risk Assessment
 Contaminated Land Desk Study
 Ecological Appraisal- Rev B
 Health Impact Assessment
 Light Pollution (Lux Levels)- Rev C
 Energy Statement
 Planning Statement
 1019948 RPT-AQ-001, revision: C -Air Quality Assessment
 P18/-0056P18-0056 -Response to Consultation FINAL 27.01.20

Plans

 1930-PA01 Rev A Site Location Plan
 1930-PA02 -Existing Site Plan
 1930-PA03 REV C1930-PA03 rev C -Overall Site Plan 
 1930-PA04 REV C1930-PA04 rev C -Lidl Site Plan
 1930-PA05 - Proposed Lidl Plan and Roof Plan
 1930-PA06 - Proposed Lidl Elevations
 1930-PA07 - Proposed Works to JVM Castings Building
 1930/PA 04C - Legend of Proposed Changes
 CWA-18-169-507 - Proposed Drainage Details
 CWA-18-169-520, revision: 7 - Proposed External Levels
 19023-101/1Soft Landscape Scheme Sheet 1
 19023-101/2Soft Landscape Scheme Sheet 2
 19023-101 Spec Soft Landscape Specification
 SES 19023-102CSES 19023-102C -Soft Landscape Sheet
 SES 19023-103C -Droitwich Road_Detailed Landscape
 SES 19023-103C-Soft landscape Spec_Detailed Landscape

Page 303



3.16 In accordance with Article 15 (7) of The Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), full details of the 
application have been published on the Council’s website. As such, Members will 
have had the opportunity to review the submitted plans and documents in order to 
familiarise themselves with the proposals prior to consideration and determination of 
the application accordingly.

4. Planning Policy 

4.1 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (‘the Act’) establishes the legislative 
framework for consideration of this application. Section 70(2) of the Act requires the 
decision-maker in determining planning applications/appeals to have regard to the 
Development Plan, insofar as it is material to the application/appeal, and to any 
other material consideration. Where the Development Plan is material to the 
development proposal it must therefore be taken into account.  Section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the application/appeal to be 
determined in accordance with the Plan, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

4.2 The Development Plan for Worcester now comprises:

 The South Worcestershire Development Plan (SWDP) which was adopted 
February 2016, and;

 The Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy, which was adopted on December 2012. 

South Worcestershire Development Plan

4.3   The following policies of the SWDP are considered to be relevant to the proposal:

 SWDP 1: Overarching Sustainable Development Principles;
 SWDP 2: Development Strategy and Settlement Hierarchy
 SWDP 3: Employment, Housing and Retail Provision Requirement   Delivery;
 SWDP 4: Moving Around South Worcestershire
 SWDP 5: Green Infrastructure
 SWDP 7: Infrastructure
 SWDP 8: Providing the Right Land and Buildings for Jobs
 SWDP 10:  Protection and Promotion of Centres and Local Shops
 SWDP 21: Design
 SWDP22: Biodiversity and Geodiversity
 SWDP25: Landscape Character
 SWDP 27: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy
 SWDP 29: Sustainable Drainage Systems
 SWDP 30: Water Resources, Efficiency and Treatment
 SWDP 31: Pollution and Land Instability
 SWDP33: Waste

The Waste Core Strategy for Worcestershire - Adopted Waste Local Plan 
2012-2027 

4.4 The Waste Local Plan was adopted by Worcestershire County Council on 15 
November 2012 and is a plan outlining how to manage all the waste produced in 
Worcestershire up to 2027. The following policies are relevant to this application: 

WCS1   (Presumption in favour of sustainable development) 

Page 304



WCS3   (Re-use and recycle)
WCS17 (Making provision for waste in new development)

Material Considerations

1. National Planning Policy Framework

4.5 The latest version of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published 
and came into effect in February 2019. The NPPF sets out the Government's planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It constitutes 
guidance for local planning authorities and decision takers and is a material planning 
consideration in determining planning applications. 

4.6 The NPPF outlines a series of considerations against which delivering sustainable 
development should be assessed. The Government believes that sustainable 
development can play three critical roles in England: an economic role, contributing 
to a strong, responsive, competitive economy; a social role, supporting vibrant and 
healthy communities; and an environmental role, protecting and enhancing our 
natural, built and historic environment.

4.7 Paragraph 38 of the NPPF encourages Local Planning Authorities to approach decision 
taking in a positive way and to foster the delivery of sustainable development. Local 
Planning Authorities are advised to approach decisions on proposed development in 
a positive and creative way. They should use the full range of planning tools 
available, including brownfield registers and permission in principle, and work 
proactively with applicants to secure developments that will improve the economic, 
social and environmental conditions of the area. Decision-makers at every level 
should seek to approve applications for sustainable development where possible.

4.8 The sections in the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 relating to achieving 
well designed places are of particular relevance (paragraphs 124-130), together with 
paragraphs  100-109 regarding  highway safety, and paragraph 89 relating to retail 
development.

4.9 Paragraph 89 gives guidance for assessing applications for retail and leisure 
development outside town centres, which are not in accordance with an up-to-
date plan, ‘local planning authorities should require an impact assessment if the 
development is over a proportionate, locally set floorspace threshold (if there is no 
locally set threshold, the default threshold is 2,500m2 of gross floorspace). This 
should include assessment of:

a) the impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public and private 
investment in a centre or centres in the catchment area of the proposal; and
b) the impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, including local 
consumer choice and trade in the town centre and the wider retail catchment (as 
applicable to the scale and nature of the scheme).

90. Where an application fails to satisfy the sequential test or is likely to have 
significant adverse impact on one or more of the considerations in paragraph 89, it 
should be refused.’ 

The Local Planning Authority has an up to date plan which provides clear advice on 
the assessment of retail impact. 

Page 305



2. National Planning Practice Guidance 

4.10 On 6th March 2014 the Government also published National Planning Practice 
Guidance (NPPG) that has been updated in the meantime and comprises, amongst 
other matters: Air Quality, Design, Determining a planning application,  Health and 
Wellbeing, Light Pollution, Natural Environment, Noise, Travel Plans, Transport 
Assessments and Statements in Decision-Taking, Use of Planning Conditions, and 
Planning Obligations.

3. National Design Guide (October 2019)

4.11 The National Design Guide illustrates how well-designed places can be achieved in 
practice. It forms part of the Government’s collection of planning practice guidance 
and should be read alongside the separate planning practice guidance on design 
process and tools. 
4. Supplementary Planning Documents

4.12 The following Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) are relevant to the 
application proposals:-

 South Worcestershire Design SPD

The South Worcestershire Design SPD was adopted on 5th March 2018 and replaces 
the previous Supplementary Planning Guidance Note 3: Design (SPG3). Both 
documents encourage high standards of design for development proposals in 
accordance with the aims and interests that the NPPF seeks to protect and promote 
in this regard. The Design Quality SPD is consistent with the planning policies in the 
SWDP. 

 Planning for Health in South Worcestershire SPD

The Planning for Health SPD primarily focuses on the principal links between 
planning and health. It provides guidance and interpretation of the SWDP from a 
public health perspective. The SPD addresses the following nine health and wellbeing 
principles:

 Sustainable development
 Urban form - design and the public realm
 Housing and employment
 Age-friendly environments for the elderly and those living with dementia
 Community facilities
 Green infrastructure and play spaces/recreation
 Air quality, noise, light and water management
 Active travel
 Encouraging healthier food choices

 Developer Contributions SPD

The Developer Contributions SPD was adopted by the South Worcestershire Councils 
on the 20th October 2016. The Developer Contributions SPD sets out the South 
Worcestershire Councils’ approach to seeking developer contributions via the SWDP 
for infrastructure or environmental improvements required as a result of 
development. The SPD provides guidance about when planning obligations will be 

Page 306



expected, the scale of developer contributions, and how developer contributions will 
be used.

 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy SPD

The SPD relates to policy SWDP 27 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan, 
which seeks to promote a percentage of energy requirements on qualifying 
development sites to be provided from renewable energy and/or low carbon sources. 
The policy also requires large scale development to examine the potential for 
decentralised energy and heating networks, and also sets out the policy approach for 
stand alone renewable and low carbon energy schemes (with the exception of wind 
turbines).

4. Worcestershire’s Local Transport Plan (LTP4) 2018 – 2030

4.13 LTP4 set out issues and priorities for investment in transport infrastructure, 
technology and services, focussed on supporting travel by all modes. In accordance 
with national and local objectives, a series of local transport-specific objectives are 
identified in the LTP4:

 “To support Worcestershire’s economic competitiveness and growth through 
delivering a safe, reliable and efficient transport network.

 To limit the impacts of transport in Worcestershire on the local environment, by 
supporting enhancements to the natural environment and biodiversity, investing 
in transport infrastructure to reduce flood risk and other environmental damage, 
and reducing transport-related emissions of nitrogen dioxide, particulate matter, 
greenhouse gases and noise pollution. This will support delivery of the desired 
outcomes of tackling climate change and reducing the impacts of transport on 
public health.

 To contribute towards better safety, security, health and longer life expectancy in 
Worcestershire, by reducing the risk of death, injury or illness arising from 
transport and promoting healthy modes of travel.

 To optimise equality of opportunity for all of Worcestershire’s citizens with the 
desired outcome of creating a fairer society.

 To enhance the quality of life for Worcestershire’s residents by promoting a 
healthy, natural environment, for people, wildlife and habitats, conserving our 
historic built environment and preserving our heritage assets."

5. Worcestershire County Council Streetscape Design Guide (2018)

4.14 The ‘Streetscape Design Guide' (SDG) was produced to aid architects, engineers, 
planners, developers, designers and other professionals in preparing transport 
infrastructure related to new developments. It is to be considered in conjunction with 
Manual for Streets 1 and 2, as well as the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges.

4.15 Chapter 4 relates to ‘Planning for Parking’ and seeks to provide an approach as to 
how car parking in Worcestershire should be provided to support development in a 
manner which embraces the NPPF. It is considered that if the applicant is the end 
user that they are well placed to assess operational demands but all sites must be 
considered against a planning use class to ensure they equally address the needs of 
future users. Therefore applications should provide a suitable evidence base to 
ensure vehicles are not displaced onto the highway to ensure highway safety is not 
compromised and maintain the free flow of traffic to the benefit of the local 
economy. 

Page 307



This document only reflects a small part of managing vehicle demands and therefore 
should be read alongside the Local Transport Plan (above) which contains policies to 
promote sustainable travel through the provision of physical infrastructure and travel 
planning initiatives.

5  Planning History

5.1  The site has been the subject of an extensive planning history relating to the 
incremental growth and updating of the buildings and activities on the site. However 
there are no specific applications of relevance to this application /proposal. 

Pre-application Engagement

An EIA screening was completed in September 2019. 

Public Consultation by Applicant

Pre-application consultation was also undertaken in the form of a public exhibition at 
Perdiswell Young Peoples Club.  

6      Consultations

6.1 Formal consultation, including display of site notices, has been undertaken in respect 
of the application. The following comments from statutory and non-statutory 
consultees and interested third parties have been received in relation to the original 
and amended proposals and are summarised as follows:

Neighbours and other third party comments: Objections have been received 
from the residents of 21 and 28 The Drive, 26 Checketts Court, 40 and 48 Gilmour 
Crescent on grounds relating to the following matters:

 Proliferation of operator’s food stores - 2 already on this side of the city;
 concern regarding traffic levels on A38- particularly relating to lorries and 

deliveries to both JVM and Lidl and from the school;
 increase in noise levels;
 additional noise, disturbance or litter caused by proximity to JVM car park;
 concern traffic caused by the development could delay the bus service;
 concern it will affect the 2 existing Co-ops on Ombersley Road;
 concern it will affect vehicular access to the rear of properties on Gilmour 

Crescent, and; 
 concern that the sales of alcohol in the food store will exacerbate existing anti-

social behaviour in the alley to the rear of their property (north of the site).

Councillor Mel Allcott: objects on grounds relating to the following matters:

 Proliferation of food stores locally
 Increased traffic 
 Air pollution

Two letters of support have been received from the residents of 16 The Drive and 8 
Checketts Court on the grounds that it would provide support for employment 
opportunities and create healthy local competition and food shopping choice.   

Page 308



Worcester City Council Archaeological Officer: recommending conditions to 
secure an appropriate level of archaeological investigation and protection of remains 
where required. 

Worcester City Council Landscape and Biodiversity Adviser: the Landscape and 
Biodiversity Adviser is satisfied with the changes made to the landscaping following 
concerns it was insufficient.

Worcester City Council - Economic Development & Regeneration: the loss of  
B2- albeit currently as parking- could affect the future ability of site occupier to grow. 
Requested a condition regarding skills/apprenticeships. 
 
Worcestershire County Council (Highway Authority): no objection, subject to 
conditions and financial obligations.

Worcestershire County Council - Strategic Planning and Public Health: support 
a local food store in the area of city promoting access to fresh food. A variety of 
comments are also made relating to the promotion of sustainable travel and design 
aspects to promote inclusive design. 

Worcestershire Regulatory Services (Air Quality): the submitted information is 
considered comprehensive but WRS require conditions to secure 11 EV charging 
points for this development, plus cycle parking details and low emission boilers. 

Worcestershire Regulatory Services (Nuisance):’ The submitted noise 
assessment appears satisfactory. The assessment predicts that noise from the 
operation of the proposed retail store should not adversely impact the nearest noise 
sensitive receptors in terms of HGV delivery noise and external plant / equipment 
noise. Further information regarding the loading bay has been submitted and is 
acceptable. In terms of externally located plant / equipment, the noise assessment 
has set noise limits for these and this should be complied with. When the final design 
has been completed the applicant should
submit details to show compliance with these noise limits. External Lighting: The 
submitted external lighting assessment appears satisfactory, therefore I have no 
objection to the application in terms of light nuisance.’ 

South Worcestershire Land Drainage Partnership: ‘no objection in principle to 
the proposals with respect to flood risk but applications that involve an intensification 
of use should ensure that appropriate measures are in place, in the detailed design. 
They point would that SWLDP is only in a position to comment on matters that may 
affect existing ordinary watercourses on or adjacent the site of which there seem to 
be none.’ 

Lead Local Flood Authority: No comments received at the time of preparing this 
report. Any received will be reported as a late paper.

West Mercia Constabulary Crime Risk Manager: comments that she is satisfied a 
parking management plan can be submitted for approval by condition. 

Conservation Advisory Panel: The application was put before CAP for design 
consideration. They felt the scheme has a poor frontage facing Droitwich Road which 
could be improved with stronger street tree planting to compensate for the loss of 
existing vegetation. 

Page 309



6.2 Members have been given the opportunity to read all representations that have been 
received in full. At the time of writing this report no other consultation responses 
have been received. Any additional responses received will be reported to members 
verbally or in the form of a late paper, subject to the date of receipt. 

6.3 In assessing the proposal due regard has been given to local residents comments as 
material planning considerations. Nevertheless, I am also mindful that decisions 
should not be made solely on the basis of the number of representations, whether 
they are for or against a proposal. The Localism Act has not changed this, nor has it 
changed the advice that local opposition or support for a proposal is not in itself a 
ground for refusing or granting planning permission unless it is founded on valid 
planning reasons.

7. Comments of Deputy Director - Economic Development and Planning

7.1 Policy SWDP1 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan sets out overarching 
sustainable development principles and these are consistent with the Framework. 
The various impacts of the development have to be assessed and the benefit and 
adverse impacts considered, establishing whether what is proposed is sustainable 
development. Taking the above matters into account I consider the main issues 
raised by the proposal relate to the principle of development and whether the 
development would be sustainable, having regard to the 3 dimensions of 
sustainability set out in the Framework: economic, social and environmental, in 
particular with regard to:

1.  The economic role;

2.  The social role:
- crime risk and antisocial behaviour
- residential amenity;
-food choice

3.  The environmental role:
- design 
-landscape character and visual impact
 - access, car parking and highway safety;
 -electric charging points
 -access by alternative modes of transport 

  - drainage and flooding;
      - energy conservation.
         
These issues will now each be considered in turn. 

The Principle of Development

7.2 The site is not affected by any policies in the SWDP which would preclude 
development of the site. However, there are policies which require consideration in 
terms of how the scheme would affect existing dynamics of the city, in this instance 
the food retail provision in the city. This relates to policy SWDP10 which seeks to 
provide protection and promotion of centres and local shops. Parts B and C of this 
policy are relevant and I have taken these aspects in turn to assess the principle of 
development.

Page 310



B. Any retail or leisure development proposal of over 1,000 square 
metres net that is located outside the defined centres listed in Table 5 
below must be accompanied by a Retail Impact Assessment.

C. Planning permission for retail and leisure development outside the 
centres listed in Table 5 below will not be granted unless the applicant 
has demonstrated that:

i. The sequential test set out in paragraph 24 of the Framework, or any 
subsequent amended test in national planning policy for the 
consideration of retail and leisure development, has been satisfied.

ii. The scale of development is appropriate to the location.

iii. The development would have no significant adverse impact on the 
vitality and viability of a centre.

iv. Access by all travel modes and particularly bus, cycle and walking is 
convenient and safe, taking into account any improvements provided 
by the development.

7.3 A retail impact assessment has been undertaken. To ensure robustness, external 
advice from an independent retail consultant has been commissioned by the Local 
Planning Authority to carry out a detailed and critical evaluation of the assessment 
and provide advice on the findings. 

7.4 A sequential test was carried out with the following criteria being agreed as 
reasonable as the parameters for site assessment and align with guidance in the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2019: 

 Site confined to Worcester and comprising the city centre, St Johns and the local 
centres of Ankerage Green, Barbourne, Cranham Drive and the neighbourhood 
centre of Northwick;

 Size – a site of at least 0.77ha to ensure adequate customer parking plus HGV 
deliveries to manoeuvre; 

 Level/flat topography or the ability to be developed as such to allow a single 
storey, open and unrestricted sales floor area;

 Access – direct and/or easy vehicular access to the main road network is 
required; 

 Visibility – the store needs to be directly visible from the main road network;
 Ready to start on site in 2020.

 
7.5 The sequential test identified the following sites to be included in the assessment: 

 Former City Centre Co-operative Convenience Store 
 Trinity House / Cornmarket 
 Fire Station / Crowngate / Angel Place / The Butts 
 St Martin’s Quarter and Tallow Hill Retail Park/ Shrub Hill Retail Park 
 Shrub Hill Opportunity Zone 
 Carden Street Opportunity Zone
 Vacant Units in Worcester City Centre

7.6 Following this process the LPAs consultant was of the view that overall there are no 
suitable sites for a medium sized food store in sequentially preferable locations and 
that the sequential test is passed.’  

Page 311



7.7 The review regarding the impact on local centres and food shopping retailers in the 
city has been undertaken in two parts with an initial review and then it was 
requested that the applicant take a closer look at the former Barbourne Road 
Approach Corridor and Northwick shopping centre, together with analysis of the shop 
units identifying direct competitors. 

7.8 This was provided and it has been assessed that the impact will still fall mostly on 
out of centre shops and particularly those at Blackpole and the Co-op on Ombersley 
Road. The in-centre stores which are most likely to be affected are the Sainsbury 
and Nisa stores in the Barbourne Centre and the Tesco and Sainsbury convenience 
stores on Foregate Street. The significance of estimated turnovers will be re-
assessed in the conclusion.

7.9 Data was provided and reassessed as a result of comments from LPAs consultant. 
The following table shows the trade draw, which is a predicted estimation of where 
the shoppers will be diverted from. It should be noted that the percentage figures 
takes into account trading and sales area too. 

Store
Original % 
Impact 

Revised % Impact 

Aldi Tybridge St 10.7% 4.0%

Lidl Blackpole 17.1% 28.4%

Tesco Ankerage Green 3.4% 2.7%

Sainsbury Blackpole 6.2% 6.2%

Aldi Pheasant St 9.0% 11.3%

Tesco St Peters 1.2% 0%

Lidl Newtown Rd 7.7% 11.6%

Asda St Martins 2.6% 2.6%

Sainsbury St Johns 1.0% 0%

Co-op 46 Ombersley Rd 3.6% 9.6%

Co-op Ankerage Green 5.9% 5.9%

Sainsbury Barbourne 5.1% 10.2%

Tesco Express Foregate 0% 10.6%

Sainsbury Foregate 0% 2.5% 
Figure 3. 

7.10 Two of the 5 most affected businesses are the proposed operatives own stores, with 
Blackpole being affected by a rate of 28% loss of turnover which is significant. 

7.11 This was queried directly with the consultant whether the trade draw was predicated 
by Lidl trading from the site or is it applicant blind - meaning it is not prejudiced by a 
certain food retailer. 

7.12 The Local Planning Authority was advised that there are two elements of the impact 
assessment which might be retailer sensitive, the estimated turnover of the proposal 
and the likely trade draw.  

Page 312



7.13 The estimated turnover used is based on £/sq.m and is a comparable figure for Aldi 
and other comparable food retailers. As such, it is sufficiently robust in being 
impartial to a specific retailer. 

7.14 Concern on this matter was raised given the high percentage of impact to Lidl 
Blackpole, estimated to be 28%. It is considered that this figure would not be 
significantly inaccurate if another retailer were to make this proposal as most impact 
would be as a result of convenience of the proposed store being in a closer location 
coupled with preference of a brand of retailer broadly equivalent irrespective of the 
food retailer. 

7.15 The impact on the Sainsbury store in the Barbourne centre was queried by Officers 
as if the logic is followed it should be greater. However, the advice that has been 
given by the LPAs consultant in response is that ‘the turnover in the SWRS* is 
estimated at £4.8m and while this might be well above the company average sales 
per sq. ft., the store does appear to trade well. This would give an estimate impact 
of 4.6% with the same trade diversion (£0.22m) to Lidl. The impact is likely to fall 
somewhere between the two.’ 

*South Worcestershire Retail Study

7.16 Blackpole Lidl store is considered an out of town retailer and, as such, is not afforded 
policy protection. Consequently, the impact is not considered to be material in this 
application. Sites that are afforded policy protection are not significantly affected 
(less than 10% of predicted trade draw) and any increased trade diversion resulting 
from another retailer on the centre as a whole would be acceptable.

7.17 In conclusion, the occupation by an alternative retailer would not lead the LPAs 
consultant to alter their conclusion that there is no retail planning objection to the 
proposed Lidl store, subject to a condition limiting the floorspace primarily to food 
sales. 

Impact on local shopping centres

7.18 The ‘Nisa’ shop in the Barbourne Local Centre is not included in the retail 
assessment.  This is because it is not identified in the household survey and thus not 
in the SWRS. The store is likely to suffer some impact, although less than the 
Sainsbury store (10.2%) as there is less direct competition. However, it is probably 
less resilient to trade loss. The two convenience goods stores are clearly important in 
the functioning of the centre and serve a walk-in trade for the neighbouring 
residential areas and pass-by trade on the arterial route out of the city centre. The 
Lidl is likely to have some effect on the pass by level of trade, but limited effect on 
the walk-in trade. In the LPAs consultant’s view, the closure of neither store as a 
result of this proposal is likely, and, bearing in mind the nature of other businesses 
in the centre, the loss of trade at the levels expected would not have significant 
adverse impact on the rest of the centre.

7.19 Northwick Centre - In the absence of a significant food outlet the LPAs consultant 
agrees that any significant adverse impact is unlikely. 

7.20 Barbourne Approach Corridor is defined as secondary retail frontage in the SWDP.  
There are signs of extensive recent investment and the centre has improved in 
recent years. 

Page 313



It can be considered as reasonably resilient. Although the LPAs consultant believes 
that there is more than one convenience food store in the frontage, it is agreed that 
any significant adverse impact from the Lidl store is unlikely.

7.21 Overall, it is concluded that the applicant has now demonstrated that the proposal is 
unlikely to cause significant adverse harm to any centre as the main impacts will be 
felt by stores which are out-of-centre. The nearest foodstores most likely to be 
affected are the two Co-ops on Ombersley Road and the Sainsbury and Nisa stores in 
the Barbourne Local Centre. The Co-ops do not receive policy protection and the 
impact on the shops in the Barbourne Centre is likely to be manageable and would 
not undermine the functioning of the centre as a whole. 

7.22 The applicant has demonstrated that there would be no significant impact on the 
Northwick Neighbourhood Centre because there are no significant food shops in the 
centre. It is therefore concluded that there is no retail planning objection to the 
proposed Lidl store, subject to a recommended condition regarding the floor area 
devoted to food and to comparison goods sales (The assessment has been carried 
out on the basis that the store would have a total of 1325 sq.m of net sales floor of 
which 1060 sq.m would be food sales and 265 sq.m would be comparison goods 
sales). It was advised that to restrict the proposal to a ‘discount food store’ was not 
good practice and I consider it would be likely to be unenforceable as a condition if 
applied.

Sustainable Development 

1. The economic role

7.23 The economic value of the proposal needs to be weighed against the loss of land 
currently in use as a car parking area for the existing premises as any potential 
expansion could therefore be limited with this proposal. 

7.24 However, there is economic value in the introduction of a retail food store in terms of 
contributing to the local economy. It is anticipated the proposal will generate  up to 
40 full and part time jobs. 

7.25 The area of the JVM site for the proposed development is currently under utilised. 
The proposal allows this part of the premises to be viably used and the income from 
the sale of land can support the ongoing JVM Castings business.. 

7.26 Additionally, it is appreciated that employment opportunities will be available during 
construction and use of the new build. It is hoped that the development on site will 
positively invest in training/apprenticeships which can be secured by condition.

7.27 On balance, the economic role of the site would be significantly improved with the 
proposed development of the site allowing new retail employment opportunities as 
well as providing the existing business with capital which can support its on-going 
viability. 

7.28 In this regard, policy SWDP8 - Providing the Right Land and Buildings for Jobs is 
relevant to the proposals. Part E of the policy states that the provision of 
employment land and the conversion of existing buildings to support job creation 
throughout South Worcestershire will be supported providing the development 
supports an existing business or new enterprise of a scale appropriate to the 
location. In my opinion, the proposal would meet the requirements of policy SWDP8. 

Page 314



In the short term the proposal would also see the creation of construction jobs for 
the construction period of the project and some on-going opportunities for the 
provision of goods and services. In my opinion, this weighs in favour of granting 
planning permission.

2. The social role 

7.29 The key aim is to provide development which contributes to the social well being of 
community. As a consequence, it has a social role which weighs in favour of granting 
planning permission. However, one must also consider the impact of the 
development on nearby residents.

Crime risk and anti-social behaviour 

7.30 A nearby resident in Gilmour Crescent has raised concerns that anti-social behaviour 
in the public right of way may increase with the potential opportunity to purchase 
alcohol from the food store. Whilst I appreciate that these concerns may be linked to 
their experience locally, nevertheless I note that the Crime Risk Manager has not 
raised objection to the proposal on this or any other grounds. 

Residential amenity

7.31 Policy SWDP 21 requires amongst other matters that new development should 
provide an adequate level of privacy, outlook, sunlight and daylight, and should not 
be unduly overbearing. This is consistent with paragraph 128 of the NPPF that has 
one of its core principles planning should always seek to secure high quality design 
and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and 
buildings. 

7.32 The majority of the boundary of the development area relates to highway or 
commercial premises - the southern boundary adjoins the vacant Perdiswelll House, 
and Units 2a, 3, 4, 5 and 5a Checketts Lane Industrial Estate. 

7.33 The exception is the western boundary to the car park area for the JVM staff car park 
which adjoins the boundary with 28, 30, 32, 34, 36 and 38 The Drive as shown 
below in figure 3.

Page 315



Figure 3. From block plan showing relationship to properties in The Drive. 

7.34 The development will introduce activity into an area of the site which is currently left 
void. The proposal will result in the introduction of vehicles entering and leaving the 
site at the start and end of working hours. However, I do not consider this level of 
activity would be harmful, especially within a reasonably dense residential area, the 
separation distances with adjacent residential properties and given that the adjacent 
industrial estate is likely to generate similar levels of activity also. 

7.35 On balance, I do not consider the proposal would result in an unacceptable degree of 
harm to neighbouring residents.

Food choice

7.36 Comments raised by Worcestershire County Council - Strategic Planning and Public 
Health identify some of the social benefits of the proposal in the provision of fresh 
food in the local area, which can have a positive impact on health and well being 
with easier access to fresh fruit and vegetables. This choice is especially relevant 
given the position of the food store near the new primary school, youth club and the 
number of local sports facilities in the area with football, golf, cricket and hockey in 
the future, all in close proximity to the proposed store. 

7.37 In my opinion, these social benefits weigh in favour of the proposals.

3. The environmental role

Design 

36.8m

40.7m

Page 316



7.38 Policy SWDP 21 requires that all development will be expected to be of a high design 
quality and integrate effectively with its surroundings and that development 
proposals must complement the character of the area. Furthermore, proposals 
should respond to surrounding buildings and the distinctive features or qualities that 
contribute to the visual and heritage interest of the townscape, frontages, streets 
and landscape quality of the local area and states that the scale, height and massing 
of development must be appropriate to the setting of the site and the surrounding 
landscape character and townscape, including existing urban grain and density. 

7.39 These policy requirements are consistent with the aims and objectives of the NPPF 
which attaches significant weight to the importance of design of the built 
environment and identifies it as a key aspect of sustainable development. High 
quality design goes beyond aesthetic considerations including the architecture of 
individual buildings to encompass the integration of new development into the 
natural, built and historic environment. This is reflected in corresponding Planning 
Practice Guidance on design and the National Design Guide. 

7.40 All relevant design guidance and polices discuss the importance of local 
distinctiveness and ensuring that development relates to the surroundings and local 
context. In this regard it is a difficult area to assess with such a diverse range of 
materials, building types, building uses and activities in the surrounding area. The 
main characteristic is the lessening of density away from the city centre and the 
change from residential to commercial land uses. This is coupled with a strong buffer 
afforded by the large verges on the eastern side of the A38 which secures the 
perception of moving away from the city with glimpses of buildings beyond. In this 
regard the level of landscaping is justified in ensuring it continues. 

7.41 Consideration has been given to the layout and relationship of the site with Droitwich 
Road as well as encouraging links to the food store for all users, not just car users. 
The level of landscaping has been improved to reflect its position on the edge of 
Worcester as entering a more open and semi- rural part of the city. Part of this 
assessment will relate to the level of signage and visual clutter that the food store 
will generate, which I consider could affect the character more than the introduction 
of the proposed development with colour and lighting being more prominent given 
the level of screening afforded to the building and car parking in the proposed design 
and the limited palette of materials coupled with the simple design of the building. 

7.42 Overall I consider that the proposals are inline with the aims set out in paragraph 
127(e), to optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an 
appropriate amount and mix of development (including green and other public 
space) and support local facilities and transport networks. 

Landscape character and visual impact

7.43 Most of the existing boundary treatment of the site is poor quality scrub with poorly 
maintained trees intermittently on the boundary. The proposal would change the 
character of the area, in terms of landscaping, with more formal boundary treatment 
and the introduction of necessary development such as the access ramp to the store 
and the vehicular entrance. 

7.44 The inclusion of extra heavy trees to the frontage will ensure these are more 
established and more robust and will ensure the benefits of the proposed 
landscaping would be visible quicker. 

Page 317



7.45 Along the frontage 6 extra heavy trees will be introduced and within the car park 
between the rows of car parking in front of the building will be  4 extra heavy trees. 
There is an ornamental hedge mix to the frontage with large ornamental planting 
also near the vehicular entrance. The frontage is likely to be well screened by the 
number of trees as well as the distance to the highway (58 metres at the closest 
point, 85 metres at the building’s mid point and 100 metres at the vehicular 
entrance).

7.46 Along the northern and southern boundary are proposed 12 extra heavy trees (4 by 
the loading bay) plus native hedging and native planting which will improve the 
boundary and provide a clear barrier to the built form from the wider views into the 
area. 

7.47 There is no significant landscaping in the proposed car parking area to JVM Castings, 
however I would not expect this on a site which has this degree of utility and similar 
operations. 

7.48 Overall, I consider that the proposed landscaping scheme will have a positive impact 
on the visual quality of the streetscene and the mix of native species will introduce 
new biodiversity to this edge of city site. The Landscape and Biodiversity Advisor is 
satisfied in the changes to the scheme are adequate to remove his concerns in this 
matter. 

Access, Car Parking and Highway Safety

7.49 The Highway Authority has found the scheme to be acceptable following negotiation 
to secure the following alterations to A38: 

 Bus Lane Slip Road reinstatement to verge;

 Bus Stop relocation and enhancement to include, shelter, accessible kerbing and 
timetable information;

 On Road advisory Cycle Lane between John Comyn Drive and Fernhill Heath on 
both sides of the A38 Droitwich Road.

7.50 The Highway Authority has no objection to the proposals and has requested 
conditions to secure  the provision of cycle parking and electric charging points, a 
employee travel plan plus active travel facilities (for changing and showering) on the 
site and a construction environment management plan to ensure the scheme fulfils 
the requirements relating to sustainable travel.  

7.51 The justification for this decision is provided below:

The application seeks to provide a new A1 food retail development with its own 
dedicated access off the A38 Droitwich Road, this is formed through the provision of 
a ghost island which has been designed using the national design standard “DMRB”. 
In order to achieve this access underutilised highway land is used to realign the A38 
south of John Comyn Drive. The access arrangement also will include a new refuge 
over the A38 and reposition and upgrade the existing bus stops. Pedestrian access is 
also provided off the A38 and off the adjoining footpath which connects onto 
Cornmeadow Lane.

Traffic generation has been considered in the context of new trips, existing retail 
trips that are transferred and trips that are already passing the site, also it should be 

Page 318



noted that retail peak movement times do not align with the peak times on the A38. 
The submitted transport assessment considers the number of trips and their 
assignment including any capacity implications for surrounding junctions. The 
conclusion of the applicant is that proposal will not result in a severe impact on 
network capacity.  The Highway Authority does not disagree with that conclusion.

The applicant has demonstrated that the proposed car parking levels address the 
anticipated demands, however there are proposed variations to the number of 
electric vehicle, cycle and motor cycle spaces. The number of electric spaces is 
proposed to be 2 (rather than 6) with 2 spaces equipped with passive facilities for 
future conversion (rather than 5 22kw), however the use of rapid charging facilities 
means that a greater number of users can take advantage of this facility than if they 
were policy compliant, therefore it is consider to be acceptable for this application 
given the likely dwell time of customers.

The applicant has proposed 6 cycle spaces. The Streetscape Design Guide 
benchmark from Cambridgeshire and it may not be suitable for this location, 
therefore a suitable alternative should be provided. Current national aspiration is to 
double the number of cyclists by 2025, therefore it is considered appropriate to look 
at expected cycle demand for today, double it, and provide accordingly. The Highway 
Authority therefore suggests that 11 spaces are appropriate of which one should be 
design to encourage storage by a disabled cyclist, and a condition is suggested to 
ensure that they are provided.

The applicant does not propose any motorcycle spaces, this is not considered to be 
acceptable and the presented reasoning for this is not robust. It is recommended 
that motorcycle spaces are provided in accordance with the current publication and a 
suitably worded condition could be used to address this.

Additionally, the application seeks to reopen a closed access and rearrange the car 
parking provision for JVM. There are few implications for these element of the 
proposal as it does not alter the trip generation or the parking quantum, what it does 
do is separate out staff movements and HGV movements and whilst circulation is 
maintained within the site this element of the proposal is seen to be beneficial.

The Highway Authority has undertaken a robust assessment of the planning 
application. Based on the analysis of the information submitted the Highway 
Authority concludes that there would not be an unacceptable impact on Highway 
Safety or a severe impact on congestion. There are no justifiable grounds on which 
an objection could be maintained.

Electric charging points

7.51 There is an inconsistency with the responses from Highway Authority who require 2 
electric charging points, Public Health and the response from the Air Quality Team in 
Worcestershire Regulatory Services who require 11 charging points, with half 
required upfront and the capacity to provide the remainder when required. I consider 
that there is weight in the argument that if they are installed there is the incentive to 
use them, especially as the proposal is on the edge of city and the majority of the 
local food stores do not have this provision, and I agree with the logic of embedding 
into the scheme the capacity to install more if and when required.

7.52 The Worcestershire Streetscape Design Guide requires initially 5% of the total 
parking spaces provided and a further 5% of the total parking spaces at an agreed 
trigger. This equates to 5-6 spaces and can be secured via an appropriate condition. 

Page 319



Accessibility by alternative modes of transport

7.53 The site is close to cycle route 3 which goes across Perdiswell and cycle route 46, 
part of which goes from Ghulevelt to Claines. The public footpath to the north of the 
site links these two routes off road. As such, I consider it is well served by the cycle 
network within the city and there are good cycle linkages to the site. 

7.54 In addition, a financial contribution of £10,000 to mark out an On Road Advisory 
Cycle Lane between John Comyn Drive and Fernhill Heath on both sides of the A38 
Droitwich Road will be made through a S106 Agreement.  

7.55 The site is on the edge of the built form of the city and is unlikely to serve many 
walking past the site, as such it will most likely be a destination or serve passing car 
borne trade. However, it does link well to local footpath routes and rights of way. 
Also, given the new local primary school and the pre-school at Perdiswell Young 
Peoples Club, it is near to local education facilities where walking is encouraged. 

7.56 The bus stop for the 144 bus route is proposed to be re-sited near to the store to 
allow for users of the service to alight and catch the bus close to the food store. The 
144 is a service with good frequency and reliability and as such I consider this is a 
positive aspect of the scheme enabled by the undertaking to improve the highway 
area by the store. 

7.57 Overall, the proposal seeks to mitigate sufficiently any impact that the proposed 
development would have on the highway system. The location of the site enables it 
to link to the existing bus, cycling and public right of way infrastructure. Overall, I 
am satisfied that it meets the requirement of SWDP4 and with the improvements 
agreed with the highway authority would not have a significant detrimental impact 
on the highway network. 

Flooding and drainage

7.58 The site is not in a flood zone, however there is a surface water flooding constraint in 
the north east area of the site. This has been considered by South Worcestershire 
Land Drainage Partnership who consider it would be adequately managed by the 
drainage proposals put forward and it would meet the requirements of policy SWDP 
29 relating to sustainable drainage systems. 

7.59 During discussions with the applicant ideas regarding drainage attenuation ponds, 
green roofs or other measures, however these were not supported by the applicant. 

Energy conservation

7.60 SWDP 27: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy requires 10% as a minimum of the 
proposed energy use to be from a renewable or low carbon source. The proposals 
include an air source heat pump which will supply 16% of the store’s predicted 
energy requirement.

 
Planning obligations

7.61 It is recognised that new development can create the need for new or improved 
infrastructure and community facilities. Planning obligations mitigate the impact of 
development to make it acceptable in planning terms. 

Page 320



Obligations should meet the tests that they are necessary to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms, directly related to the development, and fairly and 
reasonably related in scale and kind. These tests are set out as statutory tests in the 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2012 and as policy tests in the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

7.62 In accordance with Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2012, the applicants 
are willing to enter into a legally binding agreement to deliver contributions to 
provide improvements to the infrastructure that the development will impact upon. 
This legal agreement will be made under Section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

7.63 Draft Heads of Terms for a S106 Agreement have been agreed with the applicants 
and are attached as Appendix 1. 

8. Conclusion and planning balance

8.1 Whilst the assessment is not an exhaustive list of all policies that are potentially 
applicable to this site, it seeks to address how the proposals respond to the key 
planning criteria in the planning policy framework against which the planning 
application will be determined.

8.2 The retail assessment allows the Local Planning Authority to consider the impact on 
the local retail provision and to consider if it is going to generate an unacceptable 
level of harm to the existing food retail market. The main food store affected is the 
same operator and therefore there is an understood and accepted impact on their 
trade. Nonetheless, the independent consultant has advised that the impact on the 
trade draw for the Blackpole Lidl store is likely to be similar regardless of the food 
retailer. Given that the Blackpole Store is out of centre and is not within an area 
afforded policy protection this is considered acceptable and would not be resisted by 
the Local Planning Authority on these grounds. 

8.3 The proposed development would result in economic and social benefits which the 
brownfield site does not currently provide; with 40 part time and full time jobs 
created plus employment during construction. The existing car parking for JVM 
Castings can be sufficiently relocated to the south of the site without significant harm 
and so the development of the site is considered to be entirely beneficial in these 
areas. 

8.4 With regard to the environmental impacts of the proposal, the development would 
clearly alter the context of the area with the introduction of built form and a more 
managed landscape arrangement in this northern route in and out of the city. It 
would mark the point at which the low density of the semi-rural fringe changes to 
urban on entering the city. The replacement of the low quality site boundary with 
something more formal and landscaped could be considered to be an improvement, 
as is the use of an under-utilised area of car park for a more modern building.  There 
are benefits to having a local food store to lessen the need for car journeys and to 
provide better access to fresh food. 

8.5 The building and the area around the site does meet the minimum standards of 
development, although there is limited effort of being exemplar in terms of design or 
environmental credentials. However, in the matter of the environmental impact there 
are improvements to be achieved in the development of the brownfield site and the 
balance would clearly be in favour of granting planning permission.

Page 321



8.6 I note that the development is not contrary to the guidance set down at national or 
local level and the issue of retail competition and amenity have been considered 
within the report. 

8.7 On balance, I am of the opinion that the submitted scheme has indicated sufficient 
detail to warrant approval. 

8.8 I acknowledge all comments received as part of the consultation process and 
consider all material planning issues have been considered in the determination of 
this application. Having regard to the totality of the policies in the Framework, I 
consider that he proposed development is sustainable when looking at its social, 
economic and environmental credentials in the round. The adverse impacts of the 
development (taking into account the considerable importance and weight to be 
given to the less than substantial harm to the significance of the heritage assets) do 
not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.  Overall it is considered 
that the proposals constitute an environmentally, socially and economically 
sustainable form of development that accords with the Framework and the 
Development Plan as a whole.

9. Recommended conditions

9.1 In the event that members resolve to grant planning permission the following 
conditions are recommended:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.

Reason: To conform with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and completed in 
accordance with the following approved plans and associated documents and the 
specifications and recommendations contained therein, except where otherwise 
stipulated by conditions attached to this permission

Rev 3Arboricultural Impact Assessment

1930Design & Access Statement 

Rev B Ecological Appraisal

Energy Statement

Rev C Environmental Noise Report 

CWA-18-169-520, revision: 7Proposed External Levels

Health Impact Assessment

Rev C Light Pollution (Lux Levels)

Planning Statement 

Page 322



Retail Statement 

Statement of Community Involvement

Travel Plan

1930-PA01 Rev ASite Location Plan

1930-PA02Existing Site Plan

1930-PA05Proposed Lidl Plan and Roof Plan

1930-PA06Proposed Lidl Elevations

1930-PA07Proposed Works to JVM Castings Building

CWA-18-169-507Proposed Drainage Details

19023-101-CSES 19023-101C_Soft Landscape Sheet 1.pdf

1930-PA03 REV C1930-PA03 rev C Overall Site Plan - email.pdf

1930-PA04 REV C1930-PA04 rev C Lidl Site Plan - email.pdf

SES 19023-102CSES 19023-102C Soft Landscape.Sheet 2pdf

P18/-0056P18-0056 - Response to Consultation FINAL 27.01.20.pdf

SES 19023-103CSES 19023-103C Soft landscape Spec_Detailed Landscape.pdf

1019948 PTT-AQ-001, revision: C1019948-RPT-AQ-001 Air Quality Assessment 
Rev_C.pdf

1930/PA 04CLegend of Proposed Changes PA04 - PA04 rev C - EMAIL.pdf

Retail assessment addendum 

Contaminated Land Desk Study

Flood Risk Assessment

Transport Assessment

SES 19023-103C Droitwich Road_Detailed Landscape.pdf

Reason: To ensure compliance with the approved scheme

3.  No development shall commence until a written scheme of investigation (WSI) 
for archaeological evaluation and mitigation has been submitted to and approved 
by the local planning authority in writing. For land that is included within the 
WSI, no development shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed 
WSI, which shall include the statement of significance and research objectives, 
and 

Page 323



The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording and the 
nomination of a competent person(s) or organisation to undertake the agreed 
works. The programme for post investigation assessment and subsequent 
analysis, publication & dissemination and deposition of resulting material. This 
part of the condition shall not be discharged until these elements have been 
fulfilled in accordance with the programme set out in the WSI.

Reason:-

To allow the historical and archaeological potential of the site to be recorded in 
accordance with policies SWDP6 and SWDP 24 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan and aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

4. If during the course of the works hereby approved any of the following features of 
interest are uncovered, the local planning authority shall be notified immediately 
and no works affecting such features shall take place until they have been 
inspected by persons authorised by the local planning authority and a scheme for 
their retention and/or treatment agreed in writing.

Schedule of features of interest:

Prehistoric remains, including ditches 

Remains of Roman structures

Reason:-

To allow the historical and archaeological potential of the site to be recorded in 
accordance with policies SWDP6 and SWDP 24 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan and aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

5. Notwithstanding any details shown on the submitted plans the approval hereby 
granted shall not infer any acceptance or approval of any advertisements shown 
to be displayed on land or buildings within the site.

Reason:-

The display of such signs may constitute advertisements requiring the submission 
of a separate application for Advertisement Consent, which does not form part of 
the approval hereby granted. 

6. Notwithstanding the submitted details, the premises shall not be occupied until 
details of any external plant, including extract ventilation facilities, air 
conditioning equipment and their noise generation levels, and any noise 
attenuation measures shall be submitted to and

Page 324



approved by the local planning authority. Thereafter, these works shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason:-

To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring residents in accordance with policy 
BE1 of the City of Worcester Local Plan 2004 and the aims and interests that the 
National Planning Policy seeks to protect and promote with regard to amenity.

7. No development shall take place until: 

(a) A site investigation has been designed for the site using the information 
obtained from the desktop study (SJ/28029 dated 24 th June 2019), any 
previous site investigations and any diagrammatic representations (Conceptual 
Model), which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority prior to that investigation being carried out on the site. The 
investigation must enable: 

- a quantitative risk assessment to be undertaken relating to human health, 
ecological systems, property, groundwater and surface waters associated on and 
off the site that may be affected, and 

- refinement of the Conceptual Model, and 

- the development of a Method Statement detailing the remediation 
requirements. 

(b) The site investigation has been undertaken in accordance with details 
approved by the local planning authority, a risk assessment has been undertaken 
and the information from this assessment, combined with that of previous 
assessments in a comprehensive Phase 2 report. 

(c) A Method Statement detailing the remediation requirements, including 
measures to minimise the impact on human health, ecological systems, property, 
ground and surface waters, using the information obtained from the Site 
Investigation has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. 

The approved scheme shall be fully implemented prior to development first 
commencing, aside from those measures listed above; specifically the clearance 
of the site and demolition of extant structures. 

Reason:- 

To minimise the risk from pollutants to human health, ecological systems, 
property and water sources, in accordance with policies SWDP 21 and SWDP 28 

Page 325



of the South Worcestershire Development Plan and the aims and objectives of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

8. 5 car electric charging point are to be installed in public car parking spaces with 
technology available for an additional 5 charging points as a means of future 
proofing for this emerging technology. 

Reason:

To reduce the impact of travel to the site and to encourage modes of sustainable 
travel in line with SWDP4. 

9. Upon the completion of the remediation detailed in the Method Statement a 
report shall be submitted to the local planning authority that provides verification 
that the required works regarding contamination have been carried out in 
accordance with the approved Method Statement(s). Post-remediation sampling 
and monitoring results shall be included in the report to demonstrate that the 
required remediation has been fully met. Future monitoring proposals and 
reporting shall also be detailed in the report.

Reason:-

To minimise the risk from pollutants to human health, ecological systems, 
property and water sources, in accordance with policies SWDP 21 and SWDP 28 
of the South Worcestershire Development Plan and the aims and objectives of 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

10. The Development hereby approved shall not commence until drawings of the 
highway improvements works comprising of:-

• Bus Lane Slip Road reinstatement to verge

• Bus Stop relocation and enhancement to include, shelter, accessible kerbing 
and timetable information

• On Road advisory Cycle Lane between John Comyn Drive and Fernhill Heath on 
both sides of the A38 Droitwich Road

Have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority; 
and the building shall not be occupied until those junctions have been 
constructed in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure the safe and free flow of traffic onto the highway.

11. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the access, turning 
area and parking facilities shown on Drawings J32-2620-PS-302 Dev D and 1930 
/ PA03 have been provided. These areas shall thereafter be retained and kept 
available for their respective approved uses at all times.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure the free flow of traffic 
using the adjoining highway.

Page 326



12. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until 11 
sheltered, secure and accessible cycle parking spaces comprising of 10 standard 
spaces and 1 non standard bike space has been provided in accordance with 
details which shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and thereafter the approved cycle parking shall be kept 
available for the parking of bicycles only.

Reason: To comply with the Council’s parking standards.

13. The development hereby approved shall not commence until a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include but not be limited to the 
following:-

• Measures to ensure that vehicles leaving the site do not deposit mud or other 
detritus on the public highway;

• Details of site operative parking areas, material storage areas and the location 
of site operatives facilities (offices, toilets etc);

• The hours that delivery vehicles will be permitted to arrive and depart, and 
arrangements for unloading and manoeuvring.

• Details of any temporary construction accesses and their reinstatement.

• A highway condition survey, timescale for re-inspections, and details of any 
reinstatement.

The measures must comply with Worcestershire Regulatory Services Demolition & 
Construction Guidance 2011

The measures set out in the approved Plan shall be carried out and complied with 
in full during the construction of the development hereby approved. Site 
operatives' parking, material storage and the positioning of operatives' facilities 
shall only take place on the site in locations approved by in writing by the local 
planning authority.

Reason: To ensure the provision of adequate on-site facilities and in the interests 
of highway safety and wider site safety.

14. A parking management plan must be submitted to, and agreed by the Local 
Planning authority prior to trading. 

Reason: To ensure that car parking from nearby uses does not lead to an under 
provision for food users which could cause issues of traffic flow affecting 
Droitwich Road/A38

15. The Employment Travel Plan hereby approved, dated September 2019 shall be 
implemented and monitored in accordance with the regime contained within the 
Plan. In the event of failing to meet the targets within the Plan a revised Plan 

Page 327



shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to 
address any shortfalls, and where necessary make provision for and promote 
improved sustainable forms of travel to and from the site. The submitted details 
shall use Modeshift STARS Business to carry out this process and include 
mechanisms for monitoring and review over the life of the development and 
timescales for implementation. The approved Travel Plan shall be implemented, 
monitored and reviewed in accordance with the approved details

Reason: To reduce vehicle movements and promote sustainable travel.

16. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until 11 secure 
motorcycle parking spaces have been provided in a location to be agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority and thereafter shall be kept available for 
motorcycle parking as approved.

Reason: To provide safe and suitable access for all

17. Notwithstanding the details submitted the development hereby approved shall not 
be brought into use until showers and lockers have be installed in each building 
in accordance with details which shall first be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To reduce vehicle movements and promote sustainable access.

18. Prior to the commencement of development an Employment, Skills and Training 
strategy shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and agreed in writing. 
This strategy shall set out measures to provide local employment, apprenticeship 
and training opportunities during the construction of the development hereby 
approved. The development shall be carried out in accordance with these 
approved details.

Reason:- To ensure that the proposed development provides opportunities for 
local employment and training opportunities in accordance with the expectations 
of SWDP 1 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan and the aims and 
objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework.

19. All planting and seeding/ turfing comprised in the submitted landscape scheme, 
hereby approved, shall be carried out in the first planting season following the 
first occupation/use of the development OR in accordance with the submitted 
implementation programme.

All planting shall be watered as necessary and competitive weed growth 
controlled to ensure successful establishment.

Any trees or plants that die, or  are removed; or become seriously damaged or 
diseased  within a period of five years from the completion of the planting, shall 
be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species.

Reason: To ensure the proposed development does not have an adverse effect on 
the character and appearance of the area in accordance with policies SWDP21 

Page 328



and SWDP25 of South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016.

20. Development, other than that required to be carried out as part of an approved 
scheme of remediation, shall not commence until Parts 1 to 6 have been 
complied with:

Part 1

A preliminary risk assessment shall be carried out.  This study shall take the form 
of a Phase I desk study and site walkover and shall include the identification of 
previous site uses, potential contaminants that might reasonably be expected 
given those uses and any other relevant information.  A preliminary risk 
assessment report including:-

- a diagrammatical representation (conceptual model) based on the information 
above; and 
- all potential contaminants, sources and receptors to determine whether a site 
investigation is required

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
prior to the commencement of construction works on the development hereby 
approved.

Part 2

Where an unacceptable risk is identified and prior to the commencement of 
construction work on the development hereby permitted a scheme for detailed 
site investigation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall be designed to assess the nature and 
extent of any contamination and shall be led by the findings of the preliminary 
risk assessment.  

Part 3

Where part 2 applies, a detailed site investigation and risk assessment shall be 
undertaken in accordance with the approved scheme required under Part 2  and a 
written report of the findings produced, submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. The investigation/assessment shall be approved 
prior to the commencement of construction works on the development hereby 
approved. 

Part 4

Page 329



Where identified as necessary in the report approved under Part 3,  a detailed 
remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use 
by removing unacceptable risks to identified receptors shall be produced, 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The 
scheme shall include an implementation programme.  The scheme shall be 
approved prior to the commencement of construction works on the development 
hereby approved. 

Part 5

The remediation scheme approved under Part 4 shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved implementation programme.

Part 6

Following the completion of the measures identified in the remediation scheme 
approved under Part 4,  a validation report that demonstrates the effectiveness 
of the remediation carried out shall be produced, submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  None of the development hereby 
approved shall be occupied/first used until the validation report has been 
approved.

Part 7

In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified in the report approved 
under Part 3, construction works shall cease and this shall be reported  
immediately in writing to the Local Planning Authority.  In such circumstances an 
investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken and a revised remediation 
scheme must be produced, submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Development works shall not resume until the revised 
remediation scheme has been approved in writing.  The measures as set out in 
the revised remediation scheme shall be carried out.  Following the completion of 
any measures identified in the approved revised remediation scheme a validation 
report must be produced, submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. None of the development hereby approved shall be 
occupied/first used until the validation report has been approved.

Reason:  To ensure that the proposed development avoids significant adverse 
impacts from pollution in accordance with policy SWDP31 of the South 
Worcestershire Development Plan.  

Page 330



21. The foodstore hereby approved shall have a total net floor area of 1325 square 
metres of which 1060 square metres shall be food sales and 265 square metres 
would be comparison goods sales. 

Reason:-

To restrict the retail impact of the development and safeguard the vitality and 
viability of existing established retail areas in accordance with the provisions of 
SWDP10- Protection and Promotion of Centres and Local Shops in the south 
Worcestershire Development Plan 2016  and the aims and interests that the 
National Planning Policy seeks to protect and promote with regard to retail 
development.

22. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended), no extension to provide 
additional floorspace shall take place, including the insertion of mezzanine floors 
or other internal alterations, which shall be the subject of a separate planning 
application.

Reason:-

To restrict the retail impact of the development and safeguard the vitality and 
viability of existing established retail areas in accordance with the provisions of 
SWDP10-Protection and Promotion of Centres and Local Shops and the aims and 
interests that the National Planning Policy seeks to protect and promote with 
regard to retail development.

23. Before the retail unit begins trading, the development hereby permitted, details 
including measurements of the noise levels generated on site from external plant 
including extract ventilation facilities, air conditioning equipment and their noise 
generation levels must be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority.  The approved measures shall be implemented before the first 
use of the development and shall be retained thereafter.

Reason:- To ensure the proposal preserves residential amenity and to prevent 
unacceptable noise pollution to the detriment of human health contrary to policy 
SWDP21 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan.

24. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced details of all external 
facing, roofing and surfacing materials for that building shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details, subject to any such minor 
variations as may be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To ensure that the new materials are in keeping with the surroundings 
and/or represent quality design in accordance with policy SWDP21 of the South 
Worcestershire Development Plan. 

Page 331



Page 332



Appendix 1- Draft Heads of Terms for Section 106 Agreement

DRAFT HEADS OF TERMS
Proposed Planning Obligation Agreement

Section 106 Town and Country Planning Act 1990

Planning Application : 19/00851/FUL

Application:
Full Planning Permission for Demolition of part of an existing industrial building (Class B2) 
and erection of a retail food store (Class A1) with provision of associated car parking, 
access and landscaping, together with provision of car parking associated with the retained 
industrial use and new access- At JVM Castings Site, Droitwich Road, Worcester, WR3 7JX.

1. The Developer covenants with the County Council, in lieu of contributions to sustainable 
transport to serve the development  to pay the County Council the sum of £10,000 
which sum shall be paid on or before the first occupation of the development. The sum 
of £10,000 shall be used by the County Council to mark out an On Road Advisory Cycle 
Lane between John Comyn Drive and Fernhill Heath on both sides of the A38 Droitwich 
Road.

2. The Developer shall provide to the City Council either a solicitor’s undertaking for the 
reasonable legal costs incurred by the City and/or County Council in connection with the 
preparation and completion of the Agreement or if no solicitor is instructed these fees 
must be paid direct to the City Council. These fees shall be payable prior to the 
commencement of any legal work and are payable whether or not the agreement 
completes.

3. The Developer shall complete the Agreement within TBA, unless otherwise agreed by 
Development Services Manager; otherwise the application will be registered as deemed 
refused.

4. In the event that the County Council does not for any reason expend or commit the 
expenditure of the said sum in Clause 1 for the purposes specified in the Agreement 
within ten years of the date of receipt of the payment, the County Council shall repay to 
the developer the said sum or such part thereof which has not been used by the County 
Council.

Sally Watts
10 March2020

Page 333



This page is intentionally left blank



 Application Number 19/01019/FUL

Site Address Worcester North Park And Ride, John Comyn Drive, 
Worcester, WR3 7NS

Description of 
Development

Proposed 74 bedroom care home with associated 
landscaping and car parking.

Case Officer Sally Watts Applicant   Prime PLC  & 
Sanders Senior 
Living

Ward Member(s) Claines Ward Agent Mr Barry Mullen

Reason for Referral to 
Committee

Major application Expiry 
Date

 23 April 2020

Key Issues The principle of development and whether the proposal 
would be sustainable form of development having regard 
to the 3 dimensions of sustainable development in terms 
of its economic role, social role and environmental role.  

Web link to application https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Planning/Display/19/01019
/FUL

Recommendation The Deputy Director - Economic Development and 
Planning recommends that the Planning Committee 
grant planning permission, subject to the 
conditions set out in section 9 of this report.

1. Background

1.1 The application was registered on 23rd January 2020 and was due for a decision on 
23rd  April 2020.

1.2 The application has been referred to the Planning Committee in accordance with the 
adopted Scheme of Delegation  

2.       The site and surrounding area 

2.1 The site comprises an area of 0.74 hectares of the former Perdiswell Park and Ride 
site, which is located on the northern edge of Worcester, approximately 2 .5 kms 
north of the City Centre and on the eastern side of A38 Droitwich Road. The historic 
use of the site was as part of the Perdiswell Park and Ride site, which occupied a site 
of 5 acres in total under a Sui Generis land use. Operation of the park and ride 
ceased in August 2014 as a result of cost saving measures and an area of 3 acres 
(1.2 hectares) of the site was sold in September 2017 to the Secretary of State for 
Communities and Local Government to house a new primary school, which opened in 
September 2019.

Page 335 Agenda Item 11

https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Search/Results
https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Search/Results


2.2 The site is surrounded by a mixture of uses including, allotments, business units and 
playing fields with housing, leisure facilities and industrial use beyond. A Muslim 
cemetery lies to the east of the site with the Perdiswell Hall office park to the south 
east. Across Droitwich Road to the north west are sports facilities, beyond which is 
housing on Gilmore Crescent. To the west is a large factory and a public house. 
Checketts Court flats to the south west, at the corner of Droitwich Road and 
Checketts Lane, are the nearest housing to the site. To the south of the site are the 
playing fields at the comer of Bilford Road with Droitwich Road and Perdiswell 
Primary School and its associated playing fields.

2.3 Access to the site is off John Comyn Drive via the A38, which also serves  the  
allotments  to  the  north,  the  Muslim cemetery, Perdiswell Coach House, Perdiswell 
Golf Course,  the Barbourne Brook, Penstocks and  the Old Elizabethans’ Cricket 
Club, all of which are adjacent  to the site.

Figure 1- site plan (does not show the primary school)

2.4 The site is not allocated for development in the South Worcestershire Development 
Plan. However, the area of proposed development is designated as being Green 
Space and the majority of the site is also within the green infrastructure ‘protect and 
enhance’ allocation, with the south east corner of the site identified on the proposals 
map for the SWDP as not been surveyed and included within the urban area for this 
criteria. 

Page 336



2.5 The application site is not within a conservation area and does not form part of any 
other designated heritage asset. There are no listed buildings or buildings of local 
significance within the curtilage of the application site and the nearest noteworthy 
building of any historical significance is the converted Grade II listed stable block of 
former Perdiswell Hall and attached walls and outbuilding. 

2.6 Whilst the site itself is not an Archaeological Sensitive Area (ASA), nevertheless it is 
adjacent to an ASA and there are several other archaeological sites in the vicinity. 
Overall, the vast majority of the site was comprehensively stripped during formation 
of the car park. However, one significant feature was recovered towards the centre 
of the site, a ring ditch or ringwork of Bronze Age date (c 3000-3500 years ago). 
This was probably a ritual or communal site. This seems, within the car park 
boundary, not to have been associated with any other features. However, the Park 
and Ride car park layout was altered to reflect this archaeological feature.

2.7 Droitwich Road is characterised by large trees which line the east side of the highway 
with a large grass verge. Part of this was used for buses accessing the park and ride 
to easily enter the bus lane which remains in place currently. 

2.8 The site is close to existing sustainable travel routes with the cycle network running 
past the site. There are public rights of ways to access the site with clear links to 
Perdiswell and Claines. 

3. The proposals

3.1 The proposal is for a 74 bed nursing home (Use Class C2). The home is arranged in a 
square arrangement with a central courtyard. 

3.2 The design is clearly led by the standards for care homes and their spatial 
requirements. These include corridor widths, communal areas relative to patient 
numbers and to rooms to cater for a variety of needs - social, family meeting rooms, 
more formal dining rooms. There is clear evidence of the care element of the care 
home with nurse stations, managers’ office, admin offices, hairdressers/ therapy 
room, café, cinema, kitchen spaces and capacity for on site laundry. These all relate 
to the operation and capacity of the care home. 

3.3 The individual single occupancy rooms all have en-suite wet rooms with a shower, 
sink and toilet. Some rooms (on the upper floor) have personal living areas. There is 
the possibility that they could become couple/sharing rooms if the need should arise.  

3.4 The building has a floor area of 51,946 sq. m. The building has a large central glazed 
entrance feature with a large central overhanging gable. The front elevation 
measures 45 metres in width to give an indication of the scale of the building. 

3.5 The design has a mix of materials with brick on the upper part, a render on the 
ground floor level, stone cladding and black cladding to give visual relief in the 
treatment of the elevations. The windows are dark grey UPVC and some of the larger 
windows have  zinc surround features to add visual interest. There are 2 areas of 
roof terrace which have glass protective screening and the stairwells have glazed 
curtain walling. 

3.6 The ground and first floor occupy the whole of the floor plan, while the second floor is 
located only in the front area with a large external amenity area to serve residents. 

Page 337



Figure 2. Site plan

3.7 To the front there are 28 car parking spaces proposed, utilising some of the existing 
hardstanding, three of which are accessible spaces adjacent to the entrance. 

3.8 The application is accompanied by a full set of plans together with a suite of 
supporting documents that include:

PA01Proposed Floor Plans
PA02 Proposed Elevations Rev B
PA03 Rev A, Site Plan
PA04 Existing Topographical Survey
PA05 Proposed 3d Views
PA06 Proposed Bin Store
PA07 Proposed Site Location Plan
PA08 Proposed Roof Plan
PA09 Proposed Site Sections.pdf

Design and Access Statement
Planning Statement.pdf, revision: A
Transport Statement 
Scoping Report
Energy Report
Arboricultural Impact Assessment (1)
Arboricultural Impact Assessment Plan
Ecological Appraisal
Great Crested Newt Survey
Statement Of Community Involvement
Bat Survey - Phase 1
CIL Form

Page 338



Si Report
EW1015 200, revision: P2
Drainage Strategy
Storm Water Calculations- revised
Surface Water Maintenance Proposals.pdf
Drainage Planning Statement - 31.01.20.pdf
CPHSP Worcester .pdf

7877-LAPSLandscape Appraisal and Planning Strategy
7877-D-PSPlanting Strategy
7877-D-LALandscape Appraisal
Environmental Management Plan
Solar Study

3.9 In accordance with Article 15 (7) of The Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), full details of the 
application have been published on the Council’s website. Members will have had the 
opportunity to review the submitted plans and documents in order to familiarise 
themselves with the proposals prior to consideration and determination of the 
application accordingly.

4. Planning Policy 

4.1 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (‘the Act’) establishes the legislative 
framework for consideration of this application. Section 70(2) of the Act requires the 
decision-maker in determining planning applications/appeals to have regard to the 
Development Plan, insofar as it is material to the application/appeal, and to any 
other material consideration. Where the Development Plan is material to the 
development proposal it must therefore be taken into account.  Section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the application/appeal to be 
determined in accordance with the Plan, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

4.2 The Development Plan for Worcester now comprises:

 The South Worcestershire Development Plan (SWDP) which was adopted 
February 2016, and;

 The Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy, which was adopted on December 2012. 

South Worcestershire Development Plan

4.3   The following policies of the SWDP relevant to the proposal are; (with the most 
relevant emboldened):

 SWDP 1: Overarching Sustainable Development Principles
 SWDP 2: Development Strategy and Settlement Hierarchy
 SWDP 4: Moving Around South Worcestershire
 SWDP 5: Green Infrastructure
 SWDP 13: Effective Use of Land
 SWDP 20: Housing to Meet the Needs of Older People
 SWDP 21: Design
 SWDP 22: Biodiversity and Geodiversity
 SWDP 25: Landscape Character
 SWDP 26: Telecommunications and Broadband

Page 339



 SWDP 27: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy
 SWDP 29: Sustainable Drainage Systems
 SWDP 30: Water Resources, Efficiency and Treatment
 SWDP 33: Waste
 SWDP 38: Green Space

The Waste Core Strategy for Worcestershire - Adopted Waste Local Plan 
2012-2027 

4.4 The Waste Local Plan was adopted by Worcestershire County Council on 15 
November 2012 and is a plan outlining how to manage all the waste produced in 
Worcestershire up to 2027. The following policies are relevant to this application: 

WCS1   (Presumption in favour of sustainable development) 
WCS3   (Re-use and recycle)
WCS17 (Making provision for waste in new development)

Material Considerations

1. National Planning Policy Framework

4.5 The latest version of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published 
and came into effect in February 2019. The NPPF sets out the Government's planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It constitutes 
guidance for local planning authorities and decision takers and is a material planning 
consideration in determining planning applications. 

4.6 The NPPF outlines a series of considerations against which delivering sustainable 
development should be assessed. The Government believes that sustainable 
development can play three critical roles in England: an economic role, contributing 
to a strong, responsive, competitive economy; a social role, supporting vibrant and 
healthy communities; and an environmental role, protecting and enhancing our 
natural, built and historic environment.

4.7 Paragraph 38 of the NPPF encourages Local Planning Authorities to approach decision 
taking in a positive way and to foster the delivery of sustainable development. Local 
Planning Authorities are advised to approach decisions on proposed development in a 
positive and creative way. They should use the full range of planning tools available, 
including brownfield registers and permission in principle, and work proactively with 
applicants to secure developments that will improve the economic, social and 
environmental conditions of the area. Decision-makers at every level should seek to 
approve applications for sustainable development where possible.

2. National Planning Practice Guidance 

4.8 On 6th March 2014 the Government also published National Planning Practice 
Guidance (NPPG) that has been updated in the meantime and comprises, amongst 
other matters: Air Quality, Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment, 
Design, Determining a planning application, Health and Wellbeing, Noise, and Use of 
Planning Conditions.

3. Supplementary Planning Documents

Page 340



4.9 The following Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) are relevant to the 
application proposals:-

 South Worcestershire Design SPD

The South Worcestershire Design SPD was adopted on 5th March 2018 and replaces 
the previous Supplementary Planning Guidance Note 3: Design (SPG3). Both 
documents encourage high standards of design for development proposals in 
accordance with the aims and interests that the NPPF seeks to protect and promote 
in this regard. The Design Quality SPD is consistent with the planning policies in the 
SWDP. 

 Planning for Health in South Worcestershire SPD

The Planning for Health SPD primarily focuses on the principal links between 
planning and health. It provides guidance and interpretation of the SWDP from a 
public health perspective. The SPD addresses following nine health and wellbeing 
principles:

 Sustainable development
 Urban form - design and the public realm
 Housing and employment
 Age-friendly environments for the elderly and those living with dementia
 Community facilities
 Green infrastructure and play spaces/recreation
 Air quality, noise, light and water management
 Active travel
 Encouraging healthier food choices
 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy SPD

The SPD relates to policy SWDP 27 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan, 
which seeks to promote a percentage of energy requirements on qualifying 
development sites to be provided from renewable energy and/or low carbon sources. 
The policy also requires large scale development to examine the potential for 
decentralised energy and heating networks, and also sets out the policy approach for 
stand alone renewable and low carbon energy schemes (with the exception of wind 
turbines). 

4. Worcestershire’s Local Transport Plan (LTP4) 2018 – 2030

4.10 LTP4 set out issues and priorities for investment in transport infrastructure, 
technology and services, focussed on supporting travel by all modes. In accordance 
with national and local objectives, a series of local transport-specific objectives are 
identified in the LTP4:

 “To support Worcestershire’s economic competitiveness and growth through 
delivering a safe, reliable and efficient transport network.

 To limit the impacts of transport in Worcestershire on the local environment, by 
supporting enhancements to the natural environment and biodiversity, investing 
in transport infrastructure to reduce flood risk and other environmental damage, 
and reducing transport-related emissions of nitrogen dioxide, particulate matter, 
greenhouse gases and noise pollution. This will support delivery of the desired 
outcomes of tackling climate change and reducing the impacts of transport on 
public health.

Page 341



 To contribute towards better safety, security, health and longer life expectancy in 
Worcestershire, by reducing the risk of death, injury or illness arising from 
transport and promoting healthy modes of travel.

 To optimise equality of opportunity for all of Worcestershire’s citizens with the 
desired outcome of creating a fairer society.

 To enhance the quality of life for Worcestershire’s residents by promoting a 
healthy, natural environment, for people, wildlife and habitats, conserving our 
historic built environment and preserving our heritage assets."

5. Worcestershire County Council Streetscape Design Guide (2018)

4.11 The ‘Streetscape Design Guide' (SDG) was produced to aid architects, engineers, 
planners, developers, designers and other professionals in preparing transport 
infrastructure related to new developments. It is to be considered in conjunction with 
Manual for Streets 1 and 2, as well as the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges.

4.12 Chapter 4 relates to ‘Planning for Parking’ and seeks to provide an approach as to 
how car parking in Worcestershire should be provided to support development in a 
manner which embraces the NPPF. It is considered that if the applicant is the end 
user that they are well placed to assess operational demands but all sites must be 
considered against a planning use class to ensure they equally address the needs of 
future users. Therefore applications should provide a suitable evidence base to 
ensure vehicles are not displaced onto the highway to ensure highway safety is not 
compromised and maintain the free flow of traffic to the benefit of the local 
economy. This document only reflects a small part of managing vehicle demands and 
therefore should be read alongside the Local Transport Plan (above) which contains 
policies to promote sustainable travel through the provision of physical infrastructure 
and travel planning initiatives. (Non-residential schemes only) Car and cycle parking 
standards are provided within the SDG which replace those contained in WCC's 
Interim Car Parking Standards (2016). With regard to non-residential development 
proposals the SDG states that operators should have a good understanding of their 
needs and will determine how land under their control could be managed. Provision 
for car parking will be determined based on operational need: 

“Car parking need is a subjective matter particularly in the mind of neighbours; the 
applicant should provide a minimum parking provision for each development along 
with an evidence base to demonstrate the appropriateness of the provision. Trip 
rates accumulation should either be derived from first principles or from existing 
data, for example; TRICS or comparison to facilities of similar size and geographic 
circumstance.

Adequate space for heavy goods, delivery and public service vehicles must be made 
within the site boundary, which should not conflict with the proposed parking 
arrangements.” 

4 Planning History

5.1   The planning history of the site relates to its development as a Park and Ride site as 
follows:

P99E0211:  Consultation under Regulation 3 of  the Town and Country Planning 
General Regulations 1992  for a park and  ride  facility comprising highway 
alterations, car  park,  shelter  and  security  office,  fencing,  hard  and  soft  
landscaping, together  with  replacement  sports  facilities  comprising  football  and  

Page 342



cricket pitches, illuminated training area, changing rooms and fencing, land at 
Perdiswell fronting Droitwich Road. Considered by the Technical Services Committee 
at the meeting on 10th August 1999 at which it was resolved to raise no planning 
objection.  

P99D0203:  Application  under  Regulation  4  of  the  Town  and  Country  Planning 
General Regulations  1992  for  the  provision  of  sports  pitches,  changing  rooms, 
footpath, fencing and landscape planting, land between Metal Castings and The 
Haven, Droitwich Road. Granted by the Technical Services Committee at the meeting 
on 10th August 1999.  

P00E0186: Consultation under Regulation 3 of  the Town and Country Planning 
General Regulations 1992  for revisions to the layout, improvements to facilities and 
to discharge conditions 5, 6 and 7 of Planning Application 602848 (Planning 
Application P99E0211) relating to matters of detail. Considered by the Technical 
Services Committee at the meeting on 25th May 2000 at which it was resolved to 
raise no planning objection. 

P18E0176: Erection of new two storey primary school with associated parking, 
landscaping and fencing on land at the former Worcester North Park And Ride Site, 
John Comyn Drive. Considered at the meeting of the Planning Committee on 19th 
July 2018 at which it was resolved to be minded to grant planning permission, 
subject to the completion of a Unilateral Undertaking.

Pre-application Engagement

5.2   Pre application undertaken and advice followed.

Public Consultation by Applicant- 

5.3  This included the following methods of engagement;

 Notification of proposals to local residents in the vicinity of the former Perdiswell 
Park and Ride site. 

 A public engagement event held at Perdiswell Leisure Centre on Thursday 
November 28th 2019 between 3:30pm and 7:00pm

5.4  Further details are available in the Statement of Community Involvement. 

6   Consultations

6.1 Formal consultation, including display of site notices, has been undertaken in respect 
of the application. The following comments from statutory and non-statutory 
consultees and interested third parties have been received in relation to the original 
and amended proposals and are summarised as follows:

Neighbours and other third party comments: no comments or objections have 
been received. 

Worcester City Council Archaeological Officer: desire to see some of historic 
value retained in terms of former archaeological heritage, but no objection to 
proposal. 

Page 343



Worcester City Council Tree Officer: Query with some of the information in the  
updated arboricultural impacts assessment (AIA) with supporting 
documentation/plans is required. Details of the protective measures to be secured 
and desire for additional tree planting in proposed amenity spaces. 

Worcester City Council Landscape and Biodiversity Adviser: The design for the 
external spaces should be much more detailed and reflect the green network location 
and future use of the care home outdoor provision. The open space is much reduced 
due to the size and orientation of the building with only narrow areas left over for 
residents to enjoy. 

Worcester City Council - Economic Development & Regeneration: support in 
principle, concern regarding car parking and request a condition regarding 
apprenticeships/training. 

Worcestershire County Council (Highway Authority):  No objection

Worcestershire County Council - Strategic Planning and Public Health: 
pleased to note that a few dementia and age friendly features are already built into 
the proposal, and support inclusion of renewable energy production. Sought changes 
to the location of cycle shelter and desire the inclusion of electric charge points to 
future proof. 

Worcestershire Regulatory Services (Nuisance): no objections regarding the 
submitted noise assessment; details of the extraction system and any air handling 
equipment required and details of management to ensure any nuisance from noise, 
vibration and dust emissions during the construction phase is minimised

Worcestershire Regulatory Services (Air Quality): no objection and recommend 
provision of the following:

-10% total car parking spaces for electric vehicles, 5% provided upfront
-cycle storage
-low emission boiler

South Worcestershire Land Drainage Partnership: The surface water drainage 
information provided by the applicant is acceptable in principle and satisfies the 
recommended drainage condition in my previous comments. 

Worcestershire County Council (Education): no comment

West Mercia Constabulary Crime Risk Manager: “With regard to this application. 
I have some concerns. I would like to see an increase in the number of parking 
spaces. There are times, in particular weekend when parking in this area is at a 
premium with vehicles parked on verges and pathways. To ensure there is not a 
conflict between the care home and users of other facilities increase the parking to 
be more inclusive for visitors. The cycle stand in the proposed location and style are 
not desirable, I would prefer to see a shelter instead of Sheffield stands and that the 
shelter be located to gain maximum natural surveillance. Finally from a safeguarding 
perspective I would want to see fencing and gates (maintenance purposes) to ensure 
the whole of the site cannot wandered around without visitors reporting to 
reception.” 

Page 344



6.2 Members have been given the opportunity to read all representations that have been 
received in full. At the time of writing this report no other consultation responses 
have been received. Any additional responses received will be reported to members 
verbally or in the form of a late paper, subject to the date of receipt. 

7. Comments of Deputy Director - Economic Development and Planning

7.1 Policy SWDP1 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan sets out overarching 
sustainable development principles and these are consistent with the Framework.      
The various impacts of the development have to be assessed and the benefit and 
adverse impacts considered, establishing whether what is proposed is sustainable 
development. Taking the above matters into account I consider the main issues 
raised by the proposal relate to the principle of development and whether the 
development would be sustainable, having regard to the 3 dimensions of 
sustainability set out in the Framework: economic, social and environmental, in 
particular with regard to:

1.  The economic role;

2.  The social role:
 

3.  The environmental role:
- design and appearance;
- residential amenity for neighbouring residents/primary school;
- landscape character and visual impact
- energy conservation;
- heritage assets;
- noise;
- biodiversity and protected species;
- access, car parking and highway safety;
- drainage and flooding.

These issues will now each be considered in turn. 

The Principle of Development

7.2 Section 70(2) of the Act requires the decision-maker in determining planning 
applications to have regard to the Development Plan, insofar as it is material to the 
application/appeal, and to any other material consideration. Where the Development 
Plan is material to the development proposal it must therefore be taken into account.  
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the 
application to be determined in accordance with the Plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 

7.3 The site is not allocated for development in the South Worcestershire Development 
Plan. However, it is situated within an area designated as being Green Space 
wherein policy SWDP 38 applies. 

7.4 Both national and local policy requires development proposals to be sympathetic to 
their landscape setting and encourages the creation and conservation of green open 
spaces and green corridors within and on the periphery of settlements.

Page 345



7.5 Policy SWDP 38 - Green Space states:

“A. Green Space, as identified on the Proposals Policies Map, includes a range of 
private and public open spaces, and associated community facilities

B. Development of Green Spaces will not be permitted unless the following 
exceptional circumstances are demonstrated:

i. The proposal is for a community / recreational use that does not compromise the 
essential quality and character of the Green Space; or

ii. An assessment of community and technical need (using recognised national 
methodology where appropriate) clearly demonstrates that the Green Space is 
surplus to requirements; or

iii. Alternative / replacement Green Space of at least equivalent value to the 
community has been secured in a suitable location

C. This policy should be read in conjunction with policies SWDP 5, 22, 29 & 39 as 
any new Green Infrastructure secured under these policies will be designated and 
protected as Green Space”

7.6 Policy SWDP 37 identifies community facilities as comprising specific buildings (and 
associated land) for a range of uses, including: -

 Health facilities.
 Emergency services i.e. ambulance, police, fire.
 Educational establishments such as schools and colleges.
 Community centres, village halls.
 Leisure and cultural facilities.
 Public houses.
 Places of worship.
 Libraries.
 Built sports facilities
 Cinemas / theatres.
 Formal sports pitches / courts.

7.7 As such, the proposed care home would not satisfy the requirements of policy SWDP 
38 B(i) as it would not comprise a community use. Furthermore, it would not satisfy 
the requirements of policy SWDP 38 B(ii) and (iii) as no assessment of community 
and technical need has been undertaken to demonstrate that the Green Space is 
surplus to requirements, and no provision for alternative / replacement Green Space 
of at least equivalent value to the community has been secured in a suitable 
location. 

7.8 However, although the site may fall within the greenspace allocation , it is not 
currently green space having been part of the former park and ride site.  Therefore 
there is technically no loss of green space and the proposal should be considered as 
redevelopment of previously developed land. In this respect, policies SWDP 2 and 
SWDP 13 are relevant.

7.9 Policy SWDP 2: Development Strategy and Settlement Hierarchy - identifies 
Worcester as being the principal settlement in South Worcestershire and promotes 
development which is supported by existing infrastructure. 

Page 346



Amongst other principles, it seeks to encourage the effective use and re-use of 
accessible, available and environmentally acceptable brownfield land where 
practicable in preference to greenfield land. 

7.10 Policy SWDP 13: Effective Use of Land seeks to ensure that housing development will 
make the most effective and efficient use of land, with housing density designed to 
enhance the character and quality of the local area, commensurate with a viable 
scheme and infrastructure capacity. Housing density will be greater on sites with a 
high level of accessibility, including sites located in or close to city and town centres, 
or close to public transport stations.to the need for additional housing in the most 
required areas. To deliver places that are more sustainable, development will make 
the most effective and sustainable use of land, focusing on, amongst other matters, 
reusing previously developed land.

7.11 With specific regard to care home proposals, policy SWDP 20: Housing to Meet the 
Needs of Older People is clear in paragraph 3 of the reasoned justification ‘The Plan 
seeks to enable the provision of extra-care housing and supported housing, 
particularly where the need is informed by population trends in an area. Criteria for 
Class C2 accommodation is included as follows:

 
i. There is an evidenced requirement for that type of accommodation; 

ii. The scheme has good access to public transport, healthcare, shopping and 
other community facilities or, where the proposed scheme lacks such access, it 
can be demonstrated that there would be significant benefits to the local 
community from the scheme in its proposed location and the scheme would 
provide on-site services and facilities and tailored transport services to meet 
the needs of residents; and

iii.Where a mix of use classes C2 and C3 is proposed on a single site, the 
affordable housing requirements of policy SWDP 15, are met in respect of the 
C3 element.

7.12 Information from the agent and supplied by Knight Frank has provided data 
assessing provision within 15 minute drive of the site. It demonstrates that in 2019 
there is an under supply of 165 beds which will increase to 326 by 2024. 

7.13 Public Health advises that ‘The number of people with dementia in Worcestershire is 
forecast to increase by 56% between 2019 and 2035 from 9,560 to 14,905. This is a 
bigger increase than that expected for England (51%). A care home which is 
sensitive to the care needs of people with dementia would have a very positive 
impact on the quality of life of care home residents with dementia. Availability, 
accessibility and affordability are key factors in choosing care homes.

7.14 There is good access to local transport provision and reasonable access to healthcare 
and local community facilities in the area, including Perdiswell Young Peoples Leisure 
Club which includes community groups, as well proximity to local sport clubs and the 
leisure centre and swimming pool. The care home would also provide facilities 
including hairdressing, therapy rooms, a café and cinema as well as large communal 
area for activities. 

Page 347



7.15 Whilst it is recognised that 74 bed care home will not in itself release 74 homes, 
there is the opportunity to provide accommodation which offers specialist care for 
those in need of it and in a safe secure environment. In turn, this will lead to 
dwellings re-entering the housing market as need for care facilities arise. 

7.16 In my opinion, the proposal would satisfy the requirements of policy SWDP 20 in the 
provision of a Class C2 care home. 

7.17 Thus, whilst the proposals would be contrary to policy SWDP 38, nevertheless in 
accordance with policies SWDP 2 and SWDP 13 the proposal would make effective 
use and re-use of accessible, available and environmentally acceptable brownfield 
land in preference to greenfield land. In this respect, there is clearly a tension 
between these policies. Consideration of Development Plan policies is not a legalistic 
forensic exercise.  Often policies will pull in different directions.  Decision makers 
need to consider whether the proposal broadly accords with those policies as 
confirmed in the case of R. on the application of Laura Cummins and London 
Borough of Camden, SSETR and Barrett Homes Limited [2001] in which Ouseley J. 
cited R. v Rochdale MBC ex parte Milne [2000].  As Sullivan J. said in the Milne case 
48. “It is not at all unusual for development plan policies to pull in different 
directions.  A proposed development may be in accord with development plan 
policies which, for example, encourage development for employment purposes, and 
yet be contrary to policies which seek to protect open countryside.  In such cases 
there may be no clear cut answer to the question: “is this proposal in accordance 
with the plan?”  The local authority has to make a judgement bearing in mind such 
factors as the importance of the policies which are complied with or infringed, and 
the extent of compliance or breach.”

7.18 Citing City of Edinburgh Council v. Secretary of State for Scotland [1997] Sullivan J. 
went on to say that “I regard it as untenable to say that if there is a breach of any 
one policy in a development plan, a proposed development cannot be said to be “in 
accordance with the plan”. Given the numerous conflicting interests that 
development plans seek to reconcile: the needs for more housing, more 
employment, more leisure and recreational facilities, for improved transport facilities, 
the protection of listed buildings and attractive landscapes et cetera, it would be 
difficult to find any project of any significance that was wholly in accord with every 
relevant policy in the development plan. Numerous applications would have to be 
referred to the Secretary of State as departures from the development plan because 
one or a few minor policies were infringed, even though the proposal was in 
accordance with the overall thrust of development plan policies.  For the purposes of 
section 54A it is enough that the proposal accords with the development plan when 
considered as a whole. It does not have to accord with each and every policy 
therein.”

7.19 Taking the above matters into account I consider that, on balance and given the 
previous use of the site and its current size, configuration and condition, the 
proposals are acceptable in principle.

  Sustainable Development 

1. The economic role

Page 348



7.20 The proposal would see the creation of employment for 29 employees; this is not 
only in nursing or caring roles, but in terms of food preparation, hairdressing, 
managerial, grounds maintenance plus the construction jobs for the construction 
period of the project. In my opinion, this weighs in favour of granting planning 
permission.

2. The social role 

7.21 The key aim is to provide care to residents in need of specialist care. This has a 
special social role within the community of being a place where those in need of 
medical and social care are able to be accommodated in a bespoke environment.  As 
a consequence, it has important social roles which weigh in favour of granting 
planning permission. However, one must also consider the impact of the 
development on nearby residents.

3. The environmental role

Design and appearance

7.22 During the course of the application there have been changes in the design to 
encourage the proposed care home to be more vernacular, and to be residential in 
character. The large areas of brickwork and render in the original design appeared 
stark and institutional. The amended design has greater texture and a range of 
details and materials to soften the appearance. 

7.23 Whilst this is in contrast to the modern school building adjacent to the proposed care 
home, they have a limited relationship along the street frontage. In my opinion, this 
design approach is acceptable in that it replicates building materials used in the 
wider area but introduces design features such as the large glazed gable feature on 
the front when viewing the front elevation from John Comyn Drive. This has the 
benefit of articulating the entrance into the building and providing natural daylight on 
the north elevation. 

7.24 Due to the height and scale of the building, there will be glances of the building 
when moving along Droitwich Road. Wider views of the building will be interrupted 
by the trees which screen much of this elevation. Neither Droitwich Road nor John 
Comyn Drive have a distinguishable coherency in terms of design or building type. 

Page 349



7.25 The difference between the 2 and 3 storey elements adds to the vernacular 
character and adds interest to the massing of the building. It also limits the number 
of habitable rooms with direct views across the playground area of the school which 
cannot be mitigated with planting and a more robust boundary treatment. 

7.26 There have been specific design choices linked to the care home use, namely 
attempts to maximise the amount of glass to resident’s bedrooms and amenity 
space. The bedrooms have been designed to attempt to create 3m2 of glass rather 
than around 2m2 that relevant standards require. This is aimed to increase the 
amount of natural daylight into the home and to improve the outlook for the 
residents. 

7.27 Due to the height of the building, a solar study was requested to consider the impact 
of natural lighting, particularly on the inner rooms facing the internal courtyard on 
the south wing and the outward facing rooms on the north wing. Having looked at 
the solar study, whilst these rooms will have a degree of shading I do not consider 
that it is unacceptable and as the orientation of the building is on an axis it is 
acceptable to all rooms.

7.28 By their very nature care homes tend to be domestic in their appearance and 
institutional in their scale: I consider that the proposal has successfully integrated a 
large facility with domestic qualities which it is considered will contribute to the 
success of the facility. On balance, I consider the design of the development is 
acceptable and it is appropriate in terms of scale, height and massing.  Overall, I am 
satisfied that the proposal accords with the expectations of SWDP 21 (design) and 
the guidance set down within the NPPF.

Residential amenity for neighbouring residents/primary school

7.29 Policy SWDP 21 requires amongst other matters, that new development should 
provide an adequate level of privacy, outlook, sunlight and daylight, and should not 
be unduly overbearing. This is consistent with paragraph 128 of the NPPF that has, 
as one of its core principles, planning should always seek to secure high quality 
design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land 
and buildings. It requires planning policies and decisions, amongst other matters, to 
ensure a high standard of amenity for existing and future users of land and 
buildings.

7.30 The introduction of the proposed development could give rise to potential noise and 
disturbance for the adjacent school as a result of the movement of construction and 
related traffic, and from construction works. However, it is important to recognise 
that this would be temporary and is not normally a material planning consideration. 

Page 350



There will inevitably be higher volumes at the start when material from site 
clearance and preparation works is excavated and removed from site and from the 
delivery of construction materials and workers vehicles. There will be peaks and 
troughs of movements through the construction period and as a result the risks and 
management will alter during this period.

7.31 Consideration also needs to be given to potential mitigation measures which may be 
used to reduce the impact. As noted above, disturbance during construction is to be 
expected and is not normally a material planning consideration as this would not be 
permanent. Nevertheless, it is possible to reduce the degree of intrusion during this 
time. For example, a construction environment management plan (CEMP) to specify 
working hours and delivery times, parking for operatives vehicles, how operations 
will be undertaken during the construction phase, the sequence that would be 
undertaken for construction and the envisaged construction period. In setting these 
controls the impact on the amenity of the neighbours and the school would be 
reduced to a minimum during the construction period and can reasonably be secured 
by way of an appropriately worded planning condition.

7.32 Consideration also needs to be given to potential mitigation measures which may be 
used to reduce the impact. As noted above, disturbance during construction is to be 
expected and is not normally a material planning consideration as this would not be 
permanent. Nevertheless, it is possible to reduce the degree of intrusion during this 
time. For example, a construction environment management plan (CEMP) to specify 
working hours and delivery times, parking for operatives vehicles, how operations 
will be undertaken during the construction phase, the sequence that would be 
undertaken for construction and the envisaged construction period. In setting these 
controls the impact on the amenity of the neighbours and the school would be 
reduced to a minimum during the construction period and can reasonably be secured 
by way of an appropriately worded planning condition. 

7.33 Whilst I accept that there would be some impact upon amenity from noise associated 
with construction traffic, nevertheless this must be balanced against the duration of 
the construction period, the nature and frequency of traffic movements. Overall, 
whilst the temporary adverse impact on local residents and the school during the 
construction phase is recognised, nevertheless it is considered that these can be 
suitably mitigated.

7.34 I also have concerns regarding activity at the beginning and end of the school day in 
terms of congestion and pedestrian movements relating to the surge of vehicles and 
pedestrian movements to and from the school during these peak times. As a 
safeguard, given the proximity to the school I consider it is reasonable to limit 
deliveries to 0900 to 1500 during school hours during term time. 

Landscape character and visual impact

7.35 In my opinion, the landscape scheme submitted fails to sufficiently add to the 
landscape character of the site, or adequately support the proposed residential use. 

7.36 The submitted information shows the loss of the majority of the trees on site with 
retention of only a few small trees. This has been evaluated and considered on site. 
It is likely that there are a number of trees which are likely to be able to be retained 
and can be protected during construction to give a more mature landscape quality. 
These are on the southern boundaries of the site, near to the school playground.

 

Page 351



7.37 This is especially important given the comments of the Landscape and Biodiversity 
advisor which relate to the large footprint of the building and the external space 
being designed as a peripheral utility space rather than a positive amenity space that 
will improve the quality of life for the residents. 

7.38 The applicants’ landscape architect has therefore been asked to amend the 
landscaping proposals with a more creative design to include:

 Wide, level paths around the site and within the internal courtyard suitable for 
wheelchairs and persons with impaired mobility

 Sensory planting - such as lavender, lemon balm near footpaths and within the 
internal courtyard

 Opportunities for residents to undertake planting or a small allotment with raised 
beds and a distinct area for this

 Planting and trees chosen to encourage birds and wildlife to allow residents to 
view from inside

 Garden flower pots and/or window boxes to add colour and visual interest to the 
garden

 Woodland  and pollinator meadows in lesser used areas of the site
 Water butts on downpipes should residents wish to water plants
 Areas of seating with outlook and visual interest in the garden

7.39 This will also provide an opportunity to address the safeguarding concerns expressed 
by the Crime Risk Manager, through the provision of suitable defensive planting so 
that the site is as safe and secure as it can be for future residents whilst 
accommodating visitors to the premises.

7.40 At the time of writing this report suitably amended plans have not been received. 
Nevertheless, a condition is recommended in the meantime to secure these 
outcomes in order to provide a stimulating external area and a positive amenity 
space for residents and staff. 

Energy conservation

7.41 Policy SWDP 27 (Incorporating Renewable and Low Carbon Energy into New 
Development) seeks to reduce carbon emissions and secure sustainable energy 
solutions in all new development over 100 sq. metres gross or one or more 
dwellings. This should be achieved by incorporating energy generation from 
renewables or low carbon sources equivalent to at least 10% of predicted energy 
requirements, unless it has been demonstrated that this would make the 
development unviable. This is reflected in the NPPF that recognises the key role 
planning plays in supporting the delivery of renewable and low carbon energy. 

7.42 In this case, the scheme includes 70m2 of photovoltaic panels on the roof area and 
hot water provided by an air source heat pump. These will reduce the total carbon 
emission by 15.48% per annum. The scheme also includes the use of permeable 
paving to allow surface water to drain away and provision of water saving sanitary 
ware. 

Heritage assets

7.42 The application site is not within a conservation area and does not form part of any 
other designated heritage asset. 

Page 352



There are no listed buildings or buildings of local significance within the curtilage of 
the application site and the nearest noteworthy building of any historical significance 
is the converted Grade II listed stable block of former Perdiswell Hall and attached 
walls and outbuilding. However, whilst the site itself is not an Archaeological 
Sensitive Area (ASA), nevertheless it is adjacent to an ASA and there are several 
other archaeological sites in the vicinity. Overall, the vast majority of the site was 
comprehensively stripped during formation of the car park. However, one significant 
feature was recovered towards the centre of the site, a ring ditch or ringwork of 
Bronze Age date (c 3000-3500 years ago). This was probably a ritual or communal 
site. This seems, within the car park boundary, not to have been associated with any 
other features. However, the Park and Ride car park layout was altered to reflect this 
archaeological feature.

7.43 The proposals should be considered against Policies SWDP 6 and SWDP 24 which 
seek to protect and enhance designated and non-designated heritage assets and 
guide against development that would cause substantial harm to the significance of 
any heritage asset. Policy SWDP 6 states that “Development proposals should 
conserve and enhance heritage assets, including assets of potential archaeological 
interest” and “Development proposals will be supported where they conserve and 
enhance the significance of heritage assets, including their setting”.

7.44 This is consistent with the NPPF in that they seek to protect and enhance designated 
and non-designated heritage assets and guide against development that would cause 
substantial harm to the significance of any heritage asset. In accordance with the 
NPPF great weight must be given to the conservation of designated heritage assets 
and in accordance with s66 of the Planning Listed Building and Conservation Areas 
Act 1990, special regard is to be had to the desirability of preserving listed buildings 
or their settings. 

7.45 There is a substantial amount of planning case law regarding how a decision taker 
must address the issue of harm to heritage assets, such as listed buildings. 
Essentially, this makes it is clear that the decision maker is required to give 
considerable importance and weight to the desirability of avoiding harm to the 
heritage asset. There is accordingly a strong presumption, imposed by the Planning 
Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act 1990, against harmful development. 
This is the case whether the harm is ‘substantial’ or is ‘less than substantial’. There 
is no specific test in the NPPF of what differentiates substantial harm from other 
harm for the purposes of national policy. Whilst the judgments are not prescriptive 
as to where the threshold between ‘substantial’ and ‘less than substantial’ lies, 
nevertheless case law has been established that for harm to be substantial, the 
impact on significance is required to be serious such that very much, if not all, of the 
significance of the asset is eroded, for example by complete demolition.

7.46 I consider that the proposals would have less than substantial harm in respect of the 
impact on the fabric, character, appearance and setting of the converted Grade II 
listed stable block of former Perdiswell Hall and attached walls and outbuilding. In 
my opinion, this limited harm is outweighed by the public benefits of the proposals, 
namely the provision specialist care facilities in a purpose built building to satisfy a 
demonstrable need to accommodate the growing demand for additional dementia 
care accommodation.

7.47 In terms of the effect on below ground deposits, The Archaeological Officer has 
advised that:  

Page 353



‘The site was comprehensively developed when the park and ride car park was built 
and it is not expected that any archaeological remains could have survived within the 
site boundary. The park and ride car park development resulted in the discovery of a 
regionally unique Bronze Age palisaded ringwork, 4000 years old. This was 
commemorated in the car park design and landscaping layout, with a circular 
arrangement of paths and planting beds reflecting the location and plan of the 
prehistoric site. 

In addition an artwork was created which interpreted the prehistoric site within the 
bus waiting room. There is no requirement for archaeological mitigation as no 
remains will survive. However it would be highly beneficial, in terms of the public 
understanding of the heritage of the site, if some at least of the landscaping or other 
interpretation could be retained in the development.’

7.48 These comments have been passed on to the agent and the Landscape Architect to 
explore the possibility of integrating into the re-designed landscape proposal and/or 
integrate into the site in an appropriate manner. 

7.49 I am mindful that this information will be present on the Historic Environment Record 
(HER) for the site, and given the nature of the care home regarding potentially 
vulnerable adults, the site will need to remain secure and not open for public access 
due to issues of safeguarding. In my opinion, this matter could be addressed by re-
siting the existing interpretation panel from the bus waiting room building to the 
front boundary to allow for public understanding of the historic context of the site 
and they can reference records from the HER if required. A condition to this effect is 
recommended accordingly and I consider that this balances the historical value and 
context of the site in a way that is appropriate in protecting the amenity of proposed 
residents. 

7.50 In summarising the likely effects of the proposal on heritage assets and having full 
regard to the policies in the development plan and national guidance it is assessed 
that the proposed development would have less than substantial harm to the 
significance of the designated heritage assets. The balancing exercise in paragraph 
196 of the NPPF is required to be undertaken between the “less than substantial 
harm” to the designated heritage asset on the one hand, and the public benefits of 
the proposal on the other. Taking into account the importance and weight to be 
given to the statutory duty under s.66(1) and s.72 (1) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 in the overall balance of considerations,  
I am of the opinion that the impact on the designated heritage assets would be 
insufficient for the application to be refused.

Noise

7.51 Policy SWDP 21 requires that new development does not have a significant adverse 
effect on neighbouring amenity. The National Planning Practice Guidance note on 
noise and related policy set out in paragraph 180 of the NPPF is also pertinent:

“Planning policies and decisions should also ensure that new development is 
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative 
effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well 
as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise 
from the development. In doing so they should:

a) mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from noise 
from new development – and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse 

Page 354



impacts on health and the quality of life; 

b) identify and protect tranquil areas which have remained relatively undisturbed by 
noise and are prized for their recreational and amenity value for this reason; and 

c) limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically 
dark landscapes and nature conservation.”

7.52 Due to the distance of the site away from residential properties on the opposite side 
of the A38 Droitwich Road, the proposed development itself is likely to have only 
limited impact upon the amenity of nearby residents in terms of noise from the use 
of the premises or on future residents from external school play areas. The noise 
survey undertaken for the scheme measured different areas of the site and related 
this to the proposed plan, including the upper external outside area, the inner 
courtyard and the cinema room to assess the impact of noise and activity - 
principally from the A38 and also the school playground. From the noise report it 
states that that no specific mitigation measures are necessary at the proposed 
development in order to achieve an appropriate acoustic environment for the 
proposed development.

7.53 Nevertheless, a high volume of vehicles will come in close proximity to these 
properties and adjacent business premises, particularly during the early stages of 
construction and at school drop-off and collection times, which will have a more 
discernible impact upon nearby residents in terms of noise and disturbance. 

7.54 Noise and disturbance generated by the movement of construction traffic could have 
a negative impact on both the immediate and the wider area. However, it is 
important to recognise that disturbance during construction is to be expected and is 
not normally a material planning consideration as this would not be permanent. 
Nevertheless, it is possible to reduce the degree of intrusion during this time. For 
example, a construction environment management plan to outline how operations 
will be undertaken during the construction phase, the sequence that would be 
undertaken for construction and the envisaged construction period. General working 
practices, for example hours of construction, can reasonably be controlled by 
condition and I would not raise objection in this respect. My view on this matter is 
reinforced by the lack of objection to this aspect of the proposals by Worcestershire 
Regulatory Services.

Access and Highway Safety 
7.55 In terms of transportation, highways and access, the proposals should be considered 

against Policy SWDP 4 which seeks to manage travel demand, encourage use of 
alternative modes of travel to the private car and deliver transport infrastructure to 
support economic prosperity.  The Worcestershire Streetscape Design Guide is also 
relevant. 

7.56 The National Planning Policy Framework outlines that transport policies have an 
important role to play in facilitating sustainable development but also in contributing 
to wider sustainability and health objectives. In considering developments that 
generate significant amounts of movements local authorities should seek to ensure 
they are located where the need to travel will be minimised and the use of 
sustainable transport modes can be maximised. Plans and decisions should take 
account of whether improvements can be taken within the transport network that 
cost-effectively limit the significant impact of the development.

7.57  Paragraph 111 of the Framework states that developments that generate significant   

Page 355



amounts of movement should be supported by a Transport Statement or Transport 
Assessment. Planning decisions should assess whether the opportunities for 
sustainable modes of transport have been taken up; whether safe and suitable 
access to the site can be achieved; and whether improvements can be undertaken 
within the transport network that can limit the significant impacts of the 
development cost effectively.

7.58 Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the 
residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF 
also states that Travel Plans are a key tool for promoting sustainable transport. 
Paragraph 105 adds that parking standards should take into account site 
accessibility, the type of development, the availability of public transport, local car 
ownership levels and the need to reduce the use of high emission vehicles.

7.59 The applicant’s Transport Assessment provides an assessment of the proposed 
transport and access arrangements, which has been assessed in detail by the 
Highway Authority, who have commented as follows:

“Care homes are low trip generating uses and result in few movement at 
traditional peak times, as such the proposal does not have any network capacity 
issues.

The site provides reasonable opportunities to travel sustainably whether that be 
by staff, professional support services or visitors. There is a regular bus service 
on the A38, the site is within walking distance of the surrounding residential 
areas and this connects to the national and local cycle routes. Additionally, a 
travel plan will need to be provided to encourage sustainable travel trips and a 
suitably worded condition is proposed to ensure this is provided.

Car parking levels for the site must be justified as required in the Streetscape 
Design Guide, the applicants transport assessment (section 4.12 – 4.23) provides 
this justification. 28 car parking spaces are proposed, three of which are 
accessible spaces, the transport assessment demonstrates that the proposal 
exceeds the anticipated demands and therefore can address time where greater 
level of demands will exist. It is noted that the level of parking restrictions in the 
locality will ensure that there will not be any displacement onto the surrounding 
Highway network and this will ensure that parking demands are managed. The 
application doesn’t make provision for electric vehicle charging facilities which is a 
requirement, therefore a condition is recommended which seeks to address this 
matter. Cycle parking proposals are demonstrated on the access drawing.

No alterations are needed to the access on John Comyn Drive to accommodate 
the access; however it is necessary to remove the former slip lane onto the A38 
which becomes redundant as a result of this proposal. A condition is 
recommended to address this.

The Highway Authority has undertaken a robust assessment of the planning 
application. Based on the analysis of the information submitted the Highway 
Authority concludes that there would not be an unacceptable impact on Highway 
Safety or a severe impact on congestion. There are no justifiable grounds on 
which an objection could be maintained.”

7.60 Whilst I note the condition recommended by the Highway Authority, nevertheless the 
slip road is outside the application site within the highway verge and it is not clear 
why it is necessary in highway safety terms for it to be removed. As such, I do not 

Page 356



consider the recommended condition would be necessary, reasonable or appropriate. 
However, in the event that further justification is forthcoming I will review this 
matter accordingly. 

7.61 I note the comments of the Crime Risk Manager regarding provision of additional 
parking. However, the Highway Authority has confirmed that the level of provision 
proposed is acceptable. With regard to the concerns expressed regarding cycle 
parking, the location and style of the proposed cycle stand has been amended to 
address the concerns of the Crime Risk Manager. 

7.62 In all other respects, the Highway Authority is satisfied that the proposed 
development would be acceptable from a highways perspective and would not result 
in residual cumulative impact of development that is severe and thus should not be 
refused on transport grounds, as set out in the NPPF. I find no reason to take a 
contrary position. 

Flooding and drainage

7.63 Given the scale of the development a flood risk assessment has been submitted, 
together with information regarding sustainable drainage. These have been 
considered and are acceptable. 

7.64 Policy SWDP 29 – ‘Sustainable Drainage Systems’ requires all development proposals 
(as appropriate to their nature and scale) to, amongst other criteria, demonstrate 
through a Water Management Statement that site drainage and runoff will be 
managed in a sustainable and co-ordinated way that mimics the natural drainage 
network. Part iv further states that proposals on brownfield land must show a 20% 
reduction in surface water run-off rates compared with the pre-development 
situation. In all cases, development proposals must not increase surface water flood 
risk beyond the site.

7.65 The drainage details have been submitted to the satisfaction of the South 
Worcestershire Land Drainage Partnership who require no conditions to secure 
further details. It meets the requirements of SWDP 28 - Flood and SWDP 29 
Sustainable Drainage. 

8. Conclusion and planning balance

8.1 The NPPF identifies a series of the components that are considered critical to 
achieving sustainable development, as well as ensuring the appropriate and 
necessary type of care facility is delivered to serve the needs of the population. In 
this instance there is a clear level of need locally demonstrated and this must weigh 
in the balance of consideration. 

8.2 In my opinion, the above assessment of the planning application proposals against 
the planning policy framework demonstrates that the application responds to, the 
requirements of the adopted planning policy within the development plan and 
material considerations relevant to the determination of the application.

8.3 Although the proposal is contrary to Policy SWDP 38 regarding Green Space, it will 
bring into use an area of currently under-utilised brownfield land which is strongly 
promoted in the National Planning Policy Framework 2018 and SWDP. The proposal 
will also improve the biodiversity and landscape character of the site compared to its 
vacant and unoccupied state. 

Page 357



8.4 There would be an economic boost to the local economy from the short term 
provision of a significant number of construction jobs and longer term provision of 
various jobs associated with the running of the care home. The social effect would be 
wholly beneficial, particularly in relation to the provision of the proposed facility and 
an urgent and demonstrable need for the scheme that can be delivered in a purpose 
built building on a brownfield site to satisfy the demand for additional 
accommodation. The proposal would therefore lead to significant public benefits in 
terms of its social role and would be of overriding public interest. In terms of the 
environmental dimension, it is considered that the site has the capacity to 
accommodate the proposed development in an acceptable manner with regard to 
siting, layout, design and appearance without detriment to the amenities of 
neighbouring residents and businesses, the interests of highway safety and impact 
on heritage assets. The proposal would make good use of a disused site, and if it 
were considered that there was a disbenefit arising from the loss of unprotected 
trees, this would be entirely outweighed by proposed mitigation measures to be 
secured by conditions. 

8.5 Having regard to the totality of the policies in the Framework, I consider the 
proposed development is sustainable when looking at its social, economic and 
environmental credentials in the round. Overall it is considered that the proposals 
constitute an environmentally, socially and economically sustainable form of 
development in accordance with policy SWDP 1 and would broadly accord with the 
Framework and the Development Plan when read as a whole. Taking the three 
dimensions of sustainability together, the proposal represents sustainable 
development and the balance is very clearly in favour of the grant of planning 
permission. As such it is recommended that planning permission be granted.

9. Recommended conditions

9.1 In the event that members resolve to grant planning permission the following 
conditions are recommended:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.

Reason: To conform with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and completed in 
accordance with the following approved plans and associated documents and the 
specifications and recommendations contained therein, except where otherwise 
stipulated by conditions attached to this permission

PA01Proposed Floor Plans
PA02 Proposed Elevations Rev B
PA03 Rev A, Site Plan
PA04 Existing Topographical Survey
PA05 Proposed 3d Views
PA06 Proposed Bin Store
PA07 Proposed Site Location Plan
PA08 Proposed Roof Plan
PA09 Proposed Site Sections.pdf

Page 358



Design and Access Statement
Planning Statement.pdf, revision: A
Transport Statement 
Scoping Report
Energy Report
Arboricultural Impact Assessment (1)
Arboricultural Impact Assessment Plan
Ecological Appraisal
Great Crested Newt Survey
Statement Of Community Involvement
Bat Survey - Phase 1
CIL Form
Si Report
EW1015 200, revision: P2
Drainage Strategy
Storm Water Calculations- revised
Surface Water Maintenance Proposals.pdf
Drainage Planning Statement - 31.01.20.pdf
CPHSP Worcester .pdf

7877-LAPSLandscape Appraisal and Planning Strategy
7877-D-PSPlanting Strategy
7877-D-LALandscape Appraisal
Environmental Management Plan
Solar Study

Reason: To ensure compliance with the approved scheme.

3. Prior to letting of a construction contract an Employment, Skills and Local 
Procurement Strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. This strategy shall set out measures to provide local 
employment, skills and business opportunities during the construction phase of 
the development and in respect of the use of the building hereby approved. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the details so approved. 
Within 12 months of the development hereby approved being first brought into 
use, a Statement of Conformity shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority, setting out how the approved measures were implemented and shall 
include a review of Employment, Skills and Procurement outcomes arising from 
the approved Strategy. 

Reason:- To ensure that the development provides opportunities for local 
employment and training opportunities in accordance with the South 
Worcestershire Development Plan - Developer Contributions Supplementary 
Planning Document.

4. Temporary fencing for the protection of all retained trees/hedges on site and 
trees outside the site whose Root Protection Areas fall within the site shall be 
erected in accordance with BS 5837:2012 (Trees in Relation to Design, 
Demolition and Construction)  before development of any type commences, 
including site clearance, demolition, materials delivery, vehicular movement and 
erection of site huts. 

Any alternative fencing type or position not strictly in accordance with BS 5837 

Page 359



(2012) must be agreed in writing by the local planning authority prior to the 
commencement of development.

This protective fencing shall remain in place until the completion of development 
or unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority. Nothing 
should be stored or placed (including soil), nor shall any ground levels altered, 
within the fenced area without the previous written consent of the local planning 
authority. There shall be no burning of any material within 10 metres of the 
extent of the canopy of any retained tree/hedge.

Reason - To prevent existing trees/hedges from being damaged during 
construction work and to preserve the amenities of the locality in accordance with 
policies SWDP21 and SWDP25 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 

5. All planting and seeding/ turfing as set out within the  landscape scheme to be 
submitted to the local planning authority, shall be carried out in the first planting 
season in accordance with the submitted implementation programme.  All 
planting shall be watered as necessary and competitive weed growth controlled 
to ensure successful establishment.  Any trees or plants that die, or are removed; 
or become seriously damaged or diseased within a period of five years from the 
completion of the planting, shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
others of similar size and species.  

Reason: To ensure the proposed development does not have an adverse effect on 
the character and appearance of the area in accordance with policies SWDP21 
and SWDP25 of South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016.

6. Temporary fencing for the protection of all retained trees/hedges on site and 
trees outside the site whose Root Protection Areas fall within the site shall be 
erected in accordance with BS 5837:2012 (Trees in Relation to Design, 
Demolition and Construction)  before development of any type commences, 
including site clearance, demolition, materials delivery, vehicular movement and 
erection of site huts. 

Any alternative fencing type or position not strictly in accordance with BS 5837 
(2012) must be agreed in writing by the local planning authority prior to the 
commencement of development.

This protective fencing shall remain in place until the completion of development 
or unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority. Nothing 
should be stored or placed (including soil), nor shall any ground levels altered, 
within the fenced area without the previous written consent of the local planning 
authority. There shall be no burning of any material within 10 metres of the 
extent of the canopy of any retained tree/hedge.

Reason - To prevent existing trees/hedges from being damaged during 
construction work and to preserve the amenities of the locality. This is in 
accordance with policies SWDP21 and SWDP25 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan.

7. No residents of the care home shall occupy the site until works to remove the 

Page 360



redundant slip lane relating to the park and ride site is removed and made good. 

Reason: To ensure highway safety is not affected in line with SWDP4

8. 2 car electric charging point are to be installed in public car parking spaces with 
technology available for an additional 1 charging points as a means of future 
proofing for this emerging technology. 

Reason: To reduce the impact of travel to the site and to encourage modes of 
sustainable travel in line with SWDP4. 

9. Notwithstanding the submitted details, the premises shall not be occupied until 
details of any external plant, including extract ventilation facilities, air 
conditioning equipment and their noise generation levels, and any noise 
attenuation measures shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning 
authority. Thereafter, these works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring properties in accordance 
with SWDP 21 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016.

10. An Employment Travel Plan shall be submitted, implemented and monitored. In 
the event of failing to meet the targets within the Plan a revised Plan shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to address 
any shortfalls, and where necessary make provision for and promote improved 
sustainable forms of travel to and from the site. The submitted details shall use 
Modeshift STARS Business to carry out this process and include mechanisms for 
monitoring and review over the life of the development and timescales for 
implementation. The approved Travel Plan shall be implemented, monitored and 
reviewed in accordance with the approved details

Reason: To reduce vehicle movements and promote sustainable travel.

11. The plaque providing information relating to the Bronze Age activity on the site 
shall be re-sited on the front external boundary of the site in accordance with 
details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The plaque shall not be displayed other than in accordance with such 
approved details and retained as such thereafter.

Reason: to ensure the historic legacy and information relating to the site is 
realised.

12. The development hereby approved shall not commence until a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include but not be limited to the 
following:-

 Measures to ensure that vehicles leaving the site do not deposit mud or other 
detritus on the public highway;

 Details of site operative parking areas, material storage areas and the location 

Page 361



of site operatives facilities (offices, toilets etc);

 The hours that delivery vehicles will be permitted to arrive and depart, and 
arrangements for unloading and manoeuvring.

 Details of any temporary construction accesses and their reinstatement.

 A highway condition survey, timescale for re-inspections, and details of any 
reinstatement.

The measures must comply with Worcestershire Regulatory Services Demolition & 
Construction Guidance 2011

The measures set out in the approved Plan shall be carried out and complied with 
in full during the construction of the development hereby approved. Site 
operatives' parking, material storage and the positioning of operatives' facilities 
shall only take place on the site in locations approved by in writing by the local 
planning authority.

Reason: To ensure the provision of adequate on-site facilities and in the interests 
of highway safety and wider site safety.

13. No construction deliveries shall be made or despatched from the site outside the 
hours of 7.30am to 6.00pm Mondays to Fridays and 8.00am to 1.00pm on 
Saturdays. Within these time periods no deliveries shall be made or despatched 
from the site between the hours of 8.30am and 9.15am and 3.00pm and 4.00pm 
on any day on which children are attending nearby schools. No deliveries shall be 
made on Sundays or statutory Bank Holidays.

Reason:- To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring residents and avoid conflict 
with users of nearby schools in close proximity to the site in the interests of 
pedestrian safety in accordance with policy SWDP 21 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan and the aims and interests that the National Planning Policy 
Framework seeks to protect and promote.

14. Notwithstanding the details submitted as part of the application and shown on 
the approved plans the premises shall be used for the provision of care and 
associated ancillary living accommodation and shall not be used for any other use 
within the meaning of Class C2 of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) 
Order 1987 (as amended).

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to secure a satisfactory form of 
development in accordance with policy SWDP 37 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan and the aims and objectives that the National Planning Policy 
Framework seeks to protect and promote

Page 362



Application Number 19/00821/FUL

Site Address Nunnery Wood High School, Spetchley Road, 
Worcester, WR5 2LT

Description of 
Development

Provision of new 34 space car park 

Case Officer Sally Watts Applicant Nunnery Wood High 
School

Ward Member(s) Nunnery Ward Agent Mr Richard Pill

Reason for Referral to 
Committee

Member referral Expiry 
Date

21st February 2020

Key Issues The principle of development and whether the proposal 
would be sustainable form of development having regard 
to the 3 dimensions of sustainable development in terms 
of its economic role, social role and environmental role.  

Web link to application https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Planning/Display/19/00821/FUL

Recommendation The Deputy Director - Economic Development and 
Planning recommends that the Planning Committee 
grant planning permission, subject to the 
conditions set out in section 9 of this report.

1. Background

1.1 The application was registered on 25th October 2019 and was due for a decision on 
20th December 2019. An extension of time for the determination of the application 
has been sought until 20th March 2020 to allow determination by the Planning 
Committee.

1.2 The application has been referred to the Planning Committee at the request of 
Councillor Mitchell relating to concerns over the justification provided for the increase 
in parking and loss of green space

2.       The site and surrounding area 

2.1 The school is situated in Nunnery ward. The site area is not subject to any natural 
environment, heritage asset or other designations under the terms of the South 
Worcestershire Development Plan 2016. 

Page 363 Agenda Item 12

https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Search/Results


Figure 1. site location plan

2.2 Adjacent to the site is Nunnery Wood, which is an ancient woodland.  In addition a 
TPO tree stands adjacent to the boundary of the site within the curtilage of 69 
Spetchley Road that has been extended to the rear. The TPO tree was found to house 
bats as an outlying roost rather than a principal or breeding roost. As such, mitigation 
measures where included which were licenced by Natural England, for additional at 
roosts to be placed in the TPO tree in close proximity to the site. 

2.3 The current application was originally submitted along with the proposal for a new 
single storey art block for teaching on the opposite side of the vehicular access 
adjoined to the school. The art block was considered acceptable,  however there were 
issues with the car park provision regarding the bats and concern from residents 
regarding vehicular movements. As such the scheme was divided to include only the 
proposal for the art block which was approved. This allowed for a further assessment 
of the issues and constraints arising from the proposal, including discussions with 
Worcestershire County Council, the commissioning of a bat survey and the provision 
of specialist lighting. 

Page 364



Figure 2. Ariel view of the site and adjoining properties

3.    The proposals

3.1 The proposal is for a car park of 34 spaces together with some minor reconfiguration 
to existing car parking spaces in the car park area to the north east of the site.

3.2  The proposed car park has an entry and exit access point from the access road which 
continues to further car parking and the sport centre and sports facilities. There is a 
buffer around the spaces to the rear boundaries for the adjoining Spetchley Road 
properties and those accessed from the lane adjacent to Worcester Sixth Form 
College. The design accommodates for the protected tree and has two spaces closest 
to the tree, which are rotated to avoid the root protection zone of the tree.

3.3 The new area of car parking forms part of a wider planned expansion programme at 
the school to meet existing requirements and anticipated future growth needs. The 
school is looking to expand at 30 pupils per a year group from 1350 to 1500. In order 
to meet the increased need, it is necessary to increase provision in a range of areas. 

Page 365



To operate at 300 per year group it is calculated, based upon current class size and 
capacity, that an additional 7 classrooms are required.

3.4 The school has also advised that the car parking demand is generated by: 

 Existing inadequate car parking on site resulting in unsafe car parking around the 
site; 

 Additional staffing requirements for the proposed growth; 
 An increasing number of casual music teachers; 
 More frequent exams which involve part time invigilators, and;
 Commissioning of more external professional consultants to support the students 

given the decrease centrally in local authority provision.

3.5 The scheme entails the provision of lighting for the car parking area however concerns 
have been raised by the Landscape and Biodiversity Consultant that the light spill in 
the area close to the TPO Walnut Tree, which homes a bat roost, is excessive. As 
such, the lighting proposals have been revised to ensure that the light can be more 
accurately directed into the relevant areas of the car park. All the luminaires will have 
the following controls:

 Timers inbuilt to control the hours of operation;
 Sensors to come on;
 Be able to dim up / down from (1% - 100% output).
 The area behind the light can be controlled using directional lights. 
 Each column near the affected bat habitats will have deflectors fitted

3.6 Plan SSP01 shows the areas on the site where existing car parking spaces are to be 
removed, shown in figure 3 and 4. The spaces to be removed relate to the area close 
to the principle entrance as shown on the plan below which accounts for 13 spaces 
being lost and figure 4 which shows a net loss of two spaces. 

Page 366



3.7 The design and access statement advises;

‘Through the previous two phases of works identified above the school has lost 17 car park 
spaces and gained 2 providing a net loss of 15 spaces to date. The proposal is to add 34 car 
park spaces in the new car park, giving a total net gain of 19 car park spaces. The car park 
at the front of the school will be remodelled to provide additional disabled spaces, no further 
additional spaces will be provided in this area.’

Page 367



3.8 The application is accompanied by a full set of plans together with a suite of 
supporting documents that include:

 Location Plan
 Design and access statement
 664 45 010-New car park layout
 664 45 011 New Car Park Drainage Layout
 SSP01 Existing Site Removed Car Park Spaces
 Bat Survey Report
 Parking Justification
 E19015-100-001Proposed  Electrical Services Plan
 E19015-100-002 Proposed Electrical Services Plan
 Planning Statement
 Starbeam – deflector image details
 Tree Retention and Protection Plan
 Tree Protection Method Statement

3.9 In accordance with Article 15 (7) of The Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), full details of the 
application have been published on the Council’s website. As such, Members will 

           have had the opportunity to review the submitted plans and documents in order to 
familiarise themselves with the proposals prior to consideration and determination of 
the application accordingly.

4. Planning Policy 

4.1 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (‘the Act’) establishes the legislative 
framework for consideration of this application. Section 70(2) of the Act requires the 
decision-maker in determining planning applications/appeals to have regard to the 
Development Plan, insofar as it is material to the application/appeal, and to any 
other material consideration. Where the Development Plan is material to the 
development proposal it must therefore be taken into account.  Section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the application/appeal to be 
determined in accordance with the Plan, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

4.2       The Development Plan for Worcester now comprises:

 The South Worcestershire Development Plan (SWDP) which was adopted 
February 2016, and;

 The Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy, which was adopted on December 2012.

South Worcestershire Development Plan

4.3 The following policies of the SWDP are considered to be relevant to the proposal:

SWDP4 Moving around South Worcestershire
SWDP 5 Green Infrastructure
SWDP21 Design 
SWDP22 Biodiversity and GeodiversitySWDP25- Landscape Character
SWDP 25      Landscape Character
SWDP29 Sustainable Drainage Systems

Material Considerations

Page 368



National Planning Policy Framework

4.4 The latest version of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published 
and came into effect in February 2019. The NPPF sets out the Government's planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It constitutes 
guidance for local planning authorities and decision takers and is a material planning 
consideration in determining planning applications. 

4.5 The NPPF outlines a series of considerations against which delivering sustainable 
development should be assessed. The Government believes that sustainable 
development can play three critical roles in England: an economic role, contributing 
to a strong, responsive, competitive economy; a social role, supporting vibrant and 
healthy communities; and an environmental role, protecting and enhancing our 
natural, built and historic environment.

4.6 Paragraph 38 of the NPPF encourages Local Planning Authorities to approach decision 
taking in a positive way and to foster the delivery of sustainable development. Local 
Planning Authorities are advised to approach decisions on proposed development in 
a positive and creative way. They should use the full range of planning tools 
available, including brownfield registers and permission in principle, and work 
proactively with applicants to secure developments that will improve the economic, 
social and environmental conditions of the area. Decision-makers at every level 
should seek to approve applications for sustainable development where possible.

4.7 The National Planning Policy Framework is clear in its intention that Local Planning 
Authorities work with school to deliver necessary growth. Paragraph 94 sets out this 
duty stating:

It is important that a sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the needs 
of existing and new communities. Local planning authorities should take a proactive, 
positive and collaborative approach to meeting this requirement, and to development 
that will widen choice in education. They should: 

a) give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools (my 
emphasis) through the  preparation of plans and decisions on applications; and

b) work with schools promoters, delivery partners and statutory bodies to identify
    and resolve key planning issues before applications are submitted.

4.8 Schools are one key area that central government directs local authorities through 
the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 to deliver growth by instructing them 
to have great weight in their decision making based on the need for growth.  

2. National Planning Practice Guidance 

4.9 On 6th March 2014 the Government also published National Planning Practice 
Guidance (NPPG) that has been updated in the meantime and comprises, 
amongst other matters: Design, Determining a planning application, Health and 
Wellbeing, Noise, and Use of Planning Conditions. 

3. Supplementary Planning Documents

4.10 The following Supplementary Planning Documents are relevant to the application 
proposals:-

Page 369



 South Worcestershire Design SPD

The Design Guide SPD was adopted on 5th March 2018 and replaces the previous 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note 3: Design (SPG3). Both documents 
encourage high standards of design for development proposals in accordance with 
the aims and interests that the NPPF seeks to protect and promote in this regard. 
The Design Quality SPD is consistent with the planning policies in the SWDP. 

 Planning for Health in South Worcestershire SPD

The Planning for Health SPD primarily focuses on the principal links between 
planning and health. It provides guidance and interpretation of the SWDP from a 
public health perspective. The SPD addresses following nine health and wellbeing 
principles:

 Sustainable development
 Urban form - design and the public realm
 Housing and employment
 Age-friendly environments for the elderly and those living with dementia
 Community facilities
 Green infrastructure and play spaces/recreation
 Air quality, noise, light and water management
 Active travel
 Encouraging healthier food choices

4. Worcestershire’s Local Transport Plan (LTP4) 2018 – 2030

4.11 LTP4 set out issues and priorities for investment in transport infrastructure, 
technology and services, focussed on supporting travel by all modes. In accordance 
with national and local objectives, a series of local transport-specific objectives are 
identified in the LTP4:

 “To support Worcestershire’s economic competitiveness and growth through 
delivering a safe, reliable and efficient transport network.

 To limit the impacts of transport in Worcestershire on the local environment, by 
supporting enhancements to the natural environment and biodiversity, investing 
in transport infrastructure to reduce flood risk and other environmental damage, 
and reducing transport-related emissions of nitrogen dioxide, particulate matter, 
greenhouse gases and noise pollution. This will support delivery of the desired 
outcomes of tackling climate change and reducing the impacts of transport on 
public health.

 To contribute towards better safety, security, health and longer life expectancy in 
Worcestershire, by reducing the risk of death, injury or illness arising from 
transport and promoting healthy modes of travel.

 To optimise equality of opportunity for all of Worcestershire’s citizens with the 
desired outcome of creating a fairer society.

 To enhance the quality of life for Worcestershire’s residents by promoting a 
healthy, natural environment, for people, wildlife and habitats, conserving our 
historic built environment and preserving our heritage assets."

Worcestershire County Council Streetscape Design Guide (2018)

Page 370



4.12 The ‘Streetscape Design Guide' (SDG) was produced to aid architects, engineers, 
planners, developers, designers and other professionals in preparing transport 
infrastructure related to new developments. It is to be considered in conjunction with 
Manual for Streets 1 and 2, as well as the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges.

4.13 Chapter 4 relates to ‘Planning for Parking’ and seeks to provide an approach as to 
how car parking in Worcestershire should be provided to support development in a 
manner which embraces the NPPF. It is considered that if the applicant is the end 
user that they are well placed to assess operational demands but all sites must be 
considered against a planning use class to ensure they equally address the needs of 
future users. Therefore applications should provide a suitable evidence base to 
ensure vehicles are not displaced onto the highway to ensure highway safety is not 
compromised and maintain the free flow of traffic to the benefit of the local 
economy. This document only reflects a small part of managing vehicle demands and 
therefore should be read alongside the Local Transport Plan (above) which contains 
policies to promote sustainable travel through the provision of physical infrastructure 
and travel planning initiatives.

4.14 The school is engaged with the County Council’s Travel Plan Co-ordinator and is 
working collaboratively to achieve a set target for sustainable travel which is 
recorded and evidenced. 

4.15 The SDG states that operators should have a good understanding of their needs and 
will determine how land under their control could be managed. Provision for car 
parking will be determined based on operational need: 

“Car parking need is a subjective matter particularly in the mind of neighbours; the 
applicant should provide a minimum parking provision for each development along 
with an evidence base to demonstrate the appropriateness of the provision. Trip 
rates accumulation should either be derived from first principles or from existing 
data, for example; TRICS or comparison to facilities of similar size and geographic 
circumstance.

Adequate space for heavy goods, delivery and public service vehicles must be made 
within the site boundary, which should not conflict with the proposed parking 
arrangements.”

5. Planning History

5.1 The site has a greater planning history than that given below which details the most 
significant applications in terms of growth from extensions on the site. Regulation 3 
applications are those made by the County council on their asset but the district 
council (Worcester City Council in this instance) are consulted.

9462 The erection of a secondary modern school - Approved 16th June 1950

69/0941 Provision of a new craft block - No planning objection (Regulation 3 
application) 17th October 1969 

70/0714 The erection of rosla extensions to craft block - No planning objection 
(Regulation 3 application) 31st July 1970 

Page 371



75/1202 General regs. application for change of use from orchard to form 
extension to school site - No planning objection (Regulation 3 application)23rd 
January 1976 

83/0079 General regs. application for extensions and adaptions phase I - No 
planning objection (Regulation 3 application)15th March 1983 

83/0975 Erection of extensions to provide new library and classroom block. No 
planning objection (Regulation 3 application) 18th Oct 1983 

P90C0041 Provision of all weather football/hockey pitch and all weather athletics 
track and associated works. No planning objection (Regulation 3 application) 8th 
March 1990 

P95J0058 - Erection of new classroom block, removal of temporary double 
classroom unit and minor alterations to adjacent parking area- No planning objection 
(Regulation 3 application) 28th March 1995 

P04J0093 Erection of two storey extension to provide eight classrooms. No planning 
objection (Regulation 3 application) 30th April 2004 

P05G0143 New access ramp and additional car parking spaces- No planning 
objection (Regulation 3 application) 20th May 2005 

P05G0419 Construction of 12no new parking spaces. Approved 1st September 2005 

P10G0517 New stand alone teaching block housing two new classrooms and two 
new group rooms, new administration office, pupil toilet facilities and a disabled 
toilet. No planning objection (Regulation 3 application) 13th December 2010 

19/00005/FUL Proposed art block extension –Approved 25th July 2019 

6.   Consultations

6.1 Formal consultation has been undertaken in respect of the application. The following 
comments from statutory and non-statutory consultees and interested third parties 
have been received in relation to the original and amended proposals and are 
summarised as follows:

Neighbours and other third party comments : Objections have been received 
from the occupants of 65, 67, 69 and 71 Spetchley Road on grounds relating to the 
following matters:

 Concern regarding light pollution
 Seeking additional planting to provide screening 
 Concern it will affect wildlife in the extensive rear gardens
 Water run off and drainage causing flooding to garden areas
 Management of the car park during non term time and weekends
 Noise pollution 

6.2 The resident of 69 Spetchley Road has an additional specific concern regarding the 
protection of the Walnut Tree and bats and their bat boxes in the TPO Walnut Tree 
which is addressed in the report. 

Page 372



Within the comments there have been queries regarding the necessity for the 
additional car parking and queries for alternative location/s. 

Worcester City Council Consulting Arborist: The plan for the car park has been 
designed to eliminate most issues with existing trees. The proposal for the car park 
includes excavation around tree 5 for a drainage system. This recommends hand 
digging. The report also recommends site supervision by an arboriculturist partly in 
relation to tree protection fencing and construction exclusion zones. The area 
marked for the development is close to a TPO’d walnut tree located on neighbouring 
property. Regular supervision of the development should be conditioned to ensure 
Construction Exclusion Zones are maintained. Supervision of the hand digging 
operation should also be undertaken by an arboriculturist, and conditioned, in the 
event roots are exposed. Note: There is scope to use a small excavator to undertake 
the hand digging operation if adequate ground protection is used and the operation 
is appropriately supervised by an arboriculturist. No objection, subject to a condition 
securing a Tree Protection Plan for the TPO tree during construction. 

Worcester City Council Landscape and Biodiversity Consultant: The lux levels 
of all the lights to the south of the car park have excessive spill off the car park area 
to the south into the trees and open land. They should be shrouded or angled to 
achieve very low lux if any at all behind the luminaire and column. The area needs a 
landscape plan to provide trees and shrubs as a buffer to the southern boundary and 
the new activity of the car park. This is also to provide some biodiversity 
enhancement as per guidance.  

Please note Following this comment more specific technical information regarding 
the lighting has been provided. It has not yet been reviewed by the Landscape and 
Biodiversity Advisor however it does follow the advice given within this comment. 

Worcester City Council Contracts and Performance Manager: 

“Having reviewed the information available on the planning portal I would make the 
following observations/comments based on my historical knowledge of the site (My 
previous role included managing the Sports Complex facilities between April 1992 
and 2015) and since Freedom Leisure were appointed as the Council’s Leisure 
Operator in December 2015 my role has included the Client Officer function, which 
involves continued association with the site i.e. meetings with site partners, building 
inspections etc.)

The alternative area identified within the residents’ objections is land owned by the 
Sixth Form College and therefore is not an option for the school. As a Council we’ve 
previously held discussions with the College on a number of occasions over the years 
to consider the opportunity to extend parking on the site and create a one way 
system to link with the one that currently serves the College grounds. However, the 
College have never indicated any interest in that potential solution, primarily due to 
the requirement for them to retain the space for potential future development and 
concerns for the safety of their students created by directing more vehicles through 
their campus. 

Even if the College were to agree to the use of that land in the future it would raise 
the following issues for consideration:

 The close proximity to the woodland means that the lighting for the area could 
disturb the local wildlife (albeit there is a precedent set by the Athletics Facilities 
nearby)

Page 373



 Creating a one way system up the school drive and out via the College driveway 
would simply move the objections raised by the Spetchley Road residents at the 
rear of the school to the Spetchley Road residents at the rear of the College, in 
terms of increased traffic flow, increased noise etc. It’s also worth noting that in 
those circumstances the residential properties adjacent to the College are in 
much closer proximity than those residents that are adjacent to the school.

 With Spetchley Road being a no through route due to the County Hall access 
restrictions, traffic exiting the College driveway would be inclined to cut through 
the local estate in order to reach the dual carriageway at the end of Walkers 
Lane, essentially creating a ‘rat run’.

The new layout would contribute significantly to the capacity of existing car park 
provision on the site providing an extra 36 spaces and a 25%+ increase in available 
parking bays. The increase in capacity would help to resolve some of the congestion 
that occurs when events are taking place at the School, the College and the Sports 
Complex or at times a combination of all three, which causes a backlog of traffic 
both around the rear car park and out on the Spetchley Road. The additional on site 
parking provision would also help to reduce the traffic parked along the Spetchley 
Road at peak times of the day (many parents park on Spetchley Road to collect their 
children from school as they know on site parking is limited)

The planned design would allow vehicles to enter and exit the site more effectively 
as it creates a loop ‘in and out’ without the need to access the car park area at the 
rear of the school, which is controlled by a one way system but gets very congested 
at peak times. 

Due to the limited parking on site the Sports Complex would wish to negotiate use of 
the new parking bays in an evening when not being used by the school. However, 
the car park lighting could be set on a timer to coincide with the closure of the 
Sports Centre (i.e. last activity sessions are 9-10pm with the facility closed by 
10.30pm). Therefore there shouldn’t be any vehicles parked in the car park after this 
time so the lighting could go off at 10.30pm and in turn eradicate the issue of car 
lights or lighting columns shining into nearby bedrooms. A similar arrangement was 
put in place when the outdoor Athletics facilities were opened back in the nineties so 
that lighting from the track and pitch didn’t affect the nearby residential properties.”

6.3 Please note this information was provided on the former application, but having 
reviewed the application, and discussed with the Performance and Contracts 
Manager, they are replicated in relation to this application and provide useful context 
in terms of the relationship with the sports complex. 

Worcestershire County Council (Highway Authority):  

“The proposed development will result in an overall increase of 19 parking spaces on 
the school site and whilst it has been observed that there is spare capacity at certain 
times of the day within the wider parking areas i.e. those covered in the ‘joint use 
agreement’, the current policy in the adopted Streetscape Design Guide simply 
states that there should be ‘a maximum of 1 space per member of staff’. 

Whilst a range of data has been submitted over time, to include staff numbers as an 
average over the year, making it difficult to establish a definitive number, it seems 
reasonable to accept that staffing numbers are fluid to some extent and in each case 
the data shows that the policy as it stands has not been exceeded. Therefore, there 
is no further objection from a Highways point of view. 

Page 374



As before, the accessible spaces x 2 should be provided near to the main entrance 
and clearly marked out on the ground and a total of 4 electric vehicle charge points 
are required prior to first use of the car park. Actions relating to the school travel 
plan must continue to be recorded and evidenced. As previously agreed with the 
County Council’s Travel Plan Coordinator, the school is expected to be achieving the 
Bronze Standard on Modeshift Starsfor.”

Worcestershire Regulatory Services (nuisance): 

No objection to the application in terms of noise nuisance. 

Subsequent comment: The submitted external lighting assessment predicts that 
light spill from the proposed external lighting should not adversely impact the 
nearest sensitive receptors. Therefore I have no objection to the application in terms 
of light nuisance.

South Worcestershire Land Drainage Partnership: comment and condition 
requested to ensure sustainable drainage achieved on site

West Mercia Constabulary Crime Risk Manager: no objection 

6.4 Members have been given the opportunity to read all representations that have been 
received in full. At the time of writing this report no other consultation responses 
have been received. Any additional responses received will be reported to members 
verbally or in the form of a late paper, subject to the date of receipt. 

6.5 In assessing the proposal due regard has been given to local residents comments as 
material planning considerations. Nevertheless, I am also mindful that decisions 
should not be made solely on the basis of the number of representations, whether 
they are for or against a proposal. The Localism Act has not changed this, nor has it 
changed the advice that local opposition or support for a proposal is not in itself a 
ground for refusing or granting planning permission unless it is founded on valid 
planning reasons.

7. Comments of Deputy Director - Economic Development and Planning

7.1 Policy SWDP1 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan sets out overarching 
sustainable development principles and these are consistent with the Framework. 
The various impacts of the development have to be assessed and the benefit and 
adverse impacts considered, establishing whether what is proposed is sustainable 
development. Taking the above matters into account I consider the main issues 
raised by the proposal relate to the principle of development and whether the 
development would be sustainable, having regard to the 3 dimensions of 
sustainability set out in the Framework: economic, social and environmental, in 
particular with regard to:

1.  The economic role;

2.  The social role:

- impact on residential amenity;
- access to sports facilities

 

Page 375



3.  The environmental role:

-design and landscaping; 
-biodiversity and protected species;
-drainage and flooding;
-access, car parking and highway safety. 

7.2 These issues will now each be considered in turn. 

The Principle of Development

7.3 The site is within the school campus and is proposed principally for the schools use, 
however could act as overflow car park for the leisure centre when car parking is 
limited in the shared site. The site is not constrained by any specific policies set out 
in the SWDP and as such the principle of development is considered to be 
acceptable. 

7.4 The National Planning Policy Framework 2019 is clear that development for schools 
should be an area that is given ‘great weight’ with the need for growth and 
maximum utilisation of public assets for educational purposes being an area that is 
to be supported. 

7.5 In the balancing of considering the needs of the school and the requirements for 
development, this should be afforded a more than usual weighting. Whilst the 
consideration in terms of sustainable development and consideration of amenity on 
neighbouring residents needs to be evaluated, this does need to be recognised in the 
decision making.

7.6 Notwithstanding the above, it is important to evaluate whether the proposals would 
represent a sustainable form of development and assess the impact of the proposal. 

  Sustainable Development 

1. The economic role

7.7 In the short term the proposal would see the creation of construction jobs for the 
construction period of the car park and allow the school to provide car parking for 
additional teachers, support staff and external services resulting in the ongoing 
economic contribution to the local economy. In my opinion, this weighs in favour of 
granting planning permission.

2. The social role

7.8 The key aim is to provide additional car parking to support the schools educational 
role to the local community. The provision of education and the ongoing educational 
attainment of the school have a significant impact on the social wellbeing of the local 
community. As a consequence, it has important social roles which weigh in favour of 
granting planning permission. However, one must also consider the impact of the 
development on nearby residents.

Impact on residential amenity

Page 376



7.9 Policy SWDP 21 requires that new development does not have a significant adverse 
effect on neighbouring amenity. This is consistent with paragraph 127 of the NPPF 
that requires planning policies and decisions, amongst other matters, to ensure a 
high standard of amenity for existing and future users of land and buildings.

7.10 The site lies adjacent to residential properties located along Spetchley Road. These 
properties have extensive long narrow gardens, with the garden relating to no 73 
being the nearest to the site at 70 metres, while the adjacent dwellings have similar 
length gardens (72m,73m, 71m and 76m). The plans also show that there is a 
coniferous hedge height of which increases from 1.9 at the corner with 65 Spetchley 
Road (at the corner with the access road) to 2.6 metres on the boundary with No 73. 

7.11 Given the separation distance between the dwellings and the site, the height and 
quality of the intervening hedge and the period of use of the car park I consider that 
the amenity of the neighbouring residents facing Spetchley Road will not be unduly 
affected by noise and activity beyond what can reasonably be expected in a 
suburban situation and is in keeping with living next to a school. 

7.12 There are three additional properties that are accessed via a lane that runs parallel 
with the drive to the sixth form college and do not face onto Spetchley road. Their 
rear boundaries are shared with the area of car parking; particularly No. 81 
Spetchley Road whose rear boundary which comprises coniferous hedging is 1.4 
metres to the edge of the car park. 

7.13 The access to the car park from the drive around the site is further away from the 
shared boundary and I consider that the impact is limited on Nos. 81b and 81c 
Spetchley Road. 

7.14 Again, I consider that the separation of 12.8 metres from the nearest point of the 
corner of the house at 81 Spetchley Road to the boundary of the site and intervening 
boundary treatment is acceptable and there would be no significant loss of amenity 
from noise and disturbance arising from the use of the proposed parking area. 

Access to sports facilities 

7.15 As made clear in the comments made by Worcester City Council’s Contracts and 
Performance Manager, the relationship between the sports complex and the school 
and Sixth Form College are interrelated and whilst the proximity can be mutually 
beneficial, nevertheless it can cause issues at times of the day when it leads to 
significant congestion and a backlog of traffic. 

7.16 The Contracts and Performance Manager highlights the benefits of the design of the 
car park in terms of being an ‘in and out’ loop without needing to access the main 
car park area, and it is also reasonably close to the principle reception entrance to 
the school for visitors and staff. 

7.17 As set out in the comment, it could provide an opportunity (via a separate 
arrangement with the school) for additional parking for the sports complex at times 
when there is evening activities on at both venues and so at saturation. However, 
this does not form part of the current proposals.

3.  The environmental role

Design and landscaping character

Page 377



7.18 I consider that the design is acceptable and is based on the requirements of the site 
in terms of avoiding the root protection zone of the TPO walnut tree and access and 
exit onto the drive into the main parking area. 

7.19 The Contracts and Performance Manager sets out reasons in his comments above 
why other areas around the school are less suitable and/or not available to the 
school for development as a car park. I accept these reasons and the rationale 
behind the application and consider the siting of the car park as a reasonable, logical 
area of the site given its proximity to the existing vehicular entrance and main 
entrance, as well as being away from the one way system which is difficult to 
navigate and gets congested at peak time.

Impact on Walnut TPO tree

7.20 Comments have been received by the landowner of the Walnut Tree and 
consideration regarding the impact has been given by the Arboriculturalist and the 
Landscape and Biodiversity Consultant with a review of the proposed methodology of 
the impact on the tree and the protection methods being considered acceptable. The 
level of protection has been assessed and provided by a well known and respected 
chartered forester and considered acceptable and reasonable. 

7.21 The methodology for works close to the tree is prescribed, and provided closely 
followed should incur no damage to the tree. This methodology includes hand 
digging and having an arboriculturalist on site during these works. 

Impact of lighting

7.22 Concerns have been raised by the Landscape and Biodiversity Consultant regarding 
the lighting design and the impact it will have on bats in the area and specifically 
relating to the TPO tree and the amount of lighting that will be under the tree 
canopy. 

7.23 The lighting consultants have provided a lighting strategy which sets out the periods 
of lighting. Timers can be inbuilt to the lighting columns to control the hours of 
operation limiting disturbance in late hours where car parking is not required. 
Additionally the lighting will be controlled with sensors so the lighting will come on 
only when required for the safety of persons accessing their car. 

Page 378



7.24 I have concerns regarding the interpretation of the above information and 
accordingly a condition is proposed to provide clarity on the matter with the following 
lighting regime. 

23.00 to 06.00 Lights off

06.00 to 18.00 Motion sensor only Active only when 
light levels drop 
below a certain 
level

To provide security 
and perception of 
security in winter 
months

18.00 to 20.00 Lights on

20.00 to 23.00 Motion sensor only Active on approach, 
in use only when 
necessary and for a 

To provide security 
for late evening use 

Page 379



timed duration

7.25 The technical design of the lighting is also proposed to be changed both to be able to 
dim up / down from (1% - 100% output) and the directionality of the lights controls 
to focus on the car park area and to reduce light spill into the area to the rear which 
would be closer to the bat box installed in the TPO Walnut tree. As such, if the 
lighting results once installed is excessive the output can be altered to ensure it is 
reduced to a fixed agreed level which would not cause disturbance to the bats. A 
condition is recommended accordingly.

7.26 This information is due to sent into the Local Planning Authority before Planning 
Committee for scrutiny by the Landscape and Biodiversity Consultant. However, if 
not forthcoming I am confident that this is technically possible and feasible on this 
site and as such it would meet the requirements of a condition of the permission to 
ensure the Local Planning Authority controls the level, type and scope of the lighting. 

7.27 The effect of these changes will ensure that the residents of Spetchley Road will be 
less affected by lighting. There will be in effect a dark buffer between the car park 
and their boundary and will only be lit when needed rather than constantly lit. This is 
a positive aspect of the technical response to the requirement to protect the bat 
habitat and helps to ensure that the amenities of residents to the south are not 
detrimentally affected by lighting. 

Biodiversity and protected species

7.28 In line with the comments of the Landscape and Biodiversity Consultant there is the 
opportunity to improve this area of the site and a condition regarding landscaping 
has been included. There are some areas which will need to be regraded and provide 
the opportunity to improve the biodiversity and general landscaping in this corner of 
the site. The bat activity survey also suggests that the planting of native flowers and 
shrubs would ‘enhance its value for foraging bats and other wildlife’.  

7.29 It is proposed that some shrubs and wildflower mix would work well in this area; the 
shrubs would help to ensure that car parking on the areas of grass beyond the car 
park are not utilised in times of maximum capacity. Wildflowers are positive in being 
low maintenance but provide biodiversity benefits in this unused are of the site. 

7.30 These improvements are in line with SWDP 25 regarding landscape character and 
SWDP 5. 

Access, car parking and highway safety

7.31 As reflected in the comments from the Highway Authority there has been discussion 
regarding the demonstration of the need for additional car parking and also whether 
the car parking area is in the correct location. 

7.32 The site as been visited by both the Highways Officer and myself independently at 
various times of day. Frequently, whilst there are a few spaces that are vacant, the 
car park is near capacity. Furthermore, there is ad hoc parking on grass verges and 
in areas not designated for parking around the site and particularly near the 
entrance which shows there is a high demand for car parking within the site in 
excess of the current provision for at least part of the day. This is exacerbated by 
parents at school drop off and pick up times entering the site and waiting. 

Page 380



7.33 The Streetscape Design Guide is clear that the justification regarding car parking 
requirements for non-residential development should be led by their assessed need.  

7.34 The number of staff and car parking requirements has been difficult to assess, 
however the justification of increasing need has been provided and accepted. The 
future growth and changing dynamic of the school’s activities and requirements are 
likely to increase car parking demand within the site, which is already a capacity as 
seen by the ad hoc parking around the site. 

7.35 I consider that the additional car parking has been appropriately sited and affords 
limited interruption to the existing car parking around the site. 

7.36 The conditions suggested by the Highway Authority will ensure that 2 spaces are 
marked as accessible spaces and 4 electric vehicle charging spaces have been 
provided. Additionally, the current school travel plan shall be updated and evidenced 
and will be implemented and updated in agreement with Worcestershire County 
Council's Travel Plan Co-ordinator to encourage more sustainable ways of travelling 
to the site to help with on-going issues of capacity. 

Flooding and Drainage

7.37 The scheme includes two attenuation tanks to collect rain water in the south east 
area of the car park and south west corner which provides 9m2 and 16.8 m2 
respectively. This will mitigate run off from the hard surfacing and store it slowly 
releasing to the drainage system, a method in line with the drainage hierarchy. 

7.38 Concerns have been raised by neighbours that the car park would cause flooding, or 
excess rainwater run off, which could cause an issue in their gardens. However, it is 
considered that the proposed measures adequately address this issue in line with the 
policy set out in SWDP29- Sustainable Drainage Systems.  

8. Conclusion and planning balance

8.1 The NPPF identifies a series of the components that are considered critical to 
achieving sustainable development. In my opinion, the above assessment of the 
planning application proposals against the planning policy framework demonstrates 
that the application responds to, and is in accordance with, the requirements of the 
adopted planning policy within the development plan and material considerations 
relevant to the determination of the application. 

8.2 Whilst the assessment is not an exhaustive list of all policies that are potentially 
applicable to this site, it seeks to address how the proposals respond to the key 
planning criteria in the planning policy framework against which the planning 
application will be determined.

8.3 I consider that the application deals sufficiently with the constraints of the site and 
the requirements of development as set out in the SWDP.

8.4 In assessing the application, I am mindful of the great weight that the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2018 instructs local planning authorities  to give to their 
consideration to the development of the school and ensuring that they can achieve 
the necessary growth. 

8.5 The proposed development would result in some economic benefits; employment 
during construction as well as enable an increase in the educational role on the site. 

Page 381



With regard to the social role, the school has a crucial role in the education of the 
local community and to ensure their facilities are sufficient is integral to this, which is 
a factor to which I also attach significant weight. 

8.6 In respect of potential adverse impacts, the proposal has generated objections and 
concerns from neighbouring residents. These are significant concerns which are to be 
given appropriate weighting in the determination of this application. There has been 
no objection to the proposal from South Worcestershire Land Drainage Partnership 
and I also note that the development is not contrary to the guidance set down at 
national or local level. Accordingly, whilst I note these concerns the distance of the 
properties to the additional car parking and the design of the layout of car parking 
will ensure the impact is not considered to be so significant in the balance of 
consideration. 

8.7 On balance, I am of the opinion that the submitted scheme has indicated more then 
sufficient detail to warrant approval. In fact, it is considered that the proposal can be 
suitably designed to address the existing problems within the site regarding car 
parking on the site. 

8.8 I acknowledge all comments received as part of the consultation process and 
consider all material planning issues have been considered in the determination of 
this application. Having regard to the totality of the policies in the Framework, I 
consider that he proposed development is sustainable when looking at its social, 
economic and environmental credentials in the round. The adverse impacts of the 
development (taking into account the considerable importance and weight to be 
given to the less than substantial harm to the significance of the heritage assets) do 
not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.  

8.9 Overall it is considered that the proposals constitute an environmentally, socially and 
economically sustainable form of development that accords with the Framework and 
the Development Plan as a whole.

9. Recommended conditions

9.1 In the event that members resolve to grant planning permission the following 
conditions are recommended:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.

Reason: To conform with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and completed in 
accordance with the following approved plans and associated documents and the 
specifications and recommendations contained therein, except where otherwise 
stipulated by conditions attached to this permission

Design  Access Statement
664 45 010 REV C1New Car Park Layout
664 45 011 REV C1Drainage Layout
SSP01School Site Plan
LP01Location Plan

Page 382



Bat Survey Report Sept. 2019
Parking Justification
E19015-100-001Proposed Electrical Services Plan 
E19015-100-002Proposed Electrical Services Plan
NWHS EXTERNAL LIGHTING PLANNING STATEMENT (P1) 10.01.20
Starbeam - deflector.jpg
Tree Retention and Protection Plan 
Tree Protection Method Statement 

Reason: To ensure compliance with the approved scheme.

3.. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until 2 accessible 
spaces clearly marked out and 4 electric vehicle charging spaces have been 
provided in accordance with a specification which shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter such spaces and power 
points shall be kept available and maintained for their approved uses at all times.

Reason: To encourage sustainable travel and healthy communities.

4. Prior to first use of the development hereby approved, the current school travel 
plan shall be updated and evidenced in accordance with details to be approved by 
the Local Planning Authority. This plan will thereafter be implemented and 
updated in agreement with Worcestershire County Council's Travel Plan Co-
ordinator.

Reason: To reduce vehicle movements and promote sustainable access.

5. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved a scheme for 
surface water drainage shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Prior to submission of the scheme an assessment shall 
be carried out into the potential of disposing of surface water by means of a 
sustainable drainage system (SuDS), and the results of this assessment shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. If infiltration 
techniques are used then the plan shall include the details of field percolation 
tests. There shall be no increase in surface water run-off from the site compared 
to the existing pre-application greenfield run-off rate up to a 1 in 100 year storm 
event plus 20% allowance for climate change. The scheme shall provide an 
appropriate level of runoff treatment. The scheme shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details before the development is first brought into 
use.

Where a sustainable drainage scheme is to be provided, the submitted details 
shall: 

i. provide information about the design storm period and intensity, the 
method employed to delay and control the surface water discharged from 
the site and the measures taken to prevent pollution of the receiving 
groundwater and/or surface waters; 

ii. include a timetable for its implementation; 

Page 383



iii. provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the 
development which shall include robust arrangements to secure the 
operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime. 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of disposal for surface water without 
increasing the risk of flooding to the site or elsewhere.

6. Before the commencement of construction works on the development hereby 
permitted, a scheme of landscaping shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  The landscaping scheme shall include:-

(i) a plan(s) showing details of all existing trees and hedges on the application 
site. The plan should include, for each tree/hedge, the accurate position, canopy 
spread and species, together with an indication of any proposals for 
felling/pruning and any proposed changes in ground level, or other works to be 
carried out, within the canopy spread.

(ii) a plan(s) showing the layout of proposed tree, hedge and shrub planting and 
grass areas.

(iii) a schedule of proposed planting - indicating species, sizes at time of planting 
and numbers/densities of plants.

All planting and seeding/turfing shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details in the first planting and seeding/turfing seasons following the 
completion or first occupation/use of the development, whichever is the sooner. 

The planting shall be maintained in accordance with the approved schedule of 
maintenance.  Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years from the 
completion of the planting, die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size 
and species.

Reason - To ensure the proposed development does not have an adverse effect 
on the character and appearance of the area in accordance with policies SWDP21 
and SWDP25 of South Worcestershire Development Plan.

7. The lighting to the car parking area hereby approved shall operate in accordance 
with the following regime:

23.00 to 06.00 Lights off

06.00 to 18.00 Motion sensor only

18.00 to 20.00 Lights on

20.0 o 23.00 Motion sensor only

Reason: To protect the habitat of bat species and the biodiversity interests of the 
site and surrounding area and the amenity of neighbouring residents in 

Page 384



accordance with policies SWDP 21 and SWDP 22 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan and the aims and interests that the National Planning Policy 
Framework seeks to protect and promote.

8.       

8.A Ca   A Car Park Lighting Plan, including management responsibilities and maintenance 
schedules, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the lighting being brought into use to serve the car park. The 
Car Park Lighting Plan shall make provision for the control and monitoring of the 
level of lighting in the protected bat area beneath the Walnut Tree on the 
southern boundary of the site in accordance with recommended levels. The 
development shall not operate other than in accordance with the approved Car 
Park Lighting Plan and the monitoring and maintenance schedules adhered to as 
approved for the lifetime of the development. 

Reason: To protect the habitat of bat species and the biodiversity interests of the 
site and surrounding area and the amenity of neighbouring residents in 
accordance with policies SWDP 21 and SWDP 22 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan and the aims and interests that the National Planning Policy 
Framework seeks to protect and promote. 

Page 385



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Number 19/00957/FUL

Site Address Steel Barn, Middle Battenhall Farm, Upper 
Battenhall, Worcester, WR7 4RU

Description of 
Development

Change of use of former agricultural land to domestic 
curtilage, retention of boundary fencing, parking area and 
storage unit, and; installation of solar panels

Case Officer Sally Watts Applicant Mrs Claudia 
Wilesmith

Ward Member(s) St. Peter's Parish 
Ward

Agent Mrs Claudia 
Wilesmith

Reason for Referral to 
Committee

Ward Member 
referral

Expiry 
Date

 19 March 2020

Key Issues The principle of development and whether the proposal 
would be sustainable form of development having regard 
to the 3 dimensions of sustainable development in terms 
of its economic role, social role and environmental role.  

Web link to application https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Planning/Display/19/00957/FUL

Recommendation The Deputy Director of Economic Development and 
Planning recommends that the Planning Committee 
grant planning permission, subject to the 
conditions set out in section 9 of this report.

1. Background

1.1 The application was registered on 23 January 2020 and is due for a decision on 19 
March 2020. 

1.2 The application has been referred to the Planning Committee at the request of 
Councillor Steve Mackay on the grounds of ‘significant local objection’. 

2.       The site and surrounding area 

2.1 The proposals relate to an existing barn conversion known as ‘Steel Barn’ that is 
located adjacent to former converted farm buildings adjacent to the southern boundary 
of the site at Middle Battenhall Farm that comprise several Grade II listed buildings 
that include the farmhouse, cowshed, stable and barn. These are identified as 
seventeenth century with later additions, but recent architectural survey of the 
farmhouse has revealed structural elements of a ‘very fine’ fifteenth century building at 
its core. They have now been converted to residential use and comprise The Court 
House, The Farm House, The Stables, The Granary, The Barn House, The Coach House 
and The Moat House. To the north of the site the land is in agricultural use and access 
for farm vehicles was formerly taken through the site. However, Steel Barn is not tied 
or linked to the agricultural land in planning terms. 

2.2 Access to Steel Barn is provided from Battenhall Rise with pedestrian access from Red 
Hill Lane to the north. Both routes comprise Restricted Byways (WR-925 and WR-929 
respectively) that converge adjacent to the site from which point they connect with a 

Page 387 Agenda Item 13

https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Search/Results


wider network of public footpaths (WR-926, WR-927, WR-928 and SG-535) that lead 
to/from different points along Whittington Road.  

Figure 1. site location plan

2.3 The site is within an area designated as Green Space within the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan and is within an Archaeological Sensitive Area that encompasses the 
adjacent Scheduled Monument of the moated monastic grange and fishpond complex 
at Middle Battenhall Farm (SM no. 31945) to the south of the application site. An oil 
pipeline traverses adjacent to the north-west boundary of the site as shown on figure 3 
below.

Access to  Middle 
Battenhall VillaRed  Hill Lane

Public footpath

Access to Battenhall 
Road under railway 
line

Page 388



ipe

Figure 2- constraints plan

3.    The proposals

3.1 An application for Prior Approval under Part 3 Class Q- agricultural buildings to dwelling 
houses - of The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 authorised conversion of the former agricultural building to 
residential use. The application included a site location plan to define the extent of the 
site as shown outlined in red in figure 3 below.

Oil pipeline

Red line = public right of way

Listed buildings

Page 389



Figure 3. Plan showing increased curtilage

3.2 On this basis, the application was assessed with the extent of the residential curtilage 
relating to the application site defined accordingly.  The red outline is the approved 
curtilage. The areas of blue are the proposed extended curtilage, to the front and 
either side of the occupied dwelling house. The approved scheme restricted all 
permitted development rights, including extensions, outbuildings and alterations. The 
scheme was implemented. 

3.3 Following extensive enforcement investigations it has been established that the 
curtilage of the site has been extended beyond what was permitted, together with 
engineering operations to create a hardstanding on part of the extended curtilage, 
erection of boundary fencing which extends beyond the approved residential curtilage 
around the area shown in blue in the above plan and a storage unit placed on site. In 
order to regularise these matters, the current application has been submitted. 

3.4 The total area defined by the red line shown in figure 3 is 581 sq.m. minus the floor 
area of the converted barn (295 sq.m) which makes the amenity space (including the 
car parking and side access areas) 286 sq.m. The total of all 3 areas of increased 
curtilage (in blue in figure 3) amounts to 355 sq.m. bringing the overall total of 
amenity space to just under 650 sq.m.

3.5 The application also seeks to regularise the ship lap oak fencing that has been erected 
around the edge of the site adjacent to public right of way, the existing area of 
hardstanding that is enclosed and the retention of the existing storage unit. Planning 
permission is also sought for the installation of photovoltaic panels on the rear roof. 

3.6 The application is accompanied by a full set of plans together with a suite of supporting    
documents that include:

 location plan
 site location plan
 location plan (promap)
 Scott Plan Barn 2020.pdf
 P17.972.11proposed elevations

Page 390



 P17.972.12proposed sections
 P17.972.15 proposed site plan
 Vision splay.png
 Fencing Plan Visibility Barn.pdf
 solar panel information
 curtilage details
 gate details
 planting details
 panel fencing
 photo
 photos
 justification for the siting, height and type of fencing chosen

3.7 In accordance with Article 15 (7) of The Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), full details of the 
application have been published on the Council’s website. As such, Members will have 
had the opportunity to review the submitted plans and documents in order to 
familiarise themselves with the proposals prior to consideration and determination of 
the application accordingly.

4. Planning Policy 

4.1 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (‘the Act’) establishes the legislative 
framework for consideration of this application. Section 70(2) of the Act requires the 
decision-maker in determining planning applications/appeals to have regard to the 
Development Plan, insofar as it is material to the application/appeal, and to any other 
material consideration. Where the Development Plan is material to the development 
proposal it must therefore be taken into account.  Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the application/appeal to be determined in 
accordance with the Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

4.2 The key legal provisions relating to the consideration of heritage assets in the planning 
system are s72 (1) and s66 (1) of the Planning Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas 
Act 1990 which state that “special attention shall be paid to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area” and “have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses”.

4.3 The Development Plan for Worcester now comprises:

 The South Worcestershire Development Plan (SWDP) which was adopted February 
2016, and;

 The Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy, which was adopted on December 2012. 

South Worcestershire Development Plan

4.4   The following policies of the SWDP are considered to be relevant to the proposal:

SWDP 1 Overarching Sustainable Development Principles
SWDP 4 Moving Around South Worcestershire
SWDP 6 Historic Environment
SWDP 5 Green Infrastructure
SWDP 7 Infrastructure
SWDP 8 Providing the Right Land and Buildings for Jobs
SWDP 10 Protection and Promotion of Centres and Local Shops
SWDP 21 Design
SWDP22 Biodiversity and Geodiversity

Page 391



SWDP 24 Management of the Historic Environment
SWDP25 Landscape Character
SWDP 27 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy
SWDP 29 Sustainable Drainage Systems
SWDP 30 Water Resources, Efficiency and Treatment
SWDP 31 Pollution and Land Instability
SWDP33 Waste
SWDP 38 Green Space

The Waste Core Strategy for Worcestershire - Adopted Waste Local Plan 2012-
2027 

4.5 The Waste Local Plan was adopted by Worcestershire County Council on 15 November 
2012 and is a plan outlining how to manage all the waste produced in Worcestershire 
up to 2027. The following policies are relevant to this application: 

WCS1   (Presumption in favour of sustainable development) 
WCS3   (Re-use and recycle)
WCS17 (Making provision for waste in new development)

Material Considerations

1. National Planning Policy Framework

4.6 The latest version of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published and 
came into effect in February 2019. The NPPF sets out the Government's planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It constitutes guidance 
for local planning authorities and decision takers and is a material planning 
consideration in determining planning applications. 

4.7 The NPPF outlines a series of considerations against which delivering sustainable 
development should be assessed. The Government believes that sustainable 
development can play three critical roles in England: an economic role, contributing to 
a strong, responsive, competitive economy; a social role, supporting vibrant and 
healthy communities; and an environmental role, protecting and enhancing our 
natural, built and historic environment.

4.8 Paragraph 38 of the NPPF encourages Local Planning Authorities to approach decision 
taking in a positive way and to foster the delivery of sustainable development. Local 
Planning Authorities are advised to approach decisions on proposed development in a 
positive and creative way. They should use the full range of planning tools available, 
including brownfield registers and permission in principle, and work proactively with 
applicants to secure developments that will improve the economic, social and 
environmental conditions of the area. Decision-makers at every level should seek to 
approve applications for sustainable development where possible.

4.9 Paragraph 200 of the NPPF states that “Local Authorities are called to look for 
opportunities for new development within conservation areas and the setting of 
heritage assets to enhance or better reveal their significance” and that “Permission 
should be refused for development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities 
available for improving the character and quality of an area” (paragraph 130). This is 
further reflected in South Worcestershire Development Plan policies SWDP 6 and SWDP 
24, which seek to protect and enhance designated and non-designated heritage assets 
and guide against development that would cause substantial harm to the significance of 
any heritage asset, and policy SWDP 21 which sets generic design principles for 
development proposals. 

Page 392



Policy SWDP 21 requires that all development will be expected to be of a high design 
quality and integrate effectively with its surroundings and that development proposal 
must complement the character of the area. Furthermore, proposals should respond to 
surrounding buildings and the distinctive features or qualities that contribute to the 
visual and heritage interest of the townscape, frontages, streets and landscape quality 
of the local area and states that the scale, height and massing of development must be 
appropriate to the setting of the site and the surrounding landscape character and 
townscape, including existing urban grain and density.

3. Supplementary Planning Documents

4.10 The following Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) are relevant to the application 
proposals:-

 South Worcestershire Design SPD

The South Worcestershire Design SPD was adopted on 5th March 2018 and replaces the 
previous Supplementary Planning Guidance Note 3: Design (SPG3). Both documents 
encourage high standards of design for development proposals in accordance with the 
aims and interests that the NPPF seeks to protect and promote in this regard. The 
Design Quality SPD is consistent with the planning policies in the SWDP. 

 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy SPD

The SPD relates to policy SWDP 27 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan, 
which seeks to promote a percentage of energy requirements on qualifying 
development sites to be provided from renewable energy and/or low carbon sources. 
The policy also requires large scale development to examine the potential for 
decentralised energy and heating networks, and also sets out the policy approach for 
stand alone renewable and low carbon energy schemes (with the exception of wind 
turbines).

4. Worcestershire’s Local Transport Plan (LTP4) 2018 – 2030

4.11 LTP4 set out issues and priorities for investment in transport infrastructure, technology 
and services, focussed on supporting travel by all modes. In accordance with national 
and local objectives, a series of local transport-specific objectives are identified in the 
LTP4:

 “To support Worcestershire’s economic competitiveness and growth through 
delivering a safe, reliable and efficient transport network.

 To limit the impacts of transport in Worcestershire on the local environment, by 
supporting enhancements to the natural environment and biodiversity, investing in 
transport infrastructure to reduce flood risk and other environmental damage, and 
reducing transport-related emissions of nitrogen dioxide, particulate matter, 
greenhouse gases and noise pollution. This will support delivery of the desired 
outcomes of tackling climate change and reducing the impacts of transport on 
public health.

 To contribute towards better safety, security, health and longer life expectancy in 
Worcestershire, by reducing the risk of death, injury or illness arising from 
transport and promoting healthy modes of travel.

 To optimise equality of opportunity for all of Worcestershire’s citizens with the 
desired outcome of creating a fairer society.

 To enhance the quality of life for Worcestershire’s residents by promoting a 
healthy, natural environment, for people, wildlife and habitats, conserving our 
historic built environment and preserving our heritage assets."

Page 393



5. Worcestershire County Council Streetscape Design Guide (2018)

4.12 The ‘Streetscape Design Guide' (SDG) was produced to aid architects, engineers, 
planners, developers, designers and other professionals in preparing transport 
infrastructure related to new developments. It is to be considered in conjunction with 
Manual for Streets 1 and 2, as well as the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges.

4.13 Chapter 4 relates to ‘Planning for Parking’ and seeks to provide an approach as to how 
car parking in Worcestershire should be provided to support development in a manner 
which embraces the NPPF. It is considered that if the applicant is the end user that 
they are well placed to assess operational demands but all sites must be considered 
against a planning use class to ensure they equally address the needs of future users. 
Therefore applications should provide a suitable evidence base to ensure vehicles are 
not displaced onto the highway to ensure highway safety is not compromised and 
maintain the free flow of traffic to the benefit of the local economy. This document only 
reflects a small part of managing vehicle demands and therefore should be read 
alongside the Local Transport Plan (above) which contains policies to promote 
sustainable travel through the provision of physical infrastructure and travel planning 
initiatives.

5 Planning History

5.1 The site has been the subject of the following planning applications:

P13B0632 - Outline planning application for the construction for up to 200 dwellings, 
open space, new vehicular junction and access and associated infrastructure. Appeal 
for non-determination Aug 20 2015 appeal subsequently withdrawn – Please note this 
relates to the curtilage around Steel Barn but not the barn.
 
PRA17L14 - Proposed change of use of an agricultural building and associated 
curtilage to a dwelling house.  Prior approval granted May 18 2018

P18B0548 - Removal of hedgerow, Middle Battenhall Farm. Permission for removal of 
hedge 2 on the eastern side of Red Hill Lane refused 21st March 2019.

6.   Consultations

6.1 Formal consultation, including display of site notices, has been undertaken in respect of 
the application. The following comments from statutory and non-statutory consultees 
and interested third parties have been received in relation to the original and amended 
proposals and are summarised as follows:

Neighbours and other third party comments Objections have been received from 
the occupants of The Stables, Middle Battenhall Farm and The Farm House, Middle 
Battenhall Farm on grounds relating to the following matters:

 Solar panels would be an unsightly, unnecessary, inappropriate and incongruous 
addition to Steel Barn to the detriment of its surroundings and would spoil the 
landscape. 

Worcester City Council Archaeological Officer: The elements of this application 
which involve groundworks are retrospective, with only the solar panels to be 
implemented. There is no indication from previous archaeological work in the area that 
remains associated with the nationally important scheduled monument to the south 

Page 394



and east may have extended into the area where groundworks have already taken 
place. Groundworks have in any case been limited in extent and likely impact. I do not 
consider it appropriate or expedient to attach any conditions in this regard.

Highway Authority (following amendment to improve visibility exiting from the site): 
No objection.  

Fisher German (who act in relation to the Oil Pipeline which is in close proximity to 
the curtilage of the dwellinghouse (See figure 3).) Comment to be forthcoming after 
site inspection. This will be reported to members verbally or by way of a late paper 
depending upon date of receipt. 

6.2 Members have been given the opportunity to read all representations that have been 
received in full. At the time of writing this report no other consultation responses have 
been received. Any additional responses received will be reported to members verbally 
or in the form of a late paper, subject to the date of receipt. 

6.3 In assessing the proposal due regard has been given to local residents comments as 
material planning considerations. Nevertheless, I am also mindful that decisions should 
not be made solely on the basis of the number of representations, whether they are for 
or against a proposal. The Localism Act has not changed this, nor has it changed the 
advice that local opposition or support for a proposal is not in itself a ground for 
refusing or granting planning permission unless it is founded on valid planning reasons.

7. Comments of Deputy Director - Economic Development and Planning

7.1 Policy SWDP1 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan sets out overarching 
sustainable development principles and these are consistent with the Framework. The 
various impacts of the development have to be assessed and the benefit and adverse 
impacts considered, establishing whether what is proposed is sustainable development. 
Taking the above matters into account I consider the main issues raised by the 
proposal relate to the principle of development and whether the development would be 
sustainable, having regard to the 3 dimensions of sustainability set out in the 
Framework: economic, social and environmental, in particular with regard to:

1.  The economic role;

2.  The social role:
     - residential amenity for occupiers and neighbours 

3.  The environmental role:
     - design and appearance;
     - impact on heritage assets;
     - access and highway safety;
     - energy conservation.

7.2 These issues will now each be considered in turn. 

The Principle of Development

7.3 In terms of the principle of the development, Prior Approval for the conversion has 
been granted under the provisions of The Town and country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (Amendment and consequential Provisions)(England) Order 
2105, Schedule 2, Part 3, class Q. 

Page 395



7.4 The Town and country Planning (General Permitted Development) (Amendment and 
consequential Provisions) (England) Order 2105, Schedule 2, Part 3, class Q requires 
the Local Planning Authority to consider the following in the determination of a prior 
approval notification: 

1. Whether or not the proposal constitutes permitted development, and; 
2. If the development does not constitute permitted development, whether it complies 
with the conditions set out in the order. 

Class Q defines permitted development consisting of:

a) a change of use of a building and any land within its curtilage from a use as an 
agricultural building to a use falling within Class C3 (dwelling houses) of the 
Schedule to the Use Classes Order, and;

b) building operations reasonably necessary to convert the building referred to in 
paragraph (a) to a use falling within Class C3 (dwelling houses) of that Schedule.

7.5 The Local Planning Authority must firstly consider whether the proposal constitutes 
permitted development, as set out in Paragraph Q.1 of the Order. Thereafter, part 
Q.2 of the order states -

Q.2-(1) where the development proposed is development under Class Q(a) together 
with development under Class Q(b), development is permitted subject to the condition 
that before beginning the development, the developer must apply to the local planning 
authority for a determination as to whether the prior approval of the authority will be 
required as to: 

a) transport and highways impacts of the development,
b) noise impacts of the development,
c) contamination risks on the site,
d) (d)flooding risks on the site,
e) whether the location or siting of the building makes it otherwise impractical or 

undesirable for the building to change from agricultural use to a use falling within 
Class C3 (dwellinghouses) of the Schedule to the Use Classes Order, and

f) the design or external appearance of the building,

7.6 On all of these grounds the proposal was considered acceptable and as such the Local 
Planning Authority issued their decision to grant Prior Approval. As part of this 
assessment Parliament has decreed that issues of amenity, landscape value and impact 
on heritage assets are not amongst the considerations to be taken into account as part 
of the Prior Approval process. 

7.7 In terms of this application, the principle of conversion has already been established. 
Nevertheless, where new development is introduced, it is important to evaluate 
whether the proposals would represent a sustainable form of development.

 Sustainable Development 

1. The economic role

7.8 As set out in figure 1 above, the site was formerly used for agricultural purposes and is 
now in separate ownership. Whilst there may be some loss of economic activity derived 
from the loss of land available for agricultural purposes, nevertheless it is no longer in 
the same ownership and therefore not available for continued agricultural use without 
agreement between the land owners.

Page 396



7.9 During the conversion itself, construction jobs would have been generated for the 
construction period of the project, together with some on-going opportunities for the 
provision of goods and services, and there is an on-going contribution to the local 
economy from the occupation of Steel Barn as a family home. On balance, I consider 
that in overall terms the proposal has a neutral impact in economic terms.

2. The social role                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

7.10 The NPPF states that the planning system needs to perform a number of roles, 
including a social role in supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 
providing a supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future 
generations. The key aim is to ensure that development meets the requirements of 
society to grow and thrive. As a consequence, the provision of family accommodation 
has important social roles which weigh in favour of granting planning permission. 
However, one must also consider the impact of the development on nearby residents 
as well as the current occupants of the site. 

Residential amenity for occupiers and neighbours

7.11 Policy SWDP 21 requires amongst other matters that new development should provide 
an adequate level of privacy, outlook, sunlight and daylight, and should not be unduly 
overbearing. This is consistent with paragraph 128 of the NPPF that has one of its core 
principles planning should always seek to secure high quality design and a good 
standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. 
Similarly, pertinent advice is also contained in the South Worcestershire Design Guide 
SPD (SWDG SPD), which was adopted by the City Council on 6th March 2018. 

7.12 Apart from the photovoltaic panels, the development is in situ and as such the impact 
of the development can be both understood and assessed. The neighbouring residents 
have concerns regarding the photovoltaic panels, but have not expressed 
dissatisfaction with the fencing, storage container or hardstanding contained within the 
application site. In my opinion, these aspects of the application are acceptable for the 
reasons set out in the following sections below.

3. The environmental role

Design and appearance 

7.13 Whilst the conversion of the barn has been completed and the unit is occupied, 
nevertheless the enlargement of the curtilage, impact of the fencing that has been 
erected, formation of the area of hardstanding within the extended curtilage adjacent 
to western boundary of the site, the siting of the storage unit and proposed 
photovoltaic panels requires consideration.

7.14 Within the justification for the siting, height and type of fencing the applicant describes 
instances of anti-social behaviour including assault, damage and theft, which have 
affected their perception of security on the site, resulting in the need to install CCTV, 
home alarm and panic buttons. The applicant advises it was as a result of guidance 
from police that a fence was erected to secure the boundary. 

7.15 Policy SWDP 21 in section XIV sets out the importance of creating a safe and secure 
environment. It states: 

‘Opportunities for creating a safe and secure environment and providing surveillance 
should be included, principally through the layout and positioning of buildings, spaces 
and uses, where appropriate, development should incorporate measures for crime 
reduction that are consistent with Secured by Design guides.’

Page 397



7.16 The fencing clearly has a discernible visual impact when viewed on approach in short 
and long range views by reason of its height (1.8 metres) and closeboard finish and in 
comparison with the lower post and rail fencing to the adjacent properties to the south. 

Figure 4. photograph of site towards front elevation

7.17 Although the fence is beginning to colour down to a more grey/silver colour that will 
become less visually intrusive over time, nevertheless it would still be apparent. In 
order to mitigate this impact, mixed native hedging plants have been planted in front 
of the fencing which has yet to be established but in time will grow to the full height of 
the fencing and obscure it to provide a more natural boundary treatment. 

7.18 Discussions have been had with the applicant regarding the additional alternative 
planting such as laurel, which is fast growing, to soften the appearance more swiftly. 
However, this is not typical of hedge planting in the local area. As such, it is proposed 
to make provision for more mature native hedge planting . This additional planting will 
ensure that a native and established hedgerow is maintained in line with guidance in 
policy SWDP 25.

7.19 Furthermore, as a result of the Highway Authority seeking amended plans the gate 
area shown above will be altered to be splayed to improve visibility (see figure 6). The 
existing fence and gate will be required to be moved back and a lower height on the 
area to the right of the picture to allow for better visibility. 

7.20 Figure 5 below shows the ownership of the site with the areas demarked as follows: the 
red outline reflect the original curtilage; the blue the area applied for a residential 
curtilage in the application, and; the green area is a fallow area, beyond the residential 
curtilage but under the same ownership as Steel Barn. The northern boundary of the 
site would remain as permitted and would be set back and screened behind an 
extensive area of tree planting in which over 400 trees have been planted to form a 
paddock/orchard to act as a buffer between the residential use and agricultural 
activities (area in green in figure 5 below).

Page 398



Figure 5 - plan of ownership 

7.21 With regard to the parking area within the extended curtilage to the west of the site 
the applicant contends that the area has not been raised and has always been level 
with the farm tracks adjacent with a 'step' to the field that has now been stabilised with 
sleepers. The formation of this area has previously attracted objections in respect of 
application P18B0548 on the grounds that it has prevented access to the agricultural 
field to the north by farm vehicles that now access the field through a gap created in 
the hedge further up the adjacent byeway. Whilst this still remains the case, the field is 
in separate ownership to Steel Barn. Although the parking area is visible through the 
gate opening, I do not consider that it has an unacceptable degree of harm in visual 
terms, form or function.

7.22 With regard to the overall increase in the curtilage of the site, I consider that this is 
commensurate with the size and layout of Steel Barn and is not inappropriate in this 
regard.

7.23 Within the extended area of curtilage to the east of Steel Barn there is a dark grey 2.5 
m x 6 m metal storage container which is visible from the public footpath above the 
height of the boundary treatment. This has been sited for approximately 5.5 metres 
away from the eastern elevation of Steel Barn and is used for storage purposes akin to 
a domestic shed. Whilst it is a large structure, nevertheless I do not consider that it 
appears incongruous in its setting adjacent to the converted barn by reason of its siting 
and colour finish.

Heritage Assets

7.24 The wider area of Middle Battenhall Farm has significant historical interest and in the 
immediate setting of the site are a collection of listed former farm buildings. The site 
itself is within an Archaeological Sensitive Area that encompasses the adjacent 
Scheduled Monument of the moated monastic grange and fishpond complex at Middle 
Battenhall Farm (SM no. 31945) to the south of the application site.

7.25 The proposals should be considered against Policies SWDP 6 and SWDP 24 which seek 
to protect and enhance designated and non-designated heritage assets and guide 
against development that would cause substantial harm to the significance of any 
heritage asset. Policy SWDP 6 states that “Development proposals should conserve and 
enhance heritage assets, including assets of potential archaeological interest” and 
“Development proposals will be supported where they conserve and enhance the 
significance of heritage assets, including their setting”.

Orchard area

Proposed additional 
curtilage

Page 399



7.26  This is consistent with the NPPF in that they seek to protect and enhance designated 
and non-designated heritage assets and guide against development that would cause 
substantial harm to the significance of any heritage asset. In accordance with the 
NPPF great weight must be given to the conservation of designated heritage assets 
and in accordance with s66 of the Planning Listed Building and Conservation Areas Act 
1990, special regard is to be had to the desirability of preserving listed buildings or 
their settings. 

7.27   There is a substantial amount of planning case law regarding how a decision taker 
must address the issue of harm to heritage assets, such as listed buildings. 
Essentially, this makes it is clear that the decision maker is required to give 
considerable importance and weight to the desirability of avoiding harm to the 
heritage asset. There is accordingly a strong presumption, imposed by the Planning 
Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act 1990, against harmful development. This 
is the case whether the harm is ‘substantial’ or is ‘less than substantial’. There is no 
specific test in the NPPF of what differentiates substantial harm from other harm for 
the purposes of national policy. Whilst the judgments are not prescriptive as to where 
the threshold between ‘substantial’ and ‘less than substantial’ lies, nevertheless case 
law has been established that for harm to be substantial, the impact on significance is 
required to be serious such that very much, if not all, of the significance of the asset 
is eroded, for example by complete demolition.

7.28 In my opinion, the proposals would have an impact on the setting of the adjacent 
Grade II listed buildings and, albeit to a lesser extent, the adjacent Scheduled 
Monument, particularly the boundary fencing and siting of the storage container due 
to their inter-visibility and visual experience of these assets in short and longer range 
views. However, in comparison with the former condition of the agricultural building 
and appearance of the site, I consider that the proposals would have less than 
substantial harm in respect of the impact on the setting of the adjacent assets. In my 
opinion, this limited harm is outweighed by the public benefits of the proposals, 
namely the reduction in actual and the potential for anti-social behaviour following 
conversion and occupation of the barn and security of the site.

7.29 In terms of the effect on below ground deposits, the scheme has no direct 
archaeological implications, as reflected in the Archaeological Officer’s comments. 

7.30   In summarising the likely effects of the proposal on heritage assets and having full 
regard to the policies in the development plan and national guidance it is assessed 
that the proposed development would have less than substantial harm to the 
significance of the designated heritage assets. Paragraph 196 of the NPPF requires a 
balancing exercise to be undertaken between the “less than substantial harm” to the 
designated heritage asset on the one hand, and the public benefits of the proposal on 
the other. Taking this into account,  I am of the opinion that the impact on the 
designated heritage assets would be insufficient for the application to be refused.

Access and highway safety

7.31   The Highway Authority requested alternative details of the gated entrance to ensure 
there is adequate visibility for safety purposes. This has been agreed as acceptable. 

7.32   As the application is retrospective it will be conditioned that these changes are 
implemented within a month as the access is being used in relation to a well used 
public right of way and as such it is considered necessary to apply this strict time 
control. 

7.33 In all other respects, the Highway Authority considers that the proposals are 
acceptable in access and highway safety terms. 

Page 400



Figure 6. Amended vehicluar entrance details

Energy conservation

7.34 Policy SWDP 27 (Incorporating Renewable and Low Carbon Energy into New 
Development) seeks to reduce carbon emissions and secure sustainable energy 
solutions in all new development over 100 sq. metres gross or one or more dwellings. 
This should be achieved by incorporating energy generation from renewables or low 
carbon sources equivalent to at least 10% of predicted energy requirements, unless it 
has been demonstrated that this would make the development unviable. 

7.35 The comments made by neighbours relate solely to the visual impact of three proposed 
photovoltaic panels on the roof. There is a careful balance required between visual 
impact of sustainable features on buildings and interrupting the historic quality of an 
area. I am also mindful that the council face a shared responsibility to reduce the city’s 
carbon footprint. 

7.36 Therefore, given the utilitarian aesthetic and modern appearance of the former barn, I 
consider the installation of the proposed panels would be acceptable, subject to a 
condition that the panel frames will be coloured  black to soften the visual appearance. 

7.37 The proposed solar panels would be sited on the northern roof plane which would 
receive the least amount of natural daylight. Whilst this is may not be the optimum 
position to maximise the benefit of the panels, nevertheless it would minimise their 
visual impact and would still enable some energy to be produced and thus would be of 
some benefit to the applicants. Diffuse sunlight will be the same for both the south- 
and north-facing arrays. There are basically two components of sunlight: the direct 
beam from the sun (called “direct”), and the glow of the blue sky (called “diffuse”). 
So while equator-facing modules do better with the direct light from the sun, they 
both receive similar amounts of diffuse light, which typically accounts for about 30% 
of the array’s energy.

8. Conclusion and planning balance

8.1 Whilst the assessment is not an exhaustive list of all policies that are potentially 
applicable to this site, it seeks to address how the proposals respond to the key 
planning criteria in the planning policy framework against which the planning 
application will be determined.

Page 401



8.2 In my opinion, the proposal would have a neutral economic impact. With regard to the 
social, it is assessed that the proposals would not have an unacceptable impact on 
neighbouring residents’ amenities and would provide the applicants with a degree of 
security and protection from reported instances of anti-social behaviour. 

8.3 In relation to the environmental role, the proposals are not adjudged to have an 
unacceptable impact in terms of design, siting or appearance, subject to further 
mitigation as identified and the impact on designated heritage assets would be 
insufficient for the application to be refused. With regard to access and highway safety 
the proposals would be acceptable, subject to the amendments to the access 
arrangements to improve visibility. There is also a positive element to the photovoltaic 
panels in terms of potential energy generation on site. 

8.4 In respect of potential adverse impacts, the proposal has generated two neighbour 
objections to the visual impact of the photovoltaic panels. These are significant 
concerns which are to be given appropriate weighting in the determination of this 
application. However, I consider that the inclusion of a method of providing the 
dwelling with renewable energy is a significant factor in the assessment of the merit of 
this element of the proposals. I am mindful that should the dwelling have had the 
benefit of planning permission we would have sought this type of technology to be 
included in the scheme to make it permissible and compliant with the minimum 
standards of development set out in the SWDP. Therefore, given their siting on the 
norther roof slope, the visual impact is limited to the extent that it would not generate 
an unacceptable degree of harm.  

8.5 On balance, I am of the opinion that the submitted scheme has indicated sufficient 
detail to warrant approval, especially as majority of the submitted scheme can be seen 
in situ. The desire to safeguard the security of the site is understandable and forms 
part of the wider aspects of conversion to a dwellinghouse and the development is in 
keeping in terms of scale and nature with these aspirations. 

8.6 I acknowledge all comments received as part of the consultation process and consider 
all material planning issues have been considered in the determination of this 
application. Having regard to the totality of the policies in the Framework, I consider 
that the proposed development is sustainable when looking at its social, economic and 
environmental credentials in the round. The adverse impacts of the development 
(taking into account the considerable importance and weight to be given to the less 
than substantial harm to the significance of the heritage assets) do not significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.  Overall it is considered that the proposals 
constitute an environmentally, socially and economically sustainable form of 
development that accords with the Framework and the Development Plan as a whole.

9. Recommended conditions

9.1 In the event that members resolve to grant planning permission the following 
conditions are recommended:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.

Reason: To conform with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and completed in 
accordance with the following approved plans and associated documents and the 
specifications and recommendations contained therein, except where otherwise 

Page 402



stipulated by conditions attached to this permission

curtilage details
P17.972.15proposed site plan
location plan
gate details
photos
P17.972.11proposed elevations
P17.972.12proposed sections
solar panel information
location plan (promap)
planting details
panel fencing
photo
site location plan
Vision splay.png
Scott Plan Barn 2020.pdf
Fencing Plan Visibility Barn.pdf
Justification for the siting, height and type of fencing chosen

Reason: To ensure compliance with the approved scheme.

3. The agreed amended access changes as shown on Fencing Plan Visibility Barn.pdf  
must be implemented within 1 calendar month of the date of this permission and 
shall be maintained as such thereafter. 

Reason: To ensure highway safety is maintained.

4. Supplemental native hedging shall be planted to the southern and western 
boundaries of the site and in areas where gaps occur in accordance with details, 
including the number, specification and maturity of the plants, to be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All hedge planting shall 
be undertaken in the first planting season following approval of the development 
and shall be retained to maturity to provide a full hedgerow in front of installed 
fencing and shall be retained as such thereafter. 

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the completed development in 
accordance with policies SWDP 21 and SWDP 25 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan and the aims and interests that the National Planning Policy 
Framework seeks to protect and promote.

5

6

All planting shall be watered as necessary and competitive weed growth 
controlled to ensure successful establishment.  Any plants that die, or are 
removed; or become seriously damaged or diseased within a period of five years 
from the completion of the planting, shall be replaced in the next planting season 
with others of similar size and species.  

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the completed development in 
accordance with policies SWDP 21 and SWDP 25 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan and the aims and interests that the National Planning Policy 
Framework seeks to protect and promote. 

Prior to installation details of photovoltaic panels must be submitted to and 
agreed by the Local Planning Authority. Details are to include:

Page 403



 colour of frame;

 details of the siting of panels;

 amount of energy generated given site circumstances and orientation.

The development shall not be undertaken other than in accordance with such 
approved details and shall be maintained as such thereafter.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the completed development in 
accordance with policies SWDP 21 and SWDP 27 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan and the aims and interests that the National Planning Policy 
Framework seeks to protect and promote.

Page 404



Report to: Planning Committee, 19th March 2020

Report of: Deputy Director – Economic Development and Planning 

Subject: QUARTERLY REVIEW OF PLANNING APPEAL DECISIONS

1. Recommendation

1.1 That the Committee note the report.

2. Background

2.1 Members of the Planning Committee have requested a quarterly report on appeal 
decisions received by the Local Planning Authority. This report covers the period of 
January to March 2020.

3. Appeal Performance January to March 2020

Undetermined Appeals

3.1 Two appeal decisions remain outstanding as at 6th March 2020 that were received 
before 1st January 2020:-
Location Description Type of Appeal
Old Northwick Farm Erection of 62 dwellings Hearing
Land to the rear of 26 and 28 
Field Road

Demolition of existing 
garages and construction of 
detached bungalow

Written Reps

Appeals Received

3.2 A total of one appeal has been received during the quarter to date as follows:-
Location Description Type of Appeal
31 Comer Road Conversion of takeaway to 1 

bed flat
Written reps

Appeals Decided

3.3 In the period January to March 2020 a total of two decisions have been made:-
Location Description Decision
Land adjacent to Rosa Villa, 
Nunnery Lane

Erection of detached 4 bed 
dwelling

Allowed

27 Comer Road Change of use from C3 to
C4 (small HMO with six 
bedrooms) retaining flexible 
use between the classes 

Dismissed
Application for an  
award of costs - 
Dismissed

3.4 Copies of these decisions are attached to this report.

Page 405 Agenda Item 14



4. Comments of Deputy Director - Economic Development and Planning

4.1 In respect of the appeal decisions I would comment as follows:

 Land adjacent to Rosa Villa, Nunnery Lane – Planning application P18G0387 was 
refused by the Planning Committee at the meeting on 23rd May 2019 in 
accordance with Officer’s recommendation. The decision to allow the appeal is 
disappointing and provides an indication of the weight that an Inspector may 
give to the ‘fallback’ position, particularly where this has been established as in 
this case by a Lawful Development Certificate. In this respect, the decision 
clearly has implications for the Local Planning Authority to protect the Green 
Space network from otherwise inappropriate development. However, it is not 
considered that this decision alone is determinative of all other applications for 
residential development within the Green Space network as all applications are 
required to be determined on their individual merits with regard to the 
particular circumstances of the site. 

 27 Comer Road – Planning application 19/00411/FUL was refused under 
delegated powers on 28th August 2019 on the grounds that it would result in an 
overconcentration of HMOs in the local area contrary to the HMO SPD and policy 
SWDP 14 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 and harm to the 
amenities of future residents of the proposed ground floor bedrooms, contrary 
to policy SWDP 21 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 and the 
Design SPD. 

The decision to dismiss the appeal is welcome and endorses the approach of the 
Local Planning Authority in the control of HMOs within the city and the provision 
of suitable living environments for residents of such accommodation. The 
decision to refuse the appellants application for an award of costs is also 
welcome and supportive of a robust and informed decision making process.  

4.2 The determination of appeals in this quarter has demonstrated that proposals 
determined by Planning Committee and under the Scheme of Delegation have been 
predominantly robust. This is a sign of there being a good appreciation of the 
relevant material considerations, but it is important to ensure that this continues and 
demonstrates that where the City Council has refused applications there has been 
legitimate reason for doing so.

Wards: All
Contact: Alan Coleman Tel: 01905 722523

Email: alan.coleman@worcester.gov.uk
Background Papers: APP/D1835/W/19/3234549 & 

APP/D1835/W/19/3237422

Page 406



Page 407 Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



Page 408



Page 409



Page 410



Page 411



Page 412



Page 413



Page 414



Page 415



Page 416



Page 417



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Planning Committee
	4 Minutes of Previous Conservation Advisory Panel
	8 Riverside Conservation Area Appraisal
	Appendix 1 - Response to Riverside comments
	Appendix 2 - Riverside Conservation Area for adoption

	9 Park Avenue Conservation Area Designation and Article 4 Direction
	Appendix 1 - Article 4 Direction
	Appendix 2 - Park Avenue Conservation Area Appraisal for adoption
	Appendix 3 - Responses to consultation comments of 2018
	Appendix 4 - responses to consultation comments 2019
	Appendix 5 - Park Avenue Design Guide for Article 4 Directon

	10 Application 19/00851/FUL - JVM Castings Site, Droitwich Road
	11 Application 19/01019/FUL - Worcester North Park and Ride, John Comyn Drive
	12 Application 19/00821/FUL - Nunnery Wood High School, Spetchley Road
	13 Application 19/00957/FUL - Steel Barn, Middle Battenhall Farm, Upper Battenhall
	14 Quarterly Review of Planning Appeal Decisions
	Appeal Decisions


